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CASES

IN THE

SUPREME JUDICIAL COURT

OF THE

STATE OF MAINE

Lipa M. TuompsonN
VS,
CoLuMBIAN NaTIONAL LiFe INSURANCE CoOMPANY.
Knox. Opinion September 1, 1915.

Accident Insurance Policy. Exceptions. Experts. Immediate Cause of
Death. Rupture of Heart.

1. If an accident causes blood poisoning, and the blood poisoning caus23
death, the death is the direct result of the accident, and liability is estab-
lished under an accident insurance policy which limits liability to death in
consequence of the policy “independently and exclusively of all other
causes.”

2. An issue being whether a slit in the muscles of a human heart was a
rupture caused by violence before death, or a cut made after death, it is
within the discretion of the presiding Justice to permit or refuse to permir,
the exhibition of the heart itself to the jury. And unless the discretion is
abused exceptions do not lie. In this case it does not appear that the dis-
cretion was abused.

3. It does not clearly appear that the verdict for the plaintiff was wrong.

On motion and exceptions by the defendant. Motion and excep-
tions overruled.



2 THOMPSON 7. INSURANCE COMPANY. [114

This is an action on an accident insurance policy issued by defend-
ant to Warren Thompson, which, in case of his death, was payable
to his wife, the plaintiff.

Plea, the general issue. The jury returned a verdict for plaintiff.
The defendant filed a motion for a new trial and had various excep-
tions, all considered in the opinion.

The case is stated in the opinion.

A. S. Littlefield, for plaintiff.

Symonds, Snow, Cook & Hutchinson, for defendant.

SirTiNG: Savacg, C. J., Seear, King, Bire, HaLey, J]J.

Savagge, C. J. Action upon an accident insurance policy. The
verdict was for the plaintiff, and the case comes before this court
on defendant’s exceptions and motion for a new trial. The plaintiff
claims that her husband, the insured, received bodily injuries through
accidental means in consequence of which he died. The defendant
claims that the insured did not die in consequence of the accident
“independently and exclusively of all other causes,” as the policy
phrases it. This present the issue of fact.

MotioN. The assured was mate on a steamer plying between
Portsmouth and the Isle of Shoals. The evidence would justify a
finding that on one trip in August, 1913, on a rainy day, when the
boat was making a landing, the insured slipped on the wet deck, or
lost his balance, while throwng a heaving line, and fell heavily to
the deck. His weight was about 200 pounds. Apparently before this
time he had been a well man. After this and until his death some
days later, he complained of pain in his left side. He continued to
work, but when not at work lay in his bunk. Sunday, August 31,
he appeared to be worse, and lay in his bunk practically all day,
and hot cloths were applied to his left side. That evening he went
to a hospital, where he died the next morning. At the hospital it
was discovered that he had a black and blue spot as large as the
palm of a man’s hand in the region of the heart, and one on the hip.
He was weak and distressed for breath. Being turned in bed from
his right side to his left, a few minutes before death, his breathing
changed, and indicated impending death. The physician at the hos-
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pital diagnosed the case as one of typhoid, but it is now conceded
that such was not the fact.

Two autopsies were had, one October 8 at the instance of the
plaintiff, and another October 10, for the defendant. The physicians
who made the first autopsy say that they found signs of ecchymosis
or settling of the blood over the pericardium, that is, in the heart
region; that the discoloration covered an area about the size of the
hand; that there was ecchymosis and discoloration about the tissues
over the heart corresponding with the discolored area on the out-
side; that it continued in to the ribs; that upon opening the thoracic
cavity, it was found that there was more or less congested and
inflammatory appearance all the way to the pericardial sac; that the
same was true of the chest walls; and that the tissues of the outer
layer of the pericardium looked congested and red. On the other
hand, the physicians who conducted the second autopsy say they
discovered no signs of inflammation extending from the exterior to
the heart.

At the first autopsy, the pericardial sac having been opened, the
witnesses say a small quantity of watery blood was found in the sac,
and on the surface of the left ventricle, a slit or rupture of the mus-
cles, three-quarters of an inch long, from which a small clot of
blood oozed out, when the heart was lifted. But the rupture did not
penetrate to the cavity of the ventricle. At the second autopsy, the
defendant’s physicians say they found no blood in the sac, which
perhaps is not surprising in view of the fact that the sac had been
opened two days before; and they say further that they found a
cut into the heart muscles over three inches long, and one-half inch
deep in places. The difference in the length and the depth of the
cut as developed in the two autopsies seems to have been a matter
of discussion at the time, the plaintiff’s physician who had made
the autopsy, then present claiming the condition was changed.

The plaintiff contends that the heart was ruptured before death in
consequence of the fall, and that the rupture was the immediate
cause of death. And there is medical testimony that such a conse-
quence might follow a fall. But the defendant contends that the
heart muscles were cut, and that the cut was made after death. It
is not claimed that the cut was made, even accidentally, when the
pericardial sac was cut open at the first autopsy. So far as there is
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any evidence on that question, it is all to the effect that the cut in
the sac was at right angles with the line of the rupture. The defend-
ant’s experts testify that in their opinion the cut was made by the
undertaker’s trocar, or embalming tube, the beveled edge of which,
it is claimed, constitutes a sharp instrument. The jury saw the
instrument and could judge whether it was capable of making such
a cut as the one described. There is a reason why the jury may
have concluded that this theory of the experts was wrong. They
might not have been able to see how a trocar, inserted, as the under-
taker in this case says it was, between the third and fourth rib on
the right side of the sternum, and pushed in until it reached the
heart, could make a cut on the exterior of the left side of the heart.
We ourselves are troubled to see how.

The defendant’s experts all express the opinion that the man died
of acute blood poisoning, from an infection caused by the germ
prneumococcus. They say there had been an inflammation in the left
pleura, causing adhesions, for which this germ is ordinarily respon-
sible, and that the consequences of the infection caused by this germ
were manifest in the condition of the liver, spleen and other organs
as they found them. And they say furthermore that the adhesions
in the pleura indicated that the inflammation there must have existed
prior to the accident, upon the assumption that the accident was six
or seven days before the death. It may be noted, however, in this
connection that the time of the accident is left indefinite by the
witnesses. One says it was “a few days before the death,” and “I
think about a week; between a week and ten days.” Another says,
“I guess it was about a week or ten days before it was time to haul
up.” And the time to haul up was September 2, the day after Mr.
Thompson died. Evidently the length of time is too uncertain and
indefinite to serve as the basis of a definite conclusion that he had
pneumococcic inflammation before the accident.

In reply to the defendant’s general confention the plaintiff says
that even if the immediate cause of death was blood poisoning, yet
if the blood poisoning was superinduced by the physical effects of
the fall upon Mr. Thompson’s body, as she says, from the defendant’s
evidence, it may have been, his death, within the meaning of the
language of the policy, resulted “directly from the accident inde-
pendently and exclusively of all other causes.” And we think it
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would be so. If an accident caused blood poisoning, either external
or internal, and the blood poisoning causes death, the death is the
direct result of the accident.

We have thought best to state the issucs at some length. But it
will serve no good purpose to discuss the evidence in detail. The
mere statement of the case shows that the :juestions to be determined
were purely those of fact. The ascertainment of the truth depended
largely in the first instance upon the physical condition of Mr.
Thompson’s body, and especially of his heart, at the time of his death.
And from the testimony on the one side and the other, different
inferences may be drawn. What was the cause of death depended
much upon the correctness of the views of expert physicians.. And
the views of the physicians were as expressed diametriacally opposed.
We have examined the evidence with painstaking care, in the light
of the arguments of the learned counsel, and it suffices to say that
we are not convinced that the verdict was wrong. On the other
hand there is credible evidence to support it. The motion for a
new trial must therefore be overruled.

Exceprions. The defendant offered in evidence the heart of Mr.
Thompson itself. It was excluded. The defendant contends that
as the prime question at the trial was whether there was a rupture
of the heart before death, or a cut upon the heart after death, the
heart itself would be the best evidence of the truth. It would be
good evidence, it must be conceded, if the heart remained in the
same condition as it was at death, and would be properly admissible,
if the jurors, who were non-experts, were competent to judge of
a question, the answer to which must depend to a considerable degree
upon expert knowledge.

Whether demonstrative evidence of this character should be
admitted depends, within well defined limits, upon the discretion of
the presiding Justice. And unless the discretion is abused, excep-
tions do not lie. Ordinarily a preliminary question is whether the
thing offered is in substantially the same condition it was at the
time in question. The determination of this fact is for the Justice,
and to his finding exceptions do not lie. This is so well settled
that the citation of authorities is unnecessary. In this case the
Justice in excluding the heart gave no reason. We must therefore
inquire whether there was any good reason. We think there was.
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It is complained that he excluded the heart without examining it
himself. But he had listened to reams of testimony about it. It
is evident that there was a bona fide dispute as to whether the heart
was in the same condition as to the rupture or cut at the time of the
trial as it was at the first autopsy. If the Justice believed the wit-
nesses for the plaintiff he was authorized to find that the condition
was changed. And we cannot revise his finding on exceptions.
Besides, the length of time that had elapsed since the body was
exhumed and the susceptibility of matter of that kind to decay and
degeneration may have led him in the exercise of a wise discretion
to withhold it from the jury, even though there was testimony that
it had been “scientifically preserved,” and had not degenerated.
Again, it admits of serious doubt whether non-experts are in a con-
dition to judge a year and a half after death whether a slit in a
human heart was caused by a rupture before death or by a cutting
" after death. If not, then such demonstrative evidence is not proper
to be submitted to a jury of non-experts. We suggest this question.
We have no occasion now to decide it. We think the exceptions
are not sustainable.
Motion and exceptions overruled.

ALFRED LEBLANC ws. THE STANDARD INSURANCE COMPANY.

Androscoggin. Opinion September 7, 1915.

Automobile.  Condition. Indemnity. Insurance. Negligence. Notice.
Waiver.

The plaintiff held an insurance policy in the defendant company, issued by a
local agent under which he was to be indemnified against loss from the
liability imposed by law on account of bodily injuries accidentally sustained
by any person through the maintenance or use of a certain automobile
owned by himself. The insurance was subject to conditions in the policy,
namely, that it did not cover liability for injuries received while the auto-
mobile was being used for other than certain specified purposes; that
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upon the occurrence of an accident, the insured should give immediate
written notice thereof to the company at its home office, or to its duly
authorized agent; and that the insured should give like notice of any
claim made against him on account of such accident, and that if thereafter
any suit was brought against him, he should immediately forward to the
company every summons or other process served upon him. An accident
occurred. The plaintiff gave immediate oral notice to the local agent, who
told him he would take care of him, and that a firm of local attorneys
would see him. The local agent at once made a full written report ro
the company or one of its general agents. The company on the day
following, by its attorneys in Boston, referred the matter for investigation
to the same local attorneys. They investigated and reported. They were.
instructed to get the evidence in writing, and in the meantime to attempt
to make a settlement. Plaintiff did not report the accident in writing to
the company, nor did he when sued on account of the accident send the
summons to the company, but gave it to the local attorneys as he had been:
directed to do by the local agent who issued the policy. In a suit on the
policy, held:—

1. That the evidence does not sustain the contention that the automobile-
was being used for a purpose other than those covered by the policy.

2. That the failure of the plaintiff to give written notice of the accident:
and of the claim made on him, was waived by the acts of the local agent:
and of the various investigating attorneys.

3. That the company is bound by the direction given the plaintiff by the-
local agent to give any summons served upon him to the local attorneys,.
as much so as if the direction had come from the home office.

4. Under Revised Statutes, chapter 49, section 93, which provides that “the-
agents of insurance companies shall be regarded as in the place of the
company in all respects regarding any insurance effected by them,” am
agent has power to waive the requirement in the policy for a written report
of loss or injury; and directions given to the insured by an agent as to
procedure touching the subject matter of the insurance, are binding upon
the company, whether given before or after liability has been incurred.
The agent stands in the place of the company in all respects.

On report. Judgment for plaintiff for $2,533.27 and interest from.
Cctober 5, 1914.

This is an action for indemnity under a contract of insurance-
entered into by and between the parties hereto. Plea, the general'
issue with brief statement. At the conclusion of the evidence, by-
agreement of the parties, this case was reported to the Law Court:
for its determination, upon so much of the evidence as is legally-
admissible.
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The case is stated in the opinion.
McGillicuddy & Morey, and Harry Manser, for plaintiff.
White & Carter, for defendant.

SITTING: Savack, C. J., Spear, King, Birn, HaLEy, HaNsoN, J]J.

Savacge, C. J. On December 2, 1912, an automobile, owned by
the plaintiff, and driven by his brother Philip, collided with a team
driven by one Littlefield, as a result of which Littlefield was injured
and afterwards died. On March 14, 1913, suit was brought by Lit-
tlefield’s administrator against the plaintiff to recover the damages
sustained by Littlefield, on account of negligence in the operation
of the automobile. The case was tried at the April term of this
court in Androscoggin county, and that plaintiff recovered a verdict
and judgment, which afterwards was satisfied by this plaintiff by
paying the sum of $2,533.27. At the time of the accident this plain-
tiff held a policy in the defendant company, issued by its local agent,
Harvey, at Lewiston, indemnifying him ‘“against loss from the
liability imposed by law upon him for damages on account of bodily
injuries, including death at any time resulting therefrom, accidentally
sustained by any person or persons, by reason of the maintenance
or use of” the automobile in question. This action is brought upon
that policy to recover the amount paid by the plaintiff in satisfaction
of the Littlefield judgment, and comes to this court upon report.

By the terms of the policy, the insurance was made subject to
certain conditions, among which are the following: “This policy
does not cover loss from liability on account of such injuries (includ-
ing death) caused or suffered by reason of the maintenance or use
of such automobile . . . while used for any purpose other than
as specified in Item 3 of said Declarations,” and “The assured upon
the occurrence of an accident shall give immediate written notice
thereof, with the fullest information obtainable, to the company
at its home office, Detroit, Michigan, or its duly authorized agent.
He shall give like notice, with full particulars, of any claim made on
account of such accident. If, thereafter, any suit is ‘brought against
the assured, he shall immediately forward to the company every
summons or other process served on him.” Item 3 of the Declara-
tions referred to in the first of the foregoing conditions provides
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that “the purposes for which the ahove described automobiles are
to be used are private and pleasure purposes and all ordinary busi-
ness uses for which automobiles are suitable.”

In the brief statement under its plea of the general issue, the
defendant set up the following defenses: 1, that at the time of the
accident the automobile was not being used for any purpose specified
in Item 3 of the Declaration, but was used by Philip Leblanc in
the business of the Lewiston Steam Dye House; 2, that the assured
did not give notice to the company in writing of any claim made on
account of said accident; and, 3, that after suit was brought against
the assured on account of said accident, the assured did not forward
to the company the original summons and other papers served on
him in the Littlefield suit. No other issues are of importance.

The case shows that the plaintiff did not give written notice to
the company, but that on the day of the accident the plaintiff told
Harvey, the local agent, that an accident had happened to his car,
and Harvey replied that he would take care of him, that Oakes,
Pulsifer and Ludden, attorneys, would see him.

It further appears that Harvey, the agent, on the day of the acci-
dent, made out a full and particular report of the accident upon the
company’s blank, and forwarded it to Mr. Kemp, the company’s
Boston resident manager, who had countersigned the policy ; Kemp
on the next day placed the matter in the hands of Dickson &
Knowles, Boston attorneys, for investigaticn; they at once com-
municated by telephone with Oakes, Pulsifer & Ludden, and asked
them to look the matter up. On the same day, Mr. Pulsifer went to
the plaintiff and asked, and was told, how the accident happened, the
details of which he reported to Dickson & Knowles. A week later
Harvey told the plaintiff to turn over to Mr. Pulsifer any paper
that might be served on him. When the summons in the Littlefield
suit was served on the plaintiff, he did not forward it to the company,
but he testifies that he gave it to Mr. Pulsifer. At the trial of the
Alfred Leblanc case, Oakes, Pulsifer & Ludden appeared in defense
for Mr. Leblanc. And we think they were justified in supposing
that they had authority to do so from this defendant. Not only did
Dickson & Knowles ask Oakes, Pulsifer & Ludden to investigate
the accident, but they directed them to have the statements of the
various witnesses reduced to writing and signed by them, that is, to
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do the usual professional work in preparation for a possible trial.
And at the same time they directed them to continue their efforts
to bring about some satisfactory settlement. Efforts were made by
Mr. Pulsifer to effect a compromise, whics he reported to Dickson
& Knowles. The correspondence of the Boston attorneys and of the
company’s home office shows that Oakes, Pulsifer & Ludden were
recognized as the local attorneys. We allude to this only because
the defendant company now claims that their appearance in the
Littlefield suit in its behalf was without authority from it. But
in our view of the case, as will be shown hereafter, it is not material
to this plaintiff whether Oakes, Pulsifer & Ludden had specific
authority from the defendant company or not.

We now take up the several defenses offered in this suit. The
contention that at the time of the accident the automobile was being
used for a purpose excluded from the terms of the policy is not
supported by the evidence. The contention that the plaintiff did
not give notice of his claim to the company in writing is sufficiently
answered by saying that the requirement was effectually waived by
what was said and done by Harvey, the Boston attorneys and the
company for a period of four months, before Littlefield suit was
commenced, as we have indicated. They had power to waive the
requirement that the notice should be given in writing, and that it
should be sent to the home office, notwithstanding the provision in
the policy that “no condition or provision of this policy shall be
waived or altered except by written endorsement, signed by the
Secretary.” R. S. ch. 49, sect. 93; Day v. Dwelling House Ins. Co.,
. 81 Maine, 244.

But the third point in defense is strenuously urged. The policy
required the plaintiff to forward the summons served on him to the
home office. He did not do so. He says he gave it, as Harvey
directed, to Mr. Pulsifer. The decisive question is, is the company
bound by the direction which Mr. Harvey gave? If so, the plaintiff
has done all that the law required him to do, and is entitled to recover,
If not, the plaintiff has failed to perform a condition precedent to
the right to maintain a suit. And the answer to the question must be
sought in the statute.

The statute relied upon by the plaintiff is section 93 of chapter
49 of the Revised Statutes, which provides among other things that
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the agents of insurance companies “shall be regarded as in the place
of the company in all respects regarding any insurance effected by
them.” Other clauses of the statute, which we cite merely to show
the scope and purpose of it, are, “The company is bound by their
knowledge of the risk and of all matters connected therewith,”
and “Omissions and misdescriptions known to the agent shall be
regarded as known by the company, and waived by it, as if noted in
the policy.” All these provisions were first enacted in chapter 156
of the Laws of 1870, and have remained unchanged in the several
revisions since. :

The language of this statute is most comprehensive, and we think
it was intended to be so. The statute itself seems to place no limits.
The simple purpose of the statute is that those seeking insurance
and those afterwards holding policies may as safely deal with the
agents, with whom alone they ordinarily transact their business, as
if they were dealing directly with the companies themselves, While
most of the decided cases in which this statute has been construed
involved the agent’s knowledge of the risk, or of the insured’s title,
before issuing the policy, it is certain that statutory provision is not
limited to acts alone, or knowledge obtained, by the agent before
the policy is issued. Thus, it was held in Farrow v. Cochran, 72
Maine, 309, that an alteration made by an agent in the policy itself
after it was issued was binding on the company; and in Packard v.
Dorchester Mutual F. Ins. Co., 77 Maine, 149, that an agent’s con-
sent to alterations in the property, though in contravention of the
terms of the policy, was binding; and in Day v. Dwelling House
Ins. Co., 81 Maine, 248, that an agent could in effect waive the
filing of proof of loss within the required time, although the policy
declared that no act of any agent, except the president or secretary,
should be construed as a waiver; and in the same case that the
statute applies to all agents of insurance companies, including those
appointed to investigate the circumstances of fires and to adjust
losses ; and in Frye v. Equitable Life Assurance Society, 111 Maine,
287, that the company is bound by the agent’s waiver of the pro-
vision in a policy requiring its return within six months after default
in payment, in order to secure a new paid up policy for a specified
amount. These cases all relate to dealings with agents on business
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relating to the insurance after the policies were issued, and in one
case, at least, after the loss had occurred.

There is no limitation in the statute, and we perceive none in the
rcason of the thing. The statute recognizes what common experi-
ence teaches. Men commonly do all their insurance business with
agents,—agents appointed by the companies. They have no direct
dealings with the companies. They go to the agents on matters of
occupancy, alteration and assignment. They go to the agents when
losses have occurred, and pursue the steps pointed out by them in
proving the losses. To the insured the agent is for all practical pur-
poses the company. Good public policy then requires that the com-
panies that appoint these agents and hold them out as their repre-
sentatives shall be bound by what they do, and that if an agent acts
without authority, or in excess of authority, his principal should
bear the consequences, rather than the insured who trusted him. The
statute was enacted to give effect to that policy. Such has been the
tenor of decisions hitherto, and such we think was the legislative
intent. The statute is best construed by interpreting it just as it
reads. The agent stands “in the place of the company,” is the com-
pany “in all respects regarding any insurance effected by them.”

A study of the history of another insurance statute tends to con-
firm our view. By section 22 of the same chapter 49, it is provided
that “an agent authorized by an insurance company, whose name is
borne on the policy, is its agent in all matters of insurance; any
notice required to be given to said company or any of its officers by
the insured may be given to such agent.” Even in its present form,
it covers some of the same matters, in the same way, as are provided
for in section 93 which we have been considering. And both sec-
tions have been referred to, sometimes indiscriminately, as the source
of the binding effect given to the acts of agents. But in its original
form, Laws of 1861, chap. 34, sect. 2, the section contained the
following language: “all acts, proceedings and doings of such agent
with the insured shall be as binding upon the company as if done
and performed by the person specially empowered or designated
therefor by the contract.” This language is even more compre-
hensive and sweeping than that in the Act of 1870, now section 93.
It can scarcely be doubted that under such a statute as this, this
defendant would be bound by the act of Harvey, directing the plain-
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tiff to give any summons when served to Oakes, Pulsifer and Lud-
den. The language of the Act of 1861 remained unchanged through
the several revisions until that of 1903, when the clause we have
quoted was omitted in the final enactment. No amendment was
made in terms. But the commissioner of that revision, Mr. Morrill,
in his report to the legislature expressed the opinion that the clauses
in section 21 (now 22) were in effect repeated in and fully covered
by the later section, go (now 93), and recommended that they be
omitted from the statute. And we think it is fairly inferable that
the legislature, by adopting the recommendation, approved the inter-
pretation of the commissioner to the effect that the sweeping lan-
guage in the earlier section was virtually embodied in the later.

The question is not whether Harvey had authority to employ
attorneys for the company, and to direct the plaintiff to give them
the summons when served. It may be conceded that he had not. The
question is whether, when Harvey did direct the plaintiff to give his
summons to the attorneys, the company, by force of the statute, is
bound by it. We think it is. Surely if the plaintiff had gone to the
company’s home office, and had there been told, “We will take care of
you. If any papers are served give them to Jones,” the company
could not afterward complain because the summons was not for-
warded to the home office. No more can it, when the direction was
given by its agent, who is to be regarded as in its place “in all
respects” regarding the insurance,

The entry will be,

Judgment for plantiff for $2,533.27
and interest from October 5, 1014.
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W. O. SEavey
vs.
GRANVILLE J. SEavEY anD Harrier E. Seavey, Trustee.
Lincoln. Opinion September 7, 1915.

Consideration. Creditors. Disclosure. Gift. Husband and Wife.
Preference. R. S., Chap. 88, Sect. 63. Trustee Process.
Voluntary Transfer.

1. A voluntary transfer or gift by a husband to a wife is prima facie
fraudulent as to existing creditors.

2. When a transfer or conveyance is made without consideration, it is
immaterial whether the grantee or donee is conversant of the fraud as to
existing creditors.

3. When a transfer or conveyance is made for a valuable and adequate
consideration it is valid as against existing creditors, unless there is a
frudulent intention on the part of the transferree.

4. It is not a fraud at ‘common law for an insolvent debtor to pay one
creditor for the purpose of giving him a preference over others; nor {o
pay a debt barred by the statute of limitations.

5. When one summoned as a trustee of another attempts to account for
money received from the defendant by saying it was received in payment
of indebtedness, he is bound to make a full, direct and explicit disclosure
of the character and amount of the claimed indebtedness; otherwise he
should be charged as trustee. Doubtful, indefinite and sweeping statements
will not supply the omission of details and particulars.

6. The disclosure in this case does not satisfactorily show that the relation
of creditor and debtor existed between her and her husband, the defendant;
nor the amount of the valid indebtedness, if any existed.

On report. Trustee charged for $770.
" This is a trustee process and is reported to the Law Court to
determine the trustee’s liability.

The case is stated in the opinion.

John W. Brackett, for plaintiff.

C. R. Tupper, for defendant and trustee.
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SitTiNG: Savacgi, C. J., Spear, King, Birn, HaLEy, Hanson, JJ.

Savacg, C. J. Trustee process. The case comes before this court
on report, to determine the trustee’s liability. The defendant and
trustee are husband and wife. The original disclosure is not made a
part of the record, but from the nature of the trustee’s testimony
we assume that it was a general denial. The plaintiff alleged in
substance that in March, 1914, the defendant gave to the trustee
seven hundred and seventy dollars, and that the transfer was with-
out consideration, and voluntary, and therefore, fraudulent and void
as to existing creditors, of whom the plaintiff was one. Upon these
allegations the trustee was examined.

It is admitted that in March, 1914, the defendant received by way
of inheritance a check for the sum of seven hundred and seventy
dollars which he immediately delivered to his wife, that then he had
no other property, and was owing the plaintiff the amount sued for
in this action. The trustee claims that her husband was indebted to
her; and that the check was transferred to her by him in part pay-
ment of the indebtedness. And the issue to be determined is whether
the transfer was in payment of a debt, or merely voluntary, without
consideration. If it was in payment of boha fide indebtedness, and
without intent on her part to hinder, delay or defraud other cred-
itors, she cannot be charged as trustee. But if the transfer was
voluntary, it was fraudulent and void as to creditors, and she is
chargeable under the statute which provides that “if an alleged
trustee has in his possession goods, effects or credits of the principal
defendant, which he holds under a conveyarice fraudulent and void
as to the defendant’s creditors, he may be adjudged a trustee on
account thereof, although the principal defendant could not have
maintained an action against him.” R. S. chap. 88, sect. 63.

A voluntary transfer or gift by a husband to a wife is prima
facie fraudulent, if at the time he be indebted. French v. Holmes,
67 Maine, 186 ; Stevens v. Robinson, 72 Maine, 381. And, of course,
the probative force of the presumption is of the strongest, when the
transfer or gift embraces all the property of which the husband is
possessed. But the trustee here urges that the presumption does
not arise when the donee is innocent of any fraudulent intent, which
is claimed to be the fact in this case. But that is not the law. When
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a conveyance or transfer is made without ccnsideration, it is imma-
terial whether the grantee or donee is conversant of the fraud.
Knox v. Silloway, 10 Maine, 201; Call v. Perkins, 65 Maine, 439;
Robinson v. Clark, 76 Maine, 493; Spear v. Spear, 97 Maine, 498.
It is prima facie fraudulent as to existing creditors. On the other
hand, if it is made for a valuable and adequate consideration, it is
valid unless there is a fraudulent intent on the part of the transferee.
Stear v. Spear, supra. Such are the cases of Stevens v. Hinckley,
43 Maine, 440, and Blodgett v. Chaplin, 48 Maine, 322, the latter of
which is relied upon by the trustee in this case. These general rules
are applicable in all cases where transfers are claimed to be fraud-
ulent as to creditors, whether they are attacked by trustee process,
bill in equity or otherwise. It should be said, also, as applicable to
this case, that it is not fraudulent, within the meaning of the statute,
for an insolvent debtor to pay one creditor for the purpose of giving
him a preference over others. Fanscom v. Buffum, 66 Maine, 247.
Nor is the payment of a debt barred by the statute of limitations
fraudulent and void as to other creditors, at common law.

But when one summoned as trustee attempts to account for money,
admittedly received from the defendant, as a payment on account
of indebtedness, we think he is bound, if inquired of on examination,
to make a full, direct and explicit disclostire of the character and
amount of the claimed indebtedness, in order that the court may be
able to judge whether the relation of debtor and creditor actually
existed, and, if so, the extent of the indebtedness. Doubtful, indefi-
nite and sweeping statements do not satisfactorily supply the omission
of details and particulars. Dexter v. Field. 32 Maine, 174 ; Barker
v. Osborne, 71 Maine, 67; Thompson v. Reed, 77 Maine, 425;
Haynes v. Thompson, 80 Maine, 125; Thompson v. Dyer, 100
Maine, 421.

In her examination, the trustee in this case testified that she and
the defendant had been married about forty years, that she has
always kept a boarding house, and that he was in the sail making
business, until he retired about twenty or twenty-five years ago,
when it is admitted what propery he had was divided among his
creditors, not including his wife. She seems to have been pros-
perous. She paid for and owns their home. She says she paid all the
house expenses, and never received a dollar nor a dress from him.
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She says that while her husband was in business, she “loaned” him
small sums from time to time when he was “in hard places.” The
first loan was soon after they were married. The last one, and the
only one since he retired from business, was in 1907. She took no
receipts. She kept no books. She took no notes. She kept the
account “only in her mind.” With two exceptions, she says she is
unable to specify any particular amount for any particular purpose,
at any particular time. But she says the amount of the loans “inter-
est and all would be anywhere between two and three thousand
dollars.” She further says that as she never had received payment
from him, she never expected any payment. She does not even
claim that when she received the check in question from him, any-
thing was said about it being a payment on account of what he owed
her She says: “He had it indorsed and passed it over to me and
I was very pleased to get it. T never asked him for it. I never
suggested it to him.”

Under the circumstances disclosed, it is very difficult to believe
that this husband and wife understood that these advances of
money by her to him were such loans as created the relation of
debtor and creditor between them. But even if they were, her
indefinite and sweeping statements afford no satisfactory basis on
which to calculate amounts. She says, indeed, that “interest and
all it would be between two and three thousand dollars.” The mar-
gin in her statement indicates a certain degree of shadowiness in her
claim. But however that may be, she does not claim any express
promise to pay interest, and we think that under the conditions an
obligation to pay interest is not to be implied. She says she cannot
tell how mfich of the “between two and three thousand dollars” is
principal and how much is interest. At the most she can hold only
so much as equalled the debt, that is, the principal, and that amount
is not disclosed. Any balance in the trustee’s hands which she had
over and above the amount the defendant owed her would be held
by her without consideration, attachable by prior creditors. Barker
v. Osborne, supra, and cases cited. The only “loans” concerning
which the trustee discloses with any definiteness is one for $75, and
one for $100. But even as to these we feel constrained to hold that
the trustee has not sustained the burden of showing that they were
valid obligations of the defendant, to the payment of which she

VOL. CXIV 2
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could apply the money received by her from him, to the prejudice
of his creditors.
Trustee charged for $770.

Harrier L. KNowLToN ws. FRaANK B. Ross, et al.
York. Opinion September 7, 1915.

Damages. Duress. False Imprisonment. Misconduct of Counsel.
Practice.  Restraint.  Trover. Waiver.

1. Misconduct of an attorney in argument to the jury must be objected to
at the time, or it is waived.

2. To constitute false imprisonment there must be actual, physical restraint.
Threats to imprison are not imprisonment.

3. The evidence does not warrant the conclusion that the plaintiff’s liberty
was restrained by the defendants.

4. Threats of unlawful arrest do not constitute duress, unless there is reason-
able ground for apprehension of immediate or impending danger of
arrest.

5. An act done, or contract made, under duress is voidable, not void. If
a person, who has been constrained by duress to do an act, afterwards
voluntarily acts upon it, or in any way affirms its validity, it is a ratification,
and he is precluded from avoiding it.

On motion by defendant for a new trial. Motion for a new trial
sustained.

This is an action for false imprisonment of plaintiff by the defend-
ant. There is also a count for trover. The jury returned a verdict
for the plaintiff, and the defendant filed a motion for a new trial.

The case is stated in the opinion.

Cleaves, Waterhouse & Emery, for plaintiff.

John A. Snow and E. P. Spinney, for defendants. .

Sitring: Savacg, C. J., Seear, King, Birp, Hanson, JJ.



Me.] KNOWLTON . ROSS, ET AL. 19

Savage, C. J. This is a suit for false imprisonment, with a count
for trover. The verdict was for the plaintiff, and the case comes
before us on the defendan’t motion for a new trial.

The plaintiff claims that she was restrained of her liberty by the
defendants under circumstances constituting false imprisonment,
until by means of the duress of such imprisonment she delivered to
them a valuable diamond ring in pledge as security for the payment
of a bill owed by her husband to one of them, and of another bill
claimed to be owed by another person. The count in trover is for
the conversion of the ring.

We first notice a question of practice. The parties were in con-
troversy as to the value of the ring, which was material on the
question of damages, if the plaintiff was entitled to recover. One
of the reasons alieged in the motion for a new trial is the miscon-
duct of plaintiff’s attorney in his closing argument to the jury, in
that he said “that the plaintiff stood ready to credit the sum of
$800 on any verdict that the jury might return for the plaintiff, if
the defendants would deliver to the plaintifi said ring.” It is
obvious that such language could not be other than prejudicial, since
it would tend to remove from the jurors’ minds any sense of respon-
sibility for the amount of damages up to $800, which they might
assess for the conversion of the ring. The attorney complained of
testified that he said to the jury only that he had no doubt the plain-
tiff would gladly allow $800 upon any verdict which might be ren-
dered if the ring was returned. Even in that form, the argument
1s not to be commended. But at the time of the argument defendants’
counsel made no protest or objection. And that is fatal to his pres-
ent contention. The rule is well settled. }{ counsel in addressing
the jury exceed the limits of legitimate argument, it is the duty of
opposing counsel to object at the time, so that the presiding Justice
may set the matter right, and instruct the jury with reference thereto.
If the Justice neglects or declines, after objection, to interfere,
redress may be sought by a bill of exceptions. Rolfe v. Rumford,
60 Maine, 564. If the offending counsel, after being required to
desist or retract refuses to do so, the remedy is by a motjon for a
new trial. Powers v. Mitchell, 77 Maine, 361. So, if the remarks
are of such a character that even the intervention of the Justice
is not deemed to have removed the prejudice and cured the evil, the
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remedy is by motion. Sherman v. M. C. R. R., 86 Maine, 422; State
v. Martel, 103 Maine, 63. But in any event, objection must be made
at the time; if not so taken, it is considered as waived. State v.
Watson, 63 Maine, 128 ; Powers v. Mitchell, supra.

But we think the motion must be sustained upon another ground,
namely, that it is manifestly against the evidence. The evidence is
sharply conflicting, but after a careful analysis of it, we think that
so much of it as the plaintiff relies upon, and which the jury might
properly have found to be true, does not sustain the verdict.

It appears that the plaintiff’s family, that is, her husband, herself,
and their two daughters had been guests for several years at the
summer hotel of Mr. Jacobs, one of the defendants, at Ogunquit.
The bills for 1907 and 1908 had not been paid. In July, 1909, the
family spent two days at the hotel. They had with them a friend,
Mr. Lynch. The bills for all were charged to and paid by Mr.
Knowlton, the plaintiff’s husband. The plaintiff claims that at that-
time some talk was made about coming back later in the season, and
that Mr. Jacobs showed them some rooms in a cottage of which
he had the use, and told them that they could have them for $100
a week for all five, the four Knowltons and Lynch. This is denied
by the defendants. In August, the plaintiff telephoned the manage-
ment of the hotel for rooms, and the great weight of the evidence
shows, we think, that she was told that they had no rooms available
for them. Notwithstanding this, on the next day, August 17, the
family and Mr. Lynch appeared, and after some colloquy, were
assigned to the cottage, but not to the rocms which the plaintiff
says Mr. Jacobs had shown to them in July. From all this, the
plaintiff contends that Lynch was the guest of the family, and was
so understood to be by Mr. Jacobs, and that for that reason, Lynch’s
board was included in the $100 a week which was to be charged
for the family. But Mr. Jacobs, denying that there was any arrange-
ment made in July for the family or Lynch, charged Lynch $20 a
week for his board, and charged Mr. Knowlton $100 a week for
the board of himself, wife and daughters. Mr. Jacobs also claims
that owing to the failure of Knowlton to pay in 1907 and 1908, he
declined to receive the family as guests until Mrs. Knowlton had
promised to be personally responsible for the bill. This she denies.
At the end of two weeks Knowlton gave the bookkeeper a draft
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for $225, payable September 16, which was credited on his account.
All the foregoing is material only as it tends to throw light on what
happened on September 6.

On that day, Mr. Jacobs placed the bill against Knowlton and
the one against Lynch in the hands of the defendant Ross for col-
lection. Capias writs were made against these two on the strength
of the oath of Jacobs that they were “about to depart and reside
beyond the limits of the state, etc.” It was later learned that
Knowlton had gone to Boston. But Lynch was still at the hotel.
Ross with a deputy sheriff went into a room and Lynch was sent for.
When he came in he was shown the writ against himself, and
informed that he must pay, give bond or go to jail. He protested
that he was there only as a guest of the Knowltons, and therefore
that the indebtedness was not his. At Lynch’s request, the plaintiff
was sent for to explain the matter. She came. And she too pro-
tested that the indebtedness was not Lynch’s, but that it was her
husband’s. During the interview the writ against Knowlton was
produced and shown to the plaintiff. In the account annexed no
credit was given for the draft which the bookkeeper had received, as
Jacobs claims, without authority.

So far, there is no material disagreement. But as to the other
details of the interview, the parties are wholly at variance. The
plaintiff claims that when she went into the room the doors were
closed, and as she thinks locked. At the same time she says that
the deputy sheriff and the hotel manager placed themselves so as to
be apparently guarding the exits from the room. She says that Ross
said to her, “You people can’t came to the State of Maine and get
your board here at a hotel and leave without paying the bill.” “You
know it is a state’s prison offence to come into a state and leave
without paying;” that he said also, “You don’t want to go to jail.
You don’t want to disgrace yourself and your daughters to go,”
and that she replied, “Well, we will go to jail.” She says that Lynch
then said, “You know what it means; it means for us all to go to
jail.” She claims that she was asked by Ross if she had any property
that she could give as security for the claims; that she showed him
the diamond ring, which he took and examined, and put in his pocket,
and that “they decided to keep it until the bill was paid;” and that
they then told her she might go.
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On the other hand, the defendants claim that the doors were
neither locked nor guarded, that there was no talk about any state’s
prison or jail offense, or about anybody’s going to jail, except what
was said to Lynch; that Lynch besought the plaintiff to “fix it up,”
and save him from going to jail; that it was arranged that she would
take care of that bill; that in the same connection, she mentioned
the “family” bill, admitted that she had agreed to be responsible for
that, and arranged to “fix” that up at the same time she “fixed”
the Lynch bill. And as security for the payment of both bills, it
is contended, she voluntarily put the ring in question into the pos-
session of Ross. Whatever may have been said or done, it is entirely
clear that as the result of the interview the plaintiff left the ring
in Ross’s possession with the understénding, and with her assent,
unless void by reason of dures, that it should be held by him as
security for the payment of both claims. For the plaintiff herself
has testified with respect to the $225 draft which had been received
by the bookkeeper, that she “asked Mr. Ross for it after he had
taken the ring and we were out of the room and they had acceptéd
the ring as a settlement from Mr. Knowlton.” And further she
says, “I said, ‘As long as you have my ring which more than covers
the bill, the draft is no good and I will take it.”  He at first refused
to give it to me, and I said ‘I insist on having it,” and he gave it to
me. I took it and kept it.”

We think, in the first place, that the evidence does not warrant
the conclusion that there was any imprisonment of the plaintiff.
She was present in the room at the request of Lynch, and not of
the defendants. There was a writ against Lynch, and one against
her husband, but none against her. She was not touched. She was
not told she could not leave the room. The doors were closed, as
would be natural under the circumstances. There is no credible
evidence that they were locked. There was nothing to prevent her
leaving the room had she chosen to do so. She says the defendants
made a show of guarding the exits from the room, that the officer
walked back and forth, and that the manager stood for awhile at
one door. It must be remembered that the plaintiff was not there
at the defendants’ solicitation, that apparently they had had no
purpose of pursuing her that day, that they had no process against
her, but that Lynch was practically under arrest. Under these cir-
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cumstances, the fact that the officer walked back and forth has no
significance that she too was restrained of her liberty. And the
fact, if it was a fact, that the manager stood at the door would be
vastly more significant of a purpose of preventing instrusion by
others, than of preventing the going out of the plaintiff. The room
was a public room to which the guests of the hotel and the servants
ordinarly had access. And the presence of outsiders could not have
been desired by any of the parties. There was nothing in the con-
duct of the officer or of the manager, we think, to justify the belief
of the plaintiff that she was, as she terms it, “under arrest.” If
there were threats, as she claims, they did not constitute imprison-
ment. They would be evidence of an intention to imprison at some
future time. To constitute false imprisonment there must be actual,
physical restraint. Whittaker v. Sanford, 110 Maine, 77.

The question of false imprisonment thus eliminated, there is no
basis for a recovery by the plaintiff on any ground. We have seen
that she did not deliver the ring to the defendants under duress of
false imprisonment, for there was none. Nor was there duress per
minas. It is true that threats of unlaw{ul arrest, accompanied with
such circumstances as would indicate a prompt or immediate execu-
tion of the threats, if the will is thereby overcome, constitute duress.
It is true also that the arrest of a married woman for debt would
be unlawful. But it is doubtful if the language used, taking the:
plaintiff’s own version of it, can properly be construed as threats.
Even if so, there was no reasonable ground for apprehension of
immediate or impending danger, which is essential. Harmon v.
Zarmon, 61 Maine, 227; Higgins v. Brown. 78 Maine, 473; 9 Cyc.,
446. There was no allusion to any precept issued or to be issued
against the plaintiff. On the contrary, precepts covering the entire
claims had been issued against others, and the plaintiff knew it.
Giving the language as related by the plaintiff, the defendants held
out to her only a suggestion of what danger might befall her in the
indefinite future. That is not duress.

But were it otherwise, the plaintiff’s case is not sustainable. A
contract made, or act done, under duress is voidable, not void. If
a person having been constrained by duress to do any act afterward
voluntarily acts upon it, or in any way affirms its validity, he pre-
cludes himself from then avoiding it. 9 Cyc., 443. It appears from
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the plaintiff’s own statement that after she had left the room and
after the alleged duress was ended, she demanded, insisted upon,
and received the surrender of the draft which her husband had
given in payment of a part of the bill against him, and she did so
on the ground that the defendants held the ring as security for the
bill. This was entirely voluntary on her part. It was a recognition
of the validity of the pledge. If the pledging had been before that
time voidable, her act was a ratification of it. She could not demand,
receive and retain the draft, and at the same time be permitted to
deny the validity of the pledge. ‘
Motion for a new trial sustained.

City oF AuGusTa, Pet'r.
TS,
LewISTON, AUGUSTA & WATERVILLE STREET RAILWAY.

Kennebec. Opinion September 7, 1915.

Jurisdiction. Public Utilities Commission. Remedy. Revised
Statutes, Chapter 51, Section 75.

1. Questions of law arising upon rulings of the Public Utilities Commission
may be presented to the law court on exceptions allowed by the chairman
of the Commission.

2. The jurisdiction of the Public Utilities Commission is created by statute,
and it has only such jurisdiction as the statute confers. Its jurisdiction
cannot be enlarged by consent of parties, nor can want of jurisdiction be
waived by a party.

3. The Public Utilities Commission has no jurisdiction to apportion the
expenses of repairs to a highway bridge which have already been made,
in accordance with an agreement between the municipality and a street
railroad company whose road crosses the bridge.
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On exceptions by petitioners. Exceptions overruled.

This is a petition by the City of Augusta to the Public Utilities
Commission, praying that the Public Utilities Commission will
review the whole matter and make such apportionment of the
expenses for repairs already made on a certain bridge. The Public
Utilities Commission dismissed the petition for want of jurisdiction;
to this ruling the petitioners excepted, and the exceptions were
allowed by the Commission and certified to the Chief Justice of the
Supreme Judicial Court.

The case is stated in the opinion.

M. E. Sawtelle, city solicitor, for City of Augusta.

Andrews & Nelson, for Lewiston, Augusta & Waterville Street
Railway.

S1TTING: SAvAGE, C. J., SPEAR, KiNG, Birp, HaLey, Hanson, JJ.

Savacg, C. J. This case comes before this court on exceptions to
a ruling by the Public Utilities Commission dismissing the peti-
tioner’s petition for want of jurisdiction. The procedure is novel
in this state, but it is authorized by the act creating the Public
Utilities Commission, which provides that “questions of law may
be raised by alleging exceptions to the ruling of the commission on
an agreed statement of facts, or on facts found by the commission,
and such exceptions shall be allowed by the chairman of the com-
mission and certified by the clerk thereof to the Chief Justice of the
supreme judicial court, . . . And such questions of law shall
be considered and decided by the Law Court as soon as may be.”
Laws of 1913, Chap. 129, Sect. 53.

The City of Augusta, in its petition alleges, so far as material to
the present inquiry, that the respondent is now operating its rail-
way over a certain highway bridge in Augusta ; that on the nineteenth
day of August, 1914, it was mutually agreed by the city and the
respondent that the bridge was not safe for the use to which it was
being put by the city and the respondent, and that the bridge should
be strengthened and certain repairs and renewals made; and the
kind and amount of such repairs, strengthening and renewals were
agreed upon between the parties, it being also understood and agreed
that such strengthening, renewals and repairs should be made under
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the direction and supervision of the city, the expense thereof to be
borne by the parties in such proportion as might thereafter be deter-
mined, but to be paid in the first instance by the city, and that
“pursuant to said agreement the bridge was strengthened, renewed
and repaired, under the direction and supervision of said city, at a
total cost of twelve thousand five hundred ninety and fifty one-
hundredths dollars.”

The prayer of the petition is that the Pulic Utilities Commission
will review the whole matter to the end that if public safety requires
additional repairs, renewals or strengthening of parts to the bridge,
the Commission will so order, and that the Commission will make
such apportionment of the expenses for the repairs, renewals, and
strengthening of part already made, and for such further repairs,
renewals or strengthening of parts as may be ordered, as it shall
deem just and fair.

The petition was brought under the provisions of section 735, chap-
ter 51, of the Revised Statutes, which reads as follows: “Bridges
erected by any municipality, over which any street railroad passes,
shall be constructed and maintained in such manner and condition,
as to safety, as the board of railroad commissioners may determine.
Said board may require the officers of the railroad company and of
the municipality to attend a hearing in the matter, after such notice
of the hearing to all parties in interest as said board may deem
proper. Said commissioners shall determine at such hearing the
repairs, renewals or strengthening of parts, or if necessary, the
manner of rebuilding such bridge, required to make the same safe
for the uses to which it is to be put. They shall determine who
shall bear the expenses of such repairs, renewals, strengthening or
rebuilding, or they may apportion such expense between the railroad
company and the city or town, as the case may be, in such manner as
shall be deemed by the board just and fair.” By section 71 of the
Public Laws of 1913, all powers vested previously in the board of
railroad commissioners together with all the duties and privileges
imposed or conferred upon said board were imposed and conferred
upon the Public Utilities Commission. '

The Commission decided in effect that they had no jurisdiction
to apportion the expense of repairs, renewals and strengthening of
the bridge already made by agreement of the parties, and for this
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reason dismissed the petition. The correctness of this ruling is the
question now to be determined by us. It is true that one of the
prayers of the petition is that the Commission will determine whether
additional repairs are necessary for public safety. It is not contro-
verted that the Commission has jurisdiction to make such a deter-
mination. But that is not the real issue in this case. There is no
allegation in the petition that public safety requires additional repairs.
The Commission in its decree says that “it was frankly stated at
the hearing that nothing more was to be done to the bridge, except
cause it to be painted.” Under these conditions, there was nothing
left for the Commission but to decide the other question, whether it
had jurisdiction to apportion expenses of repairs already made by
agreement of the parties.

We think the ruling of the Commission was right. The jurisdic-
tion of the Commission is created by statute. It is limited by statute,
The Commission has just the kind and extent of jurisdiction which
the statute gives, and no more. By statute, R. S. ch. 51, sect. 73, it
has jurisdiction over the repairs of highway bridges which are
crossed by a street railroad, to the extent of requiring them to be
kept safe for public use. It may inaugurate proceedings for that
purpose against the municipality and the railroad company, and
may determine the repairs necessary and award which party shall
bear the expense, or it may apportion the expense between them.
Such proceedings are compulsory. The statute however does not
prevent the parties from determining for themselves the necessity
of repairs, nor from contracting with cach other with reference
thereto. This would be voluntary. Of course, they cannot thereby
deprive the Commission of its jurisdiction to determine that other
repairs are necessary, and to order the same. But, as we have seen,
that is not the question now. If the parties agree upon repairs, and
make all that are necessary there is no occasion for the Commission
to exercise its jurisdiction.

By the allegation in the petition, which, on a motion to dismiss
must be taken to be true, Rines v. Portland, 93 Maine, 227, it appears
that the parties in this case adopted the voluntary method. They
determined to their own satisfaction what repairs were necessary,
and contracted with each other with reference to making the same.
The repairs have been made.  The city has paid the expense in the
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first instance as agreed. But for some reason or other the propor-
tion to be paid by the railroad company has not been determined, in
accordance with the agreement, and has not been paid. It seems to
be clearly a case of contract rights for the breach of which ample
remedy may be found in the courts.

Has the city an additional remedy by application to the Commis-
sion for an apportionment? An examination of the statute which
gives jurisdiction to the Commission leaves no doubt that the answer
must be in the negative. What is that jurisdiction? It is to “deter-
mine . . . the repairs, renewals or strengthening of parts
. required to make the same safe for the uses to which it
is to be put,” and to ‘“determine who shall bear the expenses of
such repairs,” etc., that is, the repairs, etc., which they determine
necessary ; or to “apportion such expense,” that is, the expenses of
repairs, etc., determined by them to be necessary, “between the rail-
road company and the city or town.” The language employed is
clear. Jurisdiction is conferred on the Commission to apportion the
expense of repairs determined by it to be necessary. No jurisdiction
is given to apportion the expense of repairs determined in any other
manner. And this necessarily excludes a determination made by
agreement of parties.

It is argued that the parties may waive the preliminary determina-
tion, and still call on the Commission for an apportionment. Not
fo. That would in effect invest the Commission with a power
which the statute has not conferred upon it. That cannot be done.

We hold accordingly that the Public Utilities Commission has no
jurisdiction to apportion the expenses of repairs to a highway bridge
which have already been made in accordance with an agreement
between the municipality and a street railroad company whose road
crosses the bridge.

Ezxceptions overruled.
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Josepu E. F. Connorry, In Equity,
vs.
MartHEW J. LEONARD, ei als.

Cumberland. Opinion September 7, 1915.

Bill. Commissions. Construction. Executor. Fees. Legacy. Life Estate.
R. S., Chap. 65, Sect. 37. Trustee. Will.

Bill in equity to obtain judicial construction of certain portions of a will.

Held :

1. If the will disclose that it was the intention of the testator to reward the
executor for his services by a legacy, it is conclusive on the executor that
if he accept the position and administer the estate by virtue of his appoint
ment as executor, he must accept the reward for his services named in the
will.

2. Where the testator nominates the same person as executor and trustee,
and provides that certain repairs on the real estate, to be done by certain
interested parties, are to be done “subject to the approval of my executor
and trustee herein named and his successor or successors,” and the probate
court confirms the appointment as executor but not as trustee, appointing
some other person as trustee, the required approval for repairs, under
the terms of the will under consideration, is to be given by the trustee
who is thus appointed.

3. Where the testator gives money on deposit in a Savings bank to a trustee,
who is to pay the dividends to certain heirs, the trustee may retain posses-
sion of the bank book, notwithstanding a wish expressed in the will that
those heirs should “draw said dividends from the bank as they accrue.”

4. This court will not advise trustees and construe wills for their guidance
until the time comes when they need instructions. The fact that the ques-
tion may arise sometime in the future is ordinarily not enough. Such a
question should not be decided until the anticipated contingency arises,
or at least until it is imminent. Then all the parties interested at that
time can be heard under the existing conditions and circumstances,

On report. Decree according to the opinion.
This is a bill in equity, in which complainant seeks a construc-
tion and interpretation of certain parts of the last will and testament
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of Thomas D. Leonard, late of Portland, in said county, deceased.
At the conclusion of the hearing of this cause, by agreement of the
parties, the case was reported to the Law Court for determination
upon so much of the evidence as is legally admissible.

The case is stated in the opinion.

Foster & Foster, and William Lyons, for plaintiff.

Dennis A. Megher, for Matthew J. Leonard, Thomas Leonard,
Sally Leonard, Matthew J. Leonard, Jr., Ann Quinlan, Patrick
Leonard.

David E. Moulton, for Elizabeth Ellen Graney.

John B. Thomes, for Mary Alice Haley.

Albert E. Anderson, for Alice Graney, John Graney, Thomas
Graney, George Graney.

SITTING: SAvacg, C. J., SpeARr, CorNisH, King, Birp, PHILBROOK,
JJ.

Prmsrook, J. This is a bill in equity brought for the purpose
of obtaining judicial construction and interpretation of certain pro-
visions of the will of Thomas D. Leonard. The testator in his will
requested that the defendant Matthew J. Leonard be appointed both
as executor and trustee, but the probate court declined to confirm
this request, except in part; and Matthew having been appointed as
executor, the plaintiff was appointed trustee, and in his said capacity
he institutes this proceeding.

The testator having nominated Matthew as executor and trustee,
also made to him a devise of certain real estate which, according to
the terms of the will, was “to be in lieu of any payment for services
as executor or trustee of my estate and is so to be accepted and
understood by the said Matthew J. Leonard in accepting this prop-
erty.” In his answer to this bill, the latter zsks this court to deter-
mine whether, as executor, he would be prevented from asking for
the commissions specified in R. S., chap. 65, sec. 37, as amended
by chap. 78 of the Public Laws of 1911.

It is familiar learning that under the common law of England
executors and administrators were entitled to no compensation for
the discharge of their duties, but in this country nearly every state
has provided by legislative enactment for just and moderate remu-
neration for services of this class of trust officers. It is also to be
observed that in many states in the Union their statute law requires
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executors whose compensation is provided for by will to renounce
such provision in writing or forfeit their compensation under the
statute. * It has been held, in the absence of statutory provision and
of any provision in the will that the bequest is intended to exclude
further compensation, that the executor is entitled to both the legacy
and his statutory commissions. In re Mason, 98 N. Y., 527; Aspin-
wall v. Pirnie, 4 Edw. Ch,, 410 (N. Y.). The weight of authority,
however, seems to be that if the testator has given a legacy in lieu
of commissions, or imposed upon his executors the condition that
they should not have commissions, the court cafinot defeat the pro-
visions of the will. In re Kernochan, 104 N. Y., 618,s.c. 11 N. E,,
149; Succession of Fink, 13 La. Ann., (Louisiana Sup. Ct.) 103;
Haine’s Accounting, 8 N. J. Eq., 506; Fox Estate, 235 Pa. St., 105;
s. ¢. 83 Atl, 613; s. c¢. Ann. Cas., 1913D, 991. In the latter case,
the language of the court is as follows: “If the will disclose that
it was the intention of the testator to reward the executor for his
services by the legacy, it is conclusive on the executor, and if he
accept the position and administer the estate by virtue of his appoint-
ment as executor, he must accept the reward for his services named
in the will.” In view of the language used in the will at bar, we
have no hesitation in saying that Matthew J. Leonard is not entitled
to commissions as executor in addition to the legacy therein provided.

Turning our attention now to the questions raised by the plaintiff,
we observe that he asks interpretation:

First. Of the eighth item of the will, which is as follows:

“Eighth. I give, bequeath and devise to my two daughters Eliza-
beth Ellen Graney and Mary Alice Haley for and during the term
of their natural lives my houses and lands situated at number 2,
number 4, number 10 and in the rear of number 10 and number 12
Briggs Street, in said Portland, to manage and control the same,
keep the same insured against loss by fire for the benefit of my
estate, to keep the same in repair, tenantable, and let the same and
receive the income therefrom and from such income pay the expenses
of keeping the same insured and in good repair. Such repairs and
keeping to be subject to the approval of my Executor and Trustee
herein named and his successor or successors. My said daughters
are at liberty to occupy the rents in which they now live and con-
tinue in the same as they have during my life. The net income after
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paying the above named expenses is to be divided equally between
my said daughters and this life estate is to continue during the life
of each daughter and the survivor.

This property shall not be sold or disposed of except as above
stated during the life of my daughters or the life of the survivor.”

The plaintift trustee desires to know whether or not he, as such
trustee, is to be one of the parties who shall approve the repairs
and keeping as above stated, and whether it belongs to him alone
or to him and the executor jointly to make such approval. The
repairs and keeping relate only to real estate. By virtue of statute,
the real estate of a testator may be sold by the executor, under
authority of the probate court, when the same is necessary to pay
debts, legacies and expenses of administration. When not so nec-
essary, it passes by law directly to the devisee, in the absence of any
testamentary provision. Nothing in the case indicates that the exec-
utor will ever be required to use the proceeds of the sale of real
estate for the purposes just referred to. The precise question we
are called upon to answer at this point is,—what testamentary pro-
vision, if any, would give the executor any control over or manage-
ment of the real estate in question? Here we know of no rule of
law to guide us except the familiar one of ascertaining the intention
of the testator, so far as that intention has been expressed, and being
goverened thereby. Torrey v. Peabody, 97 Maine, 104. The will
declares that repairs and keeping are “to be subject to the approval
of my Executor and Trustee herein named and his successor or
successors.” In the mind of the testator the executor and trustee
would be one and the same person but acting in a dual capacity.
Did the testator mean that the keeping and repairs were to be
approved by Matthew as executor or by Matthew as trustee? As
executor, the duties of Matthew would soon end, and he was not
liable to have a “successor or successors.” As trustee, the duration
of duty must be longer and might require a “successor or successors.”
When the duties of administration were done by the executor and
his final accounts allowed, he ceased to be executor unless the
probate court should open the administration for proper causes, and
could no longer approve the keeping and repairs in that capacity.
Evidently then the trustee, whether it be Matthew or his successor,
is the trust officer whose duty it would be in the last analysis to
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approve the keeping and repairs. The only trustee in the.case thus
far is the plaintiff; and we are of opinion that he, and he alone, is
the person to approve the keeping and repairs until his successor
is appointed.

SEconND. But the plaintiff says that he is in further doubt and
uncertainty in relation to the last portion of item eight when taken
in connection with item eleven of the will. Quoting again the said
last portion and said item eleven we find that the will declares as
follows:

“The net income after paying the above yamed expenses is to be
divided equally between my said daughters and this life estate is
to continue during the life of each daughter and the survivor. This
property shall not be sold or disposed of except as above stated
during the life of my daughters or the life of the survivor.”

“Eleventh. In case of the death of either daughter, I direct my
executor and trustee to take charge of her portion of the estate that
she would have held if she continued to live and pay over the net
income therefrom to her legal heirs up to the time of the death of
the other daughter.”

The plaintiff here inquires whether a trust is created for the legal
heirs mentioned in item eleven, and if so, what becomes of the life
estate of the survivor; also whether there is such a conflict between
the last part of item eight and item eleven that the latter is to prevail
over the former.

The duty of the trustee under the provisions of the last part of
item eight is plain. The contingency mentioned in item eleven has
not yet arisen and may not arise for many years. This court has
said in Huston v. Dodge, 111 Maine, 246, “we do not think it wise,
nor within the intent of the statute, to assume jurisdiction to advise
trustees, and to construe will for their guidance until the time comes
when they need instructions. The fact that the question may arise
sometime in the future is ordinarily not enough. Such a question
should not be decided until the anticipated contingency arises, or
at least until it is about to arise, until it is imminent. Then if the
trustee needs present advice to know how to meet the contingency
it will be given him. Then the parties interested in the issue can
be heard under the conditions and circumstances as they may exist
at that time. They should not be prejudiced. Nor should there be

VOL. CXIV 3
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any judgment until there is occasion for it.” We are of opinion
that the provisions of item eleven, either alone or in conjunction with
item eight, should not now be construed.

Tuirp. Item nine of the will is as follows:

“Ninth. I give and bequeath to my nephew Matthew ]. Leonard
of Portland, Executor and Trustee under the provisions of this will,
his successor or successors in office, all money which I have on
deposit in the Portland banks in trust, to pay over to my daughters
Elizabeth Ellen Graney and Mary Alice Haley semi-annually during
their lives respectively, the net income received from said money as
dividends, the same to be divided equally between them after deduct-
ing any necessary expenses incurred for my estate. It is my wish
that my said daughters and the survivor draw said dividends from
the bank as they accrue.”

The trustee says he is in doubt and uncertainty as to who is
to retain the bank books or evidences of deposit in the Portland
banks. It has been held that a trustee may and should keep trust
deeds and other documents and evidence of title within his control;
Corin v. Thomas, 46 L. T. Rep., N. S, 916. The testator in this
case expressed a “wish that my said daughters and the survivor
draw said dividends from the bank as they accrue,” but this does
not necessarily mean that the daughters are to be placed in possession
of the bank books, as against a possession by the trustee, but rather
that they might enjoy the benefits of such dividends as the same
might be available, It is our opinion that the trustee should retain
the bank books or evidences of deposit in the Portland banks.

FourTtH. The request for interpretation of the twelfth and thir-
teenth and last items of the will must be regarded as falling under
the rule hereinbefore referred to in Huston v. Dodge, supra.

Decree accordingly.
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Howarp B. Crossy, Petr., vs. MorrisoN LinBy.

Kennebec. Opinion September 7, 1915,

Appeal.  Ballots.  Covering up the Name. Designation of the Offico.
Election. Intention of Voter. R. S., Chap. 6,
Sects. 70-74. Shps. Stickers.

1. An appeal from a judgiment rendered upon a petition brought under
R. S. ch. 6, secs. 70-74, to determine whether the petitioner, at the State
election held September 14, 1914, was duly elected county commissioner of .
the County of Kennebec for the term beginning January 1, 1915, or
whether the respondent was so elected.

2. The word “For” preceding the title of office upon the official ballot 15
not essential nor within the requirements of statute.

3. As used in ch. 6, R. S, a slip is a strip and a sticker is a gummed slip
or strip.

4. The proper place for a slip printed by the Secretary of State is that
wherein the strip must be placed by the voter, when voting for a substituie
that is on and over the name of the candidate deceased or withdrawn, and
the rules for counting ballots when a strip is attached by the voter apply
equally when a slip is attached by direction of the Secretary of State.

5. When in applying a slip or a strip, the voter in the one case or an official,
under direction of the Secretary of State, in the other, covers the designa-
tion of office in whole or in part, the vote should be counted when from
an inspection of other parts of the same ballot and of cther ballots cast
at the same election, it is apparent what the designation of office, so
covered, is.

6. When a slip or strip placed in one column or group of the ballot over
the name of a candidate, whether done by direction of the Secretary of
State or by the voter, extends into an adjacent column or group and covers
part, or the whole, of the christian name of a candidate in the latter
column over which the voter places his cross, the vote should be counted
for the candidate whose christian name is thus wholly or partly covered.

7. Where a slip is so applied that the names of both the original candidate
and the substitute fully appear under the designation of the office, each is
equally entitled to be counted and neither can be. But where the strip
is so placed that a portion of the original name is covered, the name so
covered must be regarded as erased, although it can be read.
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On appeal by petitioner. Petition dismissed with costs for the
respondent.

This petition was brought under the provisions of sections 70-71-
72-73 and 74 of chapter 6 of the Revised Statutes, to ‘determine
whether the petitioner, at the state election held on September 14,
1914, was elected county commissioner of the County of Kennebec
for the term beginning January 1, 1915, or whether the defendant
was so elected. The petition was heard before a single justice,
who ordered, adjudged and decreed that the petition of Howard
B. Crosby be dismissed with costs. From this decree, petitioner
appealed.

The case is stated in the opinion.

William R. Pattangall, for petitioner.

Frank L. Dutton, for defendant.

SITTING: Savack. C. J., Biro. HaLey, HansoN, PHIiLBROOK, JJ.

Birp, J. This is an appeal from the judgment of a single justice
rendered upon a petition brought under §§ 70-74, c. 6, R. S, to
determine whether the petitioner, at the State election held on Sep-
_tember 14, 1914, was duly elected county commissioner of the
County of Kennebec for the term beginning January 1, 1915, or
whether the defendant was so elected.

The name of the petitioner was printed upon.the official ballots.
Arthur W. Leonard was also duly nominated for the office of county
commissioner and his name printed upon the official ballots, but on
the thirteenth day of September, 1914, after distribution of the
ballots by the Secretary of State as provided by § 16, c. 6, R. S., Mr.
Leonard died and the respondent, Morrison Libby, was duly nomi-
nated to supply the vacancy and the nomination certified to the
Secretary of State, in accordance with R. S., ¢. 6, §§ 6 and 8.

The printing of new ballots being, as admitted, impracticable, slips
containing the new nomination were printed, under the direction
of the secretary of state (R. S., c. 6, § 8) and by him distributed
to the clerks of the cities towns and plantations of Kennebec County
with instructions, addressed to the presiding election officers of the
several voting places therein, directing them “to place on the official
ballots the printed slips containing the new nomination aforesaid over
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the name of the above mentioned Arthur W. Leonard, such slips to be
placed upon every ballot before the same has been given into the
hands of the voter.” Out of the compliance, or attempted compli-
ance, apparently, of the election officers with these instructions arise
questions affecting by far the larger number of ballots now in dis-
pute. The difficulty confronting us as to these ballots was occa-
sioned by the careless manner in which some of the slips were
“pasted” upon sundry ballots.

In announcing his conclusions the sitting justice declared he had
been guided by the following rules:

“Rule 1. All ballots were counted wherever the title to the office
could be discovered by reading the letters that appear above the
sticker.

“Rule 2. All ballots were counted when the designation of the
office to be filled, though fully covered by the sticker, could be clearly
read through the sticker. ‘

“Rule 3. All ballots were counted, although the sticker placed
in the corresponding column at the left of the petitioner’s name
extended over the line and covered the whole or a part of said
petitioner’s first name.” ‘

As most of the ballots disputed were disposed of pursuant to
these rules and the exhibits are arranged accordingly, we will first
consider the ballots allowed or rejected under these rules.

The ballots allowed by the sitting justice, twenty-three in number

under Rule 1, and those admitted by him under Rule 2, one hundred
and ninety-five in number, involve the obliteration in part, or in
whole, of the designation of the office. Premising that we do not
consider the word “For” preceding the title cf the office as essential
or within the requirement of the statute, we will consider the ballots
admitted under Rules 1 and 2 of the sitting justice together.
- It is agreed by counsel that the slips, the application of which
caused the obliteration, in whole or in part, of the designation of
office were applied by election officers acting upon the order of the
Secretary of State.

Among the directions for the preparation and distribution of
ballots, found in R. S., c. 6, it is provided in section 10 that “Every
general ballot . . . shall contain the rames . . . of all
candidates whose nominations for any office specified in the ballot



38 CROSBY v. LIBBY. [114

have been duly made and not withdrawn . . . and the office
for which they have been severally. nominated . . . . A blank
space shall be left after the names of the candidates of each different
office in which the voter may insert the name of any person, for
whom he desires to vote as candidate for such office.

In section 8 of the same chapter provision is made for supplying
a vacancy caused by the death or withdrawal of a candidate and
printing upon the ballots the name “supplicd for the vacancy” “or,
if the ballots have been printed, new ballots containing the new
nomination shall, whenever practicable, be furnished, or, slips con-
taining the new nomination shall be printed under the direction of
the Secretary of State, which may be pasted in proper place upon
the ballots and thereafter shall become part and parcel of said
ballots as if originally printed thereon.” That is, the name borne
upon the slips, not the slip, shall become part of the ballot as if
originally printed thereon.

Neither section eight nor section ten indicate what is the “proper”
place for the pasting of the slips. The former simply makes the
requirement and the latter provides for a blank space after the names
of candidates in which the voter may fill in the name of any person
for whom he desires to vote. Section twenty-four of chapter 6
clearly shows that this space is not appropriate for stickers unless
the name above the space is otherwise erased. But somewhat minute
directions are given the voter in section twenty-four of chapter 6
indicating the manner in which he shall prepare his ballot. After
providing for a change in candidates by erasure and “filling in,”
under the name erased, the name of the candidate of his choice, it
also indicates how strips or stickers may be used as follows: “Or
if the voter places and sticks on and over the name or names of any
candidate or candidates for any office or offices, a small strip or
strips of paper, commonly known as a sticker or stickers, bearing
thereon a name or names other than the name or names of the can-
didate or candidates so erased or covered up, the name or names of
such candidate or candidates so covered shall be considered to be
erased from the ballot, and the person or persons whose name or
names shall so appear on said strip or strips of paper so placed and
stuck on the ballot, shall be deemed to be voted for by the voter as a
candidate or candidates for such office or offices.” The first method
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requires erasure and substitution as two distinct acts while by the
second method one act constitutes both erasure and substitution.

It may be objected that strips or stickers are not slips, but we
think they are. A strip is a slip. Johnson’s Dict.; Webs. New
Intern. Dict.; Standard Dict.; The Century Dict. A sticker is a
gummed slip or strip. The words are to be construed according to
the common meaning of the language.

We think it requires no argument to reach the conclusion that the
proper place for a slip printed by the Secretary of State is that
wherein the strip must be placed by the voter pursuing the second
method, that is on and over the name of the candidate deceased or
withdrawn and that the rules for counting such ballots when the
sticker is attached by the voter apply equally when it is attached
by direction of the Secretary of State.

The sitting justice evidently sought to apply the rule laid down
in Bartlett v. McIntire, 108 Maine, 161, which was followed in the
later case of Pease v. Ballou, 108 Maine, 177, and has since been:
recognized as the established rule of law in this State. Bartlett v.
MclIntire, concerned ballots to which strips had been attached by
voters. In it, it was said that “The designation of the-office is an
indispensable part of any ballot. There must be an office to be filled:
as well as a candidate to fill it, and if a sticker entirely covers the-
designation of office, or if the designation be erased, the ballot cannot:
be counted. But when a sticker is so placed that enough of the top
parts of the letters of the designation remain so that the eye can see
what the office was the vote should be counted.”

The case of Bartlett v. McIntire marked a distinct departure of
the court as then constituted from the somewhat narrow rules there-
tofore adopted in construing the ballot law, was the result of a
conviction that a more broad and reasonable interpretation should
be given and the opinion was drawn in absolute conformiity to the:
rules laid down by the court as the actual count progressed. But we-
are strongly impressed that the rule there laid down as to the desig--
nation of office should be still further broadened and liberalized.

It must be conceded that the designation of the office, as well as
the candidate, must appear upon the ballot as printed by the Secre-
tary of State, such being the positive requirement of statute. But
conceding this, is the rule that when by the use of a strip or sticker
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part of the designation of the office so printed is covered, the ballot
is to be counted when and only when “enough of the tops of the let-
ters of the designation remain so that the eye can see what the office
was,” (noting that there is no provision of statute for the erasure of
the designation of office) a certain and workable rule which will lead
honest minds to the same conclusion? All such must know from
other ballots or, indeed, from the same ballot what the designation
partly covered was, for the like space in each column is devoted to
the same office and its candidate or candidates. Will not knowledge
of this fact subconsciously lead one to count, while another fully
conscious of the fact refrains? It seems a rule of doubtful reason-
ableness when honest minds may so differ and the right of fran-
chise of the voter made to depend upon the number on the one hand
of letters exposed and on the other of letters concealed or erased
and the degree to which the former are apparent, varying in many
cases by the merest fraction of an inch. As already stated it must
be as absolutely known from other ballots and like parts of the
same ballot as any fact may be known, that the place in or upon
which a strip or slip is applied is devoted to the candidacy of a
certain office whether the investigator is a primary counting officer
or the court or any unofficial person of ordinary intelligence. Is not
the intention of the voter clear who accidentally covers the desig-
nation of the office in whole or in part by & strip, when the desig-
nation of office covered must be perfectly well known?

Given then a ballot properly prepared by the Secretary of State
with the designation of the office and the name of the candidate, the
vote should be counted when from inspection of other parts of the
same ballot and of other ballots cast at the same election, it is appar-
ent what the designation of office covered is. When the designation
of the office has been placed upon the ballot by the Secretary of
State in conformity with law and it has been covered by the voter
in applying the strip or sticker, it cannot be contended that such
voter applying the sticker intended by the same act to render his
vote void. Is the presence of the designation of the office upon the
ballot less certain and known when wholly covered than when parts
of its letters are disclosed or less certain when the parts exposed
cannot be read than when they can be read?
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The ballots in question under the first two rules of the sitting
justice, twenty-three and one hundred ninety-five in number respec-
tively are allowed and counted for respondent.

The ballots of the third class, considered by the sitting justice
under Rule 3, to the number of three hundred and thirty-seven, are
those whereon, as claimed, the slips bearing the name of Morrison
Libby extended over into the next group or column to the right, in
which the name of petitioner appeared, and covered in part, and,
in one instance the whole, of his Christian name “Howard.”

It is admitted that Howard B. Crosby and Morrison Libby are
the only men of those names in the County of Kennebec and that
there are no men in the county by the name of Morris Libby or
Ward B. Crosby.

The intent of the Australian ballot law was not “to limit or defeat
the sacred right of franchise by establishing a method so intricate
or complicated as to circumvent the intention of the honest voter.
That intention must of course be expressed in compliance with
statutory requirements but those requirements are to be interpreted
broadly and reasonably. Sec. 27 provides that if for any reason,
it is impossible to determine the voter’s cheice for an office to be
filled, his ballot, shall not be counted for that office. If the con-
verse of this be thereby implied, namely, that all ballots shall be
counted where it is possible to determine the voter’s choice, a wide
latitude would be given to the canvasser. However it must be a
legally expressed choice with presumptions in favor of the voter
rather than against him.” Bartlett v. McIntire, 108 Maine, 161, 166.
And in the same case it is said on page 171 that in order that a
distinguishing mark be effective to cause the rejection of a ballot
it must be established from an inspection of the ballot “that it was
made intentionally and not accidentally.” See Libby v. English,
110 Maine, 449, 454. Pub. Laws, 1911, c. 71.

The name of Howard B. Crosby as candidate for the office of
county commissioner was printed upon the ballot in the second
colummn or group from the left by the Secretary of State. The act.
whether of the voter or of the election officer, while applying the
strip or slip over the name of the deceased candidate, in the first
or left hand column, by which it was placed over the whole or part
of the Christian name of Howard B. Crosby was casual and acci-
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dental so far as inspection of the ballot reveals. It is equally as idle
to assume that the voter or an election officer in applying a strip
or slip in one column intended to cover part of the name in the next
column as it is to assume that the voter or election officer purposely
covered with a sticker the designation of office. Such an act on
the part of the election officer would have been fraud which is not
to be presumed and which should be ineffectual to affect the rights
of the voter. '

Assume a voter, intending to vote for the candidates in the first
or left hand column, places a sticker over the name of the candidate
in that column covering as well the Christian name of the candidate
in the column next to the right, or second column and that he then
changes his purpose, and, deciding to vote for the candidates in the
second column, makes the appropriate mark in the square at the head
of that column. Can it be held an intentional erasure of the Chris-
tian name in question? Does an inspection of the ballot reveal such
intent? The name of the candidate in the second column was printed
there by the proper official and remains except that part of the name
is casually covered. There can be no question of the voter’s intent.

A uniform rule applicable in all cases whether a sticker is applied
by an official or a voter is desirable that confusion arising from the
existence of one rule in the one case and a different rule in the other
may be avoided. No possible advantage is conceivable from such
diversity. :

This conclusion is in harmony with the rule laid down in Bartlett
v. McIntire as to “incomplete names” by reason of “brokén stickers.”
In the prseent case, however, it is known to a certainty that the full
name of Howard B. Crosby, although accidently partly concealed
by a slip or strip applied in another column, was printed upon the
ballot, while in the case of the broken sticker the portion of the
name lost is inferred.

The case of erasure of part of the name of a candidate by a strip
manifestly applied in the same column-in which the name is printed,
or by pencil, will be considered when occasion requires.

Of the three hundred and thirty-seven ballots in the class now
under consideration, six must be rejected as bearing distinguishing
marks, the nature of which it will be profitless to discuss. The
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remainder of these ballots three hundred and thirty-one in number
must be counted for the petitioner.

Sixteen ballots, rejected for various reasons by the sitting justice,
are exhibited and to his action in so doing counsel make no serious
objection. We have already rejected six, in considering class three
and find nine others which should be rejected making a total of
fifteen.

Six other ballots claimed by petitioner are presented. As no objec-
tion is urged for their rejection in argument, or brief, by counsel
for respondent, they are counted for petiticner. One other ballot
claimed for petitioner and clearly defective is rejected.

Twenty-five ballots apparently counted for respondent remain
to be considered. The objections may be roughly classified as fol-
lows :—fourteen ballots on which all of the letters in whole or in
part of the name of Arthur W. Leonard appear above the sticker
bearing the name of Morrison Libby, thus enabling the name of
the former to be read and nine ballots whereon the sticker exposes
part only of the letters of the name of the deceased candidate, but
not enough to enable his name to be read. We think in considering
these ballots, the intention of the voter as gathered from an inspec-
tion of the ballot should control, unless non compliance with some
positive provision of statute forbids. The ballot should be counted
where it is possible to determine the voter’s choice legally expressed.
The presumption is in his favor. Section 24 of ¢. 6, R. S., provides
two methods, as already seen, by which the voter may substitute a
new candidate for one printed upon the ballot.

Under the first method the drawing of a pencil mark through the
name of the candidate discarded has been considered as a sufficient
erasure, although the primary meaning of erasure is to rub out or
obliterate. To erase is synonymous with to expunge or to cross out.
When a name is crossed out by the pencil, it is seldom that the name
cannot be read. Yet the erasure is held complete. That the strip
should be applied with mathematical precision can hardly be intended
or that complete obliteration be indispensable in the second method
more than in the other. In the second method the use of the strip
in itself indicates an intention to vote for a substitute candidate. If,
however, the strip is so applied that the name of both the original
candidate and the substitute appear in full under the designation of
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the office each is equally entitled to be counted and neither can be.
R. S, ¢. 6, § 27. But where the strip is so placed that a portion of
the original name is covered, we think the name so covered must be
regarded as erased although it can be read. There remain two other
ballots, upon one of which a cross was made in the squares above
two columns or groups with clear indications of an attempt to erase
that in the square other than that above the name of respondent
and one in which, by reason of a broken sticker, the last syllable
cnly of the Christian name of respondent appears. The twenty-five
ballots are counted for respondent.
Our conclustons may be tabulated as follows:

Number of ballots rejected.................. ... ... 16
Number of ballots for Morrison Libby now undisputed 5742
Number counted for Libby of the disputed.......... 243 5985
Number of ballots for Howard B. Crosby now undis-
puted ... e 5489
Number counted for Crosby of the disputed......... 337 5326
Total ..o 11,827

Libby’s plurality, 150.

It is therefore held that the respondent having received a plurality
of all the ballots cast for county commissioner for the County of
Kennebec at the State election held on the fourteenth day of Sep-
tember, 1914, was duly elected county commissioner of said county
for the term beginning January 1, 1915, and is entitled by law to
the office now held by him.

Petition dismissed with costs for respondent.

OrpiNiON BY CorNisH, J. I concur in the result of the opinion of
a majority of the court but think that so much of that opinion as
overrules the doctrine of Bartlett v. McIntire, 108 Maine, 161, gov-
erning the counting of ballots with stickers placed by the voters
themselves, is unnecessary in this case and therefore in the nature of
dicta.

The case of Bartlett v. McIntire, supra, and the other cases fol-
lowing, viz: Pease v. Ballou, 108 Maine, 177, and Libby v. English,
110 Maine, 177, all involved the effect of stickers affixed by the
voter himself under R. S.) ch. 6, sec. 24, while the case at bar calls
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for the determination of the effect of slips pasted by an election
officer under R. S., ch. 6, sec. 8. It does not seem to me to be neces-
sary in deciding this case to either affirm or overrule the prior cases
which rest upon a different state of facts and are governed by a
different section of the statute. It may be proper and timely to con-
sider that question when the occasion calls for such re-examination
and I express no opinion as to the wisdom of then modifying the
existing rule or adopting that announced in the decision of the court.
It is sufficient now to decide the case before us.

1. The distinction between the prior cases and the present is
apparent. R S., ch. 6, sec. 24, prescribes the manner in which the
voter shall mark his ballot with a cross in the appropriate place and
then continues, “And if the voter shall desire to vote for any person
or persons, whose name or names are not printed as candidates on
the party group or ticket, he may erase any name or names which
are printed on the group or party ticket, and under the name or
names so erased he may fill in the name or names of the candidates
of his choice. Or if the voter places and sticks on and over the
name or names of any candidate or candidates for any office or
offices a small strip or strips of paper, commenly known as a sticker
or stickers, bearing thereon a name or names other than the name
or names of the candidate or candidates so erased or covered up,
the name or names of such candidate or candidates so covered shall
be considered to be erased from the ballot and the person or persons
whose name or names shall so appear on such strip or strips of
paper so placed and stuck on the ballot shall be deemed to be voted
for by the voter as a candidate or candidates for such office or
offices.”

This section has no application to the present case. The voters
who cast ballots now under consideration did not “desire to vote
for any person or persons whose names were not printed as a can-
didate on the party group or ticket.” On the contrary they desired
to vote and they did vote for the respondent, whose name was
printed on a slip and had been placed on the party group or ticket
by the proper officials. They did not “place and stick on and over
the name or names of any candidate or candidates for any office or
offices a small strip or strips of paper commonly known as a sticker
or stickers, etc.” On the contrary they did not change or attempt
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to change the official ballot in the slightest degree, but simply fol-
lowed the statutory instructions by placing the cross in the party
sguare; and by so doing the statute expressly declares that “they
shall be deemed to have voted for all the persons named in the
group under such party or designation.” This respondent was named
in that group as a candidate for county commissioner and there-
fore these voters must be deemed to have voted for him. And he
was the only candidate for that office in that group. The original
nominee had died, and his place had been filled by another, the
respondent. The name of the original nominee in the space had
become a nullity. It was as if the space were vacant and the new
name had been inserted in it. Nor was there any candidate over
whose name a sticker could be placed, because a dead man cannot
be a candidate in the eye of the law. Seciion 24 contemplates two
living people, either of whom would be eligible, and the substitution
of one for the other by the voter himself whe has a preference and
expresses it. Here death had created a vacancy, had removed one
name, and the name of the new nominee was really the only name
in the space.

It is obvious therefore that sec. 24 has to do only with voter-
changed ballots, with split tickets, so called, and the cases already
cited apply only to that class. But that is not this case. Other
provisions of the statute govern here because the facts and the situ-
ation are different.

2. It is admitted that Mr. Leonard, the original nominee for
county commissioner, died on the eve of election. The ballots had
‘already been printed and distributed. A new nomination was duly
made by the proper authorities and the new name was furnished to
the Secretary of State. That official followed the directions speci-
fied in R. S., ch. 6, sec. 8, enacted to meet such an emergency, viz:
“If the ballots have been printed, new ballots containing the new
nomination shall, whenever practicable, be furnished, or slips con-
taining the new nomination shall be printed under the direction of
the Secretary of State, which may be pasted in proper place upon
the ballots and thereafter shall become part and parcel of said ballots
as if originally printed thereon.” The time was too short to permit
the printing of new ballots for the entire County of Kennebec. That
was not “practicable,” and therefore slips were printed under the
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direction of the Secretary of State and were pasted upon the ballots
by the proper election officers before they were delivered to the
voters. All this is conceded.

But the statute says they shall be pasted “in proper place.” What
is the fair and reasonable meaning of those words? Obviously the
proper place is the appropriate place, that portion of the party
column devoted to county commissioner. That is precisely what
was done here. The slips were placed in proper place and the fact
that they covered or failed to cover the name of a deceased candi-
date is entirely immaterial. In legal contemplation the old name
had vanished and the new name was the only one in the space.

And whether in the rush and hurry of preparing a large number
of ballots within a brief period of time scme of the slips were
accidentally or carelessly pasted by the officials so as to cover in
whole or in part the name of the office is likewise immaterial. Too
great nicety is neither demanded nor expected in the placing of
these slips. Section 8 does not require it. The rights of the voter
and the rights of the candidate ought not to depend upon the exact
angle at which the slip adheres to the official ballot, nor upon its
precise location within the fractional part of an inch.

But even if it could be held that the officials had made an error
in allowing the slip to cover too much of the title or too little of
the original name, even then the voters should not suffer, for no
principle is better settled than that they shall not be disfranchised
by reason of official neglect. The right of suffrage is jealously
guarded by the law, and unsuspecting voters are not to be deprived
of that right through the ignorance or carelessness of those who
represent the State and stand charged with official responsibility.
The will of the people is not to be thwarted by immaterial errors
in the ballot. Opin. Justices 107 Maine, 514-517.

The ballots in the case at bar do not contain “stickers,” but, as
the statute terms them, they are “slips” containing “the new nomi-
nation,” the only name on the official ballot that can be voted for for
county commissioner in that party column. The indisputable fact
is that all these rejected ballots in the precise form in which they
were rejected, were not split tickets but official ballots. The slips
were as official as the rest of the ticket. They were printed under
the direction of the Secretary of State, they were affixed by the
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election oificers in the space set apart for the candidate for county
commissioner and they thereby became in the language of the statute
“part and parcel of said ballots as if originally printed thereon.”
Every ballot bore the official indorsement, the sign manual, required
by section 10, “Official ballot for Ward —" and the fac simile of the
signature of the Secretary of State. They were delivered to the
voter as official ballots and he had a right to rely upon them as such
and to assume that they were correct in every respect. Reliability
has been declared to be one of the chief purposes of the official

ballot. Opin. Justices, 107 Maine, supra. The voter is forbidden
to use any other or deposit any other in the ballot box. Sec. 27.
Unless, then, we are prepared to say that the voter who receives an
official ballot and casts it unchanged is to be disfranchised, these
ballots must be counted.

3. But it is urged by the petitioner that this court, as counting
officials, can be governed by nothing else than by the ballots as
cast and by the form in which they appear hefore us. If by this is
meant that in counting ballots with stickers upon them affixed by
the voters, we cannot go outside the ballots to ascertain the voters’
intention, but must be governed by their intention as expressed, I
readily concur. But if it means that when it is admitted as here
that the slips containing the name of the new candidate were affixed
by the election officers themselves in perfecting the official ballot,
and were not stickers affixed by the voters after the perfected
official ballot had been received by them, still we must shut our
minds to that fact and must count them as sticker ballots and not as
slip ballots, I must most vigorously dissent. What right have we to
do this? Whence comes our authority for such action? Sticker
ballots are governed by one section of the statute, sec. 24, and slip
ballots by another, sec. 8 The former change the official ballot,
the latter perfect and complete the official ballot. They are entirely
distinct, and each must be counted according to the requirements
of the respective sections. Section 24 has been construed in the
decisions before referred to. But a count under section 8 has never
arisen in this State until the present time. That section has now
come up for construction and I have endeavored to construe it
according to its plain and unambiguous terms, giving that reasonable
interpretation which is in harmony with the letter and the spirit of
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the whole Australian ballot law and with the general rules of law
applicable to all elections under our form of government.

And what applies to the Court applies with equal force to the
original count in open town or ward meeting by the election officers
themselves when the polls are closed. They are the identical per-
sons who pasted the slips and have full knowledge of the fact.
Must they too shut their minds and memories to the manner in
which the slips found their way to the ballots and regard them as
stickers and count them as if affixed by the voters? Can the same
hand and eye that pasted the slips in the morning, prepared the
ballots and offered them to the voters as official and correct, reject
them in the evening as defective on the ground that they do not
meet the requirements as to stickers? Such a position is untenable.

If the rule contended for by the petitioner should obtain it would
open the door to such wholesale fraud in the hands of unscrupulous
officials as it is not pleasant to contemplate. A way is thereby
pointed out by which not merely by accident but by design such
officials might so prepare the official ballot under like circumstances
as to disfranchise a large number of helpless and unsuspecting
voters, if they should see fit to do so, by the zrtful manner of pasting
the slips, and such ballots would be rejected by the very hand that
perpetrated the trick. This puts too high z premium upon wrong
doing and leaves the electors at the mercy of designing officials, a
situation that should never be countenanced, much less encouraged.

In the case at bar there is neither claim nor indication of any
fraud. The election officers were doubtless honest in the perform-
ance of their duties. They endeavored to give the voters an oppor-
tunity to vote for the respondent as the new nominee for county
commissioner, and in my opinion they did so, because the ballot they
perfected complied with the statute regulating the substitution. The
voters by making the cross at the head of the party column expressed
their intention to vote for the new nominee in the only manner
in which such intention could be expressed, and thereby, in the
language of the statute, “they are deemed to have voted” for him.
The title to an elective office is derived from the popular expression
at the ballot box, and the will of the people is not to be defeated by
the mistakes, negligence, or fraud of election officers. To hold in
this case that the candidate who actually received a substantial plu-

VOL. CXIV 4
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rality of the votes cast must be thrust from his office simply because
some of the officially placed slips covered a portion of the title, or
failed to cover the name of a dead man, is in my judgment to violate
the statute under which elections are held as well as the fundamental
principles of law and good government.

Without, therefore, re-examining the doctrine of Bartlett v.
McIntire, supra, as to voter placed stickers, my conclusion is that
the voters in the case at bar ought not to be disfranchised because
of carelessly placed official slips and that the entry should be, as
held by the majority of the court,

Petition dismissed with costs.

MR. Justice KING concurs in this opinion.

WiLLiaM Bass ws. ALFRED Dumas and Logs and Lumber.
Somerset. Cpinion September 13, 19I5.

Attachment, Banlkruptcy. Filing Co'P;v of Attachment. Lien.
Possession. Preserving Attachment. Return.
R. S., Chap. 83, Sect. 27.  Stignature.

1. To preserve an attachment of personal property, the officer must either
retain the possession of it, or he must within five days after the attachment,
in case the property is bulky, file in the town clerk’s office an attested copy
of so much of his return on the writ as relates to the attachment.

2. If an officer making an attachment of bulky property does not either
retain possession, or within five days file in the town clerk’s office an
attested copy of so much of his return on the writ as relates to the
attachment, the attachment is dissolved.

3. A return not signed by an officer himself is not a return, although it
may have been signed by someone else in his name, by his direction.

4. When the signature of a public officer is required he must make it himselt,

He cannot delegate the doing of it to another.

The copy of an officer’s return of an attachment filed in the town clerk’s
office must be attested by the officer himself, or the attachment is not
preserved.

@9
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6. In this case, the officer did not preserve his attachment by retaining the
possession.

7. When an attachment is dissolved by failure of the officer either to retain
possession or by filing an attested copy of his return in the town clerk’s
office, he cannot revive the attachment by merely taking possession after-
wards. He must make a new attachment. And that he cannot do after
the writ is entered in court.

8. When an officer has several writs to serve against the same defendant,
attaches the same property on all, and in one case makes a good return, and
files an attested copy of it in the town clerk’s office, but fails to make a
good return or to file a sufficiently attested copy in any of the others, the
preservation of the attachment in the one case does not continue the
officer’s right to possession in the other cases, in which the attachment was
dissolved by failure to comply with the statute.

9. When an officer making an attachment fails to preserve it, in the case of
bulky property, either by retaining possession or by filing in the town
clerk’s office a copy attested by himself of his return signed by himself,
the attachment is not revived by the officer’s amendment of his return
by signing it afterwards, by leave of court.

On report. Judgment that plaintiff has no lien. Remanded.

This is an action to enforce a lien for cutting and hauling certain
logs. Plea, the general issue with brief statement,

At the conclusion of the evidence, the case, by agreement of par-
ties, was reported to the Law Court for determination. Upon so
much of the evidence as is legally admissible, the Law Court will
render such judgment as the law and the evidence require.

The case is stated in the opinion.

Butler & Butler for plaintiff.

W. B. Brown, for Dumas.

W. R. Pattangall and Thomas Leigh, for Schmick Handle &
Lumber Co.

George W. Heselton and Fred F. Lawrence, for Wendell F. Brown
Co.

Harvey D. Eaton and H. L. Hunton for David B. Ellis.
SITTING: SAVAGE, C. J., Spear, King, Biro, Harey, HansoN, JJ.

Savacg, C. J. Action to enforce a lien for cutting and hauling
logs. The defendant was a contractor. The Schmick Handle and
Lumber Company was the owner. The logs were taken to the yard
of the owner, and there sawed into lumber, and the lumber was
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stuck up. Other lumber was intermingled with it by the owner
without the plaintiff’s consent. The Schmick Handle and Lumber
Company was afterwards petitioned into bankruptcy, and all the
lumber was sold to the Wendell F. Brown Company by the trus-
tees in bankruptcy. The latter company appears now to defend
against any judgment in rem. It is admitted that the amount
claimed is due from the defendant Dumas. The labor was per-
formed in November and December, 1913 and January, 1914. The
suit was begun January 19, 1914. An attachment of the sawed
lumber was made January 20, and a copy of the return of so much
of the officer’s return as related to the attachment, and so forth, as
required by statute, was filed in the town clerk’s office, January
21. R. S, chap. 83, sect. 27. The Schmick Handle and Lumber
Company was adjudicated a bankrupt February 6, and the lumber
was sold September 26.

The writ in this case was one of fifty-seven writs, all made the
same day for different persons claiming liens. All were against the
same defendant and against the same sawed lumber. On one writ
the officer made a return of the attachment and signed it with his
own hand. He also signed and attested the copy filed in the town
clerk’s office. But on each of the others, including the one in this
case, the return and the copy filed were, under his direction, made
and signed by others, in his name, as “David B. Ellis, by E.” It is
admitted that on January 29, 1915, the officer being advised that the
legality of his return was questioned took actual possession of so
much of the lumber attached as had not previously been shipped
away, and still retains the same. At the January, 1915, term of
court the officer was granted leave to amend his return by signing it,
which he accordingly did.

The Wendell F. Brown Company defends against any judgment
in rem on several grounds. We consider cnly one, namely, that
the lien by attachment was lost because of the failure of the officer to
sign the return and to attest the copy filed in the town clerk’s office,
by his own hand.

That the officer made a valid attachment may be conceded. An
attachment of personal property is made by taking possession and
control of the same to be held to be forthcoming on execution.
Darling v. Dodge, 36 Maine, 370; Lewiston Steam Mill Co. v.
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Merrill, 78 Maine, 111. Independent of any statute, to preserve
and continue the attachment the officer must retain possession. He
must either have the actual physical custody of it, or such control
as to have the power of taking immediate possession. Nichols v.
Patten, 18 Maine, 238; Brown v. Howard, 86 Maine, 342. To
obviate the inconvenience of doing this in the case of bulky articles,
the statute provides that in such a case, “the officer may, within
five days thereafter, file in the office of the clerk of the town in
which the attachment is made, an attested copy of so much of his
return on the writ as relates to the attachment, with the value of
the defendant’s property which he is commanded to attach, the
names of the parties, the date of the writ, and the court to which it
is returnable, and such attachment is as effectual and valid as if the
property had remained in his possession and custody.” R. S., chap.
83, sect. 27. To relieve the officer from the necessity of retaining
actual possession he must follow the statute. He must file an attested
copy of his return, and that means that he must first make a return.
Filing the attested copy does not continue the possession. It is a
substitute for possession. By it the lien of the attachment is pre-
served. So is the officer’s special property, and right to take
possession. Wentworth v. Sawyer, 76 Maiue, 434 ; Lewiston Steam
Ml Co. v. Merrill, 78 Maine, 107 ; Perry v. Griefen, 99 Maine, 420.
But, if the officer does not either retain possession or within five
days file such an attested copy of his return as the statute prescribes
the attachment is dissolved. It no longer exists. And in order to
get the right of control over the property again he must make a
new attachment.

In this case the officer did not make any return over his own sig-
nature, nor did he file any copy of a return attested by himself. A
return not signed by the officer is not a return, although it may be
signed by someone else in his name and by his direction. The very
office of a return requires a signature. And it is the signature which
authenticates it and gives it its official character. When the signa-
ture of a public officer is required he must make it himself. He
cannot delegate the doing of it. The question is res adjudicata in
this state. Chapman v. Limerick 56 Maine, 300. See Opinions of
the Justices, 68 Maine at p. 588; 70 Maine at p. 564; McGuire V.
Church, 49 Conn., 248. So the attestation of the copy filed is an
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official act. It must be done by the officer, by his own signature.
Indeed, this proposition is not controverted in argument. The officer
therefore did not comply with the statute. He did not make a
valid return. He did not attest the copy of the return that was made.
We must hold accordingly that the attachment was not preserved
by filing the paper in the town clerk’s office.

But it is contended in argument that the officer did continue to
retain such a possession as was sufficient to preserve the attachment,
irrespective of the filing of the copy of the return. Of course, an
officer may preserve an attachment by filing the copy and by retaining
possession at the same time. But we think this officer did not do
so. The nature of the property, taken in connection with the fact
that the officer attempted to preserve the attachment by filing the
copy, has some significance, as ordinarily the copy is filed as a sub-
stitute for possession. It is admitted that while the trustees of the
Schmick Handle and Lumber Company were conducting work in the
yard, and when the Wendell F. Brown Company were sorting and
shipping six cars of the lumber that had been attached, the officer
did not in any way interfere or attempt to prevent the work, or the
management and control of the lumber. And perhaps it is more
significant than all the rest that the officer as soon as he learned that
the preservation of the attachment was to be questioned in this
suit, immediately took steps to take what the case calls “manual
possession” of what lumber was left. And it should be noted that
the officer was not called to testify, and there is no testimony that
he retained possession. From all this, we think the only reasonable
inference is that he did not retain possession, but that he filed the
copy of the return as a substitute for it.

But the plaintiff makes one other point. It seems that the attach-
ment in one case was preserved by making a good return and filing
a good attested copy of it. And it is argued, as we understand the
contention, that in some way this continued the possession of the
officer, or his right to possession, so that he could afterwards take
and hold possession under the attachment in this case. The suits
were separate and the attachments separate. One might be pre-
served and another lost. Whether preserved in any case depended
upon what was done in that particular case. The filing of the good
copy in one case did not of itself, as we have said, continue the
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possession. It continued the right to possession only, and only in
that case. If in other cases, the attachment was lost by failure to
comply with the statute, the good attachment could not sustain or
revive those that were dissolved. This one attachment could be
preserved only by retaining posession or filing a statutory copy.
We have seen that the officer did neither.

The amendment of the return by signing it could not help the
matter. The attachment had ceased to exist a long time before. So
the taking “manual possession” did not help. The attachments had
been dissolved. There is no way of reviving an attachment that is
lost. The only way the officer could get possession to hold the prop-
erty on this claim was by making a new attachment. And that he
did and could not do.

The necessary conclusion is that the plaintiff is not entitled to a
judgment in rem against the property attached. His lien has been
lost. The docket entries exhibited to us show that the bankruptcy
of the defendant has been suggested below. Accordingly we do
not direct judgment against him, but remand the case for further
proceedings against him at nisi prius.

Judgment that plaintiff has no lien.
Remanded.

KennNeTH P. MoraN, By Next Friend, vs. GEorGE W. SMITH.
Mavurice S. MoraN vs. GEORGE W. SMITH.
Knox. Opinion September 13, 1915.

Automobile. Contributory Negligence. Damages. Negligence.
“The Last Clear Chance.”

A boy eight years of age saw an automobile approaching on the street, not
more than 40 or 50 feet away, and then attempted to run across the street
in front of it. He either ran against the automobile or was struck by it.

Held -
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1. That he was guilty of contributory negligence.

2. When one negligently runs upon or injures another who has negligently
put himself into a dangerous situation, he is liable for his subsequent and
independent negligence. But this rule does not apply when the injured
party’s negligence is progressive and actively continues up to the point of
collision.

On motions by defendant for new trial. Motions sustained.

These two cases, one by father and one by minor son, are brought
to recover for injuries received by reason of a collision between
the defendant’s automobile, driven by him, and Kenneth P. Moran.

Plea, the general issue. The jury returned a verdict for plaintiff

in both cases. Defendant filed motions for new trial in both cases.
The case is stated in the opinion.

M. A. Johnson, for plaintiffs.
A. S. Littlefield, for defendant.

SitTiNG: Savack, C. J., Spear, King, Birp, Havey, Hanson, JJ.

Savagg, C. J. The plaintiff in the first action, a boy eight years
old, seeks to recover damages for injuries occasioned by being run
against and thrown down by an automobile negligently driven by
the defendant. The other action is brought by the boy’s father to
recover for alleged loss of services, and expenses of nursing. In
each case the plaintiff recovered a verdict. And the cases are before
us on defendant’s motions for new trials.

The collision occurred on Limerock street in Rockland, between
Broad and Lincoln streets. These streets intersect Limerock street
at right angles, and are seventy feet apart. Limerock street is
about fifty feet wide between street lines, and thirty-six feet between
gutters. The boy plaintiff, with two other boys, was riding in a
hayrack, going westerly on Limerock street. The hayrack was on
the right hand side of the street. One of the boys got off some-
where between Lincoln and Broad streets, and ran across the street
to the opposite sidewalk. The plaintiff followed from the rack,
and started to run across the street. Meanwhile the defendant drove
his car along Broad street and turned easterly into Limerock street,
facing the boys. The boy on the sidewalk saw the car and shouted
to the plaintiff. The plaintiff saw the car, stopped, and then started
to run again, and endeavored to cross the street in front of the car.
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He claims that in doing so he got nearly by and was struck by the
right hand mud guard and thrown down. The defendant claims that
the boy ran against the left hand mud guard. And it is certain that
the great weight of disinterested testimony sustains this claim.

It is claimed that the defendant was negligent in that he did not
blow his horn before he turned the corner, that he was driving too
fast, considering the circumstances, and that he did not stop as
quickly as he might when he saw the boy attempting to cross. In
passing, we will say as to the first point, that it is immaterial in
this case whether the horn was blown or not, because the plaintiff
saw the car in season to stop. In fact he did stop. As to the other
features of alleged negligence, it is unnecessary to discuss them,
for we think the plaintiff was guilty of contributory negligence.
Whether he was hit by one mud guard as he claims, or ran against
the other, he was trying to run across in front of an approaching
car, which could have been only a few feet away, when he started
the second time. It was a childish impulse, no doubt, to follow his
playfellow. But the danger was so obvious and so immediate that
even a child of his years should have known better. Children even
of his age are held to the exercise of some care. They cannot be
absolutely careless, and then hold others responsible to them for
the results to which their carelessness contributed. Colomb v. Port-
land & Brunswick St. Ry., 100 Maine, 418.

The plaintiff contends that even if he was negligent, the defendant
nevertheless is liable because he might, after he saw the plaintiff, by
the exercise of reasonable care, have stopped his car and avoided
the collision. This is the so called “last clear chance” doctrine. The
doctrine is recognized in this state. But this case does not fall
within its limits. That doctrine, speaking in a broad way, applies
when one negligently gets himself into a dangerous situation, or a
trap, as it were, from which he cannot extricate himself, and being
there another negligently runs upon, collides with, or in some other
manner injures him. It does not apply when, as in this case, the
injured party’s negligence is progressive and actively continues up
to the point of collision. In such case the negligence of the other
party is not subsequent to and independent of the injured party’s
contributory negligence. It is contemporaneous with it to the last
instant. It operates to produce the result in connection with the
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other negligence, and not independently of it. Butler v. R. T. & C.
St. Ry. 99 Maine, 149. In this case, the plaintiff could have stopped
at any moment. By stopping he would have avoided the collision.
He continued. His negligence continued.

It is clear that the verdict of the jury was not warranted by the
evidence, under the rules of law. The father’s case falls with the

other. The certificate in each case will be,
Motion for a new trial sustained.

EpwiN A. SHEPHERD, ct al, us. P. A. Davis.

Penobscot. Opinion September 19, 1915.

Attestation. Attesting Witness. Holmes Note. R. S, Chap. 83,
Sect. 89. Statute of Limitations.

1. An action of assumpsit upon a Holmes note. The defense is the Statute
of Limitations, and the note is within the statutes, unless saved by the
attestation. It was attested by one of the payees.

2. The phrase “signed in the presence of an attesting witness” in R. S,,
Chap. 83, should be construed to mean that the attesting witness must be
some one other than the parties to the note.

On exceptions by plaintiff. Exceptions overruled.

This is an action of assumpsit on a Holmes note. The defense
was the statute of limitations. The case was heard by the court with
the right of exception. The note was attested by one of the parties
to the transaction. The Justice before whom the case was heard
ruled that the attesting witness must be some one other than the
party to the note. The plaintiff excepted to the ruling.

The case is stated in the opinion.

Percy A. Hasty, for plaintiffs.

Freeman D. Dearth, for defendant.
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SitTiNG: SpeEAR. CorNisH, Birp, HarLey, Hanson, JJ.

SPEAR, J. The presiding Justice who heard and rendered judg-
ment in this action with the right of exception states the case and
finding as follows: ,

“This case was heard by the court, with the right of exception.
The action is assumpsit upon a Holmes note. The defense is the
statute of limitations. The note is within the statute, unless saved
by the attestation. It was attested by one of the payees.

I think the phrase ‘signed in the presence of an attesting witness’
in R. S,, ch. 83, should be construed to mean that the attesting
witness must be some one other than the parties to the note. Accord-
ingly I rule that the payee of a note cannot be an attesting witness,
within the meaning of the statute. Judgment for defendant.”

The case comes up on exceptions to this ruling. The plaintiffs’
counsel frankly admits that “a careful examination of the authorities
fails to disclose any case directly in point” sustaining his contention,
but refers to Shepherd v. Parker, g7 Maine, 86, as a case affording
a possible analogy. But in that case the wife who witnessed the
note was a third party and a witness to the transaction between the
maker and payee of the note. In the case before us E. A. Shepherd,
the witness, was not a third party but a party to the transaction and
therefore a witness to his own act. The statute reads: “The fore-
going limitations do not apply to actions on promissory notes signed
in the presence of an attesting witness.” This language clearly
implies that the witness must be some person other than the party
to the note.

Exceptions overruled.
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Guy A. Trask vs. AManpa B. Trask.

Cumberland. Opinion October 1, 1915.

Annulment of Marriage. Divorce. Essence of the Contract. Fraud.
Jurisdiction.

It is uniformly held that no fraud will avoid a marriage which does not go
to the very essence of the contract, and which is not in its nature, such a
thing as either would prevent the party entering the marriage relation, or,
having entered into it, would preclude performance of the duties which
the law and custom impose upon husband or wife as a party to the contract.

On exceptions by plaintifi. Exceptions overruled.

This is a petition brought by the plaintiff for the purpose of annul-
ling the marriage between the plaintiff and defendant.

At the hearing, the presiding Justice dismissed the bill, and the
plaintiff excepted to said ruling.

The case is stated in the opinion.

Irving E. Vernon, for plaintiff.

Clifford E. McGlauflin, for defendant.

StrTiNG: Savace, C. J., Spear, King, HaLey, Hanson, JJ.

HansoN, J. Petition to annul the marriage between the plaintiff
and defendant. At the hearing the presiding Justice ruled pro
forma that the bill be dismissed. The case is here on the plaintiff’s
cxception to that ruling. The exceptions contain the following
clause: “For the purpose of these exceptions, it is also to be con-
sidered that the question of jurisdiction of proceedings for annul-
ment of marriage on the part of the Supreme Judicial Court in the
county of Cumberland, is to be considered.”

The record shows a prior marriage and divorce on the part-of the
defendant. It appears that the petitioner did not know of the
defendant’s prior marriage until about two years before their final
separation, and that such separation was for other causes than the
alleged former marriage.
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The petitioner bases his claim to relief upon the following alle-
gation:

“Your petitioner further avers that the said Hannah A. Moore
fraudulently and for the purpose of inducing your petitioner to
marry her, concealed the fact of her previous marriage, divorce
and cause for divorce, from your petitioner, and for the same pur-
pose falsely represented herself to be a spinster, by name Amanda
Blackwood, of chaste and virtuous habits, and that your petitioner
was induced to marry said Hannah A. Moore by said fraud practiced
upon him and that said fraud was such as went to the essence of the
contract of marriage, and that had he known the true facts your
petitioner would never have gone through the ceremony of marriage
with the said Hannah A. Moore.”

Copies of the court records of Massachusetts were introduced
showing that the divorce was decreed upon proof of the charge of
adultery.

As to jurisdiction: At the time of filing the petition in this case,
the Superior Court for Cumberland county had exclusive jurisdiction
in divorce proceedings. Chap. 174 of the Public Laws of 1913. The
jurisdiction of this court in matters of annulment was not affected
by the last named act; but by Chapter 39, Public Laws of 1915, said
act was amended, giving the Superior Court of Cumberland county
exclusive jurisdiction, within said county, x x x x x x of “libel
for divorce including any petition for annulment of marriage, or
petition for modification of a decree of divorce, whether such decree
was granted in the Superior or the Supreme Judicial Court of said
county.”

It requires no citation to establish the claim that this court has
jurisdiction in the case at bar, the above named amendment not
having been made at the date of filing the petition herein.

As to the merits: It is uniformly held that no fraud will avoid
a marriage which does not go to the very essence of the contract,
and which is not in its nature such a thing as either would prevent
the party entering into the marriage relation, or, having entered
into it, would preclude performance of the duties which the law
and custom impose upon husband or wife as a party to the contract.
Reynolds v. Reynolds, 3 Allen, 605 ; Smith v. Smith, 171 Mass., 404.
The case at bar is well within the rule laid down in the above named
cases. The motion was properly granted.

Exceptions overruled.
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ALBERT Dostik, Petitioner for Certiorari,
vs.

Boarp oF MAYOR AND ALDERMEN OF THE City OF LEWISTON.

Androscoggin. Opinion October 1, 1915.

Acceptance of Resignation. Certiorari. Dismissal. Resignation.
Vacancy. Withdrawal of Resignation.

1. The petitioner had the right to withdraw his resignation at any time
before its acceptance by the mayor and aldermen.

2. In the absence of a statute provision in cases of this kind, a resignation
is not complete until it is accepted by competent authority, which is the
appointing power.

3. As neither the petitioner nor the defendant, on their own motion, can
create a vacancy, it follows that the term of service of petitioner was not
legally terminated, either by the alleged resignation or by the subsequent
attempt to remove him.

On report. Record quashed.

This is a petition for writ of certiorari, wherein petitioner asks to
have the records of the board of mayor and aldermen of the city
of Lewiston quashed so far as they relate to the discharge of the
petitioner from the police force. The case was reported to the Law
Court upon an agreed statement of facts for determination.

The case is stated in the opinion.

George S. McCarty, for petitioner.

Wwm. H. Clifford, city solicitor, for Board of Mayor and Aldermen.

Str1iNGg: Savaci, C. J., SpEAR, King, Birp, HaLey, Hanson, JJ.

Hanson, J. This case came before the Law Court upon the fol-
lowing agreed statement of facts:
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“This is a petition for writ of certiorari to quash the records of
the board of mayor and aldermen of the city of Lewiston, relating
to the discharge of the petitioner from the police force.

On the thirteenth day of March, 1915, Albert Dostie was a
member of the police force of the city of Lewiston, duly elected
and qualified, having been appointed in March, 1913, for a term of
three years. On said day, because of alleged misconduct, he was
asked to sign a prepared resignation. Said resignation was drafted
by the deputy marshal of said city and was signed by Dostie in his
presence and also in the presence of the city marshal and at the
latter’s request. The resignation was of the following tenor:

‘Lewiston, Maine, March 13, 1915.
To the Hon. Board of Mayor & Aldermen,
Lewiston, Maine,
GENTLEMEN — ,

Through unfortunate circumstances, I humbly submit to your
Board my resignation. Thanking you for your kindness extended
for several years past.

I remain, very truly yours,
(Signed) Avreert DosrtiE.’

After the signing of the above resignation, the same was held by
the city marshal and later the same day was delivered to the Hon-
orable Robert J. Wiseman, mayor of said city of Lewiston, by said
city marshal. The following day, March fourteenth, at the request
of the said Dostie, the said resignation was returned to him by said
mayor. On the morning of March 15th following, charges were
preferred against Dostie by the mayor and a hearing upon said
charges was had before the mayor and board of aldermen. It is
agreed that the proceedings of said meeting so far as they relate to
the matter of the removal of Dostie from the police force are irreg-
ular and illegal and therefore null and void. It is further agreed
that the resignation of Dostie was at no time presented to the board
of mayor and aldermen and that they as a body never acted upon
the same nor did they have the opportunity of so doing.

It is agreed that either party may refer to Chapter 293 of the
Private and Special Laws of 1880, and to Chapter III of the Ordi-
nances of the city of Lewiston.
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It is further agreed that the decision of the Law Court shall be
final and as of a hearing upon the writ rather than the petition for
certiorari.

GEORGE S. McCarty,
Attorney for Dostie.
Wwm. H. CLIFFORD,
City Solicitor for Board of Mayor and Aldermen.

Upon the foregoing agreed statement of facts by agreement of
parties, this case is reported to the Law Court.

1f the Law Court are of opinion that the petitioner is not barred
from maintaining the petition by reason of his alleged resignation,
the entry is to be ‘Record quashed;’ otherwise, ‘Petition dismissed.’
The petition and answer need not be printed, but may be referred
to by either party.”

The admissions made leave but one question for determination:
Is the petitioner barred from maintaining his petition by reason of his
alleged resignation?

The petitioner contends that it is the general rule that in order to
perfect a resignation, the same must be accepted by the proper
authority. And the authority competent to accept the resignation,
in the absence of statutory provisions regulating the matter, is the
authority which by law has. the right to fill the vacancy caused by
the resignation.

The defendants contend that the resignation, although withdrawn,
was a resignation in fact, that the petitioner had not the right to
withdraw it, and that the mayor had no authority to return it; that
(1) a public officer may resign at pleasure without the assent of the
appointing power, and that, in the absence of any statute to the con-
trary, an absolute and unconditional resignation vacates an office
from the time the resignation reaches the proper authority, without
any acceptance, express or implied, on the part of the latter. (2)
That a resignation which is intended to take effect immediately, and
which was delivered for that purpose to the officer authorized to
receive it, cannot be withdrawn.

On the date of the resignation the plaintiff was under suspension
awaiting the action of the officers having lLis case in charge ;—the
mayor and aldermen at their next meeting, as provided by Section 1
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of Chapter 293, Private and Special Laws of 1880. Pending such
meeting the resignation had been tendered and withdrawn, with no
protest from the mayor, and no act on his part or on the part ot
the board of aldermen, tending to show an acceptance of the same:
on the contrary there was an apparent ready compliance with the
request to return the resignation, and an immediate resort on the
part of the mayor to a different mode of procedure to remove the
petitioner. The record discloses the means used, and the admitted
failure of the mayor and aldermen to effect such removal. In view
of the record we hold that the petitioner had the right in the cir-
cumstances to withdraw the resignation at any time before its accept-
ance by the mayor and aldermen. That it had not been accepted
by them is clearly shown by the surrender of the resignation by the
mayor and the subsequent proceedings to remove the petitioner.
These acts on the part of the mayor and aldermen constituted a
waiver of any right or advantage they may have had while holding
the resignation. The office could not be abandoned at the pleasure
of the petitioner. He had been appointed for a term of three years.
Under the city charter his appointment was authorized to be made
by the city council. Chapter 105, Sect. 4, Laws of 1861, provides
that “the city council shall, annually, on the third Monday in March,
or as soon thereafter as may be convenient, elect, and appoint for
the ensuing year, all the subordinate officers and agents for the city.

and may by concurrent vote remove officers when in their
opinion, sufficient cause for their removal exists . . . All the
said subordinate officers and agents shall hold their offices during the
ensuing year, and till others shall be elected and qualified in their
stead, unless sooner removed by the city council.” Section 1, Chap-
ter 293, Laws of 1880, provides that “the city marshal, deputy
marshal, and policemen of the city of Lewiston, shall hereafter be
appointed by the mayor, by and with the advice and consent of the
aldermen. . . . subject, however, after a hearing, to removal
at any time by the mayor, by and with the advice and consent of
the aldermen, for inefficiency, or other cause.”

Appointment, suspension and removal of such officers were pro-
vided for, but no provision seems to have been made for dealing with
a vancancy caused by resignation, or of dealing with a resignation
when offered. The term of service having been fixed by law, and

VOL. CXIV §
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not being subject to the will of the mayor and aldermen, the peti-
tioner could be removed only as provided by law. In this case the
fawful means of removal having failed, the defendant claims a
vacancy in the office due to the alleged resignation. We cannot
sustain such view of the law. It does not appear that the resignation
was accepted before it was withdrawn.

It is contended that the petitioner had no right to withdraw his
resignation. We do not agree with the defendant in this contention.
We think the petitioner had the right to withdraw the resignation
at any time before its acceptance. In the absence of a statute pro-
vision in cases of the kind, a resignation is not complete until it is
accepted by competent authority,—in this instance the appointing
power. As neither the petitioner nor the defendant on their own
motion can create a vacancy, it follows that the term of service of
the petitioner was not legally terminated, either by the alleged
resignation or by the subsequent attempt to remove him. Rogers
v. Slonaker, 32 Kan., 191 ; Edwards v. United States, 103 U. S, 471;
Commonwealth v. Krapf, 94 Atl. Rep., 553 (Supreme Court Pa.
April 12, 1915).

It is the opinion of the court that the petitioner is not barred from
maintaining the petition by reason of the alleged resignation.

In accordance with the stipulation, the entry will be,

Record quashed.
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WiLsra E. Biirings vs. Frank E. Becas.

Knox. Opinion October 4, 1915.

Buildings. Consideration. Deed. Evidence. Exception.

Title, Trover.

Action of trover for the value of a dwelling house now standing on the lot

of land in Vinalhaven, on which it was built. The lot, containing only 7500
feet, was conveyed to Rufus A. Coombs in 1872 and he built the dwelling
house thereon. March 1, 1876, after the house was built, Coombs gave a
warranty deed of the land to Moses Webster. That deed recited a con-
sideration of $100, and contained the following clause immediately after
the description of the land: “This consideration does not include the
buildings standing thereon.” The title to the land has passed to the
defendant. The plaintiff claims title to the dwelling house under a bill
of sale of it from the widow and children of Coombs dated November 23,
1913. His contention is that the house was excepted from the conveyance
to Webster under the clause quoted, and the construction of that clause
is the real question presented.

Held :

1.

Where the language in a deed claimed to have been used to make an
exception or reservation, is doubtful, it is to be construed most strictly
against the grantor and most favorable for the grantee,

If a grantor does not intend for a dwelling house to pass under his
conveyance of the land on which it is built, and of which it forms a part,
it is incumbent upon him to so provide in his deed by language free from
doubt and uncertainty.

Where a deed of real estate contained the following clause immediately
after the description of the land: “This consideration does not include
the buildings standing thereon,” with nothing further to indicate the pur-
pose of its insertion, the literal meaning of the clause cannot be disre-
garded and a strained construction given to it as expressing an intention
of the parties to the conveyance that the title to the dwelling house on the
land conveyed did not pass to the grantee.

Contemporaneous entries made in the books of a large business corpora-
tion, regularly kept in the ordinary course of its business, by a person
now deceased, whose duty it was to make the entries, and who had
knowledge of the subject matter of the entries, and whose situation
excludes all presumption of his having any interest to misrepresent th.
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facts by false entries, are admissible as original evidence of the facts s0
recorded.

On exceptions by plaintiff. Exceptions overruled.

This is an action of trover, in which plaintiff seeks to recover
the value of a building situate in the town of Vinalhaven, Knox
county. Plea, general issue. The defendant was allowed to intro-
duce in evidence the books of the Bodweil Granite Company, to
which admission of said books the plaintiff excepted.

The case is stated in the opinion.

Frank B. Miller, for plaintiff.

Arthur S. Littlefield, for defendant.

SitTING: Savacg, C. J., Spear, King, HaLeEy, HaNsoN, JJ.

King, J. Action of trover for the value of a dwelling house now
standing on the lote of land in Vinalhaven on which it was built.
The lot, containing only 7500 feet, was conveyed to Rufus A.
Coombs in 1872 and he built the dwelling house thereon. March 1,
1876, after the house was built, Coombs gave a warranty deed of
the land to Moses Webster. That deed recited a consideration of
$100, and contained the following clause immediately after the
description of the land: “This consideration does not include the
buildings standing thereon.” The title to the land has passed to
the defendant. The plaintiff claims title to the dwelling house
under a bill of sale of it from the widow and children of Coombs
dated November 25, 1913. His contention is that the house was
excepted from the conveyance to Webster under the clause quoted,
and the construction of that clause is the real question presented.

The literal meaning of the clause is not uncertain. The consid-
eration named in the deed did not include the value of the buildings
thereon. Did the parties use the words of the clause literally, desir-
ing for some reason to have it appear in the deed that the value of
the buildings was not included in the $100 named in the deed as
the consideration? Or did they insert the clause to make an excep-
tion of the buildings from the conveyance? It is an established
principle that where the language in a deed, claimed to have been
used to make an exception or reservation, is doubtful, it is to be
construed most strictly against the grantor and most favorably for
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the grantee. Kuhn v. Farnsworth, 69 Maine, 404; Wellman v.
Churchill, g2 Maine, 193, 195. In this case the words of the clause
in question certainly admit of much doubt as to whether they were
used to express an intention of the parties that the dwelling house
then constructed on this small lot of land conveyed was to be retained
by the grantor and not pass to with the land. To give them that
intendment would indeed require some constructive strain, which
is not permitted in favor of a grantor whose own words are the
subject of construction. Moreover, the subsequent acts of the parties
and of those claiming under them do not support the plaintiff’s
theory that the title to the dwelling house did not pass with the
land, for the house was not removed from the land, but has remained
thereon and been used as the chief part of the premises for a period
of nearly forty years. The dwelling house was a part of the lana
described as conveyed in the deed, “it having been annexed to the
soil by the act of Mr. Coombs,” as stated by the learned counsel for
the plaintiff. If Mr. Coombs did not intend for the dwelling house
to pass under his conveyance of the land of which it was a part it
was incumbent upon him to so provide in his deed by language free
from doubt and uncertainty. It would have been a simple matter
for him to have done so. Not having done so, we think the clause
in the deed now under consideration is not to be construed as
expressing an intention of the parties to the conveyance, that the
title to the dwelling house on the land conveyed was retained by
the grantor. '

This conclusion, that the dwelling house was not excepted from
the conveyance, necessarily defeats the plaintift’s claim of title, and
renders it really unnecessary to pass upon the plaintiff’s other excep-
tion to the admission of certain evidence, but we will briefly con-
sider the question there raised.

It appears by the bill of exceptions that the materials and labor
for erecting the buildings in question were funished by the Bodwell
Granite Company of Vinalhaven in 1874 to the amount of $610 and
charged on the books of that company, in the first instance, against
“Coombs House,” and subsequently charged against Moses Webster’s
personal account with that company, of which he was vice-president,
and he paid the charge. The book-keeper who made those entries
on the books of the company is dead, but the handwriting of the
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entries was identified as his. The books were shown to have been
kept in the ordinary and regular course of business of the company,
and to have been produced from the proper custody. These entries
in the books of the Bodwell Granite Company relating to the charges
against the “Coombs House” for materials and labor furnished in
its construction, and the subsequent charges of the same to Mr.
Webster and his payment thereoi, before the deed to him from
Coombs, was offered by the defendant, and admitted against objec-
tion, as tending to show a reason for the clause in question being
inserted in the deed with its literal signification.

We think the entries admitted were material and competent.
They were contemporaneous entries made in the books of a large
business corporation, regularly kept in the ordinary course of its
business, by a person now deceased whose duty it was to make the
entries, and who had knowledge of the subject matter entered, and
whose situation excludes all presumption oi his having any interest
to misrepresent the fact by a false entry. Lord v. Moore, 37 Maine,
208. In the recent case of Arnold v. Hussey, 111 Maine, 224, the
rule for the government of the admission of this class of evidence
is fully discussed and the decisions of our own court in enunciating
and supporting it collated. We need only refer here to that decision,
and to the decisions therein referred to, to show that the entries in
the books of the Bodwell Granite Company admitted as evidence in
the case at bar were admissible.

Finding no merit in any of the plaintiff’s exceptions, the entry

will be,
Exceptions overruled.
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JaMes B. Barrows vs. PARKER M. SANBORN.
Somerset. Opinion October 4, 1915,

Contract. Deceit. Fraud. Newly Discovered Evidence.
Rescission. Sale.

1. Where a plaintiff, in an action of deceit in the sale to him of a farm,
bases his ground of action on the claim that a small tract of land of
little value, and which was never owned by the grantor, was fraudulently
represented to be a part of the property being sold, the oral evidence in
support of such claim should be clear, strong and convincing, amounting
to something more than a mere preponderance of proof.

And this rule is especially applicable where the only evidence of the alleged
fraudulent representation is the testimony of the plaintiff who, previous
to the transfer, visited the property and thereafter accepted a deed con-
taining a clear and specific description by metes and bounds of the real
estate thereby conveyed.

2. From a careful study of the evidence presented at the trial, and inde-
pendent of the evidence presented as newly discovered, the court is of the
opinion that the plaintiff failed to prove by clear, strong and convincing
evidence that the alleged fraudulent representation was made,

On motions by defendant. New trial granted..

This is an action on the case for alleged deceit in the sale of a
farm situate in Skowhegan, in Somerset county. Plea, the general
issue. The jury returned a verdict for the plaintiff. The defendant
filed a general motion for a new trial, and also a motion for a new
trial on the ground of newly discovered evidence.

The case is stated in the opinion.

Merrill & Mernill, for plaintiff.

George W. Gower, for defendant.

SrrrinG:  Savace, C. J., Spear, King, Biro, Harey, Hanson, JJ.
King, J. Action for alleged deceit in the sale of a farm. The

case comes up on defendant’s motions for a new trial; one, the
usual motion on the ground that the verdict is against the weight of
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the evidence, and the other on the ground of newly discovered
evidence.

The claim set up by the plaintiff is that he was defrauded in the
purchase of the farm in that the defendant’s deed of conveyance to
him did not include a small piece of land within the limits of the
boundary lines of the farm which he says the defendant’s agent
pointed out to him. The piece in question is a small tract of less
than an acre, and of little value, which a former owner had conveyed
to an adjoining owner out of the extreme northeasterly corner of
the original farm. It was never owned or claimed by the defendant,
having been expressly excepted by metes and bounds from the deed
to him given between three and four years previous. The following
sketch indicates the location of the small piece and its relation to
the property conveyed.

TN Yy 2y
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The plaintiff and his friend Eli C. Carpenter came to Skowhegan
in the late afternoon of October 9, 1912, and consulted the Strout
Agency as to the purchase of farms. FEarly the next morning they,
together with Warren Swain and Shepherd Swain who represented
the Agency, drove out to the defendant’s {farm. The plaintiff and
Warren Swain rode in one team and Mr. Carpenter and Shepherd
Swain in another. They came by the Back road on the westerly side
of the main part of the farm, and the plaintiff testified that Warren
Swain with whom he was riding did not stop his team at the farm
buildings but continued up the Bloomfield road towards the easterly
line of the lot and said that line “comes right up by that stone wall
and continues right across and strikes that other stone wall by an
elm tree;” that they were up there perhaps two minutes and then
turned and came back to the defendant’s dooryard where Mr. Car-
penter and Shepherd Swain were and where the plaintiff met the
defendant for the first time. After looking over the buildings the
plaintiff decided to purchase the property, and thereafter he and
the defendant, at the latter’s suggestion, went out to see the wood
lot situated westerly of the Back road. The plaintiff does not claim
that any of the other boundary lines or corners of the property were
specifically pointed out to him or that he particularly looked for
them except so far as he examined the wood lot. ‘On the afternoon
of the same day the parties met in the office of Butler & Butler,
attorneys in Skowhegan when and where the defendant produced
his deed and directed the attorneys to prepare a deed of the same
property from him to the plaintiff (including also the wood lot on
the west side of the Back road) and such a deed was drawn, exe-
cuted and delivered.

The plaintiff testified that he first learned that Dr. Stevens owned
the small lot in question the next spring and then spoke to the
defendant about it, but when asked if he made any complaint about
it at that time, he said, “No, not to amount to anything. I asked
him how much there was sold off there, and he said he didn’t know.”
The plaintiff took no action to rescind the contract on the ground
of the alleged fraudulent representation, but retained it with its
profits and advantages, and now after nearly two years brings this
action seeking to recover damages for the alleged deceit.
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In Parlin v. Small, 68 Maine, 289, 291, a case, like the one at bar,
for deceit in the sale of a farm on the ground that the boundaries
pointed out embraced a small lot that was not in fact included in
the conveyance, having been previously sold off, the court, by
Peters, J., said: “It (a deed) should not be battered down for
alleged deceits and misunderstandings, unless the proof of them is
clearly and abundantly established. The plaintiff must prevail, not
only on a preponderance of evidence, but such preponderance must
be based upon testimony that is clear and strong, satisfactory and
convincing.”

The material issue at the trial of the case at bar was whether
Warren Swain, who was the defendant’s zgent in the sale of the
farm, drove the plaintiff by the defendant’s buildings without stop-
ping and up the Bloomfield road to the east line and made the
fraudulent representation as claimed by the plaintiff, for it was not
contended that the representation was made by anyone other than
Warren Swain, nor by him at any other time.

The plaintiff introduced no evidence in support of that issue
except his own testimony. On the other hand Warren Swain posi-
tively denied it, and Shepherd Swain, Mr. Sanborn, and Mrs.
Sanborn each testified that Warren Swain and the plaintiff did not
drive up the Bloomfield road as the plaintiff claimed, but that both
teams turned into the dooryard at the same time. The circum-
stances disclosed also strongly tend, we think, against the plaintiff’s
claim that Warren Swain drove right by the owner’s house, without
stopping to present the prospective purchaser, and pointed out to
him a specific line and corner of the property though not asked to
do so. It seems unreasonable that Mr. Swain would have done
that, and quite incredible that he did do it 1n view of his testimony
that he had no knowledge of the true line or corner. There was
testimony tending to show that when they returned to Skowhegan
from the property they came by the Bloomfield road, and that cir-
cumstance may account for a mistaken belief on the plaintiff’s part
that he rode up to the east line before stopping at the buildings.

From a careful study of the evidence presented at the trial, and
independent of the evidence presented as newly discovered, the
court is of opinion that the plaintiff did not by a preponderance
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of testimony clearly and abundantly prove that the alleged fraudu-
lent representation was made.

Accordingly the entry must be,
New trial granted.

EvizaBera L. GARMONG ws. JoHN B. HENDERsON.

Penobscot. Opinion October 6, 1915.

Accusing another man with seduction during the engagement with defendant.

I.

Breach of contract of Marriage. Conflicting Evidence.
Contract of Marriage. Proinise of Marriage.
Unchastity of Plaintiff with another man.

The unchastity of the plaintiff in a suit for breach of promise of marriage
with another man prior to or during an engagement of marriage with the
defendant is a bar to the suit, unless at the time he made or renewed the
promise of marriage relied upon, he knew or had been informed of her
unchastity.

It being admitted that the plaintiff in an action for breach of promise of
marriage, pending an engagement of marriage with the defendant, made
accusations on oath in court charging another man with seduction during
the period of the engagement and with the paternity of her unborn child,
such accusations constitute a bar to the suit, unless the defendant after
knowledge that the accusations had been made, made or renewed =
promise of marriage. It is immaterial whether the accusations were true
or false. Even if false, the making of such accusations was such conduct
on her part as tended necessarily to destroy the confidence essential to
connubial happiness, and to defeat the great purpose of the marriage rela-
tion. It released the defendant from the obligation of any promise he
had made. :

On a motion for a new trial on the ground that the verdict is against the
evidence, if the evidence is conflicting, the court will not disturb the
verdict, if it is found to be supported by evidence, credible, reasonable,
and consistent with the circumstances and probabilities of the case so as
to afford a fair presumption of its truth.
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4. A verdict will be set aside as against the evidence, when it is not such
as reasonable minds are warranted in believing, as when it is incredible or
unreasonable, or inconsistent with the proved circumstances of the case,
or when the evidence to the contrary of the verdict is so overweighing as
to induce the belief that the jury were led into mistake, or were so moved
by passion or prejudice as not to give due consideration and effect to all
the evidence.

5. In this case, giving to the plaintiff such degree of credibility as her own
statements entitle her to, the court are of opinion that her practically
“unsupported testimony is so overborne by proved circumstances, by her
obvious disregard of the sanctity of an oath, by her own inconsistent
conduct, by the mutual conduct of both, by the testimony, contradictory to
hers, of witnesses apparently reputable, disinterested and credible, and by
the probabilities of the case, inconsistent with her claim, as to induce the
belief that the jury either did not sufficiently weigh alt of the evidence in
the case, or were influenced by sympathy, passion or prejudice.

On motion for new trial by the defendant. Motion for a new
trial sustained.

This is an action of assumpsit brought by the plaintiff to recover
damages of the defendant for a breach of a promise of marriage,
alleged to have been made by defendant to the plaintiff. The
defendant pleaded the general issue. The iury returned a verdict
for the plaintiff. Defendant filed a general motion for a new trial.

The case is stated in the opinion.

John B. Merrill and Creed M. Fulton, for plaintiff.

L. B. Deasy, and Fellows & Fellows, for defendant.

SitTING: Savacg, C. J., Spear, King, Birn, Harey, Hanson, JJ.
R

Savacg, C. J. This is an action for breach of promise of mar-
riage. The plaintiffi recovered a verdict for $116,000. The case
comes before this court on the defendant’s motion for a new trial.
The plaintiff in her writ alleged a promise on March 10, 1910, and
another on November 6, 1910. And she testified that such promises
were made. The defendant denies that he ever promised the plain-~
tiff to marry her. And further he pleads, and relies upon as a bar,
 the unchastity of the plaintiff prior to the date of the first alleged
promise, and between that date and the date of the second alleged
promise; and that, pending the first alleged promise, she began two
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criminal proceedings against one Roscoe D. Smith, one before a
justice court in Iowa, and another before a grand jury, wherein she
charged upon oath that she had been seduced by Smith under
promise of marriage, during the period between the two alleged
promises. The evidence is voluminous. The extent of it precludes
any attempt to analyze it minutely in an opinion. It will suffice to
state only the substance of so much of it as seems to be material and
important.

The plaintiff is a native of Iowa. Thers, in school, she became
acquainted with Roscoe D. Smith. He became her lover, and they
were engaged to be married. In 1907 she came to Baltimore to
purste medical studies. The defendant was and is a resident of
Washington, D. C. In 1909, when their story began, he was a wid-
ower with one child. At that time they were respectively about 29
and 39 years of age. In June or July, 1909, they casually met at a
gentleman’s residence near Washington where she was visiting. On
that occasion he took her on a short automobile ride. A day or two
later he called at the residence of her aunt in Washington, where she
had informed him by telephone she was staying, and left for her a
medical book which they had talked about at their first interview;
but he did not then see her. About that time she says he took her
on an automobile ride in" and about Washington, during which he
told her that he loved her, that he was coming to Bar Harbor, and
that he urged her to visit him at Bar Harbor. This he denies. But
at any rate, in July she came to Bar Harbor without informing him
that she was coming. After getting there she notified him by tele-
phone of her presence, and within a day or two he called upon her
at her boarding place. They were in each other’s company more
or less for several weeks. They disagree as to the times of meeting,
and the extent and nature of the acquaintance. But it is not ques-
tioned that he took her to ride one or more times, that they walked
together, and that once or twice they went sailing in his motorboat.
She says that he caressed and kissed her, and talked love to her.
This he denies. At one time she was accused of larceny. She
referred to him as her friend, and he was sent for. The property
alleged to have been stolen was subsequently found in a room adjoin-
ing hers, and the matter dropped. He gave her money for her
expenses. She says it was a loan. He says she asked for a loan
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large enough to cover the expense of going to Des Moines, Iowa,
where her parents lived. He ascertained the probable expense, and
let her have the money. After leaving Bar Harbor she went first to
Scranton, and then, three weeks later, to Philadelphia, where she
remained four or five months, serving as nurse for an old gentleman
who was ill. During that time she says that she visited the defendant
three or four times in Washington at his suggestion and at his
expense, being with him at various places, and that he called upon
her once in Philadelphia. In February, 1910, she went to Wash-~
ington, and lived for a time at her aunt’s house. On several
occasions the parties met. They rode together in his car, and dined
together at one or more hotels. At one time they went to Baltimore
in each other’s company, returning the same night. In March, she
says the defendant definitely promised to marry her sometime during
that year. This he denies.

About the first of April, 1910, the plaintiff went to Des Moines.
She soon met Roscoe D. Smith. On July 6. she made complaint on
oath in a criminal proceeding against Smith, alleging that “on or
about June 15, 1910 and 4th of July, 1910,” he had seduced her
under promise of marriage. Smith was arrested and put into jail
She did not appear on the day set for hearing the criminal proceed-
ing, and prosecuted that no further. About the same time she began
a civil suit against Smith for breach of promise of marriage, with an
allegation of seduction. Attempts were made by Smith and his
father to settle the civil suit, liability in which does not seem to have
been denied. The witnesses say that a certain considerable sum ot
money was agreed upon for a settlement, but that she refused to sign
a receipt or release, and so the settlement fell through. She admits
being at meetings where attempts were made for a settlement. We
think the overwhelming weight of the evidence compels the finding
that she did agree to settle for a definite amount. Though she
refused to sign a release, she still insisted that Smith was the father
ot her unborn child, and that he would have to take care of her and
it. Upon the failure of the settlement she even attempted to get into
the wagon of the elder Smith to go home with him for the avowed
purpose of being taken care of. But an officer was called, and she
was prevented. In the meantime, she wrote to the defendant inform-
ing him that she was in the family way, and asking for help.
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Replying, July 16, he offered advice and financial aid, which latter
he subsequently furnished to the extent of $100.

On September 21, 1910, the plaintiff appeared before a grand jury
in Iowa, and testified on oath that she had been engaged to marry
Roscoe D. Smith, that he had had sexual intercouse with her soon
after the first of April in that year, that she was in the family way
by him, that she had submitted to the intercourse on the strength of
his promise to marry her, that she had asked him to fulfil his
promise, and that he had said he would go to the penitentiary first.
Upon this testimony, in November the grand jury returned an indict-
ment against Smith for seduction. It does not appear that he was
ever put upon trial.

The plaintiff returned to Washington the very last of October,
1910, and on November 6, she had an interview with the defendant
at Hotel Driscoll, where she was staying. She charged him with
the paternity of her child and she says that she told him that in order
to protect him from any violence she had brought suit against one
of her friends who had seduced a nurse at the hospital, that he, the
defendant, expressed himself as under great obligation to her, and
that they then and there agreed to be married sometime in the earlier
part of the next year, the date not being then definitely fixed. Two
days later she gave birth to a child at a hospital to which she had gone
under an assumed name. The defendant visited her at the hospital
one or more times, and she says gave her fruit and flowers. After-
wards they met, once in a hotel parlor, and at other times by appoint-
ment at various points on the streets of Washington. After the
birth of the child and prior to March, 1911, he gave her about $goo
in money. The defendant denies any promise of marriage after she
returned from Iowa. He denies that she told him her proceedings
against Smith in the criminal courts. He says that before that time
he knew that she had brought a civil suit against Smith, or contem-
plated doing so. He says the meeting on November 6 was a stormy
one, that she charged him with being the father of her child, and said
that he would have to take care of her and take care of it, and that
afterwards at one time she threatened to take the child to his
father’s house where he lived and leave it on the doorsteps. He says
that his meetings with her after November 6, and his payments
of money to her, were for the purpose of buying his peace, arrang-
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ing a settlement with her, and avoiding a public scandal, and that
she did at one time agree to settle for $9oo in four instalments, one
of which he paid.

The plaintiff says that shortly before the first of March, 1911, the
defendant announced that the engagement was off. In April or
May she followed him to Bar Harbor, and had an interview with
him. She says that afterwards he telephoned her that she should
have no more money from him, and that he would have nothing
more to do with her. Soon after she brought proceedings in bas-
tardy against him. A trial was had. We gather from certain
inquiries made of witnesses by her counsel that the result of the trial
was adverse to her. This suit followed. We have thus outlined the
history of this case. We have omitted many details not without
significance. There is much conflict between her testimony and
that of the defendant and his witnesses, not only as to vital points,
but as to details. ,

In considering a motion for a new trial on the ground that the
verdict is against evidence it is not the province of the court to weigh
the evidence for the purpose of determining the preponderance of
it between the parties. That is the province of the jury. Where the
evidence is conflicting, a verdict will not be disturbed, if it is found
to be supported by evidence, credible, reasonable, and consistent
with the circumstances and probabilities of the case, so as to afford
a fair presumption of its truth, even though it may seem to the
court that the evidence as a whole preponderates against the finding
of the jury. A verdict will be set aside as against the evidence sup-
porting it when the evidence is. not such as reasonable minds are
warranted in believing, as when it is incredible, or unreasonable, or
inconsistent with the proved circumstances of the case; or when
the evidence to the contrary of the verdict is so overweighing and
so overwhelming as to induce the belief that the jury were led into
mistake, or were so moved by passion or prejudice as not to give due
censideration and effect to all the evidence.

Before considering the force and value of the evidence it is proper
briefly to discuss certain features which bear upon the credibility
of the parties themselves. At the outset, the burden was upon the
plaintiff to establish a valid contract for marriage, subsisting up to
the time of the alleged breach. The proof of such a contract, as the
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record shows, comes almost entirely from the plaintiff’s own lips.
But she admits, or rather it is her avowed contention, that in the
two court proceedings in Iowa in 1910 she deliberately swore falsely,
and stated as facts matters that had absolutely no existence. And
the only kind of a moral justification which she suggests for her
false oath and perjury is that she did not raise her hand “very high”
when she was sworn, and didn’t call it an oath.” She excuses her
proceedings by saying that her. purpose was, not to protect the
defendant from scandal, but to protect him from the violence of her
family, as she expected him to come there and marry her; and also
to compel Smith to marry the nurse whom she says he had seduced.
A little reflection will show how utterly flimsical and baseless
these reasons are. They are unbelievable. If she had reason to
expect that the defendant was going to Iowa to marry her, what
reason could she have for expecting him to marry her after he should
have reached there, and learned that she had made her shame public
by swearing the paternity of her unborn child upon another man?
And if he would be willing then to marry her, what reason could
she have for thinking that her family would inflict violence upon a
man who had come to cover her disgrace as far as it could be done,
and to give her child a name, by marrying her? And how could she
suppose that she could force Smith, her former lover, to marry the
nurse by falsely charging him with seducing herself 7 What induce-
ment could it be to him to marry another woman, for this woman
falsely (as upon her theory he would have known it to be) to charge
-upon him the paternity of another man’s child? It is contrary to all
experience, and to human nature itself, for a woman to bring such
a charge against a man to force him to marry another woman. Had
the plaintiff testified that she brought these charges against the
former lover, Smith, to force him to marry ker, that would be believ-
able. It cannot reasonably be conceived otherwise than that these
excuses are forged, and clumsily forged, by the plaintiff to meet the
‘exigencies of the situation. It must be regarded as self evident that
a woman such as the plaintiff describes herself to be with respect to
the Towa court proceedings, has little or no regard for the sanctity
of an oath, and its binding obligation to tell the truth. It is equally
evident that the plaintiff either was a perjurer in Iowa, or is one
now. Such moral callousness reaches and undermines the very
VOL, CXIV 6
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groundwork of judicial decision. “What ground of judicial belief,”
asked Judge Story, “can there be left when the party has shown
such gross insensibility to the difference between right and wrong,
between truth and falsehood?” The Santissima Trinidad, 7 Wheat.,
283.

On the other hand, it must be said with equal plainness that the
jury were undoubtedly warranted in believing either that the defend-
ant was in reality the father of the plaintiff’s child, or that he had
reason to believe that he was; and that he swore falsely when he
testified that he never had had illicit relations with her. Although
neither party swears to it, the greatly preponderating effect of the
evidence, weighed in the light of their conduct, would warrant a
finding that they were unduly intimate from nearly the beginning of
their acquaintance. And of this it is probable that the jury took full
account.

We are now in position to examine the evidence respecting the
alleged promises of marriage. And first the promise in March,
1910. The proof of that promise in terms comes from the plaintiff
alone. As a premise to that promise the plaintiff says that love
making on the defendant’s part began in Washington and was con-
tinued in Bar Harbor in July and August, 1909, that the defendant
persuaded her to leave her medical studies, told her she would not
need them, and told her that he expected to make her his wife. This
is denied. We do not say that as between the differing testimony of
the parties themselves, her statement might not be taken as the true
one. He was certainly showing her some attention of some kind.
But the after conduct of the parties, and particularly their corre-
spondence, fails to corroborate the plaintiff, but is indicative rather
that there was no engagement of marriage, nor contemplated engage-
ment. They corresponded pleasantly from time to time, from
August, 1909, to March, 1910. In the first three weeks after she
left Bar Harbor, the “ardent wooer,” as she says he was, wrote to
her once, and then to excuse the non-fulfilment of an appointment.
In all nine letters or empty envelopes of his were introduced by
the plaintiff, which were written within the period named. In the
letters he addresses her as “My dear Miss Garmong,” and signed
himself “Sincerely yours.” There is not one word of love or senti-
ment in any degree in any of these letters. There is not one word
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about engagement or marriage. There is not one word which indi-
cates any intimate relation whatever betwzea them. They are such
letters as any gentleman might write to a pleasant lady acquaintance.
It does not appear that she ever complained to him that the tone
of his letters was any different from what she had reason to expect.
It is quite singular in view of the plaintiff’s description of the
defendant’s attitude to her, that not one written word of his remains
which has any tendency to show a lover’s affection for her.

The plaintiff says, indeed, that she had other and tenderer let-
ters from him which she has destroyed. It is difficult to believe
that a woman would voluntarily destroy the letters expressing the
affection of her lover and the hopes of their future marriage, and
at the same time preserve and retain only those which possessed no
significance, the mere platitudes of good fellowship. And the
inquiring mind asks, why were there two kinds of letters, so dis-
similar? If there were other letters, letters of another kind, warm
letters, affectionate letters, such letters as she suggests they were,
interspersed among those which have been kept and produced, they
must have been curious oases of love in a desert of platonic friend-
ship.

She was five months in Philadelphia. During that time he called
upon her once, he living in the midst of affluence in Washington,
and she whom he expected to make his wife, as she swears he told
her, earning her living in Philadelphia, as a nurse. And when she
visited Washington three or four times at his instance, and while
she was in Washington afterwards, she did not go to his house.
He apparently did not call upon her at the home of her aunt except
to take her from there to go to other places. She says they went
where they could be alone with each other. He showed her no
public attention. Weighing both her affirmation and his denial in
the light of their conduct, and imputing to each the degree of credi-
bility which we think is deserved, we feel bound to say that the
evidence does not support her contention that they were avowed
lovers in anticipation of marriage from the Bar Harbor meetings up
until the next March. '

The next period is from March to November, 1910, during all of
which time she says they were under an express and formal engage-
ment to marry. This is the period during which she sued Smith for
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breach of promise of marriage, and prosecuted him criminally in
two courts for seduction. We have already discussed the reason she
gives for the prosecutions,—reasons without reason. In view of the
unreasonableness of her reasons, is it not altogether improbable and
unreasonable that she would have commenced these prosecutions,
and also have sued Smith in a civil action for breach of promise of
marriage, if at the time she believed that she was engaged to the
defendant, and expected him to marry her that year? It would seem
so, unless in fact her charges against Smith were true, which she
denies. ' ' o

So far as correspondence is concerned, what has been said respect-
ing the former period applies as well to this. He still addressed
her as “My dear Miss Garmong,” or “My dear Miss G,” and signed
himself as formerly, “Sincerely yours.” In all of these letters so
tar as they appear in the record, (and there are only five which she
has preserved) there is no word of sentiment. She was in Iowa,
and she says she expected him to come there to marry her. Yet
nothing in these letters, at least, affords the slightest ground for
such an expectation. Indeed, in them all there is no suggestion of
any intimate relation between them, proper or improper, except
that in September he wrote, “it seems inevitable that I eventually
shall be held to blame owing to our acquaintance, and that Bar
Harbor trip you took;” and except such inferences as may be drawn
from the letter of July 16, in which he advised her, and promised to
send money to her after she had written ‘o him that she was in a
delicate condition. In a letter of July 11, apparently the last one
before she disclosed her condition to him, he addressed her as “My
dear Miss Garmong,” congratulated her on her success as a lecturer,
about which she had written to him, and closed by saying “If you
write, please address me, ‘Care of Reading Room, Bar H.”” The
italicizing is ours. And these are letters, it is claimed, from an
affianced husband to a betrothed wife, under an engagement which
she says sprang from mutual love, and written when, prior to her
July letter, he had no motive to conceal his sentiments from her, at
least. '

He did not see her during this period. He was once at St. Louis,
but he did not go to Towa. She says she was expecting him con-
stantly. After she returned to Washington, the last of October, she
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did not see him until November 6, and there is no suggestion that
he was not in Washington during that time. If the plaintiff’s right
of recovery depended upon proof of the promise alleged to have
been made in March, 1910, we should have to say that the evidence
of the conduct of both parties, all of the evidence, except her own
unsupported word, is wholly inconsistent with the theory that a
contract for marriage was subsisting between them.

But in the end, whether such a contract had been made, or not,
is not so very important. It is important only as it bears upon the
probability or improbability that a new contract was made, or an
old one renewed, in November. We say it is relatively unimpor-
tant because of the legal aspect of certain features now to be con-
sidered upon which our judgment must rest.

The defendant contends that the plaintiff was unchaste with other
men, before the time of any alleged promise on his part. He also
contends that during the pendency of the March contract, if contract
there was, she was unchaste with Smith, and that she published her
unchasity to the world by her sworn complaint in the justice court,
by her testimony on oath before a grand jury, and by her declara-
tions to divers persons out of court, to say nothing of her civil suit
against Smith for breach of promise of marriage. If the plaintiff
was unchaste with another man prior to or during any engagement
of marriage with the defendant, it is a bar to this suit, unless at the
time he made or renewed a promise of marriage, now relied upon,
he knew or had been informed of her unchasity. The authorities
all agree that the unchastity of a woman before or pending a promise
of marriage, if unknown, and if the promise be not renewed after
knowledge, legally justifies a man in the breach of any promise.
The presumed chastity of the woman is one of the essential elements
of a contract for marriage. A man may assume that the woman
he promises to marry is chaste, and if he enters upon an engagement
upon that assumption, and afterwards discovers that she has been
unchaste, he will not be bound by his promise. Berry v. Bakeman,
44 Maine, 164; Snowman v. Wardwell, 32 Maine, 275; Foster v.
Hanchett, 68 Vt., 321; McKane v. Howard, 202 N. Y., 181. See
also, authorities collected in note to Van Houten v. Morse, 26 L. R.
A., 430.
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So the sworn accusations against Smith afforded the defendant
ample justification for the breach of any promise he had made pre-
viously, and constitute a bar to this suit, unless the defendant after
knowledge that the accusations had been made, made or renewed a
promise. And it is immaterial in this respect whether the accusations
were true or false. If true, they bring the case within the principle
just now stated. If false, the making of the accusations was such
conduct on her part as tended necessarily to destroy the confidence
essential to connubial happiness, and to defeat the great purposes of
the marriage relation. It struck at the foundation of marital con-
fidence. Berry v. Bakeman, 44 Maine, 164.

With regard to the contention that the plaintiff was unchaste
prior to the making of any alleged promise, the defendant chiefly
relies upon the testimony of Smith, who testifies that he seduced her.
The plaintiff denies it. If true, there is no pretense that the defend-
ant ever knew it. Without corroboration it may well be that Smith’s
testimony, under the circumstances, should not outweigh the plain-
tiff’s. But we think there is significant corroboration. First, there
is the great improbability that she would have made such a charge
against a man who had been her friend and lover, and who up to
that time apparently had continued to be on friendly terms with her,
unless he had at some time been sexually intimate with her. Then,
in a letter from her to him, written June 20, 1908, after asking him
to visit her in August, she used language somewhat obscure or veiled,
which we are unable to interpret otherwise than as signifying that
undue sexual intimacy had existed between them., The language
referred to is this: ‘““Thanks for your compliments, dearest, but so
far I’ve had none of that cheap love you once spoke of, and those
other elements only belong to the highest attributes of womanhood.
The fact that you have owned forsaken love is sufficient. If I may
ask of you faithfulness and on the contrary to mine it is untrue,
may I then use the limit of my nerve power to satisfy the longing
for you with another in your absence. Will await an answer. Then
with your permission will not feel deceitful, but you won’t let me,
will you, but I must. August is too far away.”

The claim that she was unchaste with Smith in Iowa in 1910, rests
upon her sworn complaint that he had sexual intercourse with her
“on or about June 15 and the 4th of July,” her testimony before the
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grand jury that he had such intercourse with her “soon after” the
first of April that year, and her declarations made to Smith and to
four or five others in Iowa, in Washington and in Maine. The
witnesses testifying to such declaration seem to be reputable and
disinterested. None of them, except possibly Smiih, who it is urged,
is seeking revenge, apparently has any motive to swear falsely,
Their testimony, we think, shows internal evidence of truth. In
addition, it is true we think beyond reasonable doubt that she
attempted to get money from Smith or his father on account of the
alleged paternity of her unborn child, and, the settlement failing,
threatened to throw herself on them for support. If she was
unchaste with Smith in April, or June, or July, there is no claim
that the defendant was ever informed of it. She denies making the
unsworn declarations. She claims that the sworn statements were
perjuries on her part. That she made the sworn statements that
Smith had seduced her in 1910 is not in dispute. If she told the
defendant that she had made them, and then with that knowledge
he promised to marry her, no reason is shown why he should not
answer for the breach of that promise. But if she did not tell him,
and he did not know of these accusations against Smith, he was
justified upon discovery in breaking any promise he then made to
her. And as we have already said, her conduct in this particular
had released him from the binding obligation of any promise he
had previously made.

Did she tell him? And did he thereafter promise? In her direct
examination she says only that she told him that in order to protect
him from any violence, she had brought a suit against one of her
friends who had seduced a young nurse. On re-direct examination,
her counsel asked her if she had told the defendant fully what she
had charged Smith with, and why. She answered, “Yes, sir.” Later
on she said “I told him of the whole situation, just what I had done
in the west. Then we discussed our plans for the child’s future, and
we also discussed our home and our marriage.” She was,asked on
re-cross examination to state all that she had remembered of the
substance of what she told the defendant, and answered, “I said to
him that I had protected him by holding another man responsible,
a former sweetheart of mine, for my condition.” She was pressed
to state any other details that she could remember of what she told
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the defendant in this regard, and she professed that she could remem-
ber nothing more. Under the circumstances, the burden was strongly
upon her to show that she told him fully and particularly what she
had done. If the particulars she gives were all that she told the
defendant, they fell far short of the whole truth which he was
entitled to know. He was entitled to know, not alone that she had
“sued” Smith, and had “held another man responsible,” but also
that she had prosecuted Smith criminally in the Justice court for
seducing her that year, and that she had been the complaining witness
before the grand jury on the same charge against him. Did she
tell the defendant these particulars? Did she tell him that in the
attempt of Smith to settle with her she nad charged him with the
paternity of her unborn child in the presence of divers persons? He
denies it.

If we assume that she did tell him, did he thereupon renew a
promise of marriage? She says he did, and with expressions of
gratitude and affection. He says he did not. When we consider
all the circumstances surrounding these two people, such a propo-
sition on the face of it seems innately improbable, and well nigh
incredible. And yet it must be granted it is not impossible. 1f there
were no further light, we might say that a jury might be warranted
in believing even so improbable a story. But in our judgment the
after conduct of the parties is inconsistent with her claim. Although
her accouchement as it turned out was only two days distant, it
would ‘seem that the defendant took no part in the arrangements
for the expected illness of his betrothed wife. It may be easily
understood that he might not at that time wish to appear very
prominently in the matter. But she testifies only that he agreed to
follow her on to New York where the child was expected to be born,
and to provide her with money. The child was in fact born at a
hospital in Washington. He visited her in the hospital. They dis-
agree as to the number of times. He paid her money from time to
time. They were both in Washington all that winter, but after
November they did not dine together as they had done before.
They did not ride together as they had done before, except in the
evening, and then he did not call for her at her boarding place, but
took her at some place on the streets which they had previously
agreed upon. They had meetings by appointment under the shade
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of evening, at divers places on the public streets, and once in a
hotel parlor. There is no evidence that he called upon her after
she left the hospital. He wrote her no affectionate letters, but
merely notes making appointments. Yet she says that during all
this time he continued to be affectionate, and that at their meetings
they pleasantly discussed their future life as man and wife, and the
nurture of their child, whose existence he desired should be unknown
for the time being. He says that she held over him the imminent
danger of public scandal and threatened to leave the child upon
his father’s doorsteps. He says the meetings with her were had in
an endeavor on his part to reach a pecuniary settlement with her,
and that he paid money to her to prevent publicity. Surely it may
be said that the conduct of these parties was not as consistent with
her claim of their continued affectionate relations in the expectation
of marriage as it was with another relation which he might have
stpposed that he bore to her. Discussion of details cannot make it
plainer. Even if she were not self-impeached, the probabilities would
seem to be against the truthfulness of her contention.

.But finally, and perhaps more significant than all the rest, is the
fact that the plaintiff, who says that she was engaged to the defend-
ant until the first of March, 1911, and that they had continued on
terms of mutual affection, followed him to Maine, after the alleged
breach, and began, not a suit for breach of promise of marriage, but
a prosecution against him for bastardy. It was a most unlikely
election on her part. If she then thought that he had promised to
marry her, and had broken his promise, is it within any bounds of
likel’hood that she would have resorted to a remedy for bastardy,
in which the damages recoverable would relate only to the expense
of supporting her child, instead of pursuing the more ample one for
a breach of promise to marry in which she might expect to recover
large damages for pecuniary loss, and wounded sensibilities, enhanced
by the fact of his seduction, if she had chosen to allege it? We think
not. Such is not human nature. Such is not the course that would
be pursued by an unjustly discarded woman against her faithless
lover who had been affianced to her.

We have omitted many minor considerations not without sig-
nificance. We have omitted for the most part consideration of the
particulars of the defendant’s testimony. As must be done on a
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defendant’s motion for a new trial, we have examined the record
from the viewpoint of the plaintiff’s testimony, to see if it is suf-
ficiently credible to sustain the verdict, when weighed in connection
with the circumstances of the case, which we think should be
regarded as proved. We do not say that there is no evidence to sus-
tain the verdict in this case, for the plaintiff has testified. But we
do say that upon the whole record, giving to the plaintiff such degree
of credibility as her own statements entitle her to, her practically
unsupported testimony is so overborne by proved circumstances, by
her obvious disregard either here or in Iowa, of the sanctity of an
oath, by her own inconsistent conduct, by the mutual conduct of
both, by the testimony, contradictory to hers, of witnesses appar-
ently reputable, disinterested and credible, and by the probabilities
of the case inconsistent with her claim, as to induce the belief that
the jury either did not sufficiently weigh all of the facts of the case,
or were influenced by sympathy, passion or prejudice. Even the
amount of damages awarded, considering all the circumstances, fur-
nishes manifest evidence that the real merits of the case have not
been properly passed upon by the jury. Hill v. Jones, 109 Minn.,
370. We do not think we would be justified in accepting the verdict
as the basis of judgment. Rovinski v. Northern Assurance Co., 100
Maine, 112. Justice requires that it be set aside.
Motion for a new trial sustained.
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STATE oF MAINE vs. J. WASILENSKIS,
Androscoggin. Opinion October 9, 1915.

Complaint. Dewmurrer. Description of Person. Exceptions.
Misnomer. Plea in Abatement.

Exceptions to overruling of defendant’s demurrer to a complaint charging
one by the name of J. Wasilenskis with the illegal possession of intoxicat-
ing liquors.

Held:

1. Letters of the alphabet, consonants as well as vowels, may be names
sufficient to distinguish different persons of the same surname.

2. If the name of the defendant, by which he was christened or generally
called or known, be other than that by which he is designated in the com-
plaint or indictment, it is a case of misnomer and should be pleaded in
abatement.

On exceptions by defendant. Exceptions overruled.

This is a complaint charging one J. Wasilenskis with the possession
of intoxicating liquors. The defendant demurred to said complaint.
The presiding Justice overruled the demurrer and the defendant
excepted to the overruling of said demurrer.

The case is stated in the opinion.

William H. Hines, county attorney, for the State,

H. E. Holmes, for defendant.

S1TTING: SPEAR, KINg, Birp, Harey, HansoN. JJ.

Birp, J. This case is before this court upon exceptions to the
overruling of defendant’s demurrer to a complaint charging one by
the name of J. Wasilenskis with the illegal possession of intoxicating
liquors. It is conceded that the question intended to be raised by
the demurrer is whether or not this description of the defendant is
sufficient.

It does not appear from the complaint, demurrer and joinder, and
these constitute the record, that defendant has any other or any
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more of a name than J. Wasilenskis. Letters of the alphabet, con-
sonants as well as vowels, may be names sufficient to distinguish
different persons of the same surname: State v. Cameron, 86
Maine, 196, 197 and cases cited: State v. Libby, 103 Maine, 147, 150.
See also Dutton v. Simmons, 65 Maine, 583, 585.

If the name of the defendant by which he was christened or gen-
erally called or known, be other than that by which he is designated
in the indictment, it is a case of misnomer and should be pleaded in
abatement. Mr. Heard’s statement of the law is “Whatever mistake
may be made in his name, the defendant can take advantage of it by
plea in abatement only.” Heard Cr. P, 51. We think it may be
adopted as correct, with two possible exceptions which, in this case,
it is unnecessary either to consider or to state.

Exceptions overruled.

ALBERT A. CoNANT wvs. GRAND TruUNK RarLway CoMPANY.
Oxford. Opinion October 9, 1915.

Bailee. Collision. Contributory Negligence. Damages.
Flagman. Negligent, Warning Signal.

Action on the case to recover damages to a Ford automobile resulting from
a collision between it and the defendant’s train, on September 27, 1912, at
about five o’clock in the afternoon, at Hicks Crossing, in the town of
Norway. The case comes up on report of the evidence.

Held :

1. The evidence shows that the required signals by whistle and the ringing
of the bell were given by the train as it approached the crossing.

2. Where no request has ever been made of a railroad corporation under
Revised Statutes, Chapter 51, Section 71, to maintain a flagman, or gates
or automatic signals at a railroad crossing, the railroad company is not to
be held negligent, as a matter of law, in not maintaining such.

3. Whether this crossing is “near the compact part of a town” within the
meaning of Revised Statutes, Chapter 52, Section 86, may not be free from
doubt. But if it be assumed that the statute applies in this case, and,
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therefore, that the speed of the train exceeded the rate specified in the
statute, that fact does not conclusively show that the defendant was
negligent in so running its train under the circumstances.

4. There is no sufficient evidence in the case that would warrant a finding
that the defendant was negligent in fact in the management or speed of
its train at the time and place of the accident, under all the circumstances
disclosed.

5. The plaintiff, having failed to prove any negligence on the part of the
defendant, is not entitled to recover; anl, therefore, it becomes immaterial
whether or not his car, at the time of the accident, was in the control of
the driver as bailee,

On report. Judgment for defendant.

This is an action on the case brought by Albert A. Conant to
recover for the value of a Ford automobile alleged to have been
damaged by the negligence of defendant in a collision on the 27th
day of September, 1912, at Hicks Crossing, in Norway. Plea, the
general issue. At the conclusion of the evidence, by agreement of
parties, the case was reported to the Law Court for determination,
upon so much of the evidence as is legally admissible.

The case is stated in the opinion.

Fred R. Dyer for plaintiff.

Clarence Hight, H. P. Sweetser and James S. Wright, for defend-
ant.

SiTTING: SAVAGE, C. J. Spear, King, Birp, HaLEy, Hanson, JJ.

King, J. Action on the case to recover damages to a Ford auto-
mobile resulting from a collision between it and the defendant’s
train, on September 27, 1912, at Hicks Crossing, so called, in the
town of Norway. The case comes up on a report of the evidence,
“the court to determine the question of liability of defendant,” the
parties having agreed on the amount of damages to be assessed in
case the defendant is found to be liable.

In considering and weighing the evidence, therefore, the court is
acting with full jury powers.

We think the evidence clearly shows the following: The plain-
tiff, living in Hebron, directed his son, Forest B. Conant, sixteen
years of age and who had been driving the automobile about three
months, to take the car to Smith’s garage at South Paris in order



94 CONANT ?. GRAND TRUNK RAILWAY CO. [114

that some trouble with the engine causing “skipping” might be
remedied. Young Conant took with him William E. Walker, a
fellow-student at Hebron Academy, and also invited two young ladies
to go with them. They left Hebron about four o’clock in the after-
noon and drove directly to the garage in South Paris, the distance
from Hebron being about six miles. Young Conant, leaving the
car outside the garage, went in and saw Smith who came out to the
car and said he would need to drive it to best determine the trouble,
whereupon Conant told him to go ahead and cranked the car for
him. Smith got in behind the wheel, with Conant beside him, and
drove the car along Pleasant street towards Norway. Walker and
the two girls were on the back seat.

From the defendant’s depot at South Paris a short branch line
track runs from the main line to Norway a distance of about a mile
and a half. Pleasant street, leaving South Paris and going towards
Norway, runs quite near and generally parallel with the Norway
branch track. For the distance of about half a mile from the depot
in South Paris the branch track is on the left-hand side of Pleasant
street going towards Norway. It then crosses the street obliquely,
and at grade, called Hicks Crossing, and continues to Norway on the
right hand side of the street. The trains over the branch are light
and few in number, being drawn by an engine equipped to run
forward or backward, having a head-light, pilot and cow-catcher on
the end of the tender the same as on the front of the engine. It is
admitted that the situation at the crossing at the time of the accident
was substantially as shown in two photographs introduced. They
were taken from points in Pleasant street, one 91 feet, and the other
133.6 feet from the crossing towards South Paris. Those pictures
-disclose that from the points in the street where they were taken a
train coming from Norway could be seen when it was some little
distance back from the crossing. Pleasant street appears to be
straight and to have little or no grade for some distance on either
side of the crossing, and, generally speaking, the land through which
the branch track is located towards Norway of the crossing seems
to be comparatively level.

As the automobile came along Pleasant street from South Paris
towards this crossing a train, consisting of the engine and tender
drawing an empty coal car and a loaded box car, was approaching the
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crossing from Norway at a speed of from ten to fifteen miles an
hour. The engine was at the head of the train towards South Paris
and running the tender first. The automobile came along the street
to the crossing at the rate of about twenty miles an hour and struck
the side of the tender on the crossing, causing the damages com-
plained of. Neither Smith who was driving the car, nor Conant who
sat beside him, nor either of the others in the car, gave any care or
attention whatever to the fact that they were driving upon a railroad
crossing. Mr. Smith, who was killed in the collision, was holding
his head down and apparently looking down and listening to the
engine of the automobile. Young Conant was turned towards the
other young people on the back seat, and they with him were joking
and “kidding” those in an old Reo car behind them which they had
outspeeded. The evidence will justify no other conclusion than that
there was gross carelessness in the management of the automobile
as it approached the crossing, and that all the people in the car were
negligent.

But it is the contention of the plaintiff, and he bases thereon his
right to recover, that Smith, the driver of the car at the time of the
accident, had so far taken the car into his possession to repair it
that he had become the plaintiff’s bailee of it, and, therefore, that
Smith’s negligence is not imputable to him, being a bailor, so as to
debar him from recovering for any injury to the property bailed
caused by the defendant’s negligence, although the negligence of
Smith contributed thereto.

But we do not find it necessary to decide whether the car at the
time of the accident was in the control of Smith as a bailee of the
plaintiff, or still in the control of young Conant as the plaintiff’s
agent, for we are of the opinion that the plaintiff’s case fails in
limine, in that there is no sufficient evidence of any negligence of
the defendant which is accountable for this collision.

The plaintiff alleges in his writ in substance and effect that the
defendant was negligent in the following particulars: that it did
not give the required warning signals of the approach of the train
by whistle and ringing of the bell; that it did not provide a flagman
or gates or some automatic signal to warn persons of the approach-
ing train; and that it operated its train over this crossing, which is
alleged to be near the compact part of a town, at a rate of speed
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greatly in excess of that allowed by law, and with the engine run-
ning backward.

We cannot here take space to give an analysis of the evidence
showing in extenso wherein it fails to sustain the plaintiff’s allega-
tions and contentions that the defendant was negligent in the opera-
tion of its train and thereby caused the collision. It would be profit-
less to do so. We will therefore briefly state the conclusions we
have reached after a study of the evidence in the light of the argu-
ments urged on the one side and the other.

1. The evidence abundantly shows that the required signals by
whistle and the ringing of the bell were given as the train approached
the crossing.

2. It is admitted in the case that no request has ever been mide
to the defendant by town authorities, or by any public commission of
the State, for the establishment of a flagman, or gates, or automatic
signals at this crossing. It cannot, therefore, be held as a matter
of law that the defendant was negligent in not providing such at the
crossing. Sykes v. Maine Central Railroad Co., 111 Maine, 182,
183. Was the’ defendant negligent in fact in not providing a flag
man, or gates or automatic signals at this crossing? We think not.
An examination of the situation at this crossing as disclosed in the
photographs shows that the traveler when at a safe distance from
it can see a train approaching it from Norway at a considerable
distance back from the crossing, and, further, that there are no deep
cuts or embankments, or high blocks of buildings to prevent a
traveler hearing the warning signals and the noise of an approaching
train. The evidence plainly shows that this crossing is not one
where a train may suddenly come upon a traveler unawares from
behind some obstruction. On the other hand, a train approaching
the crossing is in plain view for a sufficient distance to enable any
reasonably prudent person in the exercise of due care to avoid a
collision with it. In view therefore of the situation at the crossing
as disclosed, and the limited amount and kind of train service over
it, the court is clearly of the opinion that the defendant should not
be held negligent in fact because it did not maintain there a flagman,
or gates, or automatic signals.

3. The train approached the crossing at a rate of speed not
exceeding fifteen miles an hour, indeed practically all of the wit-
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nesses estimated its speed at from ten to fifteen miles an hour. But
the plaintiff contends that notwithstanding the low rate of speed
of the train the defendant was negligent because it violated the
provision of section 86 of chapter 52, Revised Statutes, which reads:
“No engine or train shall run across a highway near the compact
part of a town at a speed greater than six miles an hour, unless the
parties operating the railroad maintain a flagman, or a gate, or
automatic signals ordered or approved by the railroad commis-
sioners, at the crossing of such highway.”

Whether this crossing is “near the compact part of a town” within
the meaning of the statute may not be free from doubt. But if it
be assumed that the statute applies to this crossing, and, therefore,
that the speed of the train over it exceeded the rate specified by
law, that fact does not conclusively show that the defendant was
negligent in so running its train under the circumstances. In Moore
v. Maine Central R. R. Co., 106 Maine, 297, 304, this court said:
“The running of a train faster than the statute permits is not negli-
gence per se.” It is competent evidence to be considered on the
question whether in fact the defendant was negligent in running its
train at a dangerous rate of speed at the time and place and under
all the circumstances disclosed, but it is not conclusive.

We have already pointed out that the situation at the crossing
was such that the traveler on the highway when at a safe distance
from the crossing can see a train approaching from the direction of
Norway. In further confirmation of that the conductor of this train
testified that he was standing between the engine and tender looking
ahead and that when the train was about 100 feet back from the
crossing he saw the automobile “coming around the bend there” and
that it “must have been two hundred fifty feet, and perhaps a
little more” from the crossing. The engineer was in his seat looking
towards the crossing and he first saw the automobile when it was
“one hundred fifty feet to two hundred feet. I should judge” from
the crossing. The brakeman stood on the pilot of the tender at the
extreme head of the train, and he testified that the automobile was
two hundred and fifty feet from the crossing when he first saw it.
As showing that the rate of speed of the train was well within the
estimate of the witnesses, and probably less than fifteen miles an
hour, the brakeman, when he saw that the automobile did not stop
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and would strike the tender near where he stood, jumped off on the
other side, in about the middle of the street, and did not fall down.
He said, “when I stepped off, I made one step. I let the train go by.
I waited for the train to go by.” Four other travelers on Pleasant
street at the time and in the vicinity of the crossing testified that
they heard the whistle of the train as it approached the crossing,
and another heard the ringing of the bell, but did not remember
hearing the whistle. That testimony confirms what has already been
stated that the situation at this crossing is such that the warning
signals of a train coming from Norway can be readily heard by
travelers approaching the crossing.

After a careful examination and painstaking consideration of all
the evidence, the court is of the opinion that there is no sufficient
proof that would warrant a finding of negligence on the part of the
defendant in the management or speed of its train at the time of the
accident. Accordingly the entry must be,

Judgment for defendant.

KartueriNe L. McMaNus vs. PEERLESS CASUALTY COMPANY.
Cumberland. Opinion October 21, 1915.

Application. Beneficiary. Contingent Right. Evidence.
False Answers. Insurance. Occupation.
Vested Interest. Warranties.

The policy in suit provides that “The consent of the beneficiary shall not be
requisite to the surrender of this policy nor to a change of beneficiary.”

Held:

1. That under the terms of said policy, the beneficiary, who is the plaintiff,
does not have a vested interest.

2. That the applications of the insured to the Prudential Insurance Company,
which were offered in evidence and excluded, should have been admitted.

. On motion and exceptions by the defendant. Motion not con-
sidered. Exceptions sustained. '
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Action on a policy of insurance issued by defendant to George M.
McManus, late of Brunswick, deceased, the plaintiff being the bene-
ficiary named in said policy. Plea, the general issue, with brief
statement. The jury returned a verdict for plaintiff, and defendant
filed a motion for a new trial and had exceptions allowed to the
exclusion of certain evidence.

The case is stated in the opinion.

Clement F. Robinson and Arthur L. Robinson, for plaintiff.

Charles G. Keene, Barrett Potter, and Anthoine & Anthoine, for
defendant,

SitTiNG: Savagg, C. J., Seear, King, Birp, HaLEy, J]J.

SPEAR, J. This is an action in assumpsit on a policy of insurance
issued by the defendant company to George M. McManus, late of
Brunswick whose widow and beneficiary is the plaintiff. The policy
provides for the payment of five thousand dollars to the beneficiary
in the event of the death of the insured by accident. The insured
died on February 21, 1914, as a result of an accident which occurred
on February 2, 1914, as admitted by the defendant, but the defendant
disputed liability because of certain statements appearing in the
application annexed to the policy.

As the exceptions are decisive in this case, there is no occasion
- to consider the motion. The main question in the exceptions, was
whether McManus’ occupation was truly stated in the application.
The statements in the application were warranted by him “to be
complete and true and material and binding” and the warranty was
reaffirmed in the policy and a copy of the application was endorsed
on the policy. Accordingly, untrue answers in the application would
make the policy void. Johuson v. Insurance Company, 83 Maine,
182; Boston v. Insurance Company, 89 Maine, 266; Strickland v.
Casualty Co., 112 Maine, 100. In the latter case it is said, “that
statements in the application untrue in fact vitiated the policy is
settled law.” The defendant contends that the application said
McManus was a hotel proprietor and teaming contractor, super-
vising only. It was admitted that he operated a summer hotel or
boarding house, but claimed that he was also a farmer and a team-
ster; and if so, the policy was void, and for two reasons: (1)
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because the answer was untrue, and (2) because the occupations of
farming and teaming were classified by the defendant in its manual
as more hazardous than was stated in the application. On this issue,
touching the truth of the application, the defendant was allowed to
go back in the introduction of testimony to September, 1912, four-
teen months before the date of the application, to show what the
occupations of the insured were during that time, and numerous
witnesses testified that he was then both a farmer and a teamster,
the defendant relying upon the presumption of the continuance of
such occupation. 16 Cyc. Evidences, 1052-54 ; Greenleaf Evidences,
Par. 41. The defendant then offered three exhibits. They were all
applications of McManus to the Prudentiul Insurance Company of
America for the reviving of policies on his life previously issued by
that company which had lapsed for non-payment of premiums.
They were dated November 14, 1912; July 11, 1913; and October
24, 1913, respectively. That dated October 24, 1913, being within
10 days of the date of the application upon which the policy in
suit was issued. McManus was called upon in each of these appli-
cations to state what his occupation was at the time of the application
and, in each, said he was a farmer. These exhibits were offered to
corroborate the witnesses who had testified that McManus was a
farmer; they were excluded. The question, therefore, is, whether
the admissions of the insured was admissible against his beneficiary.
If McManus were living and had brought an action on the policy
to recover a sick benefit, no doubt the Prudential applications would
have been admissible against him. Is his widow and beneficiary so
in privity with him that they are admissible against her? This is the
only question on this branch of the case. And this further depends
upon the inquiry whether the widow and beneficiary by the terms of
tlie policy had a vested interest in the policy. Article 20 (d) of
the policy provides that “the consent of the beneficiary shall not be
requisite to the surrender of this policy nor to a change of bene-
ficiary.” It is claimed that this provision is decisive of the ques-
tion at issue. The line of demarcation between a vested interest
and a contingent interest in a life or accident policy is found in the
terms of the contract. This line is also usually found in the char-
acter of the policy. The old line policies usually create a vested
interest; the fraternal policies, it may be said, usually do not. If
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the policy reserves no right of control in itself or in the procurer,
over the interest provided for the beneficiary, the policy, the moment
it is issued, creates a vested interest in the beneficiary therein
named. This was expressly held in Laughlin v. Norcross, g7 Maine,
33. If the contract reserves the right to modify the policy or change,
the beneficiary without the cousent of the beneficiary, then it creates
a mere expectency. “A vested interest is where there is an imme-
diate fixed right of present or future enjoyment.” See Vested
Interest, Words and Phrases, Vol. 8, 7303. Again, “it is not the
uncertainty of enjoyment in the future, but the uncertainty of the
right to that enjoyment which makes the difference between a vested
and a contingent interest,” id. Again, “Vested interest can mean
nothing else than an interest in respect of which there is a fixed
right of present or future enjoyment.” id., 7304. In 29 Cyc,
126 C,, under the head “Right to Make Change as Against Original
Beneficiary,” it is said: “The cases as to the right of a member of
a beneficiary society as against the person originally designated by
him, to substitute another beneficiary in place of that person, are
not in accord. By the weight of authority, however, if there is
nothing to the contrary in the statute, or in the society’s charter or
laws, or in the certificate of insurance, the beneficiary originally
designated has no vested interest in the contract, and hence the
member may at his pleasure designate a new beneficiary and thus
defeat the original beneficiary’s contingent right to benefits.” See
numerous cases cited under note 19. “In any event this is so where
the statutes, the charter or laws of the society, or the certificate of
insurance expressly or impliedly authorizes a change of bene-
ficiaries.” A case in point, cited in Cyc. is Marsh v. Awmerican
Legion of Honor, 149 Mass., 1889. The policy issued in this case
reserved the right to make a change in the beneficiary. Such change
was made and the right contested by one who had been named in
the policy as a beneficiary. Regarding the right of this claim, the
court say: “In the certificates of a beneficiary association which
are issued to a holder, and which authorize him to designate another
beneficiary than the one originally named, the holder may make
such changes as the law of the association permits within the limits
of those classes for whom, by statute, such association may provide.
All that a beneficiary has during the life time of the member who
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bolds the certificate is a mere expectency, which gives no vested
right in the anticipated benefit, and is not property, as, owing to his
right of revocation, it is dependent on the will and pleasure of the
holder.” After alluding to some cases which seem to hold that the
.beneficiary is as a rule not bound by the admission of the insured,
2 Bacon on Benefit Societies, etc., Par. 460 states the rule as follows:
“The better view and that logically correct, is that the contrary is
true -because the member is the party with whom the contract is
made and remains so until his death. Consequently up to that time
he is the only party in interest and his admissions and declarations
are clearly admissible against the beneficiary. The authorities cited
in this work recognized the distinction between cases where one
has and has not a vested right in the policy.

The general principle seems to be overwhelmning in favor of the
rule that where a beneficiary has a vested irterest in the policy the
admissions or statements of the applicant for the policy are inad- -
missible; where the beneficiary has not a vested interest, such
admissions or statements are admissible.

If, then, it is true that the applications offered in evidence as
exhibits were statements made by McManus, they were admissible,
not necessarily as admissions nor as declarations against interest
but as evidence tending to prove whether his statement as to his
occupation was true or false; whether he was telling the truth in
fact ; whether he was a farmer or a hotel keeper. The issues directly
involved in this exception are (1) Was McManus a farmer? (2)
Did he tell the truth in his application as to his occupation? The
evidence is pertinent under the first issue, as the limit of insurance
on a farmer in this company was $1500 instead of $5000. The
evidence offered was material upon the second issue because his
statements in the application according to the contract were war-
ranties, and if false, would defeat the policy. The question here
is, whether these exhibits were competent. We have nothing to do
with their weight. That is a question for the jury.

The plaintiff, however, objects to the admission of the exhibits
on several grounds, among others that the offer was unaccompanied
with any evidence that the exhibits comprised statements made
actually by Mr. McManus. But the exceptions do not sustain her
contention. They show that all the applications were signed by
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Mr. McManus but that two of the three were filled in by an insur-
ance agent. The necessary inference is that the other was executed
by McManus in the usual way. Without giving effect to the rule,
that when a party signs a written contract he is presumed to under-
stand its contents, one of the three exhibits—and the evidence does
not show which one,—must be regarded as containing statements
actually made by McManus.

The plaintiff further contends that the exhibits were properly
excluded under the express wording of the policy. Under the head,
General Agreements, the part of Article 20, invoked by the plaintiff,
reads as follows: “No agent has any authority to change this
policy or to waive any of its provisions, conditions or limitations.
No statement made by the assured shall void this policy or be used
in evidence unless endorsed hereon and no provision of the charter,
constitution or by-laws, shall be used in defense with any claim
under this policy unless such provision is incorporated in full in
this policy. Then there is a further provision that the policy with
a copy of the application therefor signed by the assured, and any
riders or endorsements signed by the president or secretary shall
constitute the entire contract of insurance, etc. Construed in pari
materia with reference to the subject matter, the purpose, the results
to be effectuated and the consequences, the true interpretation of
these provisions is that the assured while negotiating’ for his policy
and doing the things which resulted directly in its execution and
issue, shall be regarded as having been incorporated in the policy,
and that any statement which he has made during these negotiations
which are presumed to be embodied in the writing when the policy
is issued, shall not be offered in evidence. This is practically a
declaration of the common law rule, that a written contract is pre-
sumed to be the consummation of everything said and done leading
up to it. It is not reasonable that, by these provisions, the defendant
company intended to preclude itself from the use of any relevant
testimony pertinent upon any issue, that might be raised under the
provisions of the policy. The policy provides that material state-
ments made in the application shall be regarded as warranties. It
further provides that if any material statement is not true it avoids
the policy. It would be pertinent under these provisions for the
company to show in defense to an action on a policy, that statements
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made in the application were false regarding occupation or the other
material matters prescribed therein. Any evidence tending to prove
this contention would be admissible. The statements made by the
assured, within a reasonable time, whether before or after the issue
of his policy, tending to contradict him and to corroborate other
witnesses as to the truth or falsity of the representation made in
his application, might be the best evidence of proof of the issue;
whatever its value it would be admissible under the general rules
of evidence, and the interpretation of the provisions of the policy,
involved to exclude it, cannot be sustained.

We are of the opinion that, under the exceptions, as stated in the
report all three of the applications offered as exhibits, were, in the
first instance, admissible. They were all signed by McManus, which
makes them prima facie evidence. They are, of course, subject to
explanation and their probative force may thereby be shown to be
of very little weight, or even valueless. Other exceptions were
raised and argued, but those considered being decisive of the case,
it is unnecessary to discuss them.

Exceptions sustained.
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ELLeN S. CLark anDp O. E. Hanscom, Aplts.
From the Decision of the Judge of Probate.

Androscoggin. Opinion October 21, 1915.

Beneficially Interested. Credible Attesting Witness. Pecuniary
Interest. R. S., Chap. 76, Sect. 1. Will.
Witness.

The question is whether Florence R. Johnson, wife of a legatee under the
will of Adelbert I. Clark, was a competent attesting witness to said will,

Held :

1. A wife is not a competent attesting witness to a will which contains a
devise to her husband.

2. The term “credible” is not defined by the Statute, but as construed by the
common law means competent.

3. If the will provides a pecuniary benefit to the attesting witness, though
dependent upon the happening of an event which may happen, he has a
beneficial interest under it in contemplation of law.

4. If the subsequent event upon which the interest depends does not
happen, that fact does not relate back and restore competence. )
5. That Florence R. Johnson, at the time of the execution of the will, was
not a credible witness, that she was beneficially interested under the will,

and that said will is void.

On report upon agreed statement. Judgment of Probate Court
affirmed.

This is an appeal by Ellen S. Clark and O. E. Hanscom from a
decree of the Judge of Probate disallowing and refusing to admit
to probate an instrument purporting to be the last will and testament
of Adelbert I. Clark, late of Greene, in the county of Androscoggin,
deceased. The case was reported to the Law Court by agreement of
parties, upon an agreed statement of facts, for decision in accord-
ance with stipulations relating thereto. '

The case is stated in the opinion.

William H. Newell, for contestants.

Fred O. Watson, for executor.

George S. McCarty, for Mary E. Clark.

SitTiNG: Savagg, C. J., Spear, King, Birp, Harey, Hanson, JJ.
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SpEAR, J. This case comes up on an agreed statement. There is,
however, only one question raised, whether or not the fact that
Florence R. Johnson subscribed as an attesting witness to the will
of Adelbert I. Clark rendered the will void, it being admitted that
Florence R. Johnson was the wife of William M. Johnson, a devisee
named in the will. R. S., Chapter 76, Section 1, provides as follows:
“Any person of sound mind, and of the age of twenty-one years,
may dispose of his real and personal estate by will, signed by him,
or by some person for him at his request, and in his presence, and
subscribed in his presence by three credible attesting witnesses, not
beneficially interested under said will.”

(1) Was Florence R. Johnson, at the time of the execution of the
will, a credible witness? The term “credible” is not defined by
the statute, but as construed by the common law means competent.
Castine Church, Appellant, 91 Maine, 416. Under R. S., Chapter
84, Section 107: “No person is excused or excluded from testifying
in any civil suit or proceeding at law, or in equity, by reason of h's
interest in the event thereof as party or otherwise, except as here-
inafter provided, but such interest may be shown to affect his credi-
bility ; and the husband or wife of either party may be a witness.”
But section 109 modifies the scope of section 107 as follows: “Noth-
ing in section one hundred and seven affects the law relating to the
attestation of the execution of last wills and testaments, or of any
other instrument, which the law requires to be attested.”

(2) Was Florence R. Johnson, at the time she witnessed the will,
“beneficially interested under said will?” Tf she was, the will is
void. We think she was manifestly so interested. Paragraph III of
the will reads: “I give and bequeath to William N. Johnson, five
thousand dollars and I also give to him, William N. Johnson, my
homestead forever, being all the real estate I own.”

Florence R. Johnson was, and is, the wife of William N. Johnson.
The case does not show whether they have children or not. It
makes no difference, however, with the legal aspect of the case.
Yet, it is the established law of this State, since 1895, R. S., Chapter
77, that if the husband dies without issue the widow takes one-half
and if with issue, one-third, by descent, of all the real estate of
which the husband was seized during coverture. The moment the
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real estate devised under this will vested in the husband, the statu-
tory interest vested in his wife, and he was powerless from that time
to alienate or in any way dispose of it without her consent; or by
sale, without paying her the appraised value of her interest. R S.,
Chapter 77, Section 17.

That the wife’s interest is contingent does not avail the appellant.
In Castine Church, Appellant, supra, it was held: “Was Agnes T.
Hooper, at the time she attested the will, ‘beneficially interested’
under it? She is named as a legatee, in a certain contingency. If
Anstres R. Folsom, the legatee, should decease before the testatrix,
Agnes was to take, otherwise not. While she did not take an
absolute, certain interest under the will, it would become absolute
and certain in an event which might happen . . . If the will
provides a pecuniary benefit to the attesting witness, though depend-
ent upon the happening of an event, which may happen, he has a
beneficial interest under it, in contemplation of law; and if the
subsequent event upon which the interest depends does not happen,
that fact does not relate back and restore competence. It is impor-
tant that the safeguards which the law has thrown around the
execution of wills, should not be withdrawn or weakened; and to
that end, a will which provides a pecuniary benefit, absolute or
contingent, to a legatee, should not be witnessed by such legatee. He
is interested, and therefore not credible or competent.” In the case
at bar the pecuniary interest of the wife is not remote and uncertain
but direct and fixed upon the contingency of the husband’s death.

We are unable to discover any profit to be derived from an
extended review of the cases cited, as, like the case at bar, the
opinions are predicated upon the interpretation of the phraseology
of the particular statute under consideration. It may be proper,
however, to allude to Winslow v. Kimball, 25 Maine, 492, as this
case seems to be relied upon as the one Maine case presenting the
logical and proper theory upon which the present case should be
decided. But it will be observed by a reference to the statute there
under consideration, R. S., 1841, Chapter 92, Section 5, that it was
an entirely different statute from the one now before us. It reads:
“All devises and legacies to a subscribing witness to a will or codicil
shall be void, unless there be three other competent subscribing
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witnesses to the same.” The court decided, that this statute, in
terms, vitiated a bequest to a witness to the will, but did not render
the witness incompetent as to the rest of the will. But this is not the
case at all before us. This statute making void a legacy to an attesting
witness was omitted in the revision of 1857, and the witnesses were
required to be “disinterested and credible.” In 1857 the phraseology
was changed so as to require “three credible attesting witnesses not
beneficially interested under the provisions of the will.” In 1883 this
was condensed to read, “three credible attesting witnesses not bene-
ficially interested under said will.” The question here is whether
the witness was “beneficially interested under said will” If so, then,
by the terms of the present statute, such witness is incompetent
and the instrument purporting to be a will becomes nugatory. The
witnesses must be competent at the time of the execution of the
will. R. S., Chapter 76, Section 2, Castine Church, Appellant, supra,
at page 422. They cannot be competent for one purpose and incom-
petent for another. The statute makes no such division.

In Massachusetts, in an opinion by Grey, J., who was later the
Chief Justice and also a member of the Supreme Court of the
United State, in which a review is made of both the English and
American decisions, this rule of interpretation is fully approved. In
Sullivan v. Sullivan, 106 Mass., 474, the head note states the result
of the opinion in a single sentence: “A wife is not a competent
attesting witness to a will which contains a devise to her husband.”
Furthermore, as was said in Castine, Appellant, we think this inter-
pretation of the statute is in harmony with the purpose and intent
of the Legislature and in accord with sound public policy. It tends
to erect a safeguard against the influence of pecuniary interest, well
calculated to bias the testimony of ordinary, and sometimes of very
ignorant, persons, who are permitted, as witnesses to the execution
of a will, to give their opinion as to the sanity and competency of
the testator.

In accordance with the stipulation,

Judgwment of the Court of
Probate affirmed.
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Frora E. TutTLE, In Equity
| Us.

Josepr H. Davis, Executor, and NETTIE L. ELWELL.
Androscoggin. Opinion October 21, 1915.

Appeal. Breach. Condition to Support. Damages. Foreclosure.
Mortgage. Redemption.

This is an appeal from the decision of the sitting Justice in a cause in
equity. The bill is brought to redeem certain real estate from a mortgage
given on April 16, A. D. 1900, by one John H. Tuttle, husband of Flora E.
Tuttle, to his father and mother, George Tuttle and Mary F. Tuttle,
conditioned to support them, or the survivor of them, so leng as they
might live, on the premises described in the mortgage or at such other
place as George Tuttle or Mary F. Tuttle might choose, the same to be at
no further expense to John H. Tuttle than on the home farm. Mary F.
Tuttle, after the death of her husband, commenced foreclosure of this
mortgage on March 22, 1913.

The only question is whether the plaintiff has such an interest in the
mortgaged premises as will permit her to redeem.

Held: she has such right.

On appeal from decision of sitting Justice in a cause in equity.
Appeal denied. Case remanded.

This is a bill in equity, brought by Flora E. Tuttle against Joseph
H. Davis, in his capacity as executor of the last will and testament
of Mary F. Tuttle, late of Durham, deceased, to redeem certain real
estate described in the bill from a mortgage given by John H.
Tuttle, husband of said Flora E. Tuttle, to his father and mother,
conditioned to support them during their natural lives, etc. The
presiding Justice, before whom the cause was heard, ordered,
adjudged and decreed that said bill be sustained, etc. From this
decree, the defendant appealed to the next Law Court.

The case is stated in the opinion.

Oakes, Pulsifer & Ludden, for plaintiff.

Newell & Woodside, and L. A. Jack, for defendants.
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SpEAR, J.  This is an appeal from the decision of the sitting
Justice in a cause in equity. The bill is brought to redeem certain
real estate from a mortgage given on April 16, A. D. 1900, by one
John H. Tuttle, husband of Flora E. Tuttle, to his father and
mother, George Tuttle and Mary F. Tuttle, conditioned to support
them, or the survivor of them, so long as they might live, on the
premises described in the mortgage or at such other place as George
Tuttle or Mary F. Tuttle might choose, the same to be at no further
expense to John H Tuttle than on the home farm. Mary F. Tuttle;
after the death of her husband commenced foreclosure of this
mortgage on March 22, 1913.

A deed of the mortgaged premises was given to Nettie L. Elwell
by Mary F. Tuttle in her life time, and she was made a party
defendant in this case. It also appeared that the plaintiff, Flora E.
Thuttle, joined in the mortgage given by her husband, releasing her
right by descent in the premises.

No evidence was introduced by either side and the case is now
before the Law Court on an appeal by Nettie L. Elwell from the
decision of the presiding Justice in which he found upon the facts
stated in the bill and admitted in the answer, that the plaintiff has
a “legal right to redeem from the mortgage given by John H. Tuttle
to George Tuttle and Mary F. Tuttle in which she joined in release
of her descendable rights as the wife of the said John H. Tuttle.”

The parties, by agreement filed in court, stipulated that the dam-
ages for breach of the covenants of the mortgage should be assessed
at the sum of three hundred dollars. This agreement, as we under-
stand, was to go into effect only in case it should be decided that
the plaintiff had the right to redeem and was made contingent upo:t
such finding. '

It is claimed in the brief of Nettie L. Elwell that the case is devoid
of any evidence to show what was done after September 26, 1908,
by the plaintiff or her husband towards performing the conditions of
the mortgage until the death of Mary F. Tuttle on March 22, 1913.

This objection is immaterial, as the appeal is from the finding of
the court, as a matter of law, that the plaintiff had a right to redeem,
with an agreement, if the court so found “that the damages for
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breach of the covenants should be assessed at the sum of three hun-
dred dollars.” The sitting Justice in his decree found the damages
to be $300, according to the agreement which covers the very omis-
sion of which the defendant complains. The first prayer of the bill
is “that an account may be taken of the sum equitably due the
defendant.” But the taking of an account could be for the purpose
only of determining what the plaintiff should pay for the failure of
the mortgagor to fulfil the conditions of the mortgage and was sup-
planted by the agreement that the sum equitably due the defendant
for his failure was $300.

The only question accordingly is whether the plaintiff has such
an interest in the mortgaged premises as will permit her to redeem.
We have no doubt she has. Every principle of equity and justice
is in favor of it, as well as the earliest and latest authorities. Swith
v. Eustis, et al, 7 Maine, 41, decided in 1830 and cases cited
unequivocally established the rule, and Fletcher v. Griffiths, et als.,
216 Mass., 174, decided in 1913, reaffirms it. These are cases
involving dower, but the reason for the rule should be all the
stronger under our present statute, where the wife’s interest is a
fee, upon the death of the husband, and not merely an incohate
right.

Appeal denied.
Case remanded.
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Eriza E. FIsHER, Applt., vs. ARTHUR W. NELKE.

Androscoggin. Opinion October 21, 1915.

Lease. Mutual Consent. Notice to Quit. Rent. R. S., Chap. 96,
Sect. 2. Termination of tenancy at will.
Tenancy at will.  Waiver.

1. In an action for rent under a written lease, an agreement during the life
of the lease. that lessee should have the privilege of vacating any time
after the expiration of the lease by paying for the actual time of occupa-
tion, is not binding.

2. The termination of a tenancy by mutual agreement must be in accordance
with R. S., Chap. ¢6, Sec. 2, and that this section applies only to tenancies
at will,

On exceptions by defendant. Exceptions overruled.

An action of assumpsit to recover for use and occupation of a
tenement situate on Main street in Lewiston, from December 1,
1014 to January 1, 1915. Plea, the general issue. At the conclusion
of the evidence, the Justice presiding directed a verdict for the plain-
tiff. To this ruling the defendant excepted.

The case is stated in the opinion.

Franklin Fisher, for plaintiff.

McGillicuddy & Morey, for defendant.

SrrTiNg: Spear, King, Birp, HarLey, Hanson, JJ.

SpeAR, J. This is an action of assumpsit for rent. On November
1, 1913, the plaintiff gave a written lease of the premises in question
to the defendant, for one year. After the expiration of the lease,
November 1, 1914, the defendant remained on the premises until
December 4th following, and was, at this date, a tenant at will. The
plaintiff seeks to recover for the whole month of December, while
the defendant contends he was responsible for only the four days he
was in actual occupation. The plaintiff filed an affidavit, under the
statute, of the amount due her, which made a prima facie case, and
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threw the burden upon the defendant to show why she should not
recover. This burden he assumes by setting up an oral agreement
with the plaintiff’s agent whereby he says it was mutually agreed
that he should have the privilege of vacating the premises, at any
time, after the expiration of the lease, by paying rent for the actual
time he occupied them. After the testimony was all in the presiding
Justice ordered a verdict for the plaintiff, and the case comes here on
exceptions to that ruling. The only issue in the case, accordingly,
is whether the defendant upon his own testimony has sustained the
burden of proof.

It appears that, during the life of the lease, the plaintiff had an
opportunity to sell the premises and had some conversation with
the defendant about moving out, and offered him one hundred dol-
lars if he would vacate so she could sell ; but the defendant declined,
saying it was his intention to buy the property for himself. Follow-
ing this conversation, the agreement which the defendant claims,
regarding notice and vacating the premises, may be found in the
following testimony of the defendant. On direct examination this
appears. Q.. Now, then, what conversation did you have, if any,
about moving out without notice, and with whom was it had? A. 1
leased the property with the intention of buying it. They had it
for sale, and he came to me— Q. Who did? A. Mr. Fisher,
during that period I had it, and wanted to know if I was going to
buy it. I told him I thought I was. “Well” he says, “I have got a
chance to sell, and I will give you $100 if you will let me have that
chance.” Well, my intention was to buy the property, which I didn’t
buy ; but he said after the lease, this property was for sale, and “if
you don’t buy it I shall expect you to move out any minute that I
get a chance to sell it.” That was the understanding, that I should
have to move any time that he had a chance. Q. What did he say
about your giving him notice, or you giving him no notice? A.
That I shouldn’t give him any notice, and he wouldn’t give me
any ; that I should move out any minute, or I should have the priv-
ilege of moving out any minute.

On cross-examination he further says: Q. No, answer the
question. I want to know. You testified on direct that you had a
conversation with me about terminating your tenancy. Is that

VvOL. CX1v 8
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right? A. Isn’t it? Q. Is that true? A. That is true. Q.
Where did yuo have it with me? A. Up in the office. Q. Whose
office? A. My office. Q. And what time? A. When you offered
me $100 bonus, you remember. Q. When did I offer that? A.
Didn’t you offer me that? Q. When did I offer it? A. I can’t
tell you the date. Q. Was it June, July or August, or when. A.
I couldn’t tell you the date. Q. Can you tell me whether it was
when the lease was still in force. A. Yes, sir. Q. What was the
conversation? A. That you had a chance to sell the property, and
you offered me $100, or you would give me $100 if I would move.
Q. Did you accept? A. It don’t look as though I did, does it?
Q. Was there any other conversation? A. Yes, sir. Q. What
was it. Repeat it. A. If I didn’t buy the property you would
expect me to move at once. I think that is what you said. Q. Was
that during the time of the lease? A. Yes, sir. Q. I expected
you to move at once? A. Expected'me to move at once, or give
me time to move from one building to the other. I expected to buy
the property.

It is admitted by the defendant that the conversation or agree-
ment here testified to took place some time during the time covered
by the lease. We are in doubt, however, as to whether the agree-
ment as testified to by the defendant, meant that after the expiration
of the lease he should have the privilege of moving out at any time,
as seems to be stated in the first part of his testimony where he
says, “but he said after the expiration of the lease this property
was for sale and if you don’t buy it I shall expect you to move
out any minute that I get a chance to sell it,” or whether, as stated
in his cross-examination, “If I didn’t buy the property you would
expect me to move at once.” If the latter is the correct version,
and the agreement was to terminate the tenancy during the life of
the lease, it was clearly nugatory. If the former is the correct
version, we think it must fail because the purported agreement was
made while the written lease was in force and before any tenancy
at will existed. The termination of the tenancy by agreement must
be in accordance with the provision of the statute. R. S., Chapter
66, Section 2, provides: ‘Tenancies at will may be determined by
either party, by thirty days’ notice in writing for that purpose, given
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to the other party, and not otherwise save by mutual consent,
excepting cases where the tenant, if liable to pay rent shall not be
in arrears at the expiration of the notice, in which casc the thirty
days’ notice aforesaid shall be made to expire upon a rent day.
Either party may waive in writing said thirty days notice, or any
part thereof.”

It will be here noted that this section applies only to tenancies at
will. Everything contemplated under it is predicted upon the exist-
ence of such a tenancy. It is therefore evident that an agreement
made in regard to the manner of vacating certain premises which
ar the time of the agreement are not a tenancy at will at all, cannot
prevail. It would be extending the scope of the statute to a thing
not in esse. The ruling of the presiding Justice was correct.

Exceptions overruled.

Jorn W. MaNsoN, Executor of Nathaniel L. Perkins,
VS,

SaraH B. Maxcy, et als.
Penobscot. Opinion October 21, 1915.

Assignment, Consideration. Creditor's Bill. Dividends. Equity.
Fraud. Revised Statutes, Chapter 79, Section 6,
Paragraph 9.

1. In the present case, the assignment or transfer of the bankbook does
not purport to show payment of any consideration. The burden, there-
fore, rests upon the assignee to prove the consideration actually paid.

2. It is well established under our decisions, under circumstances like those
in the present case, that an assignee of the whole amount of the deposit
or other property may prove the actual amount due him and become,
upon such proof, entitled to such amount.

3. But if the consideration he has paid is inadequate and he still claims
the whole, his whole claim will then be denied as a fraud upon other
creditors who are entitled to the balance of the fund for the payment of
their debts.
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On report. Judgment for plaintiff for $2649.67 and interest at
6% from August 21, 1913.

This is a creditor’s bill in which it is sought to subject the divi-
dends from a deposit of Sarah B. Maxcy with Tyler, Fogg & Co,,
of Bangor to the payment of the balance due the plaintiff on notes
signed by Sarah B. Maxcy, and is brought under Revised Statutes,
Chapter 79, Section 6, Paragraph 9. The Justice hearing this cause,
all parties assenting thereto, reported the cause to the Law Court on
the foregoing evidence, including the agreed statement of facts;
the Law Court to decide all questions of law and facts involved and
to render its decision accordingly.

The case is stated in the opinion.

George H. Morse, and Harry R. Coolidge, for plaintiff.

Charles H. Bartleit, pro se.

Edgar M. Simpson, for Frederick H. Parkhurst and F. Marion
Simpson, assignees.

Louis C. Stearns, for F. L. Berry.

Matthew Laughlin, for T. R. Savage, guardian.

SitTING: Savacg, C. J., Spear, CornisH, Birp, Harry, JJ.

SpEAR, J. This case comes up on report. It is a creditor’s bill
to subject the dividends, from a deposit of Sarah B. Maxcy in
Tyler, Fogg & Company, Bangor, to the payment of the balance
due the plaintiff on promissory notes signed by Sarah B. Maxcy.
On January 19, 1903, Sarah B. Maxcy and her husband, Frederick
E. Maxcy, executed and delivered to the plaintiff’s testator four
promissory notes. At the date of the bill the amount admitted to
be due the plaintiff on the notes was $2649.67 and interest at 6%
from August 2, 1913. F. K. Maxcy, the husband was adjudicated
a bankrupt and granted a discharge on September 25, 1911. In
August, 1911, Sarah B. Maxcy and her husband moved to Cali-
fornia. She has no property in this State, except the deposit in
Tyler, Fogg & Co. Tyler, Fogg & Co. were put into the hands of a
receiver, hence the various defendants, representing the copartner-
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ship and the respective members thereof. But so far as this case is
concerned, only the deposit of Sarah B. Maxcy is involved. In
August, 1911, Sarah B. Maxcy assigned her deposit in Tyler, Fogg
& Co., and her claim in Tyler, Fogg & Co., Linwood C. Tyler and
Herbert A. Fogg, to Fred L. Berry of San Francisco under the
name and designation of Fred L. Berry, the alleged assignment
bearing date, however, of May 31st, 1911. Berry proved his claim
against the firm of Tyler, Fogg & Co., and against the estate of
Herbert A. Fogg, and the claims have been allowed in both cases.

This bill is brought under Chapter 79, Section 6, Paragraph g of
the Revised Statutes which provides that the court has equitable
jurisdiction “in bills in equity, by creditors, to reach and apply in
payment of a debt, any property, right, title or interest, legal or
equitable, of debtor or debtors, which cannot become apt to be
attached on a writ or taken on execution in a suit at law and any
property or interest conveyed in fraud of creditors.”

No question is raised as to the jurisdiction of the court over the
subject matter involved, although the defendant, Sarah B. Maxcy,
lives in California and has not been personally served with the
process within this State. Formally this statute was available oniy
against debtors, “residing or found within the State,” but by the
act of 1883, Chapter 169 this clause was eliminated with the evident
intention of making the statute apply to non-residents. The real
issue is whether the assignment of F. L. Berry shall prevail under
the facts appearing in the report. The bill alleges want of consid-
eration and fraud. We are of the opinion it is sustainable upon
either allegation. The defendant, Berry, claims title to the entire
deposit found in the bank of Tyler, Fogg & Co., in the sum of
$5564.35, upon which it was agreed a dividend has been declared,
amounting to $3416.51. Upon the admitted facts, that this deposit
constituted the entire estate of the assignee, to be found in this
State, and that she had large creditors here, for the payment of
whose claims this assigned deposit was the only available means,
it is incumbent upon the plaintiff to prove a full and adequate con-
sideration for the property he has received. He cannot take every
dollar found in this jurisdiction available for the payment of the
assignor’s debts, without a full consideration therefor. 1In the pres-
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ent case the assignment or transfer of the bank book does not
purport to show the payment of any consideration. The burden,
therefore, rests upon the assignee, to prove the consideration actually
paid.

It is well established under our decisions, under circumstances
like those in the present case, that an assignee of the whole amount
of a deposit or other property, may prove the actual amount due
him, and become, upon such proof, entitled to such amount. But
if the consideration he has paid is inadequate and he still claims
the whole, his whole claim will then be denied as a fraud upon the
other creditors, who are entitled to the balance of the fund for the
payment of their debts. In Haggett v. Jones, 111 Maine at page
352, it is said: ‘““As suggested above, we think the evidence justifies
the conclusion that the conveyance from Mr. Jones to his wife was
not intentionally fraudulent, but rather entered into it in the mis-
taken belief that he was actually indebted to her to an amount equal -
to the full value of the property conveyed. The transaction, how-
ever, being without an adequate consideration, is fraudulent by con-
struction of law.” See also Egery v. Johnson, 70 Maine, 258, in
which it is expressly held: “Still a grantee is not protected when
he has not paid such a consideration, though he may have acted in
good faith.” The question here involved was squarely raised in
Dennett v. Burnham and Trustees and A. C. assignee and claimant
of the funds, in which the court decided that, although A. C. had
a bona fide claim of several hundred dollars against the fund
assigned, yet his insistence upon a right to claim title to the whole,
by virtue of his assignment, was a fraud upon other creditors. See
certificate of decision, and rescript in No. 136, received and filed in
Kennebec county, January 6, 1897. The court say: “The debt due
A. C. would have been sufficient consideration to support the assign-
ment as collateral security; but at hearing in court below, and at
argument in this court, A. C. refused to treat the assignment as
collateral, and claimed persistently that the entire amount due from
the insurance companies belonged to him. . . . The conclusion
is irresistible, from the acts and testimony of A. C., that one object
of the assignment on his part, was to withdraw this property from
the general creditors of Burnham, and hold the excess above the
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debts of A. C. D. B. and R. for the personal benefit of himself, or
the ultimate benefit of Burnham. Such purpose was illegal and
fraudulent as to the general creditors of Burnham.” The initials
are used by the writer instead of the full names.

In the case at bar the assignee claims title to the whole deposit
of Sarah B. Maxcy, amounting, with the present dividend, to
$3416.35, with possibly more to come with future dividends. And,
as a consideration for this large amount, he simply says he has
performed certain legal services for the assignor, the nature or
extent of which he refuses to divulge, upon the ground that they
involve confidential communications. In other words, he invokes
the privilege of an attorney by which he withholds the very evidence
upon which the validity of his assignment depends, even upon the
theory that he would be entitled to hold a sufficient amount to
remunerate him for services actually performed; because he neither
places any esitmate upon the value of his services, nor gives testi-
mony upon which even a quantum meruit may be predicted. Con-
ceding that his communications with his client were privileged, and
he had a right, or was under the duty, to withhold the nature and
extent of the services he had performed, yet such withholding
deprives the case of proof, and the assignor must suffer the conse-
guences of his preference or misfortune. Whatever the actual pur-
pose of the assignee, the undisputed facts disclose a case devoid of
any adequate consideration and clearly fraudulent as to creditors.

Judgment for plaintiff for $2649.67 and
wnterest at 6% from Auwgust 21, 1913.
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Frank H. DruMMOND vs. CHARLES L. GRIFFIN.

. Penobscot. Opinion October 21, 1915.

Extinguishing Lien. Knowledge. Lien. Mortgage. Relinquishment of

Possession.  Replevin.  Revesting the Lien.

The defendant, under a contract, furnished food and shelter for a pair of

horses for the mortgagor for several months before the date of the execu-
tion and record of the mortgage on the horses. The mortgagee had neither
actual nor implied knowledge that the horses were boarded at the
defendants stable for more than three months after the date of the
mortgage. In the meantime, the laundry company was permitted to use
the horses in the ordinary way in the prosecution of its business as well
after the date of the mortgage as before. The horses were also boarded
by the defendant about three months after the plaintiff had knowledge
that they were being furnished food and shelter by the defendant. At
this time the plaintiff demanded possession of the horses but the defendant
refused to deliver them unless the plaintiff paid for their keeping, not
only after but before the mortgage was given.

Held -

1.

That the letting of the horses go out of the defendant’s custody into
that of the mortgagor against the plaintiff’s right as owner, under a
recorded mortgage, was such a relinquishment of possession as extin-
guished and discharged the defendant’s lien up to the time the plaintiff had
notice that they were being kept by the defendant.

That the defendant could not be held for the sum demanded for keeping
the horses prior to the date of his knowledge of their being kept by the
defendant.

That by demanding the whole and refusing to take a less sum, the
plaintiff was excused from making a tender of the amount which might
have been due subsequent to the date of his knowledge of the keeping.

That the plaintiff having title in the horses had a right to their custody
without further ceremony.

On report. Judgment for plaintiff.
This is an action of replevin for two horses claimed by plaintiff

by virtue of a mortgage dated and recorded January 8, 1914. The
defendant claims a lien on said horses for feeding and sheltering
them. Plea, general issue with brief statement, in which it is alleged
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that defendant held said horses in his possession to enforce his said
lien. At the conclusion of the evidence, the case was reported to
the Law Court for determination, upon so much of the evidence as
is legally admissible; the court to determine all questions of law
and fact and render judgment accordingly.

The case is stated in the opinion.

Morse & Cook, for plaintiff.

B. W. Blanchard, for defendant.

SitriNGg:  Savacgk, C. J. Spear, CorNisH, Birp, HaLey, PHIL-
BROOK, J]J.

SPEAR, J. On report. The case shows that the Franklin Laundry
Company of Bangor, on April 11th, 1913, took one horse, and at a
subsequent date, another horse, to the stable of Charles L. Griffin,
the defendant, under a contract for food and shelter. The horses
remained, under the contract, in the defendant’s stable until July 2o,
1914. Upon this date they were replevied by the plaintift by virtue
of a title conveyed to him by a mortgage from the laundry company
to him, dated and recorded January 8th, 1914. No question can be
raised as to the plaintiff’s right of action, for a breach of the con-
dition of the mortgage. Accordingly the only issue is, whether the
defendant had, at the date of the replevin, preserved his lien.

It is admitted that the plaintiff had no actual knowledge that the
horses were boarded at the defendant’s stable, until April 18, 1914.
Nor do we think knowledge can be implied. During all the time
the horses were kept in the stable, the laundry company was per-
mitted to use them in the ordinary way in the prosecution of its
business. They were used before and after the date of the mort-
gage in the same way. The issue then is: Did the defendant at
the time the horses were replevied have a lien on them for the
amount due for their board, which accrued prior to the date of the
mortgage? It seems to be well settled that he did not. The taking
of the horses, by the company for use in its business, from day to
day, while, for the time being, depriving the defendant of his lien,
would, nevertheless, revest him in his lien upon the restitution of
the horses to his custody for a continuation of food and shelter,
under his existing contract for so doing; but this rule does not apply
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in case of a mortgagee with whom no such contract exists, and
without notice. By the mortgage to him the plaintiff acquired a
good title to the horses, subject to the defendant’s lien. But, after
this time the defendant let the horses go out of his custody into
that of the company. This, against the plaintiff’s right as owner,
under a recorded mortgage, was such a relinquishment of possession
as extinguished and discharged the defendant’s lien. The theory is,
that the surrender of the lien temporarily by the defendant, gives
the mortgagee a prior right, which from that time on continues with-
out interruption or discharge. Perkins v. Boardman, et al., 14 Gray,
481, seems to be directly in point. In this case the presiding Justice
ruled, under a contract between the owner and keeper of the horse,
that the keeper should have a lien on the horse until “she had eaten
herself up,” although used from day to day in the laundry business,
that the temporary relinquishment of custody for the purpose of
use, did not defeat the lienor’s right against a mortgage. But the
court held otherwise, stating that permission to the mortgagor to
take the horse into his possession and use it as he pleased in carrying
on his business “as againt the plaintiff having rights under his duly
recorded mortgage was such a relinquishment of possession as
extinguished and discharged the previously existing lien. The
mortgage then became prior in right and the incumbrance created
by it continued without interruption, disturbance or discharge from
and after the time when this lien was lost ; and the mortgagee thereby
acquired a paramount right and title to the property.”

Upon April 18th, as before stated, the plaintiff had knowledge
that the horses in which he held title under his mortgage were being
boarded at the defendant’s stable from which his consent that they
might be so boarded might be properly implied. But when the
plaintiff demanded the horses under his mortgage just prior to
July 20, the date of his writ, upon inquiry as to the amount due,
the defendant claimed not only the amount due for keeping the
horses subsequent to April 18th, when the plaintiff may be regarded
as having consented to their being kept by the defendant, but also
the full amount due for keeping prior to that date and refused to
accept any less sum.

As before determined, it appears that the plaintiff could not be
held for the sum demanded for keeping the horses prior to April
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18th. The defendant refused to deliver the horses to the plaintiff
on demand unless he paid this sum. The plaintiff was, therefore,
excused from making any tender of the amount which might have
been due subsequent to April 18th before serving his writ. Bowden
v. Dougan, 91 Maine, 141. The plaintiff, accordingly, having title
in the horses, had a right to their custody without further ceremony.
Judgment for the plaintiff,

VersoNn D. Coomss vs. James E. Hocan, Excutor.
Cumberland. Opinion October 21, 1915.

Agent. Defendant. Executor. Writ.

1. An executor, in an action against him, is a defendant.

2. The estate is in the hands of the executor and he is the only person
against whom an action is authorized, or can be instituted for a claim
against the decedent.

3. The executor and the person named as executor are always one and the
same.

On report upon an agreed statement of facts. Case remanded to
nisi for trial.

This is an action of assumpsit on an account annexed to recover
for board of Hannah B. Hogan, of Bath, in county of Sagadahoc,
during her lifetime. The defendant appeared specially on the first
day of January Term, 1915, and filed a motion to quash. The case
was reported to the Law Court upon an agreed statement of the
parties the Law Court to determine whether the motion to quash
shall be sustained or denied. If sustained, the writ is to be quashed
and the action dismissed. If denied, the action is to be remanded
to the trial court and to stand for trial with costs to the prevailing
party.

The case is stated in the opinion.

William A. Connellan, for plaintiff.

William T. Hall, Jr., and Frederic J. Laughlin, for defendant.
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SITTING: Savack, C. J., Spear, King, Birp, HaLey, Hanson, JJ.
{

SPEAR, J. As appears by the agreed statement,‘I this is an action
on an account annexed brought by Verson D. Coombs against the
goods and estate of Hannah B. Hogan, late of Bath, in the county of
Sagadahoc. _

As appears by the writ, the officer was directed to “attach the
goods and estate which were of Hannah B. Hogan, late of Bath in
the county of Sagadahoc and State of Maine, deceased, in the pos-
session of James E. Hogan, of said Bath, executor of the last will
and estate of said Hannah B. Hogan, to the value of one thousand
dollars, and summon the said defendant in his said capacity as
executor.”

A special appearance in this action was entered by attorneys for
the executor of the last will and testament of Hannah B. Hogan,
who, as it also appears by the agreed statement, is James E. Hogan,
of Portsmouth, in the state of New Hampshire.

The first question at issue, under the agreed statement, is whether
any defendant is named in the writ. We are unable to discover
any good reason why there is not. A reading of the declaration
does not leave the least doubt upon the mind, that the plaintiff has
sued the executor of the estate for a bill due from the estate to the
plaintiff. No misunderstanding regarding this question seems pos-
sible. The objection therefore to the form of the pleading is purely
technical and, if sustained, it must be for want of statutory require-
ment in the pleadings. Does the writ, then, omit any word which
the statute requires to give it validity? It is conceded by the
defendant that the statute prescribes no special form of action, but
cites the civil officer as containing a form usually employed. While
this form is undoubtedly correct and to be approved, it nevertheless
has not the legal merit of being the only form. Any other form,
embracing all the legal requirements, would do equally as good. The
statute simply provides that an executor may be sued, but prescribes
no form of action.

The first inquiry to be made is, is an executor, in an action against
him, a defendant? An affirmative answer is irresistable. The
decedent, whom he represents, is beyond the jurisdiction of the
court. The estate is in the hands of the executor. He is the only
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person against whom an action is authorized or can be instituted
for a claim against the decedent. The officer is directed to attach
the goods and estate, not of the executor, as his property is not
liable; but of the decedent, which has come into his hands as execu-
tor. In other words, the executor is the only person under the law
against whom an action can be brought, and accordingly he is the
defendant, and the only defendant, who can be named in a case of
this kind. There is no myth about the term, executor. It always
meant some individual who has the legal administration of an estate
under a will. Where only one executor is named, he alone is the
only individual who can represent the estate; who can sue and be
sued. In such case the executor, and the person named as executor,
are always one and the same. Hence it follows as a corollary, if the
executor is a defendant, the person named as executor is the same
defendant.

If we apply this reasoning to the case at bar, it reveals a writ
whose form will meet the requirements of the law. We have shown
in this case that the executor is the defendant; that James E.
Hogan is the executor; hence James E. Hogan is the defendant.
It necessarily follows that “the said defendant in his said capacity
as executor” referred directly to James E. Hogan, and meant him
and nobody else, as there is nobody else to whom it could refer. We
have no doubt that James E. Hogan is properly named as defendant,
and that all legal processes may be issued accordingly. Under this
interpretation, all the argument relating to an amendment becomes
immaterial.

The second question raised by the defendant is without merit.
The writ named the executor as of Bath, Maine, when, as a matter
of fact he resided in Portsmouth, N. H. Wm. T. Hall was his
agent in Maine. The writ was duly served upon Wm. T. Hall as
agent, and is clearly amendable under the liberal rule now found in
the statute, as construed by the court. In accordance with the
stipulation,

Case remanded to nisi for trial.
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M. WaLter ToBey ws. JamEs R. B. DINSMORE.
Kennebec. Opinion October 21, 1915.

Possession. Title. Trespass.

In an action of trespass quare clausum, when the defendant pleaded title in
himself,

Held:

1. That plaintiff must rely on the strength of his own title.

2. The defendant, not proving any title in himself, possession of the locus
by plaintiff at time of trespass will sustain an action against a mere
trespasser.

On exceptions by defendant. Exceptions overruled.

This is an action of trespass quare clausum against James R. B.
Dinsmore, defendant, for entering the plaintiff’s land, situate in
China, Maine, and cutting certain wood thereon. Plea, general
issue with brief statement claiming title to the land described and
denying that plaintiff had any title thereto. The case was tried
before a single Justice, who found in favor of plaintiff. To this
finding, the defendant took exceptions.

The case is stated in the opinion.

Harvey D. Eaton, for plaintiff.

Williamson, Burleigh & McLean, for defendant.

Srrring: Savack, C. J., Spear, King, Birp, HaLey, Hanson, JJ.

SpEAR, J. This is an action of trespass quare clausum, and turns
upon the inquiry, whether the plaintiff proved any title to the locus,
or, in the last analysis, possession at the time of the alleged trespass,
as the defendant pleaded title in himself. ' ‘

It is a familiar rule that, under this plea, the plaintiff must rely
upon the strength of his own title. The case was tried before a
single Justice who found in favor of the plaintiff. To this finding
the defendant takes exceptions upon the only ground open to him.



Me.] TOBEY . DINSMORE. 127

that it was a necessary inference of law, from the evidence, that the
plaintiff had shown neither title nor possession. At the outset it
may be said the defendant proved no title in himself. It therefore
comes to the inquiry whether there was any evidence, upon which
the sitting Justice was authorized to find either title or possession
in the plaintiff. We think there was. While the description of the
locus in the deed does not correspond with that in the declaration,
it yet appears that the plaintiff bought what he knew and what was
known as the Briggs’ lot. He says: ‘“When I bought the heirs out
I was to have exactly what my father hads” A. It is the Briggs’
lot.  This plaintiff, as it seems, was perfectly familiar with these
premises, as his father had owned them. But it is unnecessary to
decide whether he proved title by his deed. It is quite clear that his
understanding, that his deed had conveyed to him the locus, the
Briggs place, coupled with the further facts, as testified to by the
defendant, that the plaintiff “has cut several years, three or four
years past on and off” and that he had “about 150 trees, mostly
pine, and about 300 to 500 hard wood trees” warranted the inference
that the plaintiff was in possession of the locus claimed by him at
the time of the alleged trespass. Such inference being warranted
the exceptions cannot prevail. Possession will sustain an action
against a mere trespasser.
Exceptions overruled.
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CHARLES A. PLUMMER
s.
InsuraNcE CoMPANY OF NORTH AMERICA.

Cumberland. Opinion November 8, 1915.

Marine Insurance Policy. Premiuam. Rider. Seaworthiness.

Waiver. Warranty.

This action of assumpsit is brought upon a policy of marine insurance,

whereby the steam yacht Navis of plaintiff was insured by defendant
for the period of one year from the date of the policy, for the recovery
of the loss or damage suffered by plaintiff by reason of the yacht filling
with water while moored in the harbor of Portland, on the nineteenth
day of June, 1909. The policy was issued by defendant on the twentieth
day of October, 1908. On this day the plaintiff was sole owner of
the yacht, which was then lying in the Port of Portland, and continued
to be its sole owner until after the filling of the yacht on the day
stated. To the policy was attached a rider at the end of which it is
provided that “the terms and conditions of this form are to be regarded
as substituted for those of the policy to which it is attached; the
latter being hereby waived.”

Held:

I.

Where a “rider” is attached to a policy of marine insurance in the
usual printed form which, being executed by the insurer, contains
merely the name of the person and vessel insured and the amount of
insurance, and the rider provides that the terms and conditions of the
rider are to be substituted for those of the policy and that the latter are
waived, the terms and conditions of the rider constitute the contract.

Excepting where the vessel is at sea at the inception of the risk, there

2.

3.

is an implied warranty of seaworthiness in time policies of marine
insurance.

The technical warranty of seaworthiness is satisfied, as a condition
precedent,\ if at the inception of the risk the vessel be staunch, strong,
tight and properly equipped and provided to meet the ordinary perils
of the adventure in contemplation.

Whether a policy be for a voyage or period of time, the construction
of the warranty of seaworthiness is the same as to compliance being a
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condition precedent at the outset, and as to non-compliance at inter-
mediate stages of the risk.

4. Where the policy has once attached the obligation: still rests upon the
assured to keep the vessel seaworthy, if practicable, so far as it
depends upon himself.

5. The obligation of the assured, after the policy has once attached, to
make his vessel seaworthy, as far as practicable, at each stage of the
voyage, is not a techmical warranty, the breach of which will wholly
terminate the policy, but merely a duty, the failure of which will
discharge the underwriter from any loss arising from such want of
repair,

6. Where a policy has once attached and the risk is entire, there can be
no recovery of the premium paid in the event that the insurer is found
not liable on the policy.

On report. judgment for defendant.

This is an action of assumpsit on a policy of marine insurance
issued by the defendant to plaintiff on the 2oth day of October,
A. D. 1908, in which it insured the steam yacht Navis against cer-
tain perils therein stipulated, for the period of one year. The plain-
tiff, at time of the issuance of said policy and at time of damage
thereto, was the sole owner of said steam yacht and said policy was
in full force. To this policy was attached a so called rider, the
terms and conditions of which are to be regarded as substituted for
those of the policy to which it is attached, the latter being thereby
waived. The yacht, by the terms of the policy, was to be laid up
from November 1 to May 1 following, without return of premiums
during the period.

Plea, the general issue and brief statement. At the conclusion of
the evidence, the case was reported to the Law Court, and upon
the evidence so far as competent and admissible, to render such
judgment as law and justice require; and if judgment is for the
plaintiff, the action is to be referred to the Honorable George E.
Bird to assess the damages.

The case is stated in the opinion.

Guy H. Sturgis, Gurney, Sturgis & Chaplin, and Connellan &
Connellan, for plaintiff.

Blodgett, Jones, Burnham & Binghawm, and Benjamin Thompson,
for defendant.

SItTING: SaAvacg, C. J., SpEAR, CornisH, KiNG, Birp, PHILBROOK,

JJ.

VOL. CXIV 9
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Birp, J. This action of assumpsit is brought upon a policy of
marine insurance, whereby the steam yacht Navis of plaintiff was
insured by defendant for the period of one year from the date of
the policy, for the recovery of the loss or damage suffered by plain- -
tiff by reason of the yacht filling with water while moored in the
harbor of Portland, on the nineteenth day of June, 19o9. The
policy was issued by defendant on the twentieth day of October,
1go8. On this day the plaintiff was sole owner of the yacht which
was then lying in the port of Portland and continued to be its sole
owner until after the filling of the yacht on the day stated. To the
policy was attached a rider at the end of which it is provided that
“the terms and conditions of this form are to be regarded as sub-
stituted for those of the policy to which it is attached; the latter
being hereby waived.”

The case is reported to this court upon evidence and admissions,
so far as the same are competent and admissible, such judgment
to be rendered as law and justice require ; the damages, if judgment
be for plaintiff, to be assessed by a referee.

It is agreed or admitted “that the above policy was in full force
and effect at the time said yacht filled, as set out in the plaintiff’s
writ and declaration; and for the better understanding of the con-
tract, the original policy may be produced at the argument by either
party.

“The premium provided for in said policy was duly paid by the
plaintiff to the defendant, and said yacht was at all times confined
to the waters stipulated therein; and from November, 1908, to May
1, 1909, she was laid up and out of commission.

“In the fall of 1908, when said yacht went out of commission,
she was put on a cradle and hauled up into the yard of Joseph T.
Davidson, a yacht-builder, on the South Portland side of Portland
Harbor, and then certain of her furnishings were removed, and the
yacht was covered up for the winter; and she so remained until
some time early in June, 1909, when the plaintiff gave said Davidson
orders to do certain work upon the yacht, and then launch her and
tow her to the plaintiff’s mooring, which was located nearly abreast
of Union Wharf on the South Portland side of Portland Harbor,
which is the inner or upper part of Portland Harbor, and the gen-
eral location for the anchorage of yachts and small boats.
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“The yacht was launched by Davidson in the evening of June
16th, and towed to the plaintiff’s mooring, where she remained until
the morning of June 1gth, when she was observed to be partially
full of water.

“The weather between the time of the launching on the evening
of June 16th, and the morning of June 1gth was ordinary summer
weather, and the water at the place where the yacht was moored
was smooth ; and during that time the yacht’s machinery, and piping,
were not connected up, but remained just as they were on the
evening of June 16th, when she was launched. The yacht while
lying at the plaintiff’s mooring did not have any one on board, and
she did not have any pump aboard that could be used in pumping
her out; and no efforts were made to pump her out after she was
placed at the mooring until the morning of June 19th, when she
was pumped out by the steam-tug Startle.

“In consequence of the filling, the plaintiff suffered damage far
in excess of the sum of $25.00 mentioned in the policy, and he gave
prompt notice to the defendant company of the filling of said yacht,
and the damages thereby occasioned, but the defendant immediately
denied all liability for the loss and damage thus sustained.”

The terms and conditions of the contract of the parties must be
drawn from the rider which, by the terms of the latter, was sub-
stituted for the policy. The rider and it alone became the contract.
New York etc., Co. v. Aetna Ins. Co., 204 Fed., 2535, 257 and cases
cited.

Ordinarily seaworthiness at the inception of a risk is presumed,
but where a vessel without being subjected to any stress of weather,
or to any unusual buffeting of the seas or other extraordinary peril
founders the burden of showing seaworthiness is cast upon the
assured; Treat v. Un. Ins. Co., 56 Maine, 231; Dodge v. Ins. Co.,
85 Maine, 215; Hutchins v. Ford, 82 Maine, 363, 370; Starbuck v.
Ins. Co., 54 N. Y. Supp., 203. It is, however, unnecessary to con-
sider in this case where the burden lies or whether the plaintiff has
met the burden, since it is apparent that there is no serious question
between the parties that the taking of water by the yacht, while at
her moorings and in smooth water, followed to a failure to close a
sea cock or sea cocks, the inboard and outboard ends of which were
below the water line and which had been opened when the vessel
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was laid up the preceding fall, when the plaintiff and Davidson
entered into the verbal arrangement for the hauling out of the
yacht in the fall and her launching in the following spring.

It is undoubtedly the law of England that in time policies of
marine insurance there is no implied warranty whatever of sea-
worthiness. Gilson v. Small, 4 H. 1.. C., (1853) 353; Thompson
v. Hopper, 6 El. & Bl, (1856) 172, 177; Fawcus v. Sarsfield, 6 El
& Bl, (1856) 192; Dudgeon v. Pembroke, App. Cases, 1876-7,
284.- In the United States the great weight of authority is to the
effect that, except in cases when at the inception of the risk the
vessel is at sea, there is an implied warranty of seaworthiness in
time policies. Capen v. Washington Mut. Ins. Co., 12 Cush., (1853)
517; Rouse v. Ins. Co., 3 Wall Tr., (1862) Fed. Cas. No. 12,089;
Hoxie v. Home Ins. Co., 32 Conn., (1864) 21; American Ins. Co.
v. Ogden, 20 Wend., (1838) 287; see also Pope v. Swiss Lloyd Ins.
Co., 4 Ind., 153, 154. See, however, Merchants’ Ins. Co. v. Mor-
rison, 62 Ill., 242, 93 Am. Rep., 93.

The technical warranty of seaworthiness is satisfied as a condition
precedent, if at the inception of the risk the vessel be staunch, strong,
tight and properly equipped and provided to meet the ordinary
perils of the adventure in contemplation. The Edwin I. Morrison,
153, U. S, 199, 210; The Caledonia, 157 U. S., 124, 134; The
Irawaddy, 171 U. S, 187, 190; The Southwark, 191 U. S, 1, 5-6;
Hoxie v. Pac. Mut. Ins. Co., 7 Allen, 211, 224; The Silvia, 171
U. S, 462, 464.

Speaking of the implied warranty of seaworthiness, it is said in
The Caledonia, 157 U. S., 124, 134; “As the same warranty implied
in respect of policies of insurance exists in respect of contracts of
affreightment, that warranty is necessarily as absolute in the one
instance as in the other.

“In Putnam v. Wood, 3 Mass.;, 481, 485, the Supreme Court of
Massachusetts, speaking through Parker, J., said: ‘It is the duty
of the owner of a ship, when he charters her or puts her up for
freight, to see that she is in a suitable condition to transport her
cargo in safety; and he is to keep her in that condition, unless
prevented by the perils of the sea or unavoidable accident. If the
goods are lost by reason of any defect in the vessel, whether latent
or visible, known or unknown, the owner is answerable to the
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freighter, upon the principle that he tacitly contracts that his vessel
shall be fit for the use for which he thus employs her. This prin-
ciple governs, not only in charter parties and in policies of insur-
ance; but it is equally applicable in contracts of affreightment.’”

And upon the same subject, Mr. Phillips declares, “Whether a
policy is for a voyage or period of time, the construction of this
warranty is the same as to compliance being a condition precedent
at the outset, and as to non compliance at intermediate stages of
the risk.” I Phil. Ins. (4th Ed.) § 729 (See also Dixon v. Sadler,
s M. & W., (1839) 405, 415; Sadler v. Dixon, 8 1d., (1841) 894,
898; Copeland v. N. E. Mar. Ins. Co., 2 Met., 438, 444) ; 11 Arn.
Ins. (11th Ed.) § 695. “After the policy has once attached, a com-
pliance with this warranty ceases to be a condition precedent to the
Hability of- the insurers for any loss.” I Phil. Ins. § 730. “The
obligation still rests upon the assured to keep the vessel seaworthy
if it be practicable, so far as it depends on himself.” Id. § 731;
see also Morse v. Ins. Co., 122 Fed., 748, 749. And it is laid down
bv Emerigon, “It is then certain that the insurers never answer
for damages and losses which happen directly through the act or
fault of the assured himself. It would be, in fact, intolerable that
the assured should be indemnified by others for a loss of which he
is the author. This rule is grounded upon first principles. It is
applied to the contract of insurance by the Guidon and is respected
in all our books. S% casus evenit culpa assecurati, non tenmentur
essecuratores.” Emer. Ins. (Meredith, Am. Ed.) 29o0.

It has been held by this court that if the owner himself was not
guilty of carelessness, the negligence of his servants will not deprive
him of the benefit of his insurance. Hagar v. N. E. M. M. Ins. Co.,
59 Maine, 460, 463. This was an action upon a time policy under
which the loss occurred some months after the policy must have
attached. The loss was claimed to have occurred through the neg-
ligence of the master in the navigation of the vessel, and Copeland
v. Ins. Co., 2 Met., 432 is relied upon. It is, however, not necessary
in this case to discuss the limitations stated in the case of Hagar
v. Ins. Co., supra. See Copeland v. Ins. Co., supra at pages 443,
444 ; Morse v. Ins. Co., supra.

As to the nature and effect of this obligation it was said obiter
in Paddock v. Franklin Ins. Co., 11 Pick, (1831) 227, 234, “it
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would seem to be more consistent with the nature of the contract,
the intent of the parties, and the purposes of justice and policy, to
hold that after the policy has once attached, the implied warranty
should be so construed, as to exempt the underwriter from all loss
or damage, which did or might proceed from any cause, thus war-
ranted against; but to hold him still responsible for those losses
which by no possibility could be occasioned by peril increased or
affected by the breach of such implied warranty.”

In Capen v. Washington Ins. Co., 12 Cush., (1853) 517, 540,
after citing Paddock v. Franklin Ins. Co., supra, it is said “The
rule there suggested was that it was the duty of the assured, after
the policy had once attached, to make his vessel seaworthy, that is,
tight, staunch and strong, as far as practicable, at each stage of
the voyage; but that such duty was not a technical warranty, the
breach of which would wholly terminate the policy; but merely a
duty, the failure of which would dicharge the underwriter from
any loss arising from such want of repair. But that opinion not
being necessary to the decision of that case, was left open to future
consideration. The court are now of opinion that this view was
correct, and that it is strictly applicable to the present case.” See
also Amer. Ins. Co. v. Ogden, 20 Wend., (1838) 287, 294-296.

It may be noted that in England even in voyage policies the
implied warranty of seaworthiness is satisfied if the vessel be sea-
worthy at the commencement of the risk and negligence of the
assured is no defence unless so gross as to amount substantially
to fraud, or in other words unless the assured knowingly, wilfully
and wrongfully committed acts whereby the loss be occasioned.

The plaintiff contends that under his verbal contract with David-
son in the fall of 1908, the latter was not only to make repairs and
launch the yacht in the spring but also make her tight, staunch
and seaworthy. This undertaking between the plaintiff and David-
son was considered by the District Court of the United States for
the District of Maine upon a libel of the latter brought to recover
his agreed compensation. That court found that the contract did
not obligate Davidson to make the yacht tight, staunch and sea-
worthy. The Navis, (Hale, J.) 196 Fed., 806. We see no reason
upon the evidence in this case to differ from the conclusion reached
by the learned Judge of the District Court.
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The only other agent employed by plaintiff to do any work upon
the yacht prior to her launching in the spring of 19og was one Lyon,
There is no claim on the part of plaintiff that he was ordered to do
more than he actually did—connect the keel condenser which he
did from the outside of the hull.

The issue therefore is resolved into the inquiry whether the plain-
tiff did or did not perform his duty “to make his vessel seaworthy,
that is tight, staunch and strong as far as practicable.” Capen v.
Washington Ins. Co., supra.

The plaintiff was at the date of the issuance of the policy and
since has been a resident of Portland. At the time he ordered that
the yacht be launched by Davidson, he intended to go to Sebago
lake for a vacation and did go the day before the yacht was
launched. It is apparent that he was anxious to get away upon his
vacation as early as possible. It is in evidence that in the fall of
1906 he contracted with one Griffin to lay up the same vessel during
the winter of 19o6-7 and that in the fall of 1906 and the spring of
1907 he personally directed an engineer to prepare the boat for
laying up and for launching by making in the spring and fall
respectively all the necessary disconnections and connections within,
In the fall of 1907 she was not laid up. In the fall of 1908 after
the yacht was hauled out at the yard of Davidson, plaintiff directed
an engineer to make the necessary disconnection. When the boat
was about to be launched in June, 1909, plaintiff informed David-
son .that it was not his intention to place the yacht in commission
but might allow her to lie at her moorings for an extended period.
The fact that the sea cocks were open was readily discerned by
inspection within the yacht and the devices for closing them were
conveniently at hand.

We conclude that in his anxiety to leave Portland and from the
fact that he did not intend to put his yacht in commission as before,
he carelessly assumed that the sea cocks would be closed by David-
son contrary to the usual practice; that he was negligent in causing
no examination and test of the boat’s appliances to be made either
before, or at once after, launching and such not being made, to
have an anchor watch or caretaker on board until, at least, it was
found she was in seaworthy condition. See The Elwin I. Morrison,
133 U. S,, 199, 215; The Caledonia, 157 U. S., 124, 134 ; The South-
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wark, 101 U. S, 1, 13, 15-16. Cleveland & B. Transit Co. v. Ins.
Co. of North America, 115 Fed., 431, 434, 436; II May on Ins,,
(3rd Ed.) § 411A and note 3; Hager v. N. E. Mut. Mar. Ins. Co.,
58 Maine, 460, 463; The Giulia, 218 Fed., 744, 748; The Dun-
britton, 73 Fed., 352, 366 ; see also Canton Ins. Office v. Independent
Transp. Co., 217 Fed., 213, 216-7. See also Dupeyre v. Western
M. & F. Ins. Co., 2 Rob. La., 457; 38 Am. Dec., 218. In case of
temporary unseaworthiness imputable to the assured, whereby the
perils insured against are generally affected, it has been stated, that
the risk is suspended and revives on the navigability of the vessel
being restored. I Phil. Ins. § 734. See however McLanahan v.
Universal Ins. C., 1 Pet. 170, 184; Quebec Mar. Ins. Co. v. Com-
mercial Bank of Canada, L. R. 3 P. C., 234, 243-4.

It is unnecessary, however, for the purposes of this case to adopt
this rule of Mr. Phillips. The result of such lack of care on the
part of the insured is, as we have seen, to relieve the insurers from
any liability for a loss which is the consequence of such want of
prudence or diligence. See Copeland v. N. E. Mar. Ins. Co., 2 Met.,
at page 439; see also Union Ins. Co. v. Smith, 124, U. S., 405, 427.
We must, therefore, regard the actual cause of the loss to have
been the unseaworthy condition of the vessel insured, for which
the assured is responsible. Gen. Mut. Ins. Co.v. Sherwood, 14 How.
351, 366; The Titania, 19 Fed., 101, 104. )

We do not understand that the plaintiff seeks, in the event that
defendant is not found liable on the policy, to recover back the
premium paid defendant, either in whole or in part, as suggested
may be the case by plaintiff. We need only state that where the
policy has once attached, (it is admitted that the policy was in full
force and effect at the time the yacht filled) and the risk is entire,
there can be no such recovery. Taylor v. Lowell, 3 Mass., 331, 343,

344.
Judgment for defendant.
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ALBERT THERRIAULT, pro ami, vs. WILLIAM BRrETON, et al.
ExrNEST DRAPEAU, pro ami, vs. WiLLiaAM BRreToN, et als.
Androscoggin.  Opinion November 17, 1915.

Arrested.  Complaint.  Discharged.  Exceptions.  False Imprisonment.
Guardians. Minors. Police Officers. Waiver.

In an action for false imprisonment of two minors who were discharged
without taking them before the court, upon signing a release to the
officers, with the knowledge and consent of the parents,

Held:

1. The parent is the legal custodian of the minor children and is entitled
to their custody.

2. So far as the boys are concerned, if they or their parents solicited
their release, and it was done with their full knowledge and consent,
theny the officers can justify.

3. Unless the officers either take the boys into court to be discharged
there, if necessary, or have let the boys go at their own request or the
request of their parents, with their knowledge and consent, then they
cannot justify, but are liable in such case for the original arrest.

4. If the officers had arrested the plaintiffs for a misdemeanor, then it
would have been their duty to have procured a warrant within a reason-
able time for the alleged offense and take them before the court and
place them on trial, and for neglect to do so would have been liable in
damages, unless the plaintiffs released them from that obligation or
they waived their rights to be taken before the court.

s. The law is well settled that an officer may arrest upon reasonable
grounds of suspicion that a felony has been committed and that the
person arrested was guilty of a felony, and hold the party arrested for
a reasonable time until he can procure a warrant to investigate the case,
and if within a reasonable time his investigation shows that there is not
reasonable grounds to believe that the party arrested has committed a
felony, then he may discharge him without taking him before the court
and not be liable,

On exceptions by plaintiff. Exceptions overruled.
These are actions of trespass for false imprisonment against the
defendants, police officers of the city of Lewiston, and Frank
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Martin, Jr., who made the complaint. The plaintiffs, being minors,
at the solicitation of their parents and with their knowledge and
consent, signed a release to said defendants. Plea, the general
issue with brief statements. The verdicts were for plaintiffs in
both cases for nominal amounts. The plaintiffs excepted to the
admission of the release, and to certain instructions by the court.

The case is stated in the opinion.

J. G. Chabot, for plaintiffs.

McGillicuddy & Morey, for defendants.

SITTING: SPEAR, King, Birp, Harey, Hanson, JJ.

HaLey, J. Two actions for false imprisonment of the minor
plaintiffs against two police officers of the city of Lewiston, and
Frank Martin, Jr., who made a complaint to the other defendants,
as police officers of the city of Lewiston, that the plaintiffs had stolen
a pig from his pen, whereupon the plaintiffs were arrested in the
night time by the defendant officers, and the next forenoon the
complainant, claiming that his pig had been put back in the pen,
refused to sign a complaint for a warrant, and the parents of the
boys being present at the marshal’s office, the plaintiffs were dis-
charged after signing the paper introduced in evidence at the trial.
The cases were tried together and the jury returned a verdict for
the plaintiff in both cases and assessed nominal damages. The
plaintiffs bring the cases to this court upon exceptions.

The first exception relates to the discharge of the plaintiffs by
the defendants without bringing them before the court, at their
request and with the consent and knowledge of their parents, as
claimed by defendants. This exception is urged by the plain-
tiffs in their brief as follows: “If these boys, plaintiffs, were for
any cause wrongfully arrested by the defendants, a right of action
accrued in their favor against the party making or causing the arrest
to be made. A right of action is a property right. The parents of
the minors, as natural guardians, had no authority or legal right
to discharge, waive or release any property right of their wards.
The boys being minors could not legally discharge, waive or execute
and give any valid release, binding against themselves.”
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The claim of the plaintiffs is undoubtedly the law, and the court
so ruled, stating, “Well, they may show all the circumstances of the
release. If the release was with the consent of the boys or their
natural guardians it was effective, so far as that part of it goes.
Of course that would not excuse any unlawful arrest in the first
place.” In the charge the jury were instructed: “In the first place,
the boys were minors, and their releases would not be good for
anything, anyway. They would not be barred by them. In the next
place, the parents had no right to release a property right of a
minor child. If it becomes necessary in a case that a property right,
like a right of action at law, should be released, the probate court
should be applied to and a guardian appointed. The guardians
would have full power; but the parents are only the natural guar-
dians and have the custody of the person, education and main-
tenance of the child. But in property matters, they can no more
release a cause of action than they can convey a farm that happens
to stand in the child’s name. So that as barring the action as a set-
tlement the releases are not to be considered.”

The plaintiffs having testified as to what took place at the time
of their release, it was proper for the defendants, as stated by the
court, to “show all the circumstances of the release,” and the
plaintiffs could not, by their version of what took place, prevent
their testimony being given as to the release. The court having
ruled upon the admissibility of the evidence, and instructed the
jury as the plaintiffs claimed the law, there is no merit in this
exception.

The second exception was to the admission of the signed releases
offered by the defendants and signed, in the Terriault case by the
plaintiff’s father only, and in the Drapeau case by the plaintiff and
his mother, which it is claimed released and discharged the officers
from all right of action for the injuries suffered and sustained by
reason of the arrests. They were not admitted as barring the plain-
tiffs’ claims for injuries prior to their release, but as bearing upon
the question whether the plaintiffs were allowed their liberty with
their request or consent? The court instructed the jury: “Now,
<o far as the releases are concerned, I have this to say. I have
admitted them in evidence against objection. They are objection-
able in some features, that is to say, they cannot be weighed for
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all that appears upon them. But for one purpose they are admis-
sible, and that is as evidence that the release of the boys was volun-
tary, that is, the letting go by the officers of the boys was voluntary
and consented to, or on request. In the first place the papers them-
selves contained the expression that it was done at their request;
and the officers say that the purport of the papers was communicated
to the father and mother and perhaps in the presence of the boys,
before the signatures. The father.and mother denied it. But in
any event, so far as these papers were understood by the parties
that signed them, so far as they can be weighed as bearing upon
the question whether the boys were let go at the request of their
parents, or with the knowledge and consent of their parents that
they should go under those circumstances, and not be brought into
court.”

The court having ruled that if the arrests were.unlawful, the
property rights of the plaintiffs were not affected by the releases,
if the jury found that the arrests in the first instance were lawful,
then there was the other branch of the case whether the giving of
the boys their liberty was with their consent, and for that purpose °
of course the releases were admissible for what the jury might
find them worth under the instructions of the court. . But there is a
fatal objection to the exception. The releases are not printed in
the record, and we have no knowledge of their contents except
that one was signed by one of the plaintiffs and his mother, and
the other by the father of the other plaintiff. We have no right
to rule upon the admissibility of evidence that is not printed in the
record, or the substance of it given so that we can intelligently
pass upon its admissibility. The court cannot consider an excep-
tion to the admission or exclusion of a writing unless the writing
is made a part of the bill of exceptions. Of course formal parts
of deeds, executions and duplicates, writings, etc., need not be
printed. An admission by counsel in the bill of exceptions. as
stated in Dyer v. Tilton, 71 Maine, 413, 414, will preserve the rights
of the parties, but this court cannot, by a mere reference to a paper
as a deed, bond, release, or any other writing by it’s common rame,
pass upon its admissibility. As said in Webster v. Folsom, 58
Maine, 233, “Whatever a party expects to have considered as part
of the case, must be copied. We have nothing before us to show
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what the testimony deemed objectionable was. The presumption
ic that the rulings were correct. It is for the excepting party to
show it if they were not so. Counsel cannot present in this court
an objection to the admissibility of testimony by a naked reference
to papers remaining on file in the court below.” We cannot rule,
without an inspection of the releases, whether they were admissible
or not. They are not in the record and therefore this exception
is without merit.

The third and last exception was to an instruction to the jury as
to the effect of a release from arrest of the plaintiffs without taking
them before the court, as contained in the following extract from
the Judge’s charge: “And that brings up the second part of this
case which has been tried here, whether these boys were let go by
the officers under such circumstances as to justify them. They
would be so far as the plaintiffs were concerned, the boys, they
would be justified in letting them go if the boys asked it, or their
parents asked it. Because the parent is the legal custodian of the
boy, and is entitled to his custody. Whether they were doing their
duty to the State would be another proposition. But so far as the
boys are concerned, if the boys or their parents solicited their
release, and it was done with their full knowledge and consent,
irrespective of the releases which were made and which have been
introduced in the case, then the officers can justify. But unless
they have either taken the boys into court to be discharged there,
if necessary, or have let the boys go at their own request, or the
request of their parents, with their knowledge and consent, then
they cannot justify, but are liable in such case for the original
arrest.”

The plaintiffs contend that it was the duty of the officers, hav-
ing arrested the plaintiffs, to take them before the court within a
reasonable time, and that, as they were not taken before the court,
and no warrant procured against them for the offense for which
they were arrested, the officers are liable for the arrests. This
proposition is not sound. If the officers had arrested the plaintiffs
for a misdemeanor, then it would have been their duty to have
procured a warrant within a reasonable time for the alleged offense
and taken them before the court and placed them on trial, and for a
neglect to so do unless the plaintiffs released them from that
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obligation, or they waived their rights to be taken before the court,
the defendants would be liable in damages. But the offense for
which the plaintiffs were arrested was a felony, and the law is
well settled that an officer may arrest upon reasonable grounds of
suspicion that a felony has been committed and that the person
arrested was guilty of the felony, and hold the party arrested for a
reasonable time until he can procure a warrant to investigate the
case, and if, within a reasonble time before he does procure the
warrant, his suspicions vanish, or, in other words, if his investiga-
tion shows that there is not reasonable grounds to believe that
the party arrested has committed a felony, then he may discharge
him without taking him before the court, and not be liable. The
authorities sustaining this proposition are too numerous to mention.
Burke v. Bell, 36 Maine, 317; Palmer v. Maine Central R. R. Co.,
02 Maine, 399. And even if it was the duty of the defendants to
procure warrants and have the plaintiffs taken before the court,
the defendants could waive the performance of that duty, for, as
said in Coffrev v. Drugan, 114 Mass., 294, “If a party is ready to
waive this provision made for his protection, and release any dam-
ages to which he might be entitled if the duty of the officer in
this respect 1s not performed, there is no reason, as between himself
and the officer, why he should not be permitted to do so. It is
obvious that, in many instances, persons arrested thus save them-
selves from a painful and disagreeable exposure of acts which may
even if disorderly and turbulent, were rather those of weakness
and folly than of serious criminality. We therefore are of opinion,
that, if the plaintiff requested or consented to his discharge, intend-
ing thereby to release any damages on account of a failure to make
a complaint, and such agreement was fairly and intelligently made,
he is not entitled to damages on account of such failure; and- that
the jury should have been so instructed.”

In this case, under the instructions of the court, the plaintiffs
lost no rights by the cfficers discharging them without taking them
before the court, for, if the arrests were unlawful in the first
instance, there was no release of their rights. If it was lawful,
up to the time they were released there were no damages, and to
kave continued to hold them in custody, procured a warrant and
taken them before the court for a hearing, after the suspicion of
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the officers that they were guilty had vanished, would have ren-
dered the officers liable for all their acts after their suspicions had
vanished, and surely the plaintiffs cannot recover damages because
the officers did not wrongfully detain them or wrongfully procure
warrants and take them before the court. If the arrests were
unlawful, the defendants had the right to end the unlawful arrests
at any time, and no damages could be recovered for the unlawful
arrests after they had ceased; the damages would be limited to the
injuries sustained by the plaintiffs to the time of their release. As
the instructions excepted to were more favorable to the plaintiffs
than the evidence warranted, they were not injured, and these
exceptions must be overruled. The real grievance of the plaintiffs
is the amount of damages awarded, but that question is not raised
by the exceptions.
Exceptions overruled.

ANNIE C. Loverrr, et al., vs. CrLirrornp WiLsox.
Cumberland. Opinion November 22, 1914.

Breach. Contract. Debt. Forfeiture. Justification.
Life Estate. Sale. Warranty Title. Wil

In an action of debt brought by the vendors against the vendee to recover
the forfeiture stipulated in a written contract for the sale and purchase
of real estate, the plaintiff therein agreeing to convey “by good and
sufficient warranty title;”

Held:

1. That the plaintiffs were bound to furnish a title free from incumbrance.

2. That the plaintiffs’ title was based upon a devise in the will of John
Fred Loveitt to his son, Edwin W. Loveitt, one of the plaintiffs, which
was conditional upon the performance by said Edwin of the terms of a
certain agreement whereby he was bound to suitably support and care
for his father and mother during their life, and at their decease pay all
burial expenses, &c.

3. That this constituted a condition subsequent and the plaintiffs’ estate
was subject to forfeiture for neglect of performance.
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4. That as this condition as to payment of burial expenses both of the
father and mother had not been complied with, the title was not free
from incumbrance and the plaintiff did not offer “a good and sufficient
warranty title.”

On report. Judgment for defendant.

This is an action in a plea of debt upon a written contract for
the sale of land, executed on the 24th day of February, A. D.
1914, to recover from defendant the sum of two hundred dollars
as liquidated damages because of the alleged inability of plaintiffs
{0 convey good title to the land as called for by the contract.

At the conclusion of the hearing, the parties agreeing thereto,
the case was reported to the Law Court at Portland. The writ,
declaration, pleading and copies of vouchers to make the report of
the case as far as admissible.

The case is stated in the opinion.

D. A. Meaher, for plaintiffs.

W. L. Waldron and C. B. Skillin, for defendant.

Srrring:  Savace, C. J., Seear, CornisH, King, Birp, HaLEy,
Hanwson, J7J.

CorNisH, J. Action of debt upon a written contract for the sale
and purchase of real estate, brought by the vendor against the
vendee to recover the sum of two hundred dollars, the stipulated
forfeiture in case of a breach by either party.

The contract was executed on February 24, 1914, and under it,
in consideration of the sum of $2600 to be paid as therein stated,
the plaintiff agreed to sell and convey to the defendant “by good
and sufficient warranty title” certain real estate in South Portland,
“titles to be passed on or before April 15, 1914.”

The defense is two fold,—first, justification because of the
defective condition of the title, and second, non-tender of the deed
within the time specified.

After the contract was made the defendant employed an attorney
to investigate the plaintiffs’ title and he found that it was based
upon the will of John Fred Loveitt, father of Edwin W. Loveitt,
one of the plaintiffs. The first item in the will gave a life estate
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in the premises to Betsey M. Loveitt, the wife of John Fred.
Then followed this provision:

“Second: I give and devise'to my son, Edwin W. Loveitt of
South Portland, who lives with me, the house and land where I
live, at 372 Preble street, South Portland, in consideration of and
in satisfaction of his carrying out a certain agreement made with
me this day that he will at all times during my natural life, and
that of my wife Betsey M. Loveitt and the survivor, well and
sufficiently support and maintain, and clothe and in all respects
suitably care and provide for us and each of us in the home at 372
Freble street, South Portland, and at our decease give us a respect-
able burial and pay the expenses of the same in accordance with
the agreement above named and contract entered into between
myself and the said Edwin W. Loveitt for this purpose.”

John F., the father, died on October 9, 1912, and Betsey M.,
the mother, on January 16th, 1913. Edwin W. was appointed
administrator of his father’s estate with the will annexed on
November 22, 1912, but at the date of these negotiations had filed
no account and apparently had taken no steps toward a settlement
of the estate. The attorney, finding these facts and ascertaining
further that certain of the expenses specified in the devise had not
been paid, reported to the defendant that the title was not clear,
and the Trust Company from which the defendant was to obtain
a mortgage loan refused te make it for the same reason.

Clearly the defendant was justified in declining to complete the
purchase under these circumstances. The plaintiffs were bound
under their agreement to furnish a “good and sufficient warranty
title.” What is the fair construction of that term in this action at
law to recover damages for alleged breach of the contract? It
evidently means a title free from encumbrance. That is the title
which the vendor in this case is bound to convey and nothing
short of that is the vendee bound to accept. Applying this test we
think the defendant had the legal right to refuse the title offered.
The title was not free from encumbrance. It was encumbered by
a condition subsequent and was subject to forfeiture for neglect
of performance. Marwick v. Andrews, 25 Maine, 525; Morse v.
Hayden, 82 Maine, 227. Admittedly, this condition had not been
fully performed. The funeral expenses of the father, who had
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died in 1912, as well as the expenses of the last sickness and funeral
of the mother who died in 1913, had not been paid on April 15,
1914, the agreed date of transfer.

The defendant acted in the utmost good faith. He had employed
a competent attorney to search the records, and the attorney reported
to him the result and informed him that in his opinion the title
was defective. He had applied to a Trust Company for a loan,
and the company on learning the facts had declined to accept the
title as a basis for a mortgage loan. He seasonably notified the
plaintiffs or their agents, but no steps were taken by them to cure
the defects and validate the title. Even when the deed was ten-
dered on May 7, 1914, three weeks after the specified time, the
situation remained unchanged. Had the condition been fulfilled
even then, the defendant says he would have waived the delay and
completed the purchase. But it was not until the following August
that the claims were paid and the cloud removed.

The plaintiffs lay stress upon the fact that the defendant, on
February 27, 1914, three days after the agreement was made, loaned
them two hundred dollars and took a mortgage of these same
premises as security. We fail to see the force of this contention.
It appears that the defendant had at that time made no investigation
of the records whatever, and was assured by the plaintiffs’ agents that
the title was clear. There is a vast difference between taking a
mortgage for the small sum of two hundred dollars, and purchasing
the premises for the sum of two thousand, six hundred dollars. The
risk connected with the former would be small as compared with
that attendant upon the latter. :

We therefore conclude that the plaintiffs did not tender to the
defendant a “good and sufficient warranty title” as they had con-
tracted to do and that this action cannot be maintained.

This view of the case renders unnecessary a consideration of a
non-tender of the deed on or before the specified date, April 15,
1914. The defendant would not have accepted it if tendered, and
lie would not have been obliged to accept it, because of the defective
condition of the title.

Judgment for defendant.
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CorNELIA G. FEsseNDEN ws. HEnNrY E. CoorLipce, Admr.

Androscoggin. Opinion November 22, 1915.

Affidawit, Exceptiops. “For value received.” “Money loaned.”
Promissory Note. Revised Statutes, Chapter 89,
Section 14.

The holder of a promissory note purporting to be for value received against
the estate of the deceased maker, seasonably filed her claim, supported
by affidavit, in the probate court, stating therein that her claim was for
“money loaned by me to William C. Coombs (the maker) as evidenced
by the note hereto annexed.”

In a suit on the note it is held,

1. That the note was admissible in evidence without extraneous proof
that the consideration was for money loaned.

2. That, upon the introduction of the note, no evidence having been
offered by the defendant, a verdict was properly ordered for the plaintiff.

On exceptions by defendant. Exceptions overruled.

This is an action of assumpsit upon a promissory note given by
‘William C. Coombs, the defendant’s intestate, to the plaintiff. The
plaintiff filed in probate court proof of his claim as provided by
statute. Plea, general issue with specifications. The affidavit recited
that the claim was for “money loaned” and was evidenced by the
note. The plaintiff offered the note with proof of claim and affidavit,
which was admitted, and the defendant objected to their introduc-
tion. Defendant offered no proof and the presiding Justice directed
a verdict for plaintiff. To these rulings, defendant excepted.

The case is stated in the opinion.

R. W. Crocket, for plaintiff.

Oakes, Pulsifer & Ludden, for defendant.

StrTiNGg: Savacg, C. J., Spear, King, Biro, HaLEY, HaNsoN, JJ.

. Savacge, C. J. Assumpsit on a promissory note signed by the
defendant’s intestate, William C. Coombs. The plaintiff seasonably
filed her claim, supported by her affidavit, in probate court as pro-
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vided by statute, R. S., ch. 89, sect. 14. Her claim was stated to
be for “money loaned by me to William C. Coombs and evidenced
by the note hereto annexed and marked Exhibit A.” etc

At the trial, the plaintiff was permitted to introduce the claim
filed in the probate court, with the note attached. The defendant
objected to the introduction of the note without extraneous proof
that the consideration was “money loaned” as stated in the claim
filed. The plaintiff rested, without offering proof of that fact. The
note purported to be given “for value received.”

The defendant offered no evidence, but requested the Justice
presiding to instruct the jury “that on the proof filed in probate
court and offered, the plaintiff cannot recover without proof that
the consideration was for money loaned and not for any other con-
sideration, and that the production of the note alone is not suffi-
icent proof of the fact.” This requested instruction was refused
and a verdict was directed for the plaintiff. To the rulings excep-
tions were taken.

The words “for value received” in a promissory note import a
valuable consideration. Browne v. Ward, 51 Maine, 191. But they
do not import a valuable consideration of any particular kind. They
are evidence prima facie of a valuable consideration of some kind.
The single question then is whether, having stated in her claim filed
in probate court that the claim was for “money loaned as evidenced
by a note,” etc., the burden was on the plaintiff to show in the first
instance, or even at all, that the consideration for the note was
money loaned, or whether the introduction of the note, it being
stated therein that it was given “for value received,” made out a
prima facie case for the plaintiff. In other words, having stated the
claim to be for “money loaned,” must the plaintiff prove that par-
ticular consideration, or will evidence of any valuable consideration
sustain the actions.

The statute merely requires the claimant to present in writing, or
file his “claim.” It does not require him to state the particulars of
the claim, further than he would in a declaration in a writ. Hurley
v. Farnsworth, 107 Maine, 306. He need not state the consideration.
The statute does not contemplate that the claimant must in the claim
filed advise the administrator as to these things. If it be an account,
the claimant may file it. If it be a note, he may file it, or a copy of
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it, or without doing either, he may definitely describe it. If this
plaintiff had filed this note, or had filed an accurate description of
its date, tenor, amount, and so forth, it would have been a com-
pliance with the statute. The claim filed was for “money loaned as
evidenced by a note.” An exactly equivalent statement would have
been “a note for money loaned.” But in either case the note was
the claim. It was the form into which the decedent had put his
indebtedness. It was the claim to be sued; it was the claim to be
paid. If the plaintiff in her claim as filed had omitted the unneces-
sary reference to the consideration, at the trial her case would have
been made out prima facie by offering the note which puported to
be “for value received.” Having stated in the claim filed more than
the statute required, is the burden on the plaintiff to prove the unnec-
essary matter? We think not.

This is not a question of pleading, in which the rule probata
secundum allegata holds. The plaintiff held a note against the
estate. As a condition precedent to the right to bring suit on that
note the statute required her to present or file her claim on the note.
She did so. Had she misdescribed the note, it might have been fatal.
But an unnecessary, or even erroneous, statement of the circum-
stances out of which the claim arose should not be regarded as fatal.
It certainly should not be so held unless it be shown that the admin-
istrator was misled thereby to his injury, and that an equitable
estoppel was created. The decedent gave a note. Over his signature
he said it was for “value received.” The administrator had the stat-
utory notice of the note, which is the claim. We see no good reason
why the proof of these elements did not make out a prima facie
right to recovery. If there were any defences, it was open to the
administrator to make them.

Exceptions overruled.
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SamueL M. BowpEN, in Equity, vs. YORK SHORE WATER COMPANY.
York. Opinion November 22, 1915.

Bill in Equity. Condemnation proceedings. Easement. Eminent Domain.
Fee. Injunction. Private and Special Laws of
1911, Chapter 256. Vested Interest.

1. A public service corporation may be authorized to take lands by the
power of eminent domain, for public purposes but it cannot so take
them for private purposes.

2. To protect the water shed of a pond from which a water company
takes its water, so as to protect the purity and conserve the quantity of
the water, is a public use. '

3. To protect the timber growing on the lands of a water company from
possible ravages of fire is a private use, unless the purity and quantity
of the company’s water supply is thereby protected; and being a private
use, the taking of other timber lands, from which a fire might spread,
is not authorized.

4. The Legislature is the sole judge of the exigency or necessity for the
exercise of the power of eminent domain.

5. Whether the uses for which land is attempted to be taken by the
power of eminent domain are public, or are private, is a judicial ques-

tion.

6. Whether a taking by the power of eminent domain has been in good
faith for a public use, or whether it is but a guise for an intended private
use, is a judicial question.

7. It appearing that the real purpose of a water company in undertaking’
to acquire, by the power of eminent domain, a timber lot, a mile distant
from the crest of the water shed of its water supply, was to protect
from the danger of fire its own timber growing on the intervening terri-
tory and on its land adjacent to the foot of its pond; it is held that the
attempted taking was invalid.

8. The owner of land against which eminent domain proceedings have
been commenced may test the validity of the taking, although he did
not become owner until after the notice of taking had been filed in the
office of the county commissioners, in accordance with the statute,

On report. Bill sustained with costs. Writ of permanent injunc-
tion to issue.
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This is a bill in equity brought by Samuel M. Bowden against the
York Shore Water Company, a' corporation, asking for an injunc-
tion against said York Shore Water Company restraining it and its
successors, assigns, attorneys, agents and officers from taking said
real estate of said plaintiff, as in said bill set forth, etc.

Answer and replication were respectively filed. At the conclusion
of the evidence in this cause, the same was reported to the Law
Court, to be determined upon so much of the foregoing evidence as
is admissible, the Law Court to order such decree as justice and
equity require.

The case is stated in the opinion.

E. P. Spinney, for plaintiff.

Leroy Haley and Ralph W. Hawkes, for defendant.

SITTING: Savack, C. J., Spear, CorNisH, King, Birp, Hanson,
PHILBROOK, ]JJ.

SAvaGe, C. J. - Bill in equity praying for an injunction to stay
condemnation proceedings by which the defendant is attempting to
take the plaintiff’s land by an exercise of the power of emment
domain. The case comes up on report.

The defendant is a water company chartered by the Leglslature
for the purpose “of supplying the towns of York and Wells, or any
part thereof, or residents therein, with pure water for domestic,
manufacturing and municipal purposes.” For these purposes, the
corporation is authorized by its charter (Private and Special Laws
of 1911, ch. 256) “to take, hold, protect and use the water of Chase’s
pond in the town of York, and of all other ponds and streams
tributary thereto, or running therefrom,” and, to “take and hold
by purchase or otherwise any lands or other real estate necessary
for any of the purposes aforesaid, and for the protection of its water
1nains and pipes and the water shed of said Chase’s pond.” The
defendant takes its water from Chase’s pond, which is one and one-
third miles long, and it has acquired the ownership of some land
within its watershed. The plaintiff owns a heavily timbered tract
of land lying one and one-fifth miles easterly from Chase’s -pond.
The tract contains one hundred and four acres. The deed -to the
plaintiff bears date March 8, 1913, and was executed on that day.
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But it was not delivered to the plaintiff until March 17. In the
meantime, on March 12, the defendant filed in the office of the
county commissioners, in accordance with statute, R. S., ch. g6, sect.
11, a notice of taking the land with plan and description of the same.
It is alleged in the bill and admitted by the answer that in the notice
the defendant stated that “it finds it necessary for its purposes and
uses in the protection of the water of Chase’s pond in said town of
York to take certain land within said town of York, and being duly
authorized by law to take such land whenever it is necessary for
its purposes and uses. Therefore said York Shore Water Company
has taken and does hereby take” certain described land, which is
the land in question. The filing of the notice was a taking of the
land for the purpose described therein. Penobscot Log Driving Co.
v. West Branch D. & R. D. Co., 99 Maine, 452.

The plaintiff contends that the taking was not a constitutional
exercise of the power of eminent domain, and hence that it was
invalid and void. But before discussing this question, we must
first consider one of the points in defense, namely that the plaintiff
was not owner of the land at the time of the taking, and therefore
has no such interest as entitles him to maintain this bill. We do
not think the point is tenable. It is true the plaintiff did not obtain
title until after the taking. It appears that both the plaintiff and
the defendant had been negotiating with the then owners for the
purchase of the land. The plaintiff offered a little more than the
defendant and a deed to him was made and executed March 8. But
it was left with the cashier of a bank to be delivered to the plaintiff
when it should be ascertained that his check on another bank was
good. It was not actually delivered to the plaintiff until March 17,
five days after the taking by defendant.

If the taking by the defendant was valid, and if, thereby an abso-
lute fee was vested in the defendant, its present contention might be
sound. Whether an eminent domain taking vests an absolute fee is a
question concerning which the courts are not in entire accord. In
some cases, the character of the use seems to be the determining
factor; in others, the provisions of the statute under which the
taking is made. In some statutes it is expressly provided that the
fee shall vest in the taker; in others, provision is made merely for
taking and holding for specified public uses. The charter of this
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defendant is of the latter class. The greater weight of authority,
we think sustains the proposition that unless a legislative intent is
discoverable that an absolute fee shall vest, the taker takes only an
easement, or, at most, a qualified, conditionable and determinable
fee. And in such case, if the use be abandoned, the entire title is
revested in the owner. See for various views, Harback v. Boston,
10 Cush., 295; Dingley v. Boston, 100 Mass., 544 ; Page v. O’Toole,
144 Mass., 303; Conklin v. Old Colony R. Co., 154 Mass., 155; Troy
& B. R. Co. v. Potter, 42 Vt., 265; People v. Blake, 19 Cal., 579;
Lockie v. Mutual Union Tel. Co., 103 Ill,, 401; Harris v. Chicago,
162 Ill., 288; Hagaman v. Moore, 84 Ind., 496; Shawnee County
Com?’s v. Beckwith, 10 Kan., 603; Fairchild v. St. Paul, 46 Minn.,
540; 1 Lewis on Eminent Domain, 188.

It is unnecessary in this case, however, to determine the precise
character of the interest in the land, which remained in the owner,
if the proceedings were valid, and which came to the plaintiff by
deed from the owner. If it shall be found that the condemnation
proceedings were valid, he cannot on the facts maintain his bill. On
the other hand, if the proceedings were invalid, he owns the entire
interest in the land, and may have unauthorized and unlawful
attempts to take it restrained. The contention of the defendant
begs the question. It assumes that the taking was valid. Whether
it was is the precise question in issue. In this respect it is imma-
terial whether the plaintiff took title before, or after March 12. He
now has such an interest as enables him to try his rights.

The defendant relies upon the rule stated in Haeyford v. Bangor,
103 Maine, 434, that only the owner at the time of taking can com-
plain. But that case was not like this one. That was an appeal
from assessment of damages on account of an eminent domain
taking. And it was properly held that, as the damages occasioned by
an eminent domain taking belong to whoever is owner at the time
of taking, so no one can be aggrieved by the assessment except that
owner. This case is not one of damages. This plaintiff would have
no standing in a hearing on that question. But he has a standing in
a proceeding to determine his rights in the land itself, and to pre-
vent an encroachment upon the same.

Recurring now to the main proposition, we think the discussion
will be clearer, if we describe the situation of the land with refer-
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ence to Chase’s pond, and the contour of the land between them. As
already stated, the land is one and one-fifth miles from the pond.
Between the land and the pond are two ridges running northerly
and southerly in the same general direction as the pond extends.
The westerly ridge forms the crest of the water shed of the pond.
From that ridge to the plaintiff’s land the distance is nearly one
mile. Between the ridges is a valley. The ridges are higher, and
the valley is lower, than the pond. Through the valley flow three
brooks which ultimately empty into Cape Neddick stream, which
has its source at the outlet of Chase’s pond. By no possibility can
water from the plaintiff’s land flow into the pond. So much of the
water shed of the pond as lies between the pond and the lot in
question is only a few hundred feet in width, and it is not shown
that it supplies any water to the pond, except suface water. The
land in question lies on the easterly slope of the easterly ridge, and
drains into a brook, which rising in a swamp on the lot, is dry in
dry seasons of the year, and, when it has any water, empties into
Cape Neddick stream. This brook not running from Chase’s pond,
and not tributary to it, is not within the scope of the defendant’s
charter as a source of supply. And if it was, it could not be made
practically useful. Between the lot in question and the pond, there
1s some land that is covered with timber, some open land which is
being, or has been, used for tillage or pasturing, and some area that
has been stripped of timber in recent years, with the slash in varying
degrees of decay lying on the ground. The defendant owns timber
land adjoining plaintiff’s lot on the west, and towards the pond, but
not within its water shed. It also owns a tract near the foot of the
pond, and another near the head. The latter is within the water shed.
It has negotiated for other tracts of timber land situated, as we
understand the testimony, in the valley between the ridges, and not
within the water shed. These facts are all proper for consideration
later in determining the real purpose of the taking, and whether the
taking was for a public use, or for a private one.

The plaintiff charges that the taking was not made in good faith
for the purpose of protecting the water in Chase’s pond, or even of
protecting the water shed of the pond, or for any purpose for which
the defendant was authorized to exercise the right of eminent
domain ; but that it was, on the other hand, an attempt in the guise of
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an eminent domain proceeding to acquire the private property of
another, a valuable timber lot, to be held and operated for the profit
thereof. We have noticed that the purpose stated in the taking
itself is “the protection of the water in Chase’s pond.” Nothing is
said about protecting the water shed. But, passing this omission, we
think that the real purpose of the taking, as averred by the defendant
at the hearing before the single Justice, is best stated in the language
used in testimony by Mr. Josiah Chase, president of the company,
and its manager, and principal stockholder. He said :—“Our com-
pany has had a great deal of trouble with fires and we have spent a
great deal of money fighting fires, and the fires that we have had
trouble with have all begun in lots that have been stripped and not
far from our lots that are covered with growth; and as we owned
and were negotiating for quite a large lot, several lots near there and
adjoining, we made up our minds that it was actually dangerous for
us to allow that lot to be stripped. The lots beyond there had been
burned over and there was no danger practically from that, but if
we allowed that to be stripped there was almost, according to our
experience, almost a certainty that fire would be in there within a.
few years, and if fire got in there, there was nothing to stop it from
there to Chase’s pond, not a thing to stop it, and you couldn’t stop it.
The growth was nearly all pine there, and we have a 40 acre lot of
good, thick pine at the foot of the pond, and it reaches up about half
a mile, and which is connected without any road between it, and the
cnly road is just one narrow road in the woods between that lot and
the pond.” The avowed purpose, then, of taking this land is, by
keeping it unstripped, to protect from fire other property of the
defendant in the valley and at the foot of the pond, some of which
may be within the watershed.

The Legislature conferred upon the defendant the right of emi-
nent domain for public uses. It could confer it for no other kind
of use. Of the exigency or necessity for its exercise the Legislature
was the sole judge. It is a political or governmental question.
Eminent domain is the right of the sovereign state. The State by
the Legislature may determine the necessity for itself as to a par-
ticular piece of property, or it may determine the general question
of necessity, and commit to the corporation to which the power is
granted, or to its officers, the right to determine the extent to which
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it is necessary to exercise the power. Riche v. Bar Harbor Water
Co., 75 Maine, 91 ; Moseley v. York Shore Water Co., 94 Maine, 83;
Brown v. Gerald, 100 Maine, 351 ; Brown v. Kennebec Water Dis-
trict, 108 Maine, 227 ; Hayford v. Bangor, 102 Maine, 345. Under
the grant of the power of eminent domain, this defendant had the
right to determine in good faith to what extent necessity required
the taking of the lands of others, for such public purposes as were
specified in the charter. With that question, when the power is
exercised in good faith, the court has nothing to do.

But whether the uses for which land is taken by eminent domain
are public is a judicial question which must be determined, in case
of controversy, by the court. Riche v. Bar Harbor Water Co,, supra;
Moseley v. York Shore Water Co., supra. So, it is a judicial ques-
tion whether the taking has been in good faith for a public use, or
whether the professed public use is but a guise or cover for an
intended private use; whether, in short, the exercise of eminent
domain in a particular case, is not an abuse of power, a perversion
of authority. Brown v. Gerald, 100 Maine, 351 ; Brown v. Kennebec
W ater District, supra. These questions in this case are open for our
consideration.

To protect the purity and conserve the quantity of a public water
supply is undoubtedly a public use. To protect the water shed of a
pond or stream, which is a public water supply, so as to preserve the
purity and quantity of the supply is likewise a public use. Such
was the case contemplated by the Legislature when it authorized
this defendant to take land for the protection of the water shed of
Chase’s pond. The public have no interest in any other use. But
we have seen that no water, and no impurity of any kind, can pass
from the plaintiff’s lot to Chase’s pond, and that such water as flows
off the lot is not within the scope of the defendant’s charter. It fol-
lows that neither the purity nor the quantity of water in Chase’s
pond can be protected, nor in any way affected by the uses to which
this land may be put. It is difficult to believe that the ostensible
purpose stated in the notice of taking was the real purpose. Our
disbelief is aided by the testimony of Mr. Chase that the taking was
for protection against fire. The case contains nothing to show that
the ability to control the Bowden lot would in any way tend to the
protection of the purity or quantity of the water in Chase’s pond.
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And we must hold that the purpose declared in the notice of taking
was not the true purpose.

Whether a taking for a declared specific public use is invalid,
when the declared use is not the true purpose of taking, but when
some other public use is served, need not be decided now. For we
think the real purpose of the taking, if not to hold and operate the
land for profit, was to serve a private, and not a public use. If we
take the testimony of Mr. Chase, we are compelled to conclude that
the land was sought to be taken as a protection from fire of other
timber lands owned by the defendant. And in this connection, we
may add that these other timber lands are not shown by the case
to be of public use for the protection of the purity or quantity of
the water in Chase’s pond. If this taking for the avowed purpose
can be upheld, there would seem to be no constitutional reason why
adjoining lands still further away, if any there were, might not be
so taken, and so on. The use of land by the defendant for the pro-
tection of its other lands from the spread of fire, at least, when the
other lands are themselves not of public use, is clearly a private use.
In this case we do not need to define more narrowly.

It is universally held that private property cannot be taken by
another under governmental power for private uses. The State can
neither do it, nor authorize it to be done. The principle applies
as well to a taking by a public service corporation as to one by
another corporation or individual. Public service corporations may
be authorized to take for public, but not for private, uses. The
prohibition is not expressed in the constitution, but it is necessarily
implied. 1 Lewis on Eminent Domain, 406. Our Constitution,
Art. I Section 21, provides that “private property shall not be taken
for public uses, without just compensation, nor unless the public
exigencies require it.” In discussing this provision, the court, in
B.& P.R. R. Co.v. McComb, 60 Maine, 290, said: “This exercise
of the right of eminent domain is, in its nature, in derogation of the
great and fundamental principle of all constitutional governments,
which secures to every individual the right to acquire, possess and
defend property. As between individuals, no necessity, however
great, no exigency, however imminent, no improvement, however
valuable, no refusal, however unneighborly, no obstinacy, however
unreasonable, no offers of compensation, however extravagant, can
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compel any man to part with an inch of his estate. The constitution
protects him and his possessions, when held on, even to the extent of
churlish obstinacy. It is only when the sovereign power declares
that a public exigency, to carry out a public purpose, requires that
the individual right to possess must yield to the higher demands of
the sovereign power, that private property can be taken without
consent.”

However useful it may be to the defendant to protect its other
timber lands from the ravages of fire, it cannot constitutionally do
so under the conditions shown in this case, by the exercise of the
right of eminent domain. The plaintiff is entitled to the relief prayed
for.

Bill sustained with costs.
Writ of permanent injunction to issue.

Harrison FLyEi, in Equity,
vs.
First CONGREGATIONAL PARrisH oF NEWCASTLE, et als.
Lincoln. Opinion November 26, 1915.

Conveyance. Conveyance for pious purposes to person not in esse
Fraud.  Injunction.  Minvisterial Lot.  Ownership.
Sale. See 1 Maine Report, 271.

In a bill in equity brought to prevent the consummation of the sale by
the Parish of all the stumpage on a ministerial lot, or glebe, to restrain
the cutting of lumber therefrom and to have the conveyance declared void,

Held:

1. That the conveyance of this lot by Christopher Tappan in 1739 “unto
the inhabitants now settled on Sheepscot river at a place called New-
castle............. their heirs and assigns............. to be and remain
in said settlement now called Newcastle for a glebe or parsonage for-
ever,” was a valid conveyance as a grant for pious uses, although 9o
person or corporation was then in esse capable of taking.
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2. That the town of Newcastle when subsequently incorporated in 1753
held the custody of the lot in its parochial capacity awaiting the settle-
ment of a minister.

3. That upon the settlement of the first minister in 1754, he became
seized of this lot in right of the town, in its parochial capacity, and
held the same as a corporation sole to himself and his successors.

4. That after the organization of the First Congregational Parish in
1823, the ministers in succession held the title to this lot in right of the
parish, and could convey the same with the assent of the parish.

5. That during the vacancies in the ministerial office, the fee was in
abeyance, but the parish was entitled to the custody of the lot and to
the rents and profits therefrom.

6. That since the last settled minister in 1874 the fee has been in abey-
ance awaiting a successor, and the parish has had the legal right to
manage the lot and receive the income therefrom; but at no time has
the title vested in the parish and at no time could it legally sell and
convey the same.

7. That the corporation organized under the general law in 1913 as the
First Congregational Parish is not a distinct and independent parish
but merely a reorganization and rehabilitationt of the old parish for the
purpose of perpetuating its existence, and therefore as the successor of
the old parish has the same rights in this lot as the old parish, but no
more.

8. That this parish has no legal right to sell all the standing timber and
thereby strip this lot, and the deed purporting to convey the same was
invalid.

9. That the Methodist Church at Sheepscot, the would-be intervenor, has
no rights or interest in this property.

On report. Bill sustained with single bill of costs.

Temporary injunction to be made perpetual.

Decree in accordance with this opinion.

This is a bill in equity to prevent the consummation of a sale of
certain church or ministerial property, a lumber lot located at
Sheepscot, in the town of Newcastle; to restrain the cutting of
lumber therefrom by the grantee, and to have the sale declared
void and for an adjudication as to the present ownership and rights
in the property. The requisite answers and replications were filed.

At the conclusion of the evidence, questions of law of sufficient
importance having arisen to justify the same, and by consent of the
parties, this cause was reported to the Law Court to be determined
upon such evidence as is legally admissible.
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The case is stated in the opinion.
Arthur S. Littlefield, for plaintiff.
Weston M. Hilton, for defendant.

S1TTING: SAvagk, C. J., SpEAR, CorNIsH, KiNg, Birp, Hanson, JJ.

CornisH, J. This is a bill in equity brought to prevent the con-
summation of the sale of all the stumpage on a ministerial lot
located at Sheepscot in the town of Newcastle, to restrain the cut-
ting of lumber therefrom by the grantee, to have the conveyance
dated September 1, 1914, declared void and to adjudicate the present
ownership of the property.

The plaintiff is one of the three surviving members of the original
Congregational parish in Newcastle, and he alleges that he brings
the bill on behalf of himself, of other members of the parish, and
of the Congregational church at said Sheepscot.

J. D. McGraw, the minister of the Methodist church in Sheep-
scot asks the right to intervene, claiming that he is the person in
whom the title to the property is now vested, in the right of the only
parish existing at that place at the present time.

A recital of the historical facts connected with this ministerial
lot is necessary to a clear understanding of the issue.

On May 15, 1739, Christopher Tappan of Newbury, Massachu-
setts, the then or prior owner of nearly all the land within the
limits of the present town of Newecastle, granted “Unto the inhab-
itants now settled on Sheepscot river, at a place called New Castle
in the County of York . . . their heirs and assigns forever for
the uses hereinafter mentioned, two hundred acres of land, situate,
lying and being in New Castle and is the lots No. fifteen and six-
teen, also two thirty-sevenths of all the marsh and meadow lying
within the bounds &c. . . . to have and to hold the said granted
and gifted premises with all the appurtenances &. . . . to the
said inhabitants, their heirs and assigns to be disposed of in manner
following, viz: one-half of said land and marsh to be disposed of to
the first minister that shall be settled amongst said people at said
place, either by ordination or instalment, to him, his heirs and
assigns forever. And the other moiety or half to be and remain in
said settlement now called New Castle for a glebe or parsonage
forever.”
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1. Minister. The town of New Castle was incorporated four-
teen years later, in 1753, by the General Court of Massachusetts,
and included the settlement at Sheepscot. The town in its parochial
capacity then assumed control of lots 15 and 16, and caused Rev.
Alexander Boyd, a Presbyterian, to be ordained as the first settled
minister on September 19, 1754. His pastorate continued until
December, 1758. In that year a committee was appointed by the
town to “lot” with Mr. Boyd and determine which of the lots con-
veyed by Christopher Tappan should be his under the terms of the
grant, he being the first settled minister, and he received lot 15.
In this his title was absolute. Lot 16 was therefore left as the glebe,
or parsonage lot, and over that the present controversy has arisen.

The next minister was Thurston Whiting who on March 9, 1776,
in town meeting, was given the choice to settle as a Presbyterian or
Congregationalist. He chose the latter, was ordained as a Con-
gregational minister in July, 1776, and was dismissed in March,
1782. From that time a succession of Congregational ministers was
ordained or installed, the last being the Rev. John Haskell, who
served from May 26, 1872, until October 1, 1874. Since that time
there has been no settled minister, but services have been held at
various times, and with more frequency and regularity in the sum-
mer season.

2. CHUrcH. The Sheepscot Congregational church, the first
church to be established in the town, was organized in 1776, the
same year in which Mr. Whiting, the first Congregational minister,
was settled, and was reorganized in 1799. The last record in the
church record book bears the date of 1875, the year following the
last pastorate, that of Mr. Haskell. The church reported to the
State conference of 1892 for the year 1891, a membership of six.
No reports were made after 1892. Two members still survive, one
of whom has taken letters of dismissal to another church.

3. Parisua. The First Congregational Society or Parish appears
to have been organized in 1823. Its records begin at that time.
On October 4, 1797, when Rev. Kiah Bailey was ordained as the
successor of Mr. Whiting, the town still constituted the parish, but
it was not officially represented at the council which recommended
the dissolution of the connection September 24, 1823, and the next
minister, Jotham Sewall, Jr., who was ordained November 3, 1824,
was called by a vote of the church, concurred in by the parish.

VOL. CXIV II
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The parish at some time after its organization took charge of
this ministerial lot No. 16, received the income therefrom and
expended it either for the general purposes of the church or in the
maintenance and repair of the church property. The parish records
were kept only to 1877, but its members continued to exercise the
same oversight and control and paid the taxes on the lot up to the
year 1913.

4. CuurcH BuiLpings. According to the History of Ancient
Sheepscot and Newcastle by Rev. David Q. Cushman, made a
part of the evidence by agreement, the Congregationalists had two
meeting houses, one on the west side of the town (the Sheepscot
side) and the other on the east side (the Damariscotta river side)
and preaching was divided between the two places until 1844,
when a new or second Congregationalist church was organized on
the Damariscotta side. The Garrison Hill meeting house in Sheep-
scot was built by an association with records distinct from any
church or society and known as the “Proprietors of Sheepscot
Meeting House,” and it was “voted that this house shall be dedi-
cated a free house to all religious denominations.” This was occu-
pied as a union church, the Congregationalists being allowed one-
half the time, the Methodists one-third and the Baptists one-sixth,
until 1868, when the Congregationalists became the sole owners of
the property. It is in this building that their services have since
been held.

5. INCORPORATION OF ParisH. ,The membership of the parish or
society dwindled until in 1913 only three members survived, Har-
rison Flye, the plaintiff, Edwin Flye and William F. Chase. These
three with thirty-three others, on June 26, 1913, in writing over their
own signatures, signified their desire and purpose “to form a
society to be known as the First Congregational Parish Society of
Newcastle, the purpose of said society being the preservation and
care of the property now vested in the First Congregational Society
and the maintenance of public worship to such extent as may seem
practicable.” In furtherance of this desire and purpose, on August
7, 1913, an application was made to a Notary Public by the three
surviving members of the Parish and five others, requesting him
to issue his warrant in order that they might become incorporated as
a religious society under the provisions of Chapter 57 of the Revised
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Statutes. The necessary legal steps were taken and the corporation
was formed on September 6, 1913, under the name of the First
Congregational Parish, its stated purposes being “to hold and care
for all real and personal estate of said parish and the maintenance
of public worship to such extent as may seem expedient.” The
certificate of incorporation was approved September 22, 1913. At
this meeting the necessary officers were chosen, including trustees.

6. SaLE oF TiMBER. After the incorporation of the parish its
officers contracted for the sale of all the standing timber on the
ministerial lot to Clair W. Freeman for the sum of five thousand
five hundred dollars, and at a corporate meeting held on July 27,
1914, the parish voted to ratify and confirm the acts of its officers
in this respect and the trustees were directed to execute and deliver
the necessary conveyance. On September 1, 1914, this vote was
rescinded so far as it related to the execution of the deed and
Edwin Flye was authorized to execute and deliver the same on
behalf of the parish. On that day the deed was executed and deliv-
ered and the balance of the purchase price of $5,500 was paid to
the parish treasurer. This bill in equity was brought nine days later.

The legal questions arising from the foregoing facts are rarely
encountered at the present day, but were of not infrequent occur-
rence in the early history of New England, and certain well defined
rules of law were then established governing the creation of parishes
and the vesting and management of parish or ministerial lands.
These are decisive of the issues here involved and a re-statement of
these principles is therefore necessary.

At the time of the original grant from Christopher Tappan “unto
the inhabitants now settled at Sheepscot river at a place called
New Castle,” neither town, nor church, nor parish was in existence.
There was no person nor corporation then capable of taking.

But the conveyance was still effective. It was held in Proprietors
of Shapleigh v. Pillsbury, 1 Maine, 271, that such a grant is valid
and if lands be so granted for pious uses to a person or corporation
not in esse, the right to the possession and custody of the lands
remains in the grantor until the person or corporation intended
shall come into existence at which time the estate vests. See
also Rice v. Osgood, 9 Mass., 38; Brown v. Porter, 10 Mass., 93,
and Pawlet v. Clark, 9 Cranch, 292.
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When, therefore, the town was incorporated in 1753, all rights of
the grantor, or of his heirs, ceased and the town took and held the
lot in its parochial capacity awaiting the settlement of a minister.
At that time towns exercised both municipal and parochial powers,
all the inhabitants of the town being members of the parish, and
they continued so to exercise both until a separate parish was
formed, and then the parochial powers and duties of the town ceased.

Upon the settlement of the first minister, Rev. Alexander Boyd in
1754, he became seized of this lot in right of the town. Had the
parish then existed independent of the town he would have held in
right of the parish. When the parish was subsequently formed, it
succeeded to the rights of the town theretofore acting in a parochial
capacity, and the ministers from that time forward held the title in
right of the parish. In this connection it is interesting to note that
in 1839, precisely one hundred years after the original grant was
made, Rev. Jotham Sewall, Jr., the then settled minister of this
church and parish brought an action for an alleged trespass upon
this lot 16, and his legal title to the lot and his right to maintain
the action were upheld in these words: “We are not aware that
any principle of local law will prevent the passing of this estate for
a glebe or parsonage to the inhabitants of Newecastle, incorporated
subsequently to the grant. We have heard no complaint for nearly
a century from Christopher Tappan or his heirs, that the corpora-
tion of Newcastle has committed any disseizin or that they had
failed to appropriate the land according to the intent of the donor.
The town has taken and held it in their parochial character and as
soon as the minister was ordained in 1776 he held it in the right
of the parish. After his connection with the parish ceased they
again proceeded to take charge of it till the settlement of Mr. Bailey
who held it till 1824. The present plaintiff on his ordination became
entitled to hold it.” Sewall v. Cargill, 15 Maine, 414. See also
Cargill in error v. Sewall, 19 Maine, 288.

The well settled rules governing the title and custody of parsonage
lands are most succinctly stated in an early Massachusetts case,
affecting property then situated in Massachusetts but now in Maine:

“When a minister of a town or parish is seized of any lands in
right of the town or parish, which is the case of all parsonage lands,
or lands granted for the use of the ministry, or of the minister
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for the time being, the minister for this purpose is a sole corpora-
tion, and holds the same to himself and his successors. And, in
case of a vacancy in the office, the town or parish is entitled to the
custody of the same and for that purpose may enter and take the
profits until there be a successor. Every town is considered to be a
parish until a separate parish be formed within it, and then the
inhabitants and territory not included in the separate parish form the
first parish; and the minister of such first parish, by law, holds to
him and his successors all the estate and rights which he held as
minister of the town, before separation.” First Parish in Bruns-
wick v. Dunning, 7 Mass., 445. See also Jewett v. Burroughs, 15
Mass., 464, and Richardson v. Brown, 6 Maine, 464. The distinc-
tion between church and parish and the powers of each are elab-
orately elucidated by Chief Justice Shaw in Stebbins v. Jennings,
10 Pick., 171-182.

It only remains to make application of the foregoing principles.
It is obvious that the several settled ministers of this church became
in succession seized of this lot, in right of the town or parish; that
during the vacancies in the ministerial office the fee of the lot was
in abeyance, but the town in its parochial capacity until the organ-
ization of the parish, and ever after such organization the parish
itself had custody and control of the lot and became entitled to the
rents and profits therefrom until a successor was installed. Upon
the installation of the successor the fee vested in him. Since 1874,
when the last settled minister was dismissed, the fee has again
been in abeyance while the management has been in the parish,
but at no time did the fee itself vest in the parish and at no time
could the parish convey. Nor could the minister for the time being
aliene without assent of the parish. He holds in right of the parish
and it is only when the parish assent that a valid conveyance can
be made. Weston v. Hunt, 2 Mass., 500; Porter v. Griswold, 6
Maine, 430. Concurrence of both is necessary.

The corporation organized in 1913 as the First Congregational
Parish was not a distinct and independent parish as the plaintiff
contends, but merely a reorganization and rehabilitation of the few
surviving members of the old parish for the purpose of perpetuating
its existence by bringing in new members, injecting new blood, and
adopting a corporate charter. The written declarations at the time,
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the stated purposes of the charter, and the evidence of the parties
leave no room for doubt on this point. Parsonsfield v. Dalton, 5
Maine, 217. Therefore this corporation as the successor of the old
parish has the legal right to the management of this glebe and to
the income arising therefrom until the settlement of another minister
of this church. But that is the extent of is powers. It has no
further rights. It cannot convey the property. Bucksport v. Spof-
ford, 12 Maine, 487. The title does not vest in it and therefore it
has no title to convey. It cannot commit waste. The deed in this
case is invalid. It is true that the deed does not convey the soil, but
it does convey “all the trees standing and growing on the lot.” If
carried into effect the lot would be stripped, and not merely the
income or profits of the capital to which the parish is entitled, but
the capital itself would be effectually disposed of. This exceeded
the powers of the parish for the reasons already stated. The injunc-
tion must therefore be made permanent, a reconveyance must be
made by the purchaser, Clair W. Freeman, and the consideration
received by the parish must be repaid to said Freeman. The details
can be embodied in the decree to be filed below.

The conclusion reached renders unnecessary the consideration of
other questions raised in argument, namely the rights of the Metho-
dist church in this lot and the alleged fraud upon the parish by its
agent in the sale of the timber. Regarding the first point it is
sufficient to say that the Methodist church has no interest or rights
whatever in the property; and regarding the second point we find
no fraud practiced upon the parish by its agent who was duly author-
ized to negotiate the sale. Moreover the parish itself, of which
this plaintiff is a member, after full knowledge of the facts ratified
and confirmed the acts of its agent and consummated the sale by
directing a conveyance to be made.

However, upon the main question of the invalidity of the con-
veyance itself for want of title in the parish the plaintiff should
prevail.

Bill sustained with single bill of costs.
Temporary injunction to be made perpetual.
Decree in accordance with this opinion.
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Frep E. DAGGETT,

Appellant from Decree of Judge of Probate

Penobscot. Opinion Decemer 1, 1915.

Appeal. Appointment of Adminisirator. Presumption of Death.
Reasons of Appeal.

It appears that William M. Daggett, having an established residence in
Dexter, departed thence on/ the thirty-first day of August, 1902, when
about fifty-two years of age, and, from the fifteenth day of September,
1902, until the day of the hearing in the probate court upon the petition
of Appellant, had neither been heard of nor from by his friends or by
his heirs-at-law and next of kin, although diligent search and inquiry
for him had been made by them; and also that their investigation failed
to show the acquirement of another residence by the alleged deceased
or the existence of any instrument making testamentary disposition ot
his property.

Held:

1. That upon the facts stated, in the absence of any evidence showing
or tending to show that William M. Daggett was alive, the conclusion
is warranted that he was dead; and that the prayer of petitioner should
have been granted.

2. The statute provides that the appellant in such cases shall serve all the
other parties who appeared before the judge of probate in the case
with a copy of the reasons of appeal. It iis admitted that no service of
the reasons of appeal was made or attempted. But as no other parties
“appeared before the judge of probate in the case,” we are unable to per-
ceive how service could be required or be made.

On appeal from decree of the Judge of probate. Appeal sustained.
Decree of probate court reversed. The case is remanded to the
Supreme Court of Probate for the county of Penobscot for further
action in accordance with this opinion.

This is a petition by Fred E. Daggett to be appointed adminis-
trator of the estate of William M. Daggett. The probate Judge for
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the county of Penobscot denied the petition, and the said Fred E.
Daggett appealed to the Supreme Court of Probate to be held at
BRangor, within and for the county of Penobscot. At the conclusion
of the hearing, the case was reported to the Law Court, upon so
much of the foregoing evidence as is legally admissible, for determi-
nation.

The case is stated in the opinion.

W heeler & Howe, for appellant.

SitTING: Savacg, C. J., SPEAR, King, Birp, HaLey, Hanson, JJ.

Birp, J. This is an appeal from the decree of the Judge of probate
of Penobscot county denying the petition of the appellant for the
appointment of himself or some other suitable person, as adminis-
trator of the estate of William M. Daggett, late of Dexter, in that
county, deceased. It appears that William M. Daggett was one of
the heirs at law of one Mary L. Libby and that his share of her
estate, more than twenty dollars in value, remaining unclaimed, it
was deposited in a savings bank and later assigned by the Judge of
probate to the treasurer of the county under the provisions of R. S,,
c. 67, § 20, as amended. It further appears that William M.
Daggett, having an established residence in Dexter, departed thence
on the thirty-first day of August, 1902, when about fifty-two years
of age, and from the fifteenth day of September, 1902, until the
day of the hearing in the probate court upon the petition of appellant,
had neither been heard of nor from by his friends or by his heirs-
at-law and next of kin, although diligent search and inquiry for him
had been made by them; and also that their investigation failed to
show the acquirement of another residence by the alleged deceased
or the existence of any instrument making testamentary disposition
of his property.

The court is of opinion that upon the facts stated, in the absence
of any evidence showing or tending to show that William M. Dag-
gett was alive, the conclusion is warranted that he was dead;
Burleigh v. Mullen, 95 Maine, 423, 428; Chapman v. Kimball, 83
Maine, 389, 395; Wentworth v. Wentworh, 71 Maine, 72, 74; and
that the prayer of petitioner should have been granted.
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The statute provides that the appellant shall serve all the other
parties who appeared before the Judge of probate in the case with
a copy of the reasons of appeal. It is admitted that no service of
the reasons of appeal was made or attempted. But as no other par-
ties “appeared before the Judge of probate in the case,” we are
unable to perceive how service could be required or be made; see
Glover v. Jones, 95 Maine, 303, 300-307.

Commissions were issued by a Justice of the court for the taking
of the deposition of two witnesses. No notice of the application for
a commission was given any adverse party as required by Rule
XXIV. The requirement of notice is predicated upon the existence
of an adverse party. When there is no adverse party, the occasion
for the requirement as well as the possibility of compliance equally
fail. See Glover v. Jones, ubi supra.

Appeal sustained.

Decree of the Probate Court reversed.

The case is remanded to the Supreme
Court of Probate for the county of
Penobscot for further action
accordance with this opinion.
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James L. MAXWELL, et als,,
vs.
York MutuaL Fire INSURANCE COMPANY.

Androscoggin. Opinion December 3, 1915.

Agents.  Applications filled out by Agents. Fire Insurance. Mortgage.
Occupant.  Public Laws, 1861, Chapter 34. Public
Laws, 1862, Chapter 115, Section 2.
Vacant Buildings. Waiver.

1. Chapter 49, Section 93, R. S,, providing for service of notice or process
upon an agent of such Company, provides further that such agents and
the agents of all domestic Companies shall be regarded as in the place
of the Company in all respects regarding any insurance effected by them.

2. The Company is bound by their knowledge of the risk and of all
matters connected therewith. .

3. Omissions and misdescriptions known to the agent shall be regarded
as known to the Company and waived by it as if noted in the policy.

4. To avoid liability on a fire insurance policy on the ground of untrue
statements in the proof of loss, it must be shown that the statements
were knowingly and intentionally untrue, and the burden of showing
it is on the Company.

On exceptions by defendant. Exceptions overruled.

An action of assumpsit on a policy of fire insurance issued by
defendant, dated October 24, 1912, on certain buildings located in
the town of Webster. Plea, the general issue with brief statement.

At the conclusion of the evidence on both sides, the presiding
Justice directed the jury to return a verdict for plaintiff for $640.06.
To this ruling, the defendant excepted and his exceptions were
allowed.

The case is stated in the opinion. Coe

Harry Manser, for plaintiffs.

Tascus Atwood, for defendant.
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Hanson, J. This is an action on a fire insurance policy and is
before the court on exceptions to the order of the presiding Justice
directing a verdict for the plaintiff. The facts are not in dispute.
The property belonged to the heirs of Llewellyn Maxwell. It had
been insured by the London & Lancashire Ins. Co. for $1500, through
the agency of J. P. Hutchinson & Co., who were also the agents
of the defendant company.

Prior to October 15, 1912, as appears by letter of the agents of
that date, the agents were informed that the buildings were vacant
and would remain so all winter, and they, being unable to secure a
vacancy permit from the London & Lancashire Co., made applica-
tion to two mutual companies for $750 insurance in each in behalf
cf the plaintiffs. As shown by this letter, the agents filled out the
application in this case and sent it to the administratrix to sign. In
reply to the question as to occupancy, the answer written by the
agents is “vacant at present.” Further, in the answers in that part
of the application directed to be made by the agents, appears the
information that the London & Lancashire Company had cancelied
the risk on account of vacancy.

The policy in this case was issued October 30, 1912. On Novem-
ber 5, 1912, the agents wrote to the defendants asking them if they
would increase the amount of insurance, as the Vermont Mutual
had declined to go on the risk on account of its being vacant, to which
the defendants replied, “We do not care to take more on these
premises until occupied.”

From the testimony it appears that the premises were unoccupied
from September, 1912, before the issuance of the policy in October,
until April, 1913, and from Christmas, 1913, for about eight weeks,
and again from May 17, 1914, to the time of the fire on October 12th
of that year.

It appears that the policy was written for the ordinary premium,
without any additional charge for vacancy.

The defendant by brief statement alleged “that the plaintiff mis-
represented a material fact in writing, viz, that the real estate to be
insured by said policy was not mortgaged, when at the time of
making said application said real estate was in fact encumbered
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by a mortgage,” and (2) That the buildings described in said appli-
cation and policy became vacant in the summer and fall of 1914
and so remained vacant for more than thirty days prior to the
fire . . . without the assent of the defendant, and that said
buildings became vacant by the removal of the occupant.

The defendant’s contention is that “inasmuch as the case shows
that no extra premium was paid for vacancy, no vacancy permit was
attached to the policy, that the expression ‘vacant at present’ carried
with it the implication that the buildings were soon to be occupied
as in fact they were; that when occupied, the insured was then living
under the terms of the policy which was written as the ordinary
policy is for the ordinary premium, . . . and the assured was
bound, if a vacancy of more than thirty days should occur after
the occupancy, to give the company notice.” More than thirty days’
vacancy did in fact exist, and no notice was given the company.

We think there is no merit in either contention in view of the
admitted facts in the case. There is an entire absence of suggestion
of fraud on the part of the plaintiffs, or fraud in fact shown in the
case, which to be effectual was for the defendant to prove.

The letter of defendant’s agent, which is here given, negatives
the claim that the application in and of itself furnishes a defence
te the action. The agent wrote the plaintiff on October 15, 1912,
this letter:

“Mrs. Eva I. Maxwell,
Mechanic Falls, Me.
Dear Madam: :

Your son informed us the other day that the farm buildings
were vacant, and would remain so during the wintér. We have
notified the company of the vacancy and requested of them per-
mission for the same. They refuse it on the ground they do not
care to insure vacant farm buildings.

The only thing we can do for you is to cancel this policy and
give you back the portion of it not used, and write it in mutual
companies. They are the only ones that will take vacant farm
property.

You will find enclosed two applications for insurance, one-half
of it to be in the York County Mutual and the other half in the
Vermont Mutual. Kindly sign each of them in two places, near
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the bottom, where cross is made with ink, and return them to me,
and I will fill out the blank portions after I go out and examine the
premises, which I shall have to do.
Very truly yours,
(Signed) J. P. HurcHINSON.
(Encs. 2.)”

And following this the agent filled in such blanks as he had not
already filled. It then contained the reference to the mortgage and
the vacancy as well; in the latter case he had written “vacant at
present.”

Richardson v. Maine Insurance Company, decided in 1859, 46
Maine, 394, is cited as authority sustaining the defendant’s conten-
tion that the representation that there was no mortgage on the
property was material, though the company had no lien on the
real estate mortgaged. There the insured wrote a letter to the agent
of the insurance company for insurance. Thereupon the agent
filled out an application which contained a statement that there
was “no mortgage” on the property to be insured, and signed the
name of the applicant to it without the latter’s knowledge. A
policy was issued referring to the application as a part of the
policy and was accepted by the applicant. It was held that by
accepting the policy, the plaintiff convenanted and engaged that
the application contained a just, full and true statement in regard
to the condition of the insured property, and that he thereby ratified
the application; that the company was not bound by the letter from
the assured to their agent, and that such representation was material.

Such was the law until the enactment of Chapter 34, Laws of
1861, which was amended by Chapter 115, Laws of 1862, to read as
follows: “Sec. 2. An agent authorized by an insurance company
whose name shall be borne on the policy, shall be deemed the agent
of said company in all matters of insurance; any notice required to
be given to said company, or any of its officers, by the insured may
be given to such agent; any application for insurance or valuation
or description of the property, or of the interest of the assured
therein, if drawn by said agent, shall be conclusive upon the com-
pany but not upon the insured, although signed by him; all acts,
proceedings and doings of such agent with the insured shall be as
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binding upon the company as if done and performed by the person
specially empowered or designated therefor by the contract.

“Sec. 3. All statements of description or valuation, in any con-
tract of insurance or application therefor, shall be deemed represen-
tations and not warranties. Any misrepresentation of the title or
interest of the insured, unless the same is fraudulnet or material,
shall not prevent his recovering on the policy the amount of his
insurable interest; a misrepresentation of title to a parcel of the
property insured shall not affect the contract as to other parcels,
either real or personal, covered by the policy.”

The strict rule that parties to all contracts in writing are sup~
posed to have the intentions which are clearly manifested by the
terms thereof was there applied, (Richardson v. Me. Ins. Co., supra)
and in doing so the court say “in the case before us the conditions,
etc.,, make a part of the contract. They are free from ambiguity
and doubt. A statement in the application, which is one of the
conditions, is not true in fact, though no moral wrong is imputed
to the plaintiff. The court cannot withdraw this statement from
its consideration. The parties have made it essential, and to dis-
regard it would be the substitution of another contract for that made
by the parties.”

Following this decision this court had under consideration Emery
v. Piscataqua F. & M. Ins. Co. 52 Maine, 322, where the interest
of the assured was that of mortgagee, but that fact, or that his
interest as such was to be insured, did not appear in the policy.
There was no application, but the agent examined the premises
and was fully informed as to the interest of the insured. The
policy was in the same form as in Richarson v. Maine Ins. Co., supra.
The court held, (1) That, if there be an error in the description of
the interest of the insured in the policy, it is imputable to the defend-
ant’s agent, and the policy is not void by reason thereof; and (2)
That, if there had been a misrepresentation as to the interest of
the insured, it would not prevent a recovery to the full amount of
the interest insurable unless such misrepresentation was fraudulent.
Appleton, C J., in noting previous decisions holding policies void
for various causes affecting description of property, said, “these
and similar decisions are made to depend upon the peculiar language
of the policies then under consideration. To avoid their effect, the
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Act of 1861, C. 34, entitled ‘An Act in relation to Ifire and Marine
Insurance Companies and actions on contracts of insurance’ was
passed. The present policy is subsequent to the passage of the act
referred to, and is subject to its provisions.”

In Caston v. Monmouth M. F. Ins. Co., 54 Maine, 170, where it
was claimed that the representations in the application were mate-
rial and untrue, the court say: ‘“The case finds that the application
for insurance, including the valuation and description of the prop-
erty, was drawn up by the agent of the company, who ‘knew all
the facts about the ownership and occupancy.”” The statute of
1861, c. 34, sec. 2, makes an application thus drawn up conclusive
upon the company, “although it contain a representation material
and untrue.”

Chap. 49, Sec. 93, R. S., after providing for service of notice or
processes upon an agent of such company, provides further “that
such agents and the agents of all domestic companies shall be
regarded as in the place of the company in all respects regarding
any insurance effected by them. The company is bound by their
knowledge of the risk and of all matters connected therewith.
Omissions and misdescriptions known to the agent shall be regarded
as known by the company and waived by it as if noted in the policy.”

In Thorne v. Casualty Company of America 106 Maine, 274,
where the company issued a policy through a third party as agent,
to whom application for insurance was made, there was nothing
to show fraud on the part of the insured; but the warranty in the
application that the insured was in sound condition was false, and
so known to the agent. Held, that, though the company had no
actual notice of the falsity of the warranty, it was liable on the
policy, since it was the moving cause authorizing the transaction,
of which the assured became an innwcent victim.

In Cole v. North British and Mercantile Insurance Co., 113
Maine, 512, it is held, that to avoid liability on a fire insurance
policy on the ground of untrue statements in the proof of loss, it
must be shown that the statements were knowingly and intentionally
untrue, and the burden of showing it is on the company.

The application was furnished by the agent with directions to
the plaintiff to sign “where the cross is made with ink, and return
them to me, and I will fill out the blank portions,” etc., etc. And
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he did fill out all the answers, the reference to the mortgage as well
as the other details. The case discloses that the plaintiff placed
full reliance upon the agent and did just what he directed, and the
agent did the rest. If there was mistake or misrepresentation, it
is not shown to have been the act of the plaintiff or that the same
was specially authorized by, or consented to by her. The act of the
agent must therefore be held to have been the act of the defendant.
See Washburn v. Casualty Co., 108 Maine, 429; Marston v. Life
Ins. Co., 89 Maine, 266; Hewey v. Ins. Co., 100 Maine, 523; 109
Maine, 323.

In LeBlanc v. Standard Ins. Co., 114 Maine, 6, this court, by
Savacg, C. ], in referring to Sect. 93, Chap. 49, R. S,, supra, said:
“The language of this statute is most comprehensive, and we think
it was intended to be so. The statute itself seems to place no limits.
The simple purpose of the statute is that those seeking insurance
and those afterwards holding policies, may as safely deal with the
agents, with whom alone they ordinarily transact their business,
as if they were dealing directly with the companies themselves.”

“The statute is best construed by interpreting it just as it
reads. The agent stands ‘in the place of the company,’ is the com-
pany ‘in all respects regarding any insurance effected by him.””

As to the use of the words “vacant at present,” we cannot adopt
the defendant’s view that the expression “carried with it the impli-
cation that the buildings were soon to be occupied.” While it may
have carried an implication that the buildings might be occupied,
the contract of insurance was clearly effected on vacant property,
which might so far as anything in the contract appears to the con-
trary, remain vacant during the period covered by the policy. The
agent under date of Nov 11, 1912, wrote the plaintiff as follows:
“Enclosed please find policy in one of the mutual companies that
we were to get for you; the other would not go on the risk on
account of its being vacant. This is all that we can do at present
until it is occupied.”

The plaintiff was justified in believing that the property was
insured as vacant property, as it was in fact; that it was unoccupied
and might be during the life of the policy was well known to the
company as well as to the agent, and we find no warrant in holding
that an occasional occupancy and consequent occasional vacancies,
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as in this case, destroy the right to recover. The plaintiff procured
insurance on vacant property. As such it was destroyed by fire.
She was protected by the policy. The order directing the verdict
was proper.

Exceptions overruled.

Harry E. Lunce, Applt., ©s. NELLIE ]J. ABBOTT.
York. Opinion December 3, 1915.

Agency. Contract.  Exceptions.  Husband and Wife.  Repairs on
wife’s property made by contract with husband.

1. The fact of agency can be established by proof of any facts or circum-
stances from which agency can reasonably and logically be inferred.
The marriage relation of the parties, however, is not alone enough to
establish the fact that the one is the agent of the other. But where the
question is whether a husband was the agent of his wife in transactions
for the repair and improvement of her property, the marriage relation,
and the wife’s situation and the condition of her health at the time,
are of significance, in connection with the nature of the work contracted
for. So, too, is the fact that the husband had transacted similar business
with her approval and for which she recognized her responsibility.

2. Upon a proper submission of the question to them, the jury decided that
the defendant’s husband was her agent in having a furnace put in her
house in her absence from home. Held: that there was evidence
which reasonably justified the jury in so deciding.

3. An excepting party must show that he has been prejudiced by the
ruling.

4. If requested instructions are not pertinent and applicable to the case,
though containing a correct statement of abstract principles of law,
they may properly be refused.

5. Exceptions will not be sustained to a refusal to give special requests,
though they may be reasonably applicable to some features of the case,
provided ample and correct instructions have already been given.

6. The instructions given were pertinent to the only issue involved in
the case, were sound in law, and clearly and explicitly presented.

VOL. CX1IV 12
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7. The requested instructions appear to be a verbatim copy of all the
paragraphs of the head note in the case of Steward v. Church, 108
Maine, 83. None of them were peculiarly applicable to the facts in
this case, and some of them were wholly inapplicable thereto.

8. We do not find any reversible error in the ruling refusing them. The
jury had already been fully and amply instructed. It does not appear
that the defendant was prejudiced by the ruling complained of.

On motion and exceptions by defendant. Motion and exceptions
overruled.

This is an action of assumpsit on account annexed to recover
the value of a furnace put into the defendant’s house on contract
by the husband. Plea, general issue. The jury returned a verdict
for plaintiff and the defendant filed a general motion for a new
trial. The defendant also requested the Justice presiding to give
the following instructions, which the said presiding Justice declined
to do, and the defendant excepted to said refusal to so instruct.

I. Where a husband and wife are living on a farm which the
husband is carrying on, the fact that the title to the farm is in the
wife does not show that he was carrying on the farm as her agent
and does not make her liable for articles purchased by him for use
on the farm.

2. Where in such case the husband did not represent himself to
be the agent of his wife in making the purchase, she cannot be liable
upon the ground of after-ratification. The doctrine of ratification
applies only in cases where a person without authority assumes to
have authority to act for another.

3. A promise by the wife to pay the vendor for articles pur-
chased by the husband cannot be logically inferred from the cir-
cumstances that the articles ultimately came into her hands.

4. The fact that the wife authorized her husband to let a farm
owned by her, does not justify an inference that he was her agent
in carrying on the farm.

5. The fact that in making a lease of the farm and farming
plant six months after the purchase of a farming implement by her
husband, the wife included the implement in the lease does not
justify the inference that she authorized it to be purchased on her
credit.
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The case is stated in the opinion.
Clarence Webber, for plaintiff.
William M. Tripp, for defendant.

SitrinG:  Savace, C. J., King, Biro, HarLey, Hanson, JJ.

King, J. Action to recover $55.70 for materials and labor fur-
nished in putting a heating furnace into the defendant’s house under
a contract therefor made by her husband, to whom the plaintiff
gave credit supposing him to be the owner of the property. At.the
time the defendant was away from home in a hospital. The founda-
tion of the action is the claim that the husband was the wife’s
agent in the transaction. That was the sole issue at the trial
The verdict was for the plaintiff, and the case comes up on a motion
for a new trial and exceptions by the defendant.

The fact of agency can be established by proof of any facts or
circumstances from which agency can reasonably and logically be
inferred. The marriage relation of the parties, however, is not
necessarily enough to establish the fact that the one is the agent of
the other. There must be other proof. But where the question
is whether a husband was the agent of his wife in transactions for
the repair and improvement of her property, the marriage relation,
and the wife’s situation and the condition of her health at the time,
are of significance, in connection with the nature of the work con-
tracted for. So, too, is the fact, that the husband had transacted
similar business with her approval and for which she recognized
her responsibility.

Tn the case at bar the home was bought by the wife in 1911. It was
a small farm on which she and her husband resided. He admitted
that he had charge of the farm “outdoors.” The same month
the property was purchased, considerable repairs and improvements
were made to the buildings, including an extension to the ell or
shed and the making of a pantry inside the house. The carpenters
who did the work testified that they were employed by the husband
who seemed to be in charge of the work and gave them instructions,
and that the wife was there while the work was going on. In April
and May of 1912 the house was further improved, including the
building of a piazza, and a hen house was built at that time. The
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husband hired the workmen for that work and the wife paid them
with her checks, some of which at least the husband made out for
her to sign. Before she went to the hospital, about the first of
December, 1912, the chimney of the house had been torn down.
and a Mr. Hall was employed by the husband to put in a new floor
and make some repairs and alterations inside the house. He was
working there when the furnace was put in. Again in 1913, Mr.
Hall was employed by the husband to do work on the outside of
the buildings and the wife was there and gave him some directions
as to the work, but his “general instructions” were given by the
husband. Those were pertinent facts and circumstances for the
consideration of the jury on the question whether the husband was
the general agent of his wife in the management of the property,
particularly in respect to the making of needed repairs and improve-
ments to the house and buildings.

It is true that the wife was not at home when the furnace was
put in, but she testified that there was no heat in the house when
she went away, the chimney having then been taken down. Appar-
ently repairs on the house had then been commenced. Is it an
unreasonable inference from the circumstances, that her husband,
in her absence in the hospital, was her general agent to carry on
the work of repairing the house, rebuilding the chimney, and putting
in some heating appliance? When he made the arrangements for
the furnace to be put in he told the plaintiff that his wife was in
the hospital, that he must have heat in the house before she could
come home, and that she was coming very soon.

Both the defendant and her husband testified that he was not
her agent in having the furnace put in, and that the first she knew
about it was when she arrived home after it was all completed.
But their denial of the agency was not conclusive. The jury may
have disbelieved their testimony in that regard, or found that it
was outweighed by other evidence that he was in fact her agent to
have that work done.

The defendant, however, contends that the evidence in support
of agency is insufficient to sustain the verdict in the plaintiff’s
favor, and cites Steward v. Church, 108 Maine, 83. That case we
think is distinguishable from the one at bar. In that case the
husband first obtained title to the farm and went into occupation
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of it and farmed it as his business. He later conveyed the title to
his wife but continued as before to operate the farm as his business,
as far as outward appearances went. He bought a cream separator
for use in carrying on the farm and gave his note for it. It was for
the price of that article that the action was brought against the wife,
on the ground that the husband was her agent in the purchase of
it, and a verdict for the plaintiff was not sustained. It seems rea-
sonably clear that in that case there were practically no facts or
circumstances from which a logical inference of agency could be
inferred.

In the case at bar, however, as we have pointed out, there is
material evidence of facts and circumstances from which the fact
of agency could reasonably be inferred. Here the wife had the
benefit of the materials and labor furnished. They became a part
of her property, and enhanced its value. Her conduct as to similar
transactions by her husband for the repair and improvement of this
same house of hers, both before and after the one in question, was
such as to justify the conclusion that he was in fact her agent in
such transactions. And the particular facts and circumstances con-
nected with this transaction seem to give support to the claim that
he was in fact her agent in making the arrangements for the furnace
to be put in.

The plaintiff testified that in October, 1914, he called at the Abbott
house and asked her to pay the bill, and that after he and the
husband checked up the materials furnished, “Mrs. Abbott said she
would be down and settle the account.” Both she and her husband
denied that. If she did promise to pay it and it was her husband’s
bill and not hers, that promise would not support this action. But
if she made that promise, not denying her liability, that fact would
have some bearing on the issue whether the bill was in fact con-
tracted by her agent.

The jury, upon a proper submission of the question to them,
decided that the defendant’s husband was her agent in having the
furnace put in her house. We think there was evidence which
reasonably justified the jury in so deciding, and that the motion for
a new trial should not be granted. .

It remains to be considered whether the omission to give the
tequested instructions affords the defendant any just cause of com-
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plaint. It is a familiar rule that an excepting party must show that
he has been prejudiced by the ruling. If requested instructions are
not pertinent and applicable to the case, though containing a cor-
rect statement of abstract principles of law, they may properly be
refused. And exceptions will not be sustained to a ruling declining
to give special requests, though they may be reasonably applicable
to some features of the case, provided ample, pertinent and correct
instructions have already been given covering substantially those
same features.

The charge of the learned presiding Justice is made a part of
the case, and an examination of it shows that the instructions to
the jury were pertinent to the only issue involved in the case, that
they were sound in law and were clearly and explicitly presented.

We think it quite impossible that the jury could have misunder-
stood the sole question of fact submitted for their determination,
or failed to have comprehended the legal significance of the evidence
presented as bearing on that question. They were instructed that
it was conceded that the contract for the furnace was made by the
husband without the wife’s knowledge or consent specifically given
by her; that she could not be held liable under that contract unless
her husband was her agent in making it; that the relation of hus-
band and wife is not alone sufficient to prove such agency; nor
would such agency be established by the mere fact that she received
the benefit of the contract, or that she subsequently promised to
pay for the work done under it, if she did so promise. Again and
again during the charge the jury were told that it was a question
tor them to decide upon a fair consideration of all the evidence,
whether or not the defendant had in fact authorized her husband
to act as her general agent to make repairs or improvements to her
property, and, if so, whether the putting in of the furnace was
within the scope of his authority.

The requested instructions appear to be a verbatim copy of all
the paragraphs of the head note in the case of Steward v. Church,
supra. They appear in full in the statement of the case. None of
them were peculiarly applicable to the facts in this case, and we
think there was no reversible error in the ruling refusing them.

The first request undoubtedly contains a correct general principle
of law, and it might have properly been given in this case. But



Me.] LUNGE . ABBOTT. 183

we do not think it appears that the defendant’s rights were preju-
diced by the omission of that specific instruction. After the explicit
instructions that were given to the jury, they did not need to be
told, we think, that the mere fact that the title to the home was in
the wife was not sufficient proof that the husband was her agent
in what he did on or about the property. And, indeed, they were
told that the fact that the furnace became a part or her property
and enured to her benefit did not establish the fact that her hus-
band was her agent in having it put in.

The second request was not applicable in this case for there
was no claim made that the wife was liable on the ground of rati-
fication. The testimony that she promised to settle the bill was not
offered for that purpose. It was put in as a circumstance tending
tc make more probable the claim of agency. Nor do we perceive
the purpose, and certainly not the need, of the third request, in view
of the fact that the jury had been instruced that if the wife did
promise to pay the bill, that would not prove the agency, which was
the only question in the case. As to paragraphs 4 and 5 of the
requests, we -need only say that presumably they refer to facts
developed in the case from which they were excerpts. But such
facts do not appear in this case. Clearly those requests were
inappropriate.

It follows that the exceptions cannot be sustained.

Motion and exceptions overruled.
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WiLLarp F. MurrHY, et als,. in Equity
vs.

Urar MiNiNG, MILLING & TRANSPORTATION COMPANY.

York. Opinion December 6, 1915.

Bill in Equity. Corporation. Decree. Laws of 1907, Chapter 137,
Public Laws of 1905, Chapter 85. Receiver
Stockholders.

Although the sitting Justice before whom the cause was heard filed no
findings of facts, the filing of the decree sustaining the bill and appoint-
ing a receiver is ipso facto a finding of fact in favor of the plaintiffs
upon some, or all, of the allegations in their bill,

On appeal by defendant. Appeal denied with additional costs.

This is a bill in equity, brought by Willard F. Murphy, a minority
stockholder, and seven other minority stockholders in Utah Mining,
Milling and Transportation Company August 25, 1914, under the
provisions of Chapter 85 of Public Laws of 1905, as amended by
the Laws of 1907, Chapter 137, asking that the affairs of said
defendant corporation be wound up and said corporation be dis-
solved and that a receiver be appointed to wind up its affairs.

Answers and replication were filed. The case was heard before
a single Justice, who made a final decree that bill be sustained.

From this decree, the defendant appealed to the Law Court.

The case is stated in the opinion.

Frederick A. Hobbs, for plaintiffs.

Emeryv & Waterhouse, for defendant.

StrTinG: Savacr, C. J., Spear, King, Birp, Hanson, JJ.
SpEAR, J. Willard F. Murphy of Biddeford, a minority stock-

holder and seven other minority stockholders, under date of August
25, 1914, under the provisions of Chapter 85 of the Public Laws
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of 1905, as amended by the Laws of 1907, Chapter 137, brought a
bill in equity against the defendant corporation asking that the cor-
poration be dissolved and that a receiver be appointed, both tem-
porary and permanent, to wind up its affairs. The answer and
replication were duly filed and the matter was heard before a Justice
of the Supreme Court in chambers, and after a full hearing a decree
was filed sustaining the bill of the plaintiffs, to which an appeal was
taken upon which the case is now being heard. Although the sitting
Justice filed no finding of facts, the filing of the decree sustaining
the bill and appointing a receiver is ipso facto a finding of fact in
favor of the plaintiffs upon some or all of the allegations in their
bill. The only question, therefore, presented to us upon the appeal
is whether there was any evidence which warranted the presiding
Justice in making a decree in favor of the plaintiffs. The plaintiffs’
bill contains allegations that the corporation should be dissolved
because by the gross mismanagement of its affairs it was in immi-
nent danger of insolvency, and because there was danger that the
estate and effects would be wasted and because it had ceased to do
business. From the evidence of Harry G. Gerrish, secretary and
treasurer of the defendant corporation, and of Charles T. Birchard,
who was a former officer and manager of the defendant company,
we think the court was authorized to draw the inference that one
or all of the three allegations alluded to was sustained. It appears
by the bill that the vital and principal part of the property of the
defendant corporation was what was known as the Lady Bryon
group of claims. Without this group as a part of its workable
property, the defendant corporation had left no mining property
worth working. It further appears, and is admitted, that the Lady
I'ryon group of claims on the 23rd day of May, 1914, was sold and
transferred to pay an indebtedness to Charles T. Birchard, and was
later transferred by him to another corporation formed for the
purpose of working this group. After the transfer of the Lady
Bryon group to Birchard all the apparatus and machinery for work-
ing the defendant corporation was moved, and after that time no
business was transacted by it. Mr. Gerrish said in answer to a
question: “There has been no work done at the Utah Mining, Mill-
ing and Transportation Company property since the Lady Bryon
claim was transferred to Mr. Birchard.” He was further asked:
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“As you understand, as treasurer of this defendant corporation, at
the time or soon after the Lady Bryon group was bought, every-
thing was moved,—the machinery, equipment, buildings—to the
Lady Bryon group of claims.” His answer was “yes;” and further,
that nothing had been done to replace machinery or_equipment since.
Mr. Birchard fully confirms the testimony of Mr. Gerrish. Not
only did the sitting Justice have before him this direct and positive
testimony regarding the financial condition and abandoned operation
of the defendant company, but also the spirit of the whole transac-
tion as manifested by the attitude of the officers and majority of
the stockholders toward the life or death of the defendant cor-
poration.
Appeal denied with additional costs.

JENNIE L. WINGATE
vs.
WATERVILLE, FAIRFIELD & OAKLAND RaiLway.
Kennebec. Opinion December 6, 1915,

Damages. Personal Injuries. Physician’s testimony. Range of
their testimony.

This case involves the question of damages only. The case presents a typi-
cal illustration of the extremes to which reputable physicians will some-
times go in testifying in behalf of a patient, and the boundless latitude
over which pathology, diagnosis and prognosis will permit them to range.
A careful study of the evidence shows that the verdict is unconscionably
excessive.

On motion by defendant. Motion sustained and new trial granted,
unless the plaintiff within 30 days after filing the certificate of this
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decision files a remittitur of the verdict above $2000; if such remit-
titur is filed, motion overruled.

This 'is an action on the case to recover damages suffered by the
plaintiff on account of personal injuries alleged to have been caused
by the negligence of the defendant. Plea, general issue. The jury
returned a verdict for plaintiff for $8750. Defendant filed a general
motion for a new trial and a motion for a new trial on the ground
of newly discovered evidence.

The case is stated in the opinion.

B. FE. Maher for plaintiff.

Johnson & Perkins and Merrill & Merrill, for defendant.

SiTTING: Savagg, C. J., Spear, King, Birp, HaLEy, Hanson, JJ.

SPEAR, J. This is an action for personal injuries in which the
plaintiff recovered a verdict in the sum of $8750. The liability of
the defendant is admitted. The case, therefore, involves the ques-
tion of damages only. Bearing upon the question of damages a
motion based upon newly discovered evidence has been filed, but
it may be said at the outset that in the opinion of the court the newly
discovered evidence discloses what might have added, if seasonably
iuvestigated, additional weight to the testimony already admitted.
1t cannot be regarded as newly discovered evidence.

This brings us back to the consideration of the question of dam-
ages. A careful study of the evidence shows that the verdict was
unconscionably excessive. This case presents a typical illustration
of the extremes to which reputable physicians will sometimes go in
testifying in behalf of a patient, and the boundless latitude over
which pathology, diagnosis and prognosis will permit them to range.
To give an intelligible analysis of the evidence in this case would
require space beyond the confines of any ordinary opinion, and serve
nc useful purpose. Seventeen questions were submitted to the jury
which, with the subdivisions, required just thirty answers. The
auestions were all couched in medical language and many of them
were of a highly technical nature, To illustrate: Question 9. Did
plaintiff receive an injury to pelvic floor caused by defendant’s
negligence? Question 16. Is thé plaintiff’s condition caused by the
defendant’s negligence such that an operation, to wit: hysterectomy,
will have to be performed? Question 17 a. Is she suffering from



188 CYR . LANDRY. (114

general traumatic neurasthenia and inertia of nerves controlling the
blood supply of the uterus? Twenty-seven of the answers were in
the affirmative. To number sixteen the jury, to their credit, said “Do
not know.” These questions were all taken, seriatim, from the plain-
tiff’s specifications of her injury, the only change being the inter-
rogatory form. It is not difficult to perceive that the jury, with
these specifications before them in their room, were overwhelmed
with this array of medical inquiries and technical terms. If they
were bewildered it is without wonder; and that their verdict might
be exaggerated, upon affirmatively answering this array of questions,
all indicating different forms of disorder resulting from injury,
might well be expected. It is the opinion of the court that $2000
is ample compensation for all the injuries inflicted upon the plaintiff
by the admitted negligence of the defendant.

Motion sustained, and new trial granted unless the plaintiff within
30 days after filing the certificate of this decision files a remittitur
of the verdict above $2000; if such remittitur is filed, motion over-
ruled.

Lirrian P. Cyr, By Larry H. Cyr,
Her Father and Next Friend,

vs.
GeorGE E. LaNDRY, M. D.
Penobscot. Opinion December 6, 1915.

Conflicting Testimony. Drainage Tube. Malpractice, Negligence.
Surgical Operation.

An action for malpractice for negligently performing an operation for
pleurisy, inserting a drainage tube in the side and for improperly attaching
said tube.

1. There was no allegation of malpractice for failure to discover the tube
if permitted to enter the cavity through the carelessness of some person
other than the defendant.
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2. The only issue, therefore, before the court, under the declaration is
whether the tube was improperly attached by adhesive plasters, as alleged.
Upon this issue, the evidence is overwhelming that the verdict was clearly
wrong.

3. But the case was tried and presented to the jury by the presiding Justice
upon another issue also, namely, whether, if the tube had entered the
plural cavity through accident, or the fault of another than Dr. Landry,
did he then exercise such care to discover whether it was in the cavity as
ordinary professional skill and knowledge required? Having been thus
tried this issue may be properly regarded as before the court. Held: the
-verdict should also be set aside upon this issue.

4. In view of the fact that it was impossible for the tube to enter the cavity
unless the safety pin, which fastened it in its place, was removed, and the
defendant was misled by the denial of Mrs. Cyr that she had interfered
with the dressing, it is the opinion of the court that when the doctor
directed her several times to take the child to the hospital for an opera-
tion, he exercised such care, under the circumstances in this case, as
ordinary medical skill and knowledge required. The verdict should be
set aside on this issue.

On motion for new trial by the defendant. Motion sustained.
New trial granted.

This is an action on the case to recover damages for malpractice
in securing a drainage tube which had been inserted in the side of
Lillian P. Cyr for the purpose of drainage of the incision in the
operation for pleurisy. Plea, the general issue. The jury returned
a verdict for plaintiff for $3000. The defendant filed a motion for
a new trial and also had certain exceptions, which do not appear to
have been considered.

The case is stated in the opinion.

Jawmes D. Rice and W. H. Pattangall for plaintiff.

Morse & Cook, for defendant.

SITTING: Savacg, C. J., SpeEar, King, Birp, Harey, Hawnson, JJ.

SPEAR, J. This is an action of malpractice for a surgical opera-
tion performed upon the plaintiff in which it is alleged that the
defendant “was employed to operate upon her side for pleurisy,
and later for the purpose of draining said incision a tube was
inserted and improperly attached by adhesive plaster to the outer
surface of the body. The drainage of said incision moistened
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the adhesive plaster and permitted the tube to enter the body of
the plaintiff and remain there a long period of time, to wit: from
October, 1908 until March 24, 1912.” There was no allegation of
malpractice for failure to discover the tube if permitted to enter
the cavity through the carelessness of some person other than the
defendant. The only issue therefore, before the court, under the
declaration is whether the tube was improperly attached by adhesive
plasters, as alleged. But the case was also tried upon the theory
of malpractice in failing to discover the tube, and this issue will be
later discussed.

Upon the first issue, if the evidence warranted the jury in finding
that the tube was secured as alleged, the verdict should stand. If
upon the evidence they were not warranted in so finding, the verdict
should be set aside. We think the verdict was clearly wrong.

The case shows that Lillian P. Cyr, for whose benefit the suit
was brought, was on the 16th day of October, 1908, operated on by
Dr. Twitchell of Old Town for the removal of fluid from the
pleural cavity, in the treatment of which it was necessary to insert
a tube for the drainage of the cavity. The tube was introduced by
inserting it between the ribs, through the incision made to drain the
cavity. Then gauze was put around the tube and the tube “left
sticking up through the gauze.” Dr. Twitchell describes the manner
it which he proceeded to fasten the tube, as follows: “Then I took
an ordinary safety pin, something like an inch and a half or two
inches long, putting it through the tube and through the gauze at the
same time, clasping or fastening it; outside of that I took other
gauze and put it on loosely, and around the whole body of the child
was another bandage, which was pinned ; that constituted the dress-
ing.” He then says that he proceeded to put over this gauze a
plaster on each side coming across—“you might say uniting the
ribs, above and below on each side of the ribs, so it laid across like
that, which held that firmly and securely from the gauze I put on
top as a top dressing, and that was put on for the purpose of absorb-
ing the pus or fluid which would naturally come cut through the
tube.” Dr. Twitchell was assisted in the performance of this opera-
tion by Dr. Landry, the defendant. Dr. Twitchell continued in
charge of the case until October 31, when he was relieved. In his
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treatment of the child from the 15th to the 31st of October he said
that Mrs. Cyr, the mother, thought he was coming too often.

Dr. Landry seems to have been called not because of dissatisfac-
tion with the skill of Dr. Twitchell, but because the mother, speaking
the French language, was unable to talk freely with him, and it was
thought advisable to employ Dr. Landry, who spoke French and
with whom she could converse. He took charge of the case Novem-
ber 2, 1908. As to just what he did the first day he took the case,
or whether it was the first or second of November, seems of no
great materiality. The important question is the whereabouts of
the drainage tube which Dr. Twitchell, when he last saw the case on
October 31st, had left fastened with a safety pin, through the gauze
and the tube, in the manner in which he had first secured it. If that
drainage tube, when Dr. Landry came, was then in the body of the
child, he was not guilty of malpractice. If he took the tube out and
attempted to secure it by the mere use of sticking plasters, and, on
this account it dropped into the cavity, he was guilty. The testimony
in this case was conflicting, but the mere fact of conflicting testimony
is not a sufficient basis, in all cases, for the foundation of a verdict.
While the general rule is that when the testimony is conflicting, the
verdict must stand, yet the term “conflicting” in the rule is subject
to interpretation. Our court have construed the rule as follows:
“It means that there must be substantial evidence in support of the
verdict,—evidence that is reasonable and coherent and so consistent
with the circumstances and probabilities in the case as to raise a
fair presumption of its truth when weighed against the opposing
cvidence. When it is overwhelmed by the opposing evidence, the
verdict cannot stand.” Moulton v. Railway Company, 99 Maine,
508. See also cases cited. The plaintiff’s testimony comes from
Mr. and Mrs. Cyr, the father and mother of the plaintiff ; the plain-
tiff, herself, who at the time of the operation was five years of age;
and Mrs. Lena Cyr, a sister of Mrs. Cyr, who claims she was pres-
ent at Dr. Landry’s first visit. The plaintifi’s version is, that Dr.
Landry when he dressed the operation took the tube out and washed
it, and when he replaced it secured it with adhesive plaster instead
of a safety pin; that in about a week, or after several calls, the
doctor discovered on making a call that the tube was missing ; that
they examined the bedding, dressings, etc., without finding the tube.
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This version was practically corroborated by the other witnesses
named.

Dr. Landry’s version is, that he was called to see the child on
November second, two days after Dr. Twitchell’s last visit; that
as he went into the house the mother informed him that the tube
was lost ; that he removed the outside dressings and looked for the
tube but was unable to find it; that they looked around and tried to
locate it without success ; that the mother then told him she thought
it must have dropped into the child’s body ; that he told her he did
not see how that could have happened, if it was left by Dr. Twitchell
as he had seen him fix it, at the original operation; but that if she
was at all suspicious the proper thing to do was to look for the
tube and advised her to take the child to the hospital and have it
looked into. Which version is true? The crucial test of truth is
sometimes found not in what people say, but in what they do as
well; and this is especially true when what they do and what they
say transpire before anything has arisen to create a motive for
evasion or falsehood; for it is common experience, after personal
interests are involved, that people will exaggerate or falsify to
advance or protect their interests. It is likewise a matter of common
knowledge that people generally speak the truth, and act in harmony
with it, when no such interests are at stake and no motive is found
for misrepresentation.

We think we are justified in the assumption, when Dr. Landry
was called to attend this little child, that no interest had then
appeared on his part tending in any way to induce him to act or
speak otherwise than in exact harmony with the situation as he
found it, and as any physician of twenty-two year’s experience
would have done. On the other hand no interest had then appeared
which was calculated to operate on the mind of the mother tending
to influence her to speak or act otherwise than in harmony with the
truth.

With this premise before us as a starting point, it may be pertinent
to inquire, whose testimony, the plaintiffs or the defendants, is
supported by the probabilities? and whose fraught with inherent
improbabilities? Whose testimony is in harmony with what one
would naturally expect to be done? and whose inconsistent with it?
Whose bears the impress of truth? Tested by this standard, the
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defendant’s version of the history of the loss of this tube, when he
was called, is in harmony with all the probabilities surrounding the
case and substantiated by what one would expect to happen, under
the circumstances; while the plaintiff’s version is incompatible with
the probabilities and inconsistent with what one would expect to
happen. A brief analysis of the facts will show the reasons for these
conclusions.

An operation had been performed on this child, a tube inserted
and fastened in the usual and saie way, and the device employed
certainly indicates that there was Lo simpler or easier method of
fastening the tube than the one used. It was also safe. When Dr.
Landry first came he says the mother at once said the tube was lost.
That statement was in harmony with the truth, for the tube was lost
inside the child. Did she make this statement to Dr, Landry? Did
she make it to the many other witnesses who have testified that she
told them that she so stated to Dr. Landry? to one of them before
Dr. Landry had called at all, as a reason why she was to call him?
Nearly six years later after this suit had been brought, she denies
having made any such statements to Dr. Landry or to the witnesses.
But the evidence seems to be overwhelming in favor of the conclu-
sion that she made the statements with reference to the loss of the
tube which Dr. Landry and the other witnesses attributed to her.
Upon this contradiction of the plaintiff, the defendant and his wit-
nesses are corroberated by one circumstance which is almost con-
vincing, and if it depended for proof upon the testimony of Dr.
Landry alone, might be regarded as a most cunning invention to
suppport his version. But it does not so depend and is so corrobo-
rated by Dr. Twitchell that it must bé conceded to be a proven fact.
It it this. Upon being informed that the tube was lost, and not
knowing but that it might have been removed by Dr Twitchell with-
out the knowledge of Mrs. Cyr, Dr. Landry says that he at once
proceeded to find Dr. Twitchell and ask him whether he left the
tube in the incision when he last visited the case. His testimony
upon this point is brief and as follows: “I tried to find out the
cendition the tube was in the last time the dressing was made. Mrs.
Cyr told me that the dressing was just as Dr. Twitchell had always
left it; there was a safety pin into it stuck through the gauze and
through the tube. I then thinking that for some reason or another,

VOL. CXIV I3
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without Mrs. Cyr knowing it, Dr. Twitchell had removed the tube
and I went to ask him, to find out whether he had or not. Dr.
Twitchell told me that when he left the child on the 31st that the
tube was attached exactly the same as it was the day of the
original operation; that there was a safety pin stuck through the
gauze and through the tube.” Dr. Twitchell in his testimony cor-
roborates this statement, in which he says on the second day of
November, two days after he left the case, Dr. Landry found him
upon the streets and inquired if he removed the tube when he left
and that he informed him that he left it there as usual and fastened
as usual. After seeing Dr. Twitchell, he says he then got another
tube, went back to the house and put it in with a safety pin on the
end of it. .
At this juncture we find a physician of twenty-two years’ experi-
ence called to this case in which either the tube was in place as Dr.
Twitchell left it, or replaced by himself. If it was in place, and
replaced on November second, as all agree, when he first dressed
the operation, is it possible to understand or conjecture, what motive
prompted him to go to Dr. Twitchell to inquire about a thing, that
was absolute before his eyes, and was before them, according to
the testimony of Mrs. Cyr, for nearly a week after he saw Dr.
Twitchell? There is no mistake about the version of Mrs. Cyr and
all her witnesses. They all saw alike. Her version was their ver-
sion. She says: “He (Dr. Landry) took off the bandage
and washed the tube and put it back.” Then further: “The tube dis-
appeared through the first week of treatment. The doctor made about
four calls before the tube disappeared.” And yet, with this tube
either directly before his eyes, fastened as Dr. Twitchell had left it,
or as he, himself, had replaced it, he departs from the bedside of
his patient to find out what had become of it, and makes an inquiry
cf Dr. Twitchell to that end. We are unable to conceive of such
conduct on the part of a sane man. On November second there
could be no possible anticipation of an action for malpractice by Dr.
Landry, even if the plaintiff’s version was true, as the tube was not
then lost, and he could have no reason to assume it might be lost,
even though fastened as the plaintiff claims. Accordingly, Dr.
Landry’s abnormal conduct was enacted without cause or reason.
The plaintiff’s contention that the tube was not lost, and the defend-
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ant’s concurrent inquiry of Dr. Twitchell whether it was, are abso-
lutely incompatable, and one story or the other is wrong. Which?
Upon the presumptive truth of the testimony of Dr. Landry and Dr.
Twitchell as to Dr. Landry’s inquiry regarding the tube this cir-
cumstance is overwhelmingly in favor of the defendant.

But it may be contended that the jury had a right to disbelieve
the story of Dr. Landry and Dr. Twitchell in regard to Dr. Landry’s
inquiry. Upon the assumption that this issue is an open question,
then it becomes important to discover whose version the other wit-
nesses, the other circumstances and probabilities corroborate. First,
is it probable that Dr Landry secured the tube, as the plaintiff con-
tends? All the medical testimony in the case, including Dr. Landry,
himself, fails to recall a case in which a tube was ever fastened in
the way the plaintiff says it was; and further, that it would not be
a proper way. As before stated, the use of a safety pin was the
safest, simplest, and easiest way to secure the tube. At the very
threshold of the case, therefore, arises the improbability that Dr.
Landry departed from the usual practice to adopt a method, up
to that time, unknown. And not only this improbability, but the
plaintiff says, when the child was brought from the hospital where
the tube had been removed, that Dr. Landry, who must have known
that his careless method had permitted one tube to drop into the
patient’s body, again took out the safety pin and employed adhesive
plasters to secure the replacement of the tube,~—precisely what he
had done before. This seems incredible. Again, if that tube was
lost within the first four visits of Dr. Landry, and he fastened it
the way the plaintiff said, he knew, what even a layman would
strongly suspect, that the tube had dropped into the cavity. Assum-
ing this to be the fact, is it then probable that he would have hesi-
tated to proceed either to remove the tube himself, or take the
patient to the hospital, where by the simple operation of stretching
the old incision the tube was removed with forceps? This would
have been the natural thing for a family physician to do. No reason
or motive appears at this stage of the case, why the defendant should
have done otherwise, while all the probabilities are in favor of his
doing so. He could not have been preparing for a defense at this
time, accordingly no motive appears for the unreasonable course,
which, upon the above assumption, he must have pursued. It is
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highly improbable that he knew or suspected the tube was in the
cavity, a thing he must have known if the plaintiff’s version is cor-
rect. Not only do these circumstances support the testimony of
Dr. Landry and Dr. Twitchell in regard to the inquiry of November
second, but several witnesses, so far as appears, without interest or
prejudice, corroborate it, and flatly contradict the plaintiff.

It may make it clearer to here restate that Mrs. Cyr denied that
she knew the tube was lost before Dr. Landry came on November
second, or told him that it was lost, at or after that time. Upon
this issue of fact Margaret Huges, a trained nurse, contradicts her;
Alice Martin, a neighbor, contradicts her; Amanda Cole contradicts
her; Ida Graham contradicts her; Sadie Shoratte contradicts her.
This witness lived in a part of the Cyr house. At the time these
conversations of Mrs. Cyr, testified to by these witnesses, were
alleged to have been made, Mrs. Cyr had no motive to tell other
than the truth. Nothing was then pending except the ordinary
conditions surrounding the case. Her alleged statements were all
reasonable, and, what is very convincing of their utterance, in per-
fect accord with the truth of the situation as it actually existed. The
tube was lost.

The evidence is so overwhelming against the plaintiff’s contention
regarding the defendant’s negligence for the loss of this tube, that
the jury, for some reason, so failed to comprehend the force and
effect of the evidence, when properly considered, that their verdict,
upon this issue must be set aside.

As said in the beginning, the only issue under the plaintift’s
declaration was whether the tube was lost through the negligence of
Dr. Landry. But the case was tried, and presented to the jury by
the presiding Justice, upon another issue, also, namely, whether if
the tube had entered the pleural cavity through accident, or the
fault of another than Dr. Landry, did he then exercise such care to
discover whether it was in the cavity, as ordinary professional skill
and knowledge required? In other words, was he negligent, in view
of the professional skill required, in making a reasonable effort to
discover whether the tube was in the cavity?

This issue was tried out without objection. Under the rule laid
down in Cowen v. Bucksport, o8 Maine, 305 and Wyman v. Ameri-
can Shoe Refining Company, 106 Maine, 263 that, where issues are
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so tried, the case may be considered as if the declaration had been
amended to conform to the evidence, this second issue may be prop-
erly regarded as before the court.

The conclusions reached in discussing the first issue are clearly
applicable to the determination of the second issue, upon the question
of varacity between the plaintiff and the defendant. There can be
little question that the plaintiff’s witnesses were clearly mistaken
regarding their version of the loss of the tube; and that the defend-
ant’s version is the true one.

Accordingly, notwithstanding Mrs. Cry’s denial, the evidence is
ample to pursuade a reasonable mind, that the tube was lost through
her own improper manipulation of the dressing and that she knew,
or had every reason to know, that through her own fault it had
dropped into the cavity. While she did not say that it was in the
cavity, her statement to the doctor at the very beginning, that the
tube was lost, and her persistent reitteration that it might be in the
body, in view of the fact that it was there, are well nigh convincing
of her knowledge of that fact. Yet she denied to the doctor that
she had interfered with the dressing and, in view of the practical
impossibility of the tube entering the body with the pin attached
to it, completely put him off his guard and led him to as persistently
declare that such disposition of the tube was impossible. Her denial
which he had a right to regard as true put him off the track. He
nevertheless repeatedly told her if she thought the tube was in the
cavity to take the girl to the hospital and have the question deter-
mined. The real key to the situation on this phase of the case is
found in a single remark from Dr. Twitchell, that she thought it
was unnecessary for him to come so often, and in the evidence of
another witness, Mrs. Shoratte, who lived in the lower part of the
house, that she brought down stairs and showed to her portions of
the dressing which she had removed more or less saturated with
matter. This witness said: “She (Mrs. Cyr) often told me she
had to change the child because she was getting so she could not
rest. Lots of times she had to change them morning and night.” As
the only possible way, as it was left by Dr. Twitchell, the tube
could fall into the cavity was by removing the safety pin, the nec-
essary inference is that somebody removed the pin. As it was
removed after Dr. Twitchell left it in place on October 31st and
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before Dr. Landry dressed the incision on November second, and
as nobody else had charge of the case, by the process of elimination
it follows that the only person who could have removed it was Mrs.
Cyr; and the above evidence of Dr. Twitchell and of Mrs. Shoratte
shows that she undertook to treat the case herself and in so doing
improperly secured the tube and lost it. In view of the fact that it
was impossible for the tube to enter the cavity unless the safety pin
was removed, and that Dr. Landry was completely misled by the
denial of Mrs. Cyr, that she had interfered with the dressing, and
that she was charged with every reason to believe that the tube was
in the body, yet withheld the information, it is the opinion of the
court, that when the doctor directed her time and again to take the
child to the hospital for an operation, if she believed the tube was
in the body, he exercised such care, under the circumstances in this
case, as ordinary medical skill and knowledge required. The verdict
should also be set aside upon this issue.

Motion sustained.

New trial granted.

GEORGE ALBERT PowERs vs. MAINE CENTRAL RAILrRoOAD CoMPANY.
Penobscot. Opinion December 6, 1915.

Chartered Duties.  Damages.  Fellow Servants.  Negligence.  Notice.
Orders. Personal Injuries. Warning.

The defendant hired its train and crew to Hines & Son to do certain work
for them, The crew were to control the mechanical operations of the train;
Hines & Son were to direct its movements,

Held:

1. Upon: the question as to what duty devolved upon the defendant, it may
be regarded as a fair interpretation to hold that it was the duty of the
crew not to give, but to obey orders; to act according to orders.

2. That they, accordingly, had a right to assume, and to act upon the assump-
tion, that the person whose duty it was to give the orders to move the
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train had exercised due care in preparation for its execution and that it
was not negligence to obey, unless by the exercise of due care, the orders
were, or ought to have been, discovered to be improper or dangerous to
perform,

3. Whether a railroad can divest itself of its chartered responsibility is
found in the inquiry, whether the negligence complained of was in the
improper mechanical operation of the train in executing a proper order,
or in the proper mechanical operation of the train in executing an improper
order; in other words, whether the careless operation of the train was
the proximate cause of the injury, or the execution with due care of a
careless order was the proximate cause of the accident and injury. If the
latter, the rule does not apply, as the railroad, under the contract, cannot
be declared negligent, unless it is held to be an insurer.

On exceptions by the plaintiff, with stipulation that if plaintiff’s
exceptions are sustained, the Law Court shall assess damages and
order final judgment. Judgment for plaintiff for $8go.co.

This is an action on the case, brought by the plaintiff against the
Maine Central Railroad Company to recover damages for personal
injuries received in consequence of the negligence of the defendant
company. Plea, general issue. At the close of the evidence, the
presiding Justice. directed a verdict for the defendant. To this
direction of a verdict, the plaintiff excepted.

The case is stated in the opinion.

Morse & Cook, and W. H. Powell, for plaintiff.

Fellows & Fellows, for defendant,

StrriNg:  Savacg, C. J., Seear, King, Birp, Harey, Hanson, JJ.

Spear, J. This is an action to recover for personal injuries.
After the testimony was all in the presiding Justice ordered a ver-
dict for the defendant with the stipulation, if the exceptions taken
tc the order were sustained, that the Law Court should assess the
damages. The only question, therefore, is whether the case should
have been submitted to the jury. We think it should.

The plaintiff at the time of his injury was an employee of T. J.
Hines & Son, who were contractors in constructing the eastern span
of the Old Town and Milford bridge across the Penobscot river.
The Maine Central Railroad contracted with T. J. Hines & Son at
a certain sum per night, of not over three hours, to furnish a freight
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train to unload, upon the Maine line, gravel and crushed rock, to be
used in the construction of the bridge. The railroad company was
to furnish the train, and crew to operate it, for a stated time and
sum, but beyond this had nothing whatever to do with the use or
control of the train. Its movements were not under the direction of
the railroad company. It was in the employ, and working under
the orders, of Ilines & Son. The plaintiff was injured by being
thrown between the cars, by the impact caused by moving that part
of the train, to which the engine was attached, against some detached
cars standing upon the track, upon one of which the plaintitf was
attempting to mount for the purpose of unloading it. In causing
the accident the plaintiff contends the defendant company was neg-
ligent in two ways: First, by carelessly running the engine, and
cars to which it was attached, against the other cars in such a “dan-
gerous and violent manner as to throw the plaintiff upon the track.”
Second, by neglecting to give any notice or warning to the plaintiff
of their purpose to shackle to the cars which were being unloaded.
The defendant contends, under the contract of hire, that the train
crew while doing this particular work were the employees of Hines
& Son, for whose conduct the railroad was in no way responsible,
either for negligence in operating the train or in executing orders,
if acting according to directions. In other words, that the train
crew were fellow servants, in the execution of this work, with the
employees of Hines & Son. The plaintiff’s answer is that the rail-
road company, under its charter and the laws of the State, could not
by contract divest itself of full responsibility for the operation of
its train.

The fellow servant rule, as will be seen, does not apply. Nor do
we think the doctrine that the railroad is responsible for properly
executing the orders of Hines & Son, without any negligence on its
own part, can be applied under the rule, that a railroad cannot divest
itself of duties imposed by its charter and the laws of the State.
The application of this rule depends upon the inquiry, whether the
contract, which the railroad made, was in violation of its charter or
the laws of the State. If it was, the rule applies in full; if not, it
does not apply in full. The contract, resolved into its parts, presents
the following elements: It hired its train and crew to Hines &
Son to do certain work for them. For due care for its mechanical
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operation it did not seek to relieve itself by the terms of the contract.
And under this contract it is proper to here note the clear distinction
between the implied duty of the train crew, in controlling the
mechanical operation of the train, and its express duty in moving
the train in obedience to the orders of Hines & Son. The crew
were to control the mechanical operation of the train. Hines & Son
were to direct its movements. The engineer, conductor and crew
were responsible for the mechanical operation of the train; for
how to run it. Hines & Son were responsible for all orders, when
and where to run it. For these directions the crew had nothing to
say; Hines & Son had all to say. In this contract we discover
nothing partaking of illegality.

Upon the question as to what duty devolved upon the defendant
to meet the measure of due care, imposed upon it under its contract,
it may be regarded as a fair interpretation to hold, that it was the
duty of the crew not to give, but to obey orders; to act according to
orders; that they, accordingly, had a right to assume, and to act
upon the assumption, that the person whose duty it was to give the
order to move the train had exercised due care, in preparation for
its execution, and that it was not negligence to obey, unless, by
the exercise of due care, the orders were, or ought to have been,
discovered to be improper or dangerous to perform. There was no
other way in which they could be directed to move the cars from
place to place to deposit the gravel and rock. The crew had no
means of knowing except from directions.

Accordingly, the differentiation between this case and the line of
cases in which the plaintiff invokes the rule, that a railroad cannot
divest itself of its chartered responsibility, is found in the inquiry,
whether the negligence complained of was in the improper mechan-
ical operation of the train, in executing a proper order, or in the
proper mechanical operation of the train, in executing an improper
order; in other words, whether the careless operation of the train
was the proximate cause, or the execution with due care, of a care-
less order, was the proximate cause, of the accident and injury. If
the latter, then the rule does not apply, as the railroad, under the
.contract, cannot be declared to be negligent, unless it is held to be
:an insurer.
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Under this interpretation of the law three questions of fact are
involved. (1) Was the railroad company negligent in the mechanical
operation of its train in the execution of the order to move the
train? (2) Was it negligent in a failure to give proper warning
that it was about to shackle onto the cars that were being unloaded?
(3) Was the plaintiff guilty of contributory negligence? Should
the first question have been submitted to the jury? If there was
any evidence upon which the jury would be authorized to base a
verdict it should have been submitted. We think the report clearly
discloses such evidence. Under the rule of law above stated, the
railroad company was responsible for due care in the operation of
its train, in the execution of the directions under which it worked.
It, therefore, follows that the fellow-servant rule cannot be applied
to a negligent management of the train, in executing the order to
shackle to the other cars. Under this phase of the case the plaintiff
avers that the defendant did improperly operate its train, by impell-
ing it with such force against the detached cars, upon one of which
the plaintiff was about to go to work, as to be chargeable with neg-
ligence in so doing. The plaintiff was entitled to the judgment of
the jury upon this issue. His testimony, if true, shows that, while
he was in the act of mounting one of the detached cars, he was
thrown between them by the severity of the shock, caused by the
force with which the moving train struck against them. Another
witness said in answer to the question, what effect the impact had
upon him, “I tumbled down. It knocked me down.” Another wit-
ness testified in answer to the inquiry, what caused the injury,
“Well, the engine struck the cars and knocked his feet out from
under him.” There is other testimony of a similar nature. This
testimony, coupled with the further testimony of the plaintiff and
other witnesses that he had no warning,—whether true or not it is
not for us to say,—was sufficient to require the facts to be submitted
to the judgment of the jury whether the crew were sufficiently
prudent in running the train back with the force which the evidence
discloses. In view of this conclusion, it becomes unnecessary to
consider the question, whether the defendant did or did not ring
the bell, or otherwise give notice. The third question involving the
contributory negligence of the plaintiff, under the report of the evi-
dence, was clearly a question of fact for the jury and cannot be
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decided against him as a matter of law, as the evidence would
sustain a verdict if found in his favor. Under the stipulation in
ordering the verdict, the only remaining question is the assessment
of damages.

Upon this question we deem it our duty to rely substantially upon
the testimony of the plaintiff’s attending physician touching the
nature and severity of the injuries of which the plaintiff complains.
His description of what he found is stated in his own language as
follows: “He complained of pain about his side, shoulder and arm;
more particularly his arm at that time. He told me about the fall,
and I examined him for his injuries. The first thing T found was a
fracture of the ulna,—about there as I remember it; it was in the
iower third somewhere about here; and he made complaint about
soreness and lameness about his shoulder. I stripped him and
examined his shoulder to see if there was any dislocation or fracture
there; I didn’t find any. 1 didn’t examine the chest very carefully
until a day or two after that he complained of a good deal of sore-
ness about his chest. T reduced the fracture and put a suitable
splint on it, and told him to carry his arm in the sling at his side,
in the usual way. That is about all there was.” A few days later
upon complaint of pain in breathing, the physician made a further
examination of the plaintiff upon which he thought he discovered
symptoms of a fracture of a rib under the deep muscles of the back.
While the proof is not conclusive of this injury, yet, in considering
the evidence in the light of a jury, we think we should assume that
such a fracture was sustained. Upon cross-examination, Dr. Rowe,
who, by the way, seems to have been a perfectly fair witness, says
that in treating the fracture of the arm he got a perfect union of
the ulna and that the fracture of the rib had fully recovered so far
as he was able to judge; that the arm remained in a sling or splint
about four weeks. He also said, at the time of the trial, that there
was nothing to indicate that the plaintiff had not fully recovered,
except symptoms that were entirely subjective; that there were 1o
objective symptoms. And in answer to the question, “There is
nothing to be seen from your examination why this man is not fully
recovered,” replied, “No, sir.” Dr. Daniel A. Robinson of Bangor,
who made an examinaion of the plaintiff a short time before the
trial, said the only objective symptom he discovered was that he
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found somewhere about the lower third of the arm,—this side—
the feeling as if the bone had been injured; and further, that both
arms were of the same size and the motion so far as he could tell
was all perfect, but that he complained of these two fingers; being
lack of strength and being cold. Upon cross-examination in answer
to the inquiry whether the injury of the ulna nerve would affect
the fingers complained of, he answered: “I have never seen it do
that from these injuries.” The plaintiff says that he was unable
to do any kind of work from the 15th day of October, 1913, when
he was injured, until the 6th or 8th of January following, when he
went into the woods in the employment of scaling lumber in which
occupation he continued until April 8th. At the time he was injured
he was earning $3.00 a day. IHe was therefore entitled to recover,
for his loss of time during this period, for seventy-five days at $3.00
per day, amounting to $225.00. From January 8th to April 8th
he says his loss was about $10.00 per month, for which he should
have $30.00. From April 8th to the first of June the plaintiff, whose
business during this period was river driving, says that he tried but
was unable to work, on account of his injured arm, and that the
wages for this employment rangad from $2.50 to $3.00 a day. It is
difficult to say just what the plaintiffl chould be entitled to for this
loss of time as it was his duty to find employment, even at a less
price per day, during this period if he was able to do so. We think,
however, it may be fair to allow him the minimum price of $2.50
per day, for forty-six days, which amounts to $115.00. After this
the evidence fairly shows that he was able to engage in any of his
usual occupations which might be offered him. He should be allowed
$25.00, the amount paid Dr. Rowe for medical services, and a fur-
ther sum of $25.00 for incidental expenses. He is also entitled to
recover for the pain and suffering which he underwent and which
he will undergo if any in the future. We think for this he is entitled
to recover $500. The aggregate of these sums totals eight hundred
and ninety dollars, the amount which we think the plaintiff is entitled

to recover.
Judgment for plaintiff for $890.00.
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ALDEN J. VARNEY vs. CHARLES H. McCLUSKEY.
Aroostook. Opinion December 7, 1915.

Agreement in writing. Contract. Evidence. Market value.

Memorandum book. Sale. Special market.

An action of assumpsit for the recovery of damages for alleged breach of a
written agreement for the growing of potatoes and the delivery of a
certain percentage of the crop between certain dates by plaintiff and pay-
ment by defendant at an agreed price for the potatoes so delivered.

Held:

1. Where, subject to objection, written evidence is read to the jury, and
such evidence is not made part of the bill of exceptions and does not appear
in the record, exceptions to its admission will be overruled, although at
the argument counsel agree to characterize it as a recommendation.

2. Evidence of the market value of goods at a time other than that agreed .
upon for their delivery is not admissible upon the question of damages
for non-delivery, where its admission may have been prejudicial to the
excepting party.

On motion and exceptions by the defendant. Motion not con-
sidered. Exceptions sustained.

This is an action on the case, based on a written contract between
the parties, to recover damages for non-delivery of potatoes, as set
forth in said contract. Plea, the general issue. The jury returned
a verdict for the plaintiff for $367.93. Defendant filed exceptions
to the admission of certain evidence and a general motion for a new
trial.

The case is stated in the opinion.

R. W. Shaw, for plaintiff.

Hersey & Barnes, for defendant.

Strring: Savace, C. J., Serar, KiNg, Birp, Hanson, JJ.

Birp, J. This action of assumpsit is brought to recover damages
for the alleged violation of a written agreement executed by the par-
ties on the fifteenth day of May, 1913. By the agreement the
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cefendant undertakes to purchase of the plaintiff forty barrels of
“New Snow” potatoes for the sum of two hundred dollars, to plant
and cultivate the forty barrels in a specified manner, to grow one
prize acre for which he is to receive a prize, if certain results be
accomplished, and “to dig and store said potatoes, so grown from
said seed as aforesaid, and at any time between the digging of the
same and the first day of April, 1914, at the option of said Varney,
said McCluskey is to load eighty-five per cent of said potatoes so
grown, on cars at said Houlton, ready for shipment.” The plaintiff,
on his part, agrees to sell the forty barrels of said potatoes, to pay
the prize “that, when said eighty-five per cent of said potatoes are
so loaded for shipment by said McCluskey as aforesaid, he will pay
said McCluskey the then market price of good merchantable Green
Mountain table stock potatoes, and in addition to that price the sum
of fifty cents per barrel extra, .’ The plea is the general
issue, and, the jury rendering a verdict for the plaintiff for $367.93,
the defendant filed a bill of exceptions and the general motion for
new trial.

It is agreed that eighty-five per cent of the potatoes raised is 725
barrels and that the market price of Green Mountain potatoes of
the character mentioned in the contract on the last days of March,
1914, was $1.75 per barrel.

At the trial plaintiff offered a memorandum book containing an
entry made by defendant under date of November sixth, 1913, rela-
tive to the New Snow potatoes raised by him pursuant to the con-
tract. Subject to objection, the entry was allowed to be read to the
jury. The entry read does not appear in the printed record and the
book is not before us. It was agreed at the argument that the entry
was in effect a recommendation of the potatoes produced. It was
avowedly offered by plaintiff to ‘“show my special market price of $5
per barrel.”

It does not appear from the bill of exceptions nor from the
report of the evidence, which is made part of the bill, that the
ruling was erroneous and prejudicial. The agreement of parties
as to the character of written evidence is not to be received in place
of the evidence itself which was the subject of the ruling below.
Without the writing, it cannot be determined if a ruling admitting
or rejecting it be correct or not nor if its admission or rejection were
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harmful to the excepting party. Jowues v. Jones, 101 Maine 447, 450;
Doylestown Agricultural Co. v. Brackett etc. Co., 109 Maine, 301,
308; Drapeau v. Breton, 114 Maine, . The exception is there-
fore overruled.

One Haines, called by the plaintiff, was permitted to testify, sub-
ject to objection and exceptions, that the market price of New Snow
potatoes in May, 1914, was five dollars per barrel, all the other
witnesses called by plaintiff upon the question of damages having
testified that the market price on the last days of March, 1914, was
five dollars. The evidence was inadmissible; South Gardiner Lum-
ber Co. v. Bradstreet, 97 Maine, 160, 170. It is impossible to deter-
mine how the jury reached its verdict. Whether it found, upon the
one hand, that one hundred and forty barrels were ordered out and
agreed to be delivered on the thirtieth of March, and fixed the
damages at two dollars and fifty cents per barrel, or, upon the other
hand that seven hundred and twenty-five barrels were seasonably
demanded and cars provided to receive them, and fixed the damages
at fifty cents a barrel, in either case making an allowance for inter-
est. If the former, the evidence admitted was prejudicial to defend-
ant. If the latter, the jury having disregarded the theory of plaintiff
as to damages as well as the testimony of his witnesses as to market
price, it was not. But it should not be overlooked that if a season-
able demand was made on the thirty-first day of March there is no
evidence that plaintiff furnished cars on that day for the reception
of the potatoes or that the parties agreed upon any substituted place
or method of delivery.

Such being the case we think the exceptions must be sustained.

This conclusion renders it unnecessary to consider the motion
for new trial.

Exceptions sustained.
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Josepr GALLANT vs. THE GREAT NORTHERN PAPER CoMPANY.
Androscoggin, Opinion December 8, 1915.

Assumption of Risk.  Damages. Dynamite.  Fellow Servant. Injuries.
Log Driving.  Public Laws of 1909, Chapter 258.

1. The words “engaged in cutting, hauling or driving logs,” as used in Sec.’
8, Chapter 258, Public Laws of 1909, commonly spoken of as the Employers
Liability Act, includes any actual log driving labor, regardless of whether
the employer is the owner of the logs driven or not, and irrespective of
the use he may intend to make of the logs after they have been driven.

2. The defendant cannot be held negligent because of the fact that it fur-
nished dynamite for the use of its servants in the log driving operations,
for dynamite is customarily furnished by the proprietors of such opera-
tions to be used by their servants in prosecuting the work of driving logs.

3. A servant of mature years and common intelligence, when he engages to
serve an employer, is conclusively held to assume the risks of danger
which are known to him, as well as those which are incident to his work
and which are obvious and apparent to one of his intelligence.

4. A servant who is injured by the negligence or misconduct of his fellow
servant cannot maintain an’ action against his employer for such injuries,
unless the employer was negligent in the selection of that fellow-servant.
The risk of injury by a fellow-servant is a risk the employee assumes.

5. The fact that the negligent servant is a foreman does not change the rule,
unless at the time he was representing the master. The test is the nature
of the duty that is being performed by the negligent servant at the time
of the injury, and not the comparative grades of the two servants.

6. In going with the others in the boat containing the exposed dyna-
mite ready for use in breaking the jam, a fact which he knew, the plaintiff
must be held to have assumed the risks of danger to himself incident
thereto, including the negligence of his fellow-servants in the boat.

7. The actual handling and using of dynamite in log driving operations
is not such a duty owing from the master to his servant as the law for-
bids the master to delegate to another so as to relieve himself from the
consequences of the negligence of those handling and using it.

8. In this case the foreman was the plaintiff’s fellow-servant at the time of
the accident, and that for his negligence whereby the plaintiff was injured,
the defendant is not liable in this action.

9. The uncontroverted facts disclosed in the case do not sustain the plain-
tiff’s action.
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On report. Judgment for defendant.

An action brought by plaintiff to recover damages for personal
injuries sustained by him while in the employment of defendant
and in consequence of its negligence. Plea, general issue with brief
statement, in which it is claimed that Section 8 of Chapter 258 of
the Public Laws of 1909 does not apply to those engaged in driving
logs.

The case is stated in the opinion.

McGillicuddy & Morey, for plaintiff.

White & Carter, for defendant.

SITTING: SAvAGE, C. J., SpEAR, King, Birp, Harey, Hanson, JJ.

KinNG J. Action to recover damages for personal injuries sus-
tained by the plaintiff on May 12, 1914, while in the defendant’s
employ as a river driver.

The action was brought under the provisions of Chapter 258 of
the Public Laws of 1909, known as the Employers Liability Act.
An amendment was allowed, adding a count at common law, with a
stipulation of the parties to report the case to the Law Court upon
the evidence and the special finding by the jury as to damages, that
court to direct such judgment as the law and evidence require, both
as to the defendant’s liability and as to the amount of damages.

The material facts are not in controversy. The plaintiff was
working in a crew of river drivers on the defendant’s drive on Elm
Stream in the northern part of the State. Frank Crockett was the
foreman of that crew. He worked with the other men in driving,
and his duty as foreman was to see that the crew worked efficiently.
He received his orders from an assistant superintendent of the whole
drive on the stream. On the day the plaintiff was injured he and
cight other men including the foreman went in a boat a short dis-
tance up Elm Stream pond to release and bring down a quantity of
logs that were being kept back or jammed by ice. Sticks of dyna-
mite, primed and ready for use in breaking the jam, were taken in
the boat in an open box. There was also a bag containing dynamite
put into the boat. The plaintiff thus describes the accident that
caused his injuries.

“The foreman, until we got up where the logs were, opposite the
logs, stood in the middle of the boat, between the second and third

VOL. CX1IV 14
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seats. When we got up where he wanted to stop, he gave orders
for us to stop the boat, stepping over the second and forward seat,
and began to light some of the dynamite, standing directly over the
box. He lit a few sticks, and finally, I was seated back to him, I
turned around and see him light one stick, and saw the fire sputter,
and the match drop in the box. I was looking on the ice every time
he threw a stick, and I kind of turned my head towards the ice
where he was in the habit of throwing the sticks, and the whole
thing exploded.” As a result of the explosion three of the men in
the boat, including the foreman, were killed, and the plaintiff was
badly injured.

1. It is provided in the Employers Liability Act, supra, (Sec. 8)
that its provisions shall not apply to injuries to persons ‘“engaged
in cutting, hauling or driving logs.” The plaintiff, however, con-
tends that the work he was doing when injured should be regarded
as a part of the defendant’s process of manufacturing pulp and
paper, since the logs he was working on were to be used ultimately
by the defendant for that purpose at its pulp and paper mills, and,
therefore, that he was not “driving logs” within the meaning of the
exemption in the Act. We think that contention is without merit.
The work in which the plaintiff was engaged was being carried on
more than a hundred miles from the defendant’s manufacturing
plant. It was in fact the work of “driving logs” and we are unable
to perceive any reason why it must not be so classified, regardless of
the ownership of the logs or the use to be made of them. The
language of the exemption is explicit and unqualified. The mean-
ing of the expression “driving logs” is clear, and free from all uncer-
tainty. It includes we think any actual log driving labor, regardless
of whether the employer is the owner of the logs driven or not, and
irrespective of the use he may intend to make of the logs after they
have been driven. We entertain no doubt, therefore, that the plain-
tiff was engaged in “driving logs” at the time of his injuries, and
for that reason the Employcrs Liability Act affords him no remedy
therefor.

2. It remains to be considered if the plaintiff has established that
he is entitled to recover under his count at common law.

That the use of dynamite in log driving operations is a common
practice is conceded. It is customarily furnished by the proprietors
of such operations to be used by their servants in breaking ice and
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log jams, and otherwise in the work of driving logs. Nor was the
plaintiff ignorant of the custom. He was an experienced log driver,
and testified that he knew that dynamite was used by river drivers
to blow jams and for any purpose that such power is required.
Moreover, he knew that it was being used on that drive, and he had
seen it used there. The defendant, therefore, cannot be held neg-
ligent because of the fact that it furnished dynamite for use on

this drive. Nor can the plaintiff claim want of information of that
" fact for he knew it.

He alleges that the defendant failed to provide for him a safe
place to work. The boat itself was not unsafe. It became so at
the time of the accident by reason of the presence of the dynamite
in it and the act of Mr. Crockett whereby it was exploded. Indeed
there can be no doubt from the evidence that this most unfortunate
accident was the result of Mr. Crockett’s carelessness. All the
alleged acts of negligence of which the plaintiff complains, both of
omission and commission, were the acts of Crockett. If it was
negligence to take into the boat sticks of dynamite already primed
and in an open box, that was the particular act of Crockett. He put
them into the boat in that condition, according to the plaintiff’s
own testimony. If any particular one of those in the boat was more
at fault than the others because they remained in the boat while
the dynamite was being used, it was perhaps Mr. Crockett. But
it does not appear that the plaintiff, or any of the others, even sug-
gested that the sticks of dynamite should not be lighted while they
were in the boat, although the plaintiff says “he had thrown out
four or five charges at different times before the boat blew up.”
And certainly it was the carelessness of Mr. Crockett in using the
dynamite that was the proximate cause of the explosion.

It is the well settled rule in this State that a servant of mature
vears and of common intelligence, when he engages to serve an
employer, is conclusively held to assume the risks of danger which
are known to him, and as well those which are incident to his work
and which are obvious and apparent to one of his intelligence and
experience. Caven v. Granite Co., 99 Maine, 278; Coolbroth v.
Maine Central R. R. Co., 77 Maine, 165. It is well settled, too, that
a servant who is injured by the negligence or misconduct of his
fellow-servant cannot maintain an action against his employer for
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such injuries, unless the employer was negligent in the selection of
that fellow-servant. Conley v. Portland, 78 Maine, 217; Cowan V.
Pulp Co., 91 Maine, 29. The risk of being injured by the negligence
of a fellow-servant is a risk that an employee assumes. And the
fact that the negligent servant is a foreman does not change the
rule, unless at the time he was representing the master. Lawler v.
Androscoggin R. R. Co., 62 Maine, 463; Conley v. Portland, supra;
Doughty v. Penobscot Log Driving Co., 76 Maine, 143; Swmall v.
Mfg. Co., 94 Maine, 551. And in the case last cited it was said:
“The test which determines the master’s liability for the negligence
of one employee whereby injury is caused to another, is the nature
of the duty that is being performed by the negligent servant, at the
time of the injury, and not the comparative grades of the two ser-
vants.”

Applying these well settled rules to the facts disclosed in this case,
it seems clear that the plaintiff is not entitled to recover. He testi-
tied that before he got into the boat he saw “the foreman put the
box of dynamite, about half full or better, in front of the forward
seat in the boat, up in the bow,” that it was “primed,” and “was
exposed,” and that the fuses were “about six or seven inches long,”
and that he also saw another man put a bag of dynamite into the
boat, “front of the forward seat.” He was not compelled, knowing
those conditions, to go in the boat against his will. He went along
with the others at the suggestion of Crockett that he wanted a boat’s
crew to go up and get the logs. In going with the others in the boat
containing the exposed dynamite ready for use in breaking the jam,
a fact which he knew, he must be held to have assumed the risks
of danger to himself incident thereto, including the negligence of
his fellow-servants in the boat.

And we are constrained to the conclusion, according to the well
settled rules of law, that Mr. Crockett was the plaintiff’s fellow-
servant at the time of the accident. All of the boat’s crew were at
the time engaged in the common work of driving logs, and to that
end Crockett was using the dynamite which the defendant had fur-
nished for such a use. In using it we think he did not stand in the
place of the defendant as performing a duty owing from it to the
plaintiff. The actual handling and using of dynamite in log driving
operations is not, we think, such a duty owing from the master to
his servant as the law forbids the master to delegate to another so as
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to relieve himself from the consequences of the negligence of those
handling and using it.

It is also alleged that Mr. Crockett was an incompetent servant,
and that the defendant was negligent in employing him. But no
proof was offered in support of that allegation. On the other hand
the defendant’s superintendent testified that Mr. Crockett was an
experienced river driver and woodsman and had been in the defend-
ant’s employ for about two years.

The uncontroverted facts disclosed in this case do not in the
opinion of the court sustain the plaintiff’s action, and, therefore, the
entry must be, :
Judgment for defendant.

GeorGe NELsON, Administrator,
V8.
BurNHAM & MoRrriLL COMPANY.
Cumberland. Opinion December 14, 1915.

Dangerous and Attractive to Children. Elevator. Instantancous Death.
Invitee. Licensce. Negligence. Trespasser.

A boy thirteen years of age had been accustomed to visit a canning factory
for his own pleasure. He had, by the permission or sufferance of
employees, learned to run the elevator. One day he was directed by the
superintendent to leave the building. Instead of doing so, he remained
and amused himself by riding up and down the elevator. While operating
it, he was killed in some way not explained. In a suit by his administrator
to recover damages, it is held.

1. The deceased was a trespasser.

2. The defendant owed him no duty except not wantonly to injure him, and
the fact that he was a child of tender years does not change the rule.

3. The doctrine that an owner of property is liable for injuries to children
when caused by structures and appliances attractive to them does not hold
in this State.
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On exceptions by plaintiff. Exceptions overruled.

This is an‘action on the case brought by George Nelson, adminis-
trator, to recover damages for the death of Albert Nelson, a boy
thirteen years of age, which occurred in the defendant’s factory on
account of the alleged negligence of the defendant. At the conclu-
sion of the plaintiff’s evidence, the presiding Justice directed a non-
suit. The plaintiff excepted to said nonsuit. Plea, the general issue.

The case is stated in the opinion.

Ralph O. Brewster, for plaintiff.

Carroll L. Beedy, for defendant.

SITTING: Savack, C. J., SpEAR, King, Harey, Haxson, JJ.

Savacg, C J. Action for damages resulting from the death of
the plaintiff’s intestate, Albert Nelson, through the alleged negligence
of the defendant. The death was instantaneous, and the action is
brought under Revised Statutes, Chapter 89, Section 9. The case
comes up on the plaintiff’s exceptions to an order of nonsuit.

The plaintiff’s intestate, a boy thirteen years of age, was killed
in some way in or about the elevator in the defendant’s canning
factory. He was not employed by the defendant, but for several
months, in company with a playmate named Alexander, he had fre-
quently visited the defendant’s factory. They seem to have been
attracted there, at first at least, by the fact that Alexander’s brother,
Rilly, then between fourteen and fifteen years of age, was the ele-
vator boy in the factory. Nelson and Alexander had no business in
the factory. They went there merely for their own pleasure. Some-
times when there, they assisted Billy in his work, other than running
the elevator. And a few times they assisted one or others of the
employees. Once or twice they were rewarded by the employee
whom they assisted by the payment of five or ten cents. Two or
three times they had been told by overseers or bosses to leave. But
notwithstanding this they continued to visit the factory, without any
further objection on the part of any one until the day of the accident.
When they first went there the man in charge of the basement room
sent them away, but learning from the elevator boy that Alexander
was his brother, he said “That is all right.” Billy taught them how
to run the elevator, and they frequently took rides upon it, up and
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down, for their own pleasure, operating it themselves. Ihe elevator
could be started up or down by pulling one or the other of two
cables, and these cables could be reached from the elevator opening
on any floor. There was a device for locking the elevator cage, so
that 1t could not be moved up or down except by one having access
to the cage itself. But ordinarily it was left unlocked, except when
loads were being put onto it, or taken from it. ‘When not in use, the
entrance to the cage was usually open, although there were doors
in the frame work of the well which could be closed. There was
also a bell system by which the elevator could be signalled from floor
to floor. ‘Lhe elevator was designied and used only for the carriage
of freight, and not for passengers.

On the day of the accident at about two o’clock in the afternoon,
yeung Nelson was started by his mother for schooi. But instead
of going to school he went to Alexander’s home and they together
went to the defendant’s factory. While there they went to the
second or third floor where Billy was at work. At that time
McManus, the “head boss,” so called, came and told Billy that he
had orders from the superintendent “to tell those boys to keep out,”
and added “Why don’t they go down to the fish house with Dixie,
where it is warm,” the fish house being in a separate building. This
message was communicated by Billy to Nelson and Alexander. And
Nelson asked Billy if he had better go, and was answered, “Yes,
you will have to go right out.” Instead of going out, however, or
of going down to the fish house, they remained with Billy, and
helped him to finish loading a truck which was to be taken to an
upper story by the elevator. Billy wheeled the truck onto the ele-
vator and went up with it, leaving Nelson and Alexander in the
room. Billy wheeled his load off the elevator, and went to work
chopping meat. He had nothing more to do with the elevator until
after the accident, which occurred, as nearly as can be gathered from
the testimony, between one and two hours later.

In the meantime, Nelson and Alexander pulled the elevator .down
from where Billy had left it, and rode up and down on it several
times. Finally Alexander went down on it alone, leaving Nelson on
the second floor. Alexander called up to Nelson and asked him if
he was coming home. He answered that he “was going up to wait for
Billy.” Being asked, “What happened next?” Alexander testified,
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“When 1 looked up I seen his feet hanging.” “And when I got up
he fell in the well.” In fact he had been killed. This is all the
account we have of the catastrophe. No eye saw him. No one
knows how it happened. No one knows in what manner or from
what particular cause he went to his death. An opportunity for it
was, of course, afforded by the open, unguarded entrance to the well.

We will mention only one other feature in the history of the case.
It seems that earlier in the same day, as a witness for the plaintiff
testified, a notice, “Danger, ring bell,” had been stencilled on or
about the elevator. Nelson saw it and asked Billy what it meant,
and was told, “You are supposed to ring the bell before you pull
any wire.”

The plaintiff’s declaration contains two counts. In the first he
alleges that his intestate was in and about the defendant’s factory by
its license or permission, that the defendant’s negligence consisted
in the failure to guard the elevator properly with regard to the
presence of a child of the tender age and understanding of the intes-
tate and that the latter in the exercise of due care was caught
between the elevator and the adjoining wall as the elevator was
ascending. In a second count the plaintiff charges that the elevator
was dangerous, and was attractive to children, that the defendant
knew that young children were attracted to the factory by it, that it
was the defendant’s duty to use reasonable precautions to prevent
his intestate, a child of tender years, from coming to bodily harm
by reason of the enticement and allurement of the elevator, and that
it failed to do so.

We must first inquire what were the duties, if any, of the defend-
ant to young Nelson? And the answer to this question depends
upon whether Nelson was at the time of the accident an invitee, a
licensee, or a trespasser. If he was an invitee, the defendant owed
him the duty of using reasonable care for his safety. If he was a
mere licensee or if he was a trespasser, the defendant owed him no
duty, except not wantonly to injure him, nor to set traps for him.
Russell v. M. C. R. R. Co., 100 Maine, 418; Stanwood v. Clancy,
106 Maine, 72; Austin v. Baker, 112 Maine 267. It is clear that
Nelson was not an invitee, either express or implied. He had no
business in the factory. He had nothing to do with its business.
He went there solely for his own pleasure. Stanwood v. Clancy,
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supra. It may be that a jury would be warranted in finding that up
to the time of the notice from McManus to leave he was a licensee.
He was permitted to come and remain in the factory under such
circumstances as perhaps would warrant the finding of an implied
license. We may assume it to be so. But after the notice from
McManus, an hour or two before his death, he can be called nothing
but a trespasser. The implied license, if any, was revoked, and the
knowledge of the revocation was brought home to him. He was
no longer permitted to be anywhere in that building. He was no
longer licensed to be in or about the elevator, or to operate it. He
could no longer rightfully remain in the rooms through which the
elevator passed. In accordance with well established principles, the
defendant did not owe him the duty of protection unless children
trespassers stand on a different footing from adults.

The plaintiff in argument lays much stress upon the fact that the
elevator boy was under the age of fifteen years, and that his employ-
ment under that age was forbidden by statute, Laws of 1907, Chap-
ter 4; and upon the fact as claimed that Nelson was permitted,
though under the age of fifteen years, to operate the elevator, which
is also forbidden. See same statute. Violation of a statute may be
evidence of negligence on the part of the violator. But it is only
evidence. If this were material, it would be sufficient to say in this
case that the elevator boy, or the operation of the elevator by him,
had nothing to do with this accident. He had left the elevator an
hour or two before and was engaged on other work. And as to per-
mitting Nelson to operate it, the permission, if any, ceased when
McManus gave the notice. When Nelson was killed he was oper-
ating it without permission, even if that kind of operation comes
within the meaning of the statute. But the real and conclusive
answer to the proposition is that the defendant owed no duty to
Nelson at the time, because he was a trespasser. And if it owed
him no duty, it was not negligent as to him.

But the plaintiff earnestly contends that even if his intestate was
a trespasser, the defendant was liable for failure to use reasonable
precautions to prevent injury to him, inasmuch as he was hut a mere
boy. In short, the contention is that the rule as to trespassers, which
we have stated, ought to be and is relaxed when the trespasser is a
child, and that as to trespassing children the owner of the premises
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in such a case as this is bound to use care to protect them from
injury. It is true that such a relaxation of the rule has been applied
by some courts. But such is not the law in this State. Elie v. Street
Railway, 112 Maine, 178. In the case cited, this court held that “in
the absence of wanton or recklessly careless conduct on the part of
the defendant, the plaintiff, although a child of tender years, if a
trespasser, occupies no better position and has no greater rights than
an adult.” As was said in Nolan v. N. Y., N. H. R. R., 53 Conn,,
461, “an owner is under no duty to a mere trespasser to keep his
premises safe, and the fact that the trespasser is an infant cannot
have the effect to raise a duty where none otherwise exists.” Bottum
v Hawkes, 84 Vt., 370; McGuiness v. Butler, 159 Mass., 233; Buck
v. Amory Mfg. Co., 69 N. H., 257 ; Indianapolis v. Emmelman, 108
Ind., 530. In 2 Thompson on Negligence, 1183, the author says. “In
dealing with cases which involve injuries to children courts have
sometimes strangely confounded legal obligations with sentiments
that are independent of law.” With purely moral or sentimental
obligations, the law does not deal. Buck v. Amory Mfg. Co., supra.

In his second count the plaintiff seeks to bring the case within the
doctrine sustained by some courts in the so called “turn table” cases,
wherein owners have been held liable for failure to guard structures
and appliances attractive to children who were injured thereby,
although the children were trespassers. Such structures have been
called “attractive nuisances.” An interesting and exhaustive note
on the subject of attractive nuisances may be found in 19 L. R. A,
(N. S.) 1094, where the cases are collected.

Our court said in McMinn v. Telephone Co., 113 Maine, 519, that
“the doctrine of ‘attractive nuisances’ has never been adopted in this
State.” And upon what seems to us to be the better reasoning, we
think it should not be. This rule is certainly an innovation upon the
rules of the common law. It has never been thought until recent
years that an owner, under any conditions, was bound to protect
trespassers, and no distinction was made between adults and children.
The rule changes what may be regarded perhaps as a sentimental
duty into a legal duty. Tt infringes upon the salutary and necessary
rule that an owner may do what he will with his own so far as he
Jdoes not interfere with the legal rights of others. Tt is an unjusti-
fiable restraint upon the right of an owner to conduct his business
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as he sees fit. Itis a burden upon his business, and a burden created
in favor of one who is at the same time trespassing upon his rights.
In the case of Railroad v. Stout, 17 Wall,, 657, which was prac-
tically one of the first to declare this rule, and which is the leading
case in support of the rule, the court said that the jury in that case
were warranted in finding that children would probably resort to
the turn table there in question, that there was a probability that an
accident would occur to a child, and that it could have been pre-
vented without considerable expense or inconvenience; and upon
these premises, the court assumed a legal liability without discussion
of reasons, and upheld a verdict for the plaintiff. And this con-
clusion has been followed, and in some cases enlarged upon, by other
courts.  But what logical reason is there for saying that one, young
or old, who is wrongfully upon premises, can hold the owner to the
expenditure of any money, or to submission to any degree of incon-
- venience, for his protection? We can think of none. We think
there is no reason except the sentimental one, and that is not the
basis of a legal obligation. Daniels v. Railroad Company, 154 Mass.,
349; Holbrook v. Aldrich, 168 Mass., 15; Bottum v. Hawkes, supra ;
Frost v. Railroad Co., 64 N. H., 220; Deleware, L. & W. R. R. Co.
v. Reick, 61 N. J. L., 635; Walsh v. Fitchburg R. Co., 145 N. Y.,
301 ; Railroad Co. v. Harvey, 77 Ohio St., 235; Ryan v. Tower, 128
Mich., 463 ; Wilmot v. McFadden, 79 Conn., 367 ; Pannill v. Railroad
Co., 105 Va., 226 ; Uttermoklen v. Boggs Run Co., 50 W. Va., 457.
We must hold, therefore, that the case discloses no liability on
the part of the defendant, and that the order of nonsuit was right.
Exceptions overruled.
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GrRACE M. RovaL, Administratrix,
vs.

Bar HarBor anDp UnionN River Power CompraNy.
Hancock. Opinion December 14, 1915.

Amendment. Contributory Negligence. Direction of Verdict.
Electricity. Exceptions. Negligence.

\

1. It is the duty of the presiding Justice to direct a verdict, when a verdict
to the contrary could not be sustained.

2. An electrician handling electric wires which he knows are charged with
electricity assumes the risk.

3. The case shows that the plaintiff’s intestate, an electrician, knew that the
wires he was handling were charged with a current of 2300 volts, and that
he handled them without using any protective or safeguards. It is held
that he assumed the risk, and that he was unquestionably guilty of contribu-
tory negligence.

On exceptions by both plaintiff and defendant. Exceptions by
plaintiff overruled.

This is an action on the case to recover damages for the instant
death of the plaintiff’s intestate, alleged to be due to the negligence
of the defendant. Plea, the general issue. The defendant demurred
to the first count in plaintiff’s declaration. The presiding Justice
sustained said demurrer. The plaintiff was allowed to amend her
declaration, and to the allowance of the amendment, the defendant
excepted. At the conclusion of the evidence, the Justice presiding
directed a verdict for the defendant. To which direction the plaintiff
excepted.

The case is stated in the opinion.

D. E. Hurley, and O. F. Fellows, for plaintiff.

Hale & Hamlin, for defendant.
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SitTiNGg: Savack, C. J., King, Biro, Harey, Hanson, JJ.

Savace, C. J. Action under Revised Statutes, Chapter 89, Sec-
tion 9, for damages resulting from the negligence of the defendant,
whereby the plaintiff’s intestate was instantly killed. The case
comes before this court on the defendant’s exceptions to the allow-
ance of an amendment to the plaintiff’s declaration, and on the plain-
tiff’s exceptions to the direction of a verdict for the defendant.

It will not be necessary to consider the defendant’s exceptions, for
we think that the direction of a verdict for the defendant was right.
And the overruling of the plaintiff’s exceptions will finally dispose
of the case.

It is well settled that in considering exceptions to the direction of
a verdict, the only question is whether the jury would have been
warranted by the evidence to find a verdict contrary to the one
ordered. If a verdict to the contrary could not be sustained, it is
the duty of the presiding Justice to direct the verdict. If such a
verdict would be sustainable, the issue of fact should be submitted
to the jury. Horigan v. Chalmers Co., 111 Maine, 111; Johnson v.
N.Y.,N.H. & H. R. R, 111 Maine, 263; Shackford v. N. E. Tel.
& Tel. Co., 112 Maine, 204. In this case there is not much conflict
in the evidence. And the facts upon which hinge the vital and
decisive questions in the case seem to be not only undisputed, but
indisputable.

The deceased was a competent, professional electrician of sixteen
years experience. He was employed by one Grindal to instal a three
phase, 550 volts, 60 cycle electric motor, in a storehouse, to do the
necessary inside wiring, and connect it with the motor. The defend-
ant company was engaged to supply the electric power for running
the motor from its 2300 volt service wire which was strung on poles
along the side of the Grindal building, the current for the building
being reduced to 550 volts by a transformer. The employment of
the deceased required him to lay three wires from the motor upon
the timbers of the building to and through the wall, and so to leave
the ends of the wires that the defendant could connect with them
wires from its service wire. Prior to the accident the deceased had
laid the wires in the building and the defendant had connected its
wires on the outside. But contrary to the usual practice, the plaintiff
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had not placed switches or fuses in the wires, so as to guard by fuses
ugainst an unusual current, or to cut out the current by switches.

At the precise moment of the accident the electric current was on,
and the deceased had begun to make the connection between the ends
of the wires he had laid, from which the insulation had been removed,
with the wires in the motor At the instant, no one saw him. But
he was heard to moan, and he fell to the platform dead. Deep burns
were found across the fingers of both hands, one being burned nearly
to the bone. In her original declaration, which we refer to for a
reason to be noted hereafter, the plaintiff alleged the negligence of
the defendant to consist in the fact that “because of a leaky trans-
tormer and other defects in said wires and transformer the current
that was suffered to run and be directed into the storehouse was not
reduced to a voltage of 550 volts, but was of the full force and
volume of 2300 volts,” and that the deceased “believing that said
wires running into said building carried only a voltage of 350 volts”
attempted to connect the wire with the motor. But in the count sub-
stituted by amendment, the one upon which this verdict rests, she
alleged that the defendant was negligent in that it connected the wires
outside, and thus let on the current without the knowledge of the
deceased, that he did not know that the wires he was working on
were connected with any of the defendant’s wires, and that because
of a leaky transformer the current was not reduced.

The plaintiff in argument stoutly contends that it was negligence
on the part of the defendant to connect the wires before any switch
or fuses had been put in, without any notice to the deceased, that the
connection had been made. And so it would be if such was the fact.
But the defendant on the other hand contends, and its evidence, which
is uncontradicted, tends to show, that on the morning of the day of
the accident the deceased met the servants of the defendant whose
duty it was to make the connection and asked if they had fuses and
switches, and said he wanted to borrow a switch to put in; that they
told him they had none; and that he told them “to go ahead and
connect up the line, and that he would look out for the inside of it.”
If this story it true, it cannot be said that there was any negligence
as to him if they proceeded to do as he told them to do. The plain-
tiff says, however, that the witness who narrated this interview,
though not contradicted, is impeached by a somewhat different
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account which he gave at another time with respect to what was said
about fuses and switches. But as will be seen it is not necessary
further to consider that phase of the case.

We will say in passing that there is no evidence that warrants the
conclusion that the transformer leaked, or that any of the defendant’s
wires were defective, or that any stronger current than 550 volts
passed into the building. The plaintiff’s case as to negligence of the
defendant must rest upon the proposition that the defendant con-
nected the wires before they were prepared for the connection, and
without notice to, or knowledge of, the deceased.

Now, whatever may have been the negligence of the defendant in
this respect, if the deceased knowingly assumed the risk, or was guilty
of contributory negligence, the plaintiff cannot recover. A careful
study of the case compels us to the conclusion that the deceased did
know that the wires were connected, and that the current was on.
And if he did know that, and yet undertook to handle wires charged
as these were, he did it at his own risk. And, in that case, if he
attempted to handle the wires without any protection or safeguard,
as he did, it was beyond question contributory negligence.

The wires were connected at ten o’clock in the forenoon, and it
does not appear that the deceased was in the building at the time.
The accident occurred four hours later. Though this shows that
he had an opportunity to notice the connection, it shows nothing
more. But the very idea of connecting the wires to the motor pre-
supposes that the current was on. The work could not be done prop-
erly until the current was on. The testimony of expert witnesses,
cne on each side of the case, shows that the wires cannot be con-
nected properly, or with certainty as to position, unless there is a
current on. There are three wires and three connections. The
direction in which the motor will revolve depends upon which wire is
connected at each of the several connections. Connecting one wire
does not start the motor. Connecting a second wire does not start it
Connecting the third wire, if the current is on, will start it. But it
may revolve one way, or it may revolve the other way. If it revolves
the wrong way, or contrary to the way in which in the particular
case it is desired to revolve, the wires, or two of them, at least, have
to be transposed. And there is no way, so is the evidence, by which
it can be known before hand, which way it will revolve. Tt can be
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ascertained only by a test under current. We think the evidence is
well nigh irrisistible that this experienced electrician did not attempt
to connect the wires with the motor, until he know there was a cur-
rent to enable him to do so properly and successfully. Otherwise
he was merely pottering uselessly about the motor. To complete
the work it would be necessary for him to tape or insulate the ends
of the wires which he should connect, and that he would not be likely
to do until he knew by test that the motor would revolve the right
way.

Besides, there is undisputed evidence that the deceased warned
Mr. Grindal who was on the platform with him of possible danger.
Mr. Grindal says that he was on the north end of the platform, and
that Mr. Royal said that “I had better move from there,” “you can’t
tell what might happen,” or words to that effect. The plaintiff called
a witness to rebut the statement of Mr. Grindal. This witness was
at work ten feet away. He says he heard the deceased say “Stand.
back, Mr. Grindal,” and that he heard nothing else. It does not
matter much which expression was used. Put it either way, it was
evidently spoken to warn Mr. Grindal to get away from danger.
And there was no danger unless the current was on.

Again it is not without significance that the plaintiff in her original
declaration alleged that the deceased attempted to connect the wires
with the motor “believing that said wires running into said building
carried only a voltage of 550 volts.” This plainly indicates her under-
standing that the deceased believed the current was on. Her claim
then was that the wires were overcharged by reason of a leaky trans-
former.

Upon the whole, then, we must hold upon the evidence and upon
all the probabilities, that the deceased knew that the connections
outside had been made, that the current was on, and that he under-
took to do a dangerous work, without adopting any safeguards. He
was an experienced electrician. Experience and familiarity not infre-
quently breed carelessness. Experienced men, confident of them-
selves, take chances. They are familiar with danger. They know
how to avoid it. They expect always to avoid it. They do not always
avoid it. Perkins v. Oxford Paper Co., 104 Maine, p. 120. We can-
not but think that this unfortunate accident was due to a fatal want
of care on the part of the deceased, while engaged in work the dan-
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ger of which he knew full well, and had assumed. The direction of
a verdict for the defendant was right.

Plaintiff’s exceptions overruled.

WitLram T, ErskINE s, ANNIE VANNAIL
Lincoln. Opinion December 14, 1913.

Bond.  Duty of Officer.  Replevin.  Return.  Service.  Writ.

This is an action of replevin involving the question of insufficient service of

the writ, and comes before the court on an agreed statement-of facts.

Held:

.

w

(513

The duty of the officer is defined in the writ or precept; that he should
follow the commands of the writ in detail and in the order of their recital
does not admit of question, for his safety, and the rights of litigants,
require on his part certainty and precision as well as good faith.

In this state a writ of replevin is sued out and indorsed, served and
returned in the same manner as other original writs.

That the plain duty of the officer requires him first to seize the property
is well settled. By virtue of the writ, the sheriff proceeds at once to
take possession of the property therein described, and transfer it to the
plaintiff, upon his giving pledges which are satisfactory to the sheriff to
prove his title, or return the chattels taken if he fails to do so.

Whether the defendant may feel disposed to deliver up the property or
not is of no consequence to the officer; it is his imperative duty to seize
the property if it may be found.

The officer, in executing a writ of replevin, has authority to take into his
possession the property therein mentioned before delivering a copy of the
order to the person charged with the unlawful detainer of the property,
or leaving the copy at his usual place of abode.

Reported on agreed statement of facts. Action dismissed.
This is an action of replevin for a stove, which originated in

Lincoln municipal court and reported to the Law Court on an agreed
statement of facts.

VOL. CXIV I§
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The case is stated in the opinion.
George A. Cowan, for plaintiff.
Weston M. Hilton, for defendant.

SitTIiNG: Savack, C. J., Srear, King, Birp, HaLEY, HANsON, JJ.

Hanson, J. This is an action of replevin and comes before the
court on an agreed statement of facts, as follows:

“In the above action it is agreed that the officer who served the
writ of replevin, if present, would testify that he met the defendant’s
tenant on the street in Damariscotta in the afternoon of November
23, 1914, and told him he was coming up to replevy the stove in
guestion ; that the reason he told him was so he might let the fire go
out; that on the same afternoon he served the alleged copy of the
writ on the defendant; that on the next day he went to the house
occupied by the defendant’s tenant and took the stove; that he had
never seen the stove nor been in the house where it was until the
next day after the service of the alleged copy of the writ on the
defendant. It is agreed that the officer’s return shall be regarded as
amended in accordance with the above facts.”

The officer’s return on the writ contained the usual recitals as to
taking a bond, replevying the stove and delivering the same to one
H. R. Bisbee, as keeper for the plaintiff, and on the same day “I
summonded the defendant for her appearance at court as within
directed, by leaving at the place of her last and usual abode an
attested copy of this writ.”

The defendant seasonably filed a motion to dismiss the action,
alleging insufficient service. The above agreement followed, and
no question of pleading is presented. Littlefield v. Kimball, et al.,
104 Maine, 126.

The plaintiff contends that there was a sufficient service of the
writ; “that a writ of replevin is a writ of summons, and not of
attachment, that the defendant was protected by his bond, and being
in no way injured, renders this case in line with any replevin ser-
vice,” and cites McKinstry v. Collins, 74 Vermont, 147, in support
of his contention. In that case the plaintiff sued to recover damages
for an alleged assault upon his wife. The defendant justified as
an officer serving a replevin writ. At the close of the evidence, the
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plaintiff claimed that the justification had not been made out, and
requested the court to take the question from the jury, “for that,
First, it did not appear that before the attempted service of the
writ Sheriff Collins had taken such a bond from the plaintiff in the
replevin suit as the statute requires; second, that defendant Collins
completed service of the writ before seizing the colt and committing
the assault, if one was committed, and that what was done after he
completed his service he did without authority ; third, that the testi-
mony did not show that the writ and bond had been returned by
defendant Collins to the clerk of court to which the writ was return-
able. The request was refused and the plaintiff excepted. The
court held “the facts tended to show that defendant had a bond to
the defendant in the replevin suit when he served the writ, and that
the writ and bond were returned to the clerk of the court to which
the writ was returnable. The testimony of defendant Collins tended
to show that while within the barn where the colt was kept he agreed
with the plaintiff upon the value of the colt, made his returns on
the original writ and copy, handed the copy to the defendant in the
replevin suit, and delivered the colt to the plaintiff in the replevin
suit. At the time Collins took the colt and turned it over to the plain-
tiff, he had not returned the original writ; and he could complete the
service of it by taking and delivering the property as commanded in
the writ, notwithstanding he had delivered a copy of the writ to the
defendant named therein.”

The service in the case at bar was made, and the writ returned,
with no attempt to renew the service or amend the return, and there-
fore differs from the case cited in these important particulars. In
this and similar cases it is the uniform practice, supported by
unquestioned authority, for officers to renew service or perfect some
detail of service before returning the writ. But having made the
return, as in this case, there is no way provided by gtatute or recog-
nized in our practice to cure that which we must hold to be a vital
necessity in procedure in replevin suits. The duty of the officer is
defined in the writ or precept; that he should follow the commands
of the writ in detail and in the order of their recital does not admit
of question, for his safety, and the rights of litigants, require on
his part certainty and precision as well as good faith.
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In this State a writ of replevin is sued out and indorsed, served
and returned in the same manner as other original writs. R. S,
Chap. 98, Sec. 2; Spaulding’s Practice, 58. That the plain duty of
the officer requires him first to seize the property is well settled. By
virtue of the writ, the sheriff proceeds at once to take possession of
the property therein described, and transfer it to the plaintiff, upon
his giving pledges which are satisfactory to the sheriff to prove his
title, or return the chattels taken if he fails to do so. Bouv. Law
Dict., 884 ; Chitty, Pl, 145; Hamburger v. Seavey, 165 Mass., 505;
Steuer v. Maguire, 182 Mass.,, 575; Words and Phrases, 6106;
Bettinson v. Lowry, 86 Maine, 218.

The prime object of an action of replevin it to put the plaintiff
in possession of the property; and when a writ is sued out and proper
bond given, it is the first duty of the officer to seize the property,
and then read the writ to the defendant if he can be found. It is not
a compliance with his duty merely to read the writ to the defendant.
Whether the defendant may feel disposed to deliver up the property
or not is of no consequence to the officer; it is his imperative duty
to seize the property if it may be found. Encyclopedia Pl. & Pr,
Vol. 18, page 527, citing People v. Wiltshire, 9 Tll. App., 374; Yott
v. People, g1 111, 11.

The officer, in executing a writ of replevin, has authority to take
into his possession the property therein mentioned before delivering
a copy of the order to the person charged with the unlawful detainer
of the property, or leaving the copy at his usual place of abode. State
v. Wilson, 24 Kan.,, 50; Vol. 18 Pl and Pr., 527.

These authorities are in harmony with the practice and procedure
in this State. The service being admittedly defective, and not capable
of amendment or renewal, the entry will be,

Action dismissed.
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James W. SKENE vs. JounN R. GraHAM, et al.
Kennebec. Opinion December 14, 1915,

Collision. Damages. Negligence. Personal Injurics. Swerving to
the Right.

1. It is the duty of travelers approaching to meet, seasonably to turn to the
right of the middle of the traveled part of the road, so far that they
can pass each other without interference.

2. It is manifest that the collision was due to the fact that both cars
swerved from their course at the same instant, the car of the defendants
swerving from its lawful position to one of supposed safety in order to
avoid an accident, the other leaving its unlawful position and course for
the same reason. That the swerving of defendants’ car was imperative
is apparent; that an emergency existed not only justifying but authorizing
the defendants’ chauffeur in so swerving is equally apparent. That his act
was not due to his unlawful use of the road is shown by an overwhelming
weight of the evidence, and that the defendants are not liable for any
damage arising in the circumstances is a principle firmly established.

3. When two alternatives are presented to a traveler upon the highway as
modes of escape from collision with an approaching traveler, either of
which might fairly be chosen by an inftelligent and prudent person, the
law will not hold him guilty of negligence in taking either.

4. It is the opinion of the court that the verdict is so manifestly against the
weight of the evidence that it should not be permitted to stand. It is
unnecessary to consider the exceptions.

On motions by defendants. Motion sustained. New trial granted.

This is an action on the case to recover damages against John R.
(raham and his wife Georgie H., for personal injuries alleged to
have been caused by the negligence of the defendants’ chauffeur
while operating an automobile on Western avenue in Augusta,
August 26, 1913. Plea, the general issue. The jury returned a ver-
dict for plaintiff for $2175.00, and the defendant filed a general
motion for a new trial. Defendant filed various requests for instruc-
tions by the presiding Justice, all of which were refused, and the
defendant excepted. Exceptions not considered.

The case is stated in the opinion.
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Williamson, Burleigh & McLean, for plaintiff,
Ryder & Simpson, for defendant,

SITTING: Savacg, C. J., SPEAR, King, Birp, HarLey, HaNsoN, J].

Hanson, J. This is an action on the case to recover damages
for personal injuries sustained by the plaintiff in a collision between
the plaintiff’s and defendants’ automobiles. The jury returned a
verdict for the plaintiff for $2175.00.

The case is before the court on the defendants’ general motion for
a new trial, and exceptions to the refusal of the presiding Justice to
direct a verdict for the defendants, and refusal to give certain
requested instructions.

The collision occurred at the corner of Western avenue and Sewall
street in Augusta, on August 26, 1913. The plaintiff was driving a
Ford car easterly on Western avenue, while the defendants were
traveling westerly in a Packard car on the same street. The plaintiff
was driving his own car, the defendants’ car being in charge of a
chauffeur. The southerly side of Western avenue was closed to
traffic from a point 100 feet from its junction with Sewall street,
but the northerly side of the street was open and in use by the public
on the day in question, and there was sufficient room for automobiles
and other vehicles to pass and repass, the width of that side of the
street being 24 feet. The plaintiff left his garage with the intention
of going to Manchester, and had passed up Western avenue some
275 feet when he decided to return to the garage. His counsel ques-
tioned him as follows:

“Q. Describe your course back?

A. T went right straight down the north side of the street until
I got down to where I could go across the track. There was lumber
and horses piled up there, so you could not get past; and so I went
down and crossed the track and then proceeded on the right hand
side, extreme right hand side of the street, down to Sewall street.

Q. And where was the Packard car when you first noticed it?

A. It was on Western avenue on the right hand side of the street,
which would be the northerly side, coming up the avenue.

Q. That would be its proper side?

A. Yes; its proper side.
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Q. Will you describe the collision; first, will you tell us where
the collision took place.

A. Right on the corner of Western avenue and Sewall street, on
left or south side of Sewall street; at the junction of Sewall street
and Western avenue.

Q. On which corner of Sewall street was it, east or west?

A. Very nearly the middle of the street.

Q. Will you describe the accident fully?

A. Well, I was going along on my right hand side of the street,
and this big Packard car came tearing up Western avenue ; and when
it came nearly opposite to me, all at once it swung right around, and
crossed the track and struck my car.”

The plaintiff claims that the defendants’ car was driven out of its
course, and from its lawful position on the northerly side of Western
avenue, across said avenue and into collision with his car, which
was and had been for some distance, proceeding on the (his)
extreme right hand side of said avenue; that he was in the exercise
of due care, traveling ten or twelve miles an hour, while the defend-
ant was driving forty miles an hour. This condition, if true, would
constitute culpable negligence on the part of the defendants.

But the defendants in support of their motion for a new trial
contend that the evidence did not authorize the jury to find for the
plaintiff, that the collision was the result of the plaintiff’s own
carelessness, and that any damage resulting therefrom was due to his
fault and want of due care.

Harry A. Haas, who was driving the defendants’ car, testified:

“Q. You started from Bangor?

A, Yes, sir.

Q. When you got to Augusta what course did you take?

A. Well, I came up State street and up Western avenue ; and at
Western avenue and Sewall street the accident happened.

Q. Won’t you state in your own words just what happened after
you left State street, on your way up Western avenue, up to the time
of the collision?

A, Well, T was going up Western avenue close to the gutter, on
my right hand side, on the north side of Western avenue, and I was
going about 15 miles an hour ; and I saw Mr Skene’s Ford automobile
stop close to the curb on the other side at a house, and when I got

.
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about half way up, he started, running close to the curb in my
direction. 1 proceeded along Western avenue and when we got close
to Sewall street, he had not turned out; and if we had kept that
same course, we would have run into each other head on. And so
when we got to Sewall street, I swung out, and he swung out at the
same time; and I turned around and stopped the machine, and he
came there and caught me.

Q. At the time of the collision, the Packard car was stopped?

A. Stopped; yes, sir.

Q. And how fast should you say the Ford machine was going
when he struck you?

A. Eight or ten miles an hour.

Q). DBut the turning, what about the turning?

A. Both turned practically the same time. I was turning to get
out of his way, to pass him; and he turned at the same time. I could
not turn back, because I would run into him head on; and I ran over
and stopped, and he ran into me.”

The defendants corroborated Mr. Haas in all important particu-
lars, and he is corroborated by the plaintiff’s witness Brown, the only
witness introduced by the plaintiff who saw the collision, upon the
most vital point in the case.

Mr. Brown testified as follows:

“Q. Will you describe what took place, the course of that Ford
car before the accident?

A.  Well, before the accident, I was coming up Sewall street going
to Western avenue; and Mr. Skene, he was up Western avenue,
coming clear up from somewhere, and he went up into a yard, and
I was coming along and looking that way, and I saw him.

Q. You were going to the north?

A. Yes, sir; and he came down Western avenue, clear up, and
he went by where they were working in the street there, and he
swung over and turned across the track there where they run the
electric cars; and I saw a big automobile come and go right straight
across ; and it went right into him and I hadn’t seen that other car;
and why, because Governor Burleigh’s house hid me from looking
down, T had not got far enough up. I was right by the corner of
Governor Burleigh’s house, and I was by the Soule house, and that
car was behind there coming up, and there at the corner was Gov-
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ernor Burleigh’s house and that hid the car coming from the other
way, from down street, the car coming was not in view there.

Q. Could you see the course of the Ford car all the time?

A, Yes, sir; but 1 did not see this big car until it came out and
turned right across.

Q. Turned right across what street?

A, Western avenue—came right across. And Mr. Skene was
coming from the other side of the street, cross ways.

Q. On what side of the street was Mr. Skene at the time you
saw the accident?

A, On the south side of the street, coming down Western ave-
nue.”

The collision occurred on the south side of Western avenue.

It 1s the duty of travelers approaching to meet, seasonably to turn
to the right of the middle of the traveled part of the road, so far
tliat they can pass each other without interference. R. S., Chap.
24, Sec. 2. Neal v. Randall, g8 Maine, 69.

The defendants’ contention is that the plaintiff did not seasonably
turn to the right, and that the chauffeur driving the defendants’ car
was obliged to decide quickly whether to continue his course and
collide with the plaintiff’s car, or turn to the left and avoid a col-
lision.

The case shows that the defendants were proceeding along West-
ern avenue on the right side of the traveled way, that they had no
occasion or desire to cross over to, or use the opposite side of the
avenue, and it clearly appears that if the plaintiff had not been
approaching from the opposite direction, they would not have done
so, and it is equally certain that if the statement of the plaintiff is
true they would have had no occasion to cross over to the other side.
From the plaintiff’s own showing, he had no reason to believe that
the defendants intended to leave their course. Between the point
where he could have turned to his right and the point of contact
there was one hundred feet of clear way, a space admittedly suf-
ficient for such turning in time to avoid collision ; so that from the
very nature of the case, if the plaintiff’s statement is true the col-
lision would not have occurred, and certainly could not have hap-
pened in the manner described. It is not explained in the evidence,
nor does it appear clear from the briefs of counsel, how under all
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the circumstances claimed by the plaintiff, the left side of his car
could be struck by the right side of defendants’ car. It is manifest
that the collision was due to the fact that both cars swerved from
their course at the same istant the car of the defendants swerving
from its lawful position to one of supposed safety in order to avoid
an accident, the other leaving its unlawful position and course for
the same reason. That the swerving of defendants’ car was impera-
tive is apparent; that an emergency existed not only justifying but
authorizing the defendants’ chauffeur in so swerving is equally
apparent. That his act was not due to his unlawful use of the road
is shown by an overwhelming weight of the evidence, and that the
defendants are not liable for any damage arising in the circum-
stances is a principle firmly established. When two alternatives are
presented to a traveler upon the highway as modes of escape from
collision with an approaching traveler, either of which might fairly
be chosen by an intelligent and prudent person, the law will not hold
him guilty of negligence in taking either. Larrabee v. Sewall, 66
Maine, 376, and cases cited.

It is the opinion of the court that the verdict is so manifestly
against the weight of the evidence that it should not be permitted to

stand. It is unnecessary to consider the exceptions.
Motion sustained.

New trial granted.
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Epwarp C. Luquss,
Appellant from Decree of the Judge of Probate.

York. Opinion December 14, 1915.

Appeal. Devise. Inheritance Tax. Public Laws of Maine, 1909.
Residuary Legatees.  Will.

This case is before the court on an agreed statement of facts in an appeal

from the decree of the Judge of Probate of York county assessing an
inheritance tax against Edward C. Luques, one of the residuary legatees
under the will of Margaret C. Luques.

Held:

1.

It clearly appears that the intention of the testator was that his widow
should have full power of disposal of all the property devised to her in
the will, and there was no intention to limit her use or disposal thereof.

It is a settled rule of law that, if a devisee or legatee have the absolute
right to dispose of the property at pleasure, the devise over is inoperative.

A devise of land generally or indefinitely, with a power of disposing of
it, amounts to a devise in fee. And such a devise, without werds of
inheritance, is treated as equivalent to a devise with words of inheritance.

The property in question did not vest in appellant in and as of the will
of Samuel W. Luques, or at the moment of his death., The right of the
widow to dispose of the entire estate stood between the plaintiff and his
asserted right,

An inheritance tax being a tax on the privilege or right of inheriting,
could not be levied or collected as against the appellant until such right
existed in fact, a condition only to be made certain in this case by the death
of the widow.

6. A power of appointment is a power of disposition given a person over

property not his own, by some one who directs the mode in which that
power shall be exercised by a particular instrument. In the case at bar
the property vested in Margaret C. Luques, and when her will was made
there was nothing left on which a trust could operate. She had disposed
of all the property, and hence no power of appointment could have been
executed.

The will speaks from the death of the testator, and in clearest terms
expresses his intent and his clearly stated purpose that if the widow had

disposed of the property by sale or by will, his wishes were satisfied and at
an end.
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On agreed statement of facts in an appeal from decree of the
Judge of Probate. Decree affirmed. Case remanded to probate
court for further proceedings.

This is an appeal from decree of Judge of Probate of York county
assessing an inheritance tax against Edward C. Luques.

The case is stated in the opinion.

N.B. & T. B. Walker, for appellant.

W. R. Pattangall, attorney general, for appellee.

StrTinNG:  Savace, C. J., Srear, King, Birp, Havey, Hanson, JJ.

Hanson, J. This case is before the court on an agreed statement
of facts in an appeal from the decree of the Judge of Probate of
York county assessing an inheritance tax against Edward C. Luques,
cne of the residuary legatees under the will of Margaret C. Luques.
The agreed statement is as follows:

“Samuel W. Luques, father of appellant, died August 31, 1897.
Margaret C. Luques died December 16, 1913. Edward C. Luques
and Herbert L. Luques are the only children of Samuel W. Luques.
Margaret C. Luques was a second wife of Samuel W. Luques and a
sister of his first wife, the mother of Edward C. Luques and Herbert
L. Luques. The value of the real estate coming to Edward C.
Luques and Herbert L. Luques under the will of Margaret C.
Luques which she took under the second clause of the will of Samuel
C. Luques is $20,466.00. The value of the personal property coming
to Edward C. Luques and Herbelt L. Luques under the will of
Margaret C. Luques, which she took under the eleventh clause of
the will of Samuel W. Luques, is $2,000.”

The questions raised arise under the following sections of the will
of Samuel W. Luques who died prior to the passage of the collateral
inheritance tax law as in Chapter 186, Public Laws of Maine, 1909:

“Second: 1 give, devise and bequeath to my wife, Margaret C.
T.uques, my homestead place where we live with all furniture, fix-
tures, family library, stable. connected therewith, together with its
contents, horses and carriages, also house and lands on said Foss
street containing tenements Nos. 34 and 36, and also houses and
lands on northeast side of Summer street, containing tenements
Nos. 13 and 15. Said lands being bounded on the southeast by
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Foss street; on the southwest by Summer street; on the northwest
by land of Risworth Jordan and by land of Joseph T. Mason, and
on the northeast by land of Joseph T. Mason and by Pool street,
to have and to hold to said Margaret C. Luques, her heirs and
assigns forever, except as hereinafter provided.”

“Eleventh: All the rest and residue of my estate, both real and
personal, I give, devise and bequeath to my wife Margaret C.
Luques and my sons Edward C. Luques and Herbert L. Luques, to
have and to hold to them in equal shares, their heirs and assigns
forever.

“If during the lifetime of my wife she shall not have disposed of
the property above given and devised to her, or at her decease dis-
posed of it by will, then said estate and property not disposed of by
her, I give, devise and bequeath to my sons Edward C. Luques and
Herbert L. Luques, and in the event of their decease or the decease
of either of them, then the share that would have gone to the father
from my wife’s estate shall go to the heirs of my son or sons by
representation.”

As has been seen, Margaret C. Luques died after the passage of
the collateral inheritance tax law, testate. By her will she made
forty-two bequests of money and personal property, and the following
residuary provision :—“My will is that all my just debts and funeral
expenses shall by my executors hereafter named, be paid as soon
after my decease as shall by them be found convenient. All the rest
and residue of my estate, real, personal and mixed, of which I shall
die seized or possessed, or to which I shall be entitled at my decease,
I give, devise and bequeath between my nephews Edward C. Luques
and Herbert L. Luques, or their heirs. And lastly T do nominate
my said nephews Edward C. Luques and Herbert L. Luques and
my sister Pauline C. Lithgow to be the executors of this my last
will and testament.”

Counsel for appellant contends, 1, that the property on which the
inheritance tax was assessed was not the absolute property of
Margaret C. Luques; 2, that Edward C. Luques takes his title and
interest therein through said Margaret C. Luques by her execution
of a power conferred upon her in the will of Samuel W. Luques;
3, that appellant takes title to the same as of and under the will of
Samuel W. Luques; and, 4, that the will of Samuel W. Luques
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conferred upon the said Margaret C. Luques a power coupled with
a trust. The question in controversy as presented by counsel is
“whether such property and interest vested in the appellant under
the will of his father, Samuel W. Luques, or under the will of his
stepmother, Margaret C. Luques. If it vested under the former
will, it is not liable to an inheritance tax, but if it vested in him
under the will of his stepmother, it is liable to such tax.” We think
that appellant takes under the latter and not under the former will.
It is very apparent that Samuel W. Luques intended by clauses two
and eleven of his will that his wife should have the absolute right of
disposal of the property comprehended in said clauses, and there is
nothing in the will or any part thereof to warrant a contrary infer-
ence. Aside from the use of the words “except as hereinafter pro-
vided,” it is not contended that clause two does not create an owner-
ship in fee, nor is it claimed that clause eleven creates a lesser estate
when taken alone. The contention is that the exception made as in
clause two, considered in connection with the alleged limitations and
directions in clause eleven, does have that effect, and that as a
necessary consequence “all her powers and interest in the estate were
limited to the term of her life.”

Samuel W. Luques in direct and simple language has furnished a
meaning for the words “except as hereinafter provided” by which
we must be controlled. He says in conclusion: “If during the life-
time of my wife she shall not have disposed of the property above
gwen and devised to her, or at her decease disposed of it by will,
then said estate and property not disposed of by her I give, devise
and bequeath to my sons,” etc. It clearly appears that his intention
was that the widow should have full power of disposal of all the
property devised to her in the will, and there was no intention to
limit her use or disposal thereof. It is equally apparent that if
she had disposed of the property either by sale or by will, it was
just whai he intended and knew she had the right to do. While
such words as here used may be open to speculation and question
as to the actual state of mind of the testator in a given case,
the settled law is the best guide for the protection of the prop-
erty rights of all interested, and the primary controlling rule in
the exposition of wills is that the intention of the testator as
expressed in his will shall prevail, provided it be consistent with the
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rules of law. Such intention is to be gathered from the whole will
taken together, every word receiving its natural and common mean-
ing. Shaw v. Hussey, 41 Maine, 495; Bryant v. Plummer, 111
Maine, 511; Crosby v. Conforth, 112 Maine, 109. In Ramsdell v.
‘Ramsdell, 21 Maine, 288, the testator in his will provided, “First,
I give and bequeath to my beloved wife, S. C., the use during her
life of all my plate and household goods, also all my personal prop-
erty and real estate, except as is hereafter excepted.” Then made
pecuniary bequests to seven different persons to be paid by his execu-
trix, and a further bequest to be paid by her if she thought proper,
with a residuary clause in favor of his brothers and sisters and her
brothers and sisters, and appointed his wife executrix. It was held,
that by the will the widow had the absolute right to dispose of the,
entire property, for her own use and benefit, subject only to the
payment of the debts. It was also held as the settled rule of law,
that if a devisee or legatee have the absolute right to dispose of the
property at pleasure, the devise over is inoperative.

In Mitchell v. Morse, 77 Maine, 423, a devise was in these words:
“I give and devise to my wife, Sarah F. Mitchell, all the rest and
residue of my real estate. DBut, on her decease, the remainder
thereof, I give and devise to my said children, or their heirs respect-
ively, to be divided in equal shares between them.” It was held
that the widow took an estate in fee simple, and that the devise
over of the remainder was void. See Wallace v. Hawes, 79 Maine,
177 Bradley v. Warren, 104 Maine, 423; Young v. Hillier, 103
Maine, 17. So too in Shaw v. Hussey, supra, it is held that a
devise of land generally or indefinitely, with a power of disposing
of it, amounts to a devise in fee. And such a devise, without words
of inheritance, is treated as equivalent to a devise with words of
inheritance. See Gifford v. Choate, 100 Mass., 343; Gardner on
Wills, 466 ; 4 Kent’s Com., §35; Jones v. Bacon, 68 Maine, 34.

The concluding words which appellant holds to be in effect a lim-
itation upon the fee, and in fact the creation of a power of appoint-
ment coupled with a trust, cannot be so considered by the court.
As before stated, the language used cannot be construed to imply
any such meaning on the part of the testator, but does authorize the
implication of a deliberate intention that the property should be at
the free disposal of his wife during her life, by sale, or by her will,



240 ’ LUQUES, APPELLANT. [114

and that the same should become a part of “his wife’s estate.” The
words used are not inconsistent with the clauses in question, which
create an absolute estate, and not an estate for life. The property
in question therefore did not vest in appellant in and as of the will
of Samuel W. Luques, or at the moment of the death of his father.
The right of the widow to dispose of the entire estate stood between
the plaintiff and his asserted right.

An inheriatnce tax being a tax on the privilege or right of inher-
iting, could not be levied or collected as against the appellant until
such right existed in fact, a condition only to be made certain in
this case by the death of the widow. Magoun v. Illinois Trust & S.
Bank, 170 U. S., 283; Knowlton v. Moore, 178 U. S., 41-115; 27
Am. & Eng. Ency. of Law, 338; Cahan v. Brewster, 203 U. S., 543-
55t

In view of our conclusion, consideration of the question as to
the legality of such tax in the presence of an actual power of
appointment coupled with a trust, is unnecessary ; hut inasmuch as
the question has been raised, it may be useful to direct attention to
the recent case of Chanler v. Kelsey, Comptroller of the State of
New York, 205 U. S., 466, where the question was raised. The
necessary facts therefrom may be stated substantially as follows:
Taura Astor Delano was the daughter of William B. Astor. Upon
the occasion of her marriage in 1844 to Frank H. Delano, Mr. Astor
executed a deed in the nature of a marriage settlement, conveying
certain real and personal property to trustees in trust to pay the
income to said Laura Delano for life, with remainder to her issue
in fee, or in default of issue to her heirs in fee; and giving her
power in her discretion to appoint the remainder “amongst her said
issue or heirs, in such manner and proportions as she may appoint
by instrument in its nature testamentary, to be acknowledged by
her as a deed and in the presence of two witnesses, or published by
her as a will.” Three later deeds were executed substantially similar
in terms. These deeds were absolutely irrevocable, took effect upon
delivery, and were not made in contemplation of the death of the
grantor. Laura Delano died in 1902. By her last will, admitted to
probate in the county of New York, she exercised the power of
appointment conferred in the deeds above named. One of the
appointees to whom Mrs. Delano had appointed the property con-
veyed by two of the later deeds referred to, took an appeal from
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the order of the Surrogate’s Court refusing to dismiss the petition
to the Appellate Division of the Supreme Court, where it was held
that the act under which the transfer or inheriatance tax in ques-
tion was imposed, as applied to the case, was unconstitutional. The
state comptroller appealed to the Court of Appeals from the decision
of the Appellate Division. That court sustained the right to impose
the transfer tax upon the interests appointed by Mrs. Delano, and
the case was finally determined as above. The argument in that
case was that the estate which arose by the exercise of the power
came from the original grantor, William B. Astor, and not from Mrs.
Delano, and was vested long before the passage of the amendment
under authority of which the tax was imposed, and to tax the exer-
cise of the power therefore takes property without due process of
law. The court say: “As in the case of Orr v. Giliman, 183 U. S.,
278, we must accept the decision of the New York Court of Appeals
holding that it is the exercise of the power which is the essential
thing to transfer the estates upon which the tax is imposed.” The
language adopted from the decision of the Court of Appeals is here
quoted, “As’the tax is imposed upon the exercise of the power, it
is unimportant how the power was created. The existence of the
power is the important fact, for what may be done urder it is not
affected by its origin. If created by deed its efficiency is the same
as if it had been created by will. No more and no less could be
done by virtue of it in the one case than in the other.”

A “power of appointment” is defined as a power of disposition
given a person over property not his own, by some one who directs
the mode in which that power shall be exercised by a particular
instrument. Words and Phrases, 5480, 55 Atl, 707. In the case
at bar the property vested in Margaret C. Luques, and when her
will was made there was nothing left on which a trust could operate.
She had disposed of all the property, and hence no power of appoint-
ment could have been executed. Fitzsimmons v. Harmon, 108
Maine, 456. The will speaks from the death of the testator, and
in clearest terms expresses his intent and his clearly stated purpose
that if the widow had disposed of the property by sale or by will,
his wishes were satisfied and at an end.

Decree affirmed.
Case remanded to Probate Court
for further proceedings.

VOL. CXIV 16
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GeorRGE W. McLELLAN, et als. vs. JouN E. McFADDEN, et als.
Wéshington. Opinion December 14, 1913.

Abandonment. Boundaries. Mortgage. Municipal Permit.
Prescription, Title. Weir.

1. A legislative grant in 1870 of the right to construct and maintain fsh
weirs in tide waters at a certain place was not abrogated by Chapter 78 of
the Laws of 1876 which required persons intending to build a fish weir
to apply to the municipal officers for a license, and authorized the munici-
pal officers to grant the same.

2. One holding a legislative grant of the right to construct and maintain a
fish weir at a certain place is not required to obtain municipal license
therefor under section g6, Chapter 4 of the Revised Statutes.

3. When' land on or by tide water conveyed by deed is described as
bounded “on the east by the shore,” and nothing else indicative of intention
appears in the deed, the shore itself is the monument, and the land between
high and low water mark does not pass by the grant,

4. A fish weir in tide waters did not pass as anpurtenant to a farm in front
of which it stood, when by the description in the deed of conveyance the
land granted was bounded on the seaward side by the inner line of the
shore.

5. The burden is on him who sets up the abandonment of a legal right or
privilege and he must prove it by clear evidence of unequivocal acts.

6. A prescriptive right to the enjoyment of a fish weir in tide waters, coun-
structed under a special legislative grant, may be acquired against the
grantee by open, notorious, uninterrupted, exclusive and adverse use for a
period of twenty years by the occupier and those under whom he claims.

On report. Judgment for defendants.

This is an action on the case to recover damages of defendant for
constructing and maintaining a fish weir on a weir privilege claimed
by plaintiffs, in the tide water of Herring Cove in the town of
Trescott, Washington county. Plea, the general issue with brief
statement.

The case is stated in the opinion.

H. E. Saunders, and H. H. Gray, for plaintiffs.

. B. & E. C. Donworth, for defendants.
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SITTING: Savack, C. J., Spear, King, Biro, HarLey, Hanson, JJ.

Savage, C. J. This case is concerned with the ownership of a
fish weir and fishing privileges in Herring Cove in the town of
Trescott. The case comes up on report. The plaintiffs claim to
own them as heirs of George W. McLellan, deceased. The defend-
ants claim to own them by grant from George W. McLellan’s mort-
gagee; also, by a prescriptive title. The suit is brought to recover
damages for an interference with, and a disturbance of, the plain-
tiffs’ rights.

Herring Cove lies in front, and to the eastward, of Herring Cove
lot, so called. The following sketch shows the situation.

HQ"I‘I;N(J COVQ Lof &Heﬁ‘znq Cove
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The lot formerly belonged to the William Bingham estate. It was
conveyed in 1863 to Elizabeth McFadden. In the description it was
bounded on the east, or seaward, side, “by the shore.” In 1864,
Mrs. McFadden conveyed it by the same description to George W.
McLellan and two others. In 1865 and 1866 these others conveyed
their interests to George W. McLellan, each using the same descrip-
tion, but adding, “this deed is intended to convey all my right, title
to and in the boats, seines and all connected in carrying on the her-
ring fishing at the Cove, sold to the said George W. McLellan.”

In 1870, George W. McLellan was granted by the Legislature the
right “to construct and maintain wharves and fish weirs in front of
his land in the tide waters of Herring Cove, in the town of Trescott,
within the limits of an extension of the side lines of his land, east-
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erly, one hundred rods from low water mark, in the waters of said
cove; provided that no obstruction shall be made to the usual navi-
gation of the waters of said cove, and that suitable signals shall
be erected on said weirs, to be not less than ten feet above the tide
at high water.” Private and Special Laws, 1870, Chap. 326. The
general law at that time provided that “no weir . . . shall
extend into more than two feet depth of water, at ordinary low
water.” Laws of 1869, Ch. 70, Sect. 13.

In 1878, George W. McLellan mortgaged the Herrmg Cove lot
to his brother, Wilson. The description in the mortgage bounded the
lot “on the east by the shore,” and called it the “Herring Cove
Farm.” No mention was made of weirs or fishing privileges.
George W. McLellan died in 1889, and the mortgage was foreclosed
later by Wilson McLellan, the foreclosure becoming absolute in
March, 1894.

In June, 1896, Wilson McLellan conveyed to John E. McFadden
and another an undivided quarter interest in the ‘“Herring Cove
Farm” lot, bounding it “on the east by the shore;” “also one undi-
vided quarter of weir being on the shore of said farm.” Subse-
quently by mesne conveyances all the title to Herring Cove Farm
came to the defendants. In all these conveyances the lot was
bounded “on the east by the shore,” and in all, undivided interests
in the fish weir were conveyed.

As early as 1866, George W. McLellan operated a weir in Herring
Cove. And after he received the legislative grant in 1870, he con-
tinued to maintain and operate a weir there until the time of his
death in 1889, but somewhat intermittently from 1881 to 1887. In
1887, the weir was rebuilt. In the latter part of his life McLellan
removed to Massachusetts, but came back summers to operate the
weir. And he died while at the weir. After the death of George
W. McLellan, and until Wilson McLellan sold the property in 1896,
the latter leased the weir from year to year to Stewart McFadden
and his brothers. Since 1896, the defendants, and those under whom
they claim, have operated the weir annually. The weir has been
rebuilt by them more or less each year, some years most of it going
out by stress of the elements. The present weir is located in the
same place as the original McLellan weir was but inside its lines.
The operators of the weir have piled their weir material on the
beach, have used the shore as a landing place with boats and brush
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racks, and for the general purposes incidental to the operation of
the weir. They have gathered drift wood on the beach for smoking
purposes, and in some instances have permitted other persons to
take away sea weed. Such possession as they had was not inter-
rupted. This is the substance of the evidence relating to use,
possession and control of the weir and the shore.

The plaintiffs claim an exclusive right to the fishing privilege
under the legislative grant to their father and his heirs in 1870.
The defendants answer in denial of plaintiffs’ right, 1, that this
grant was abrogated by Laws of 1876, Chapter 78, so that the right
did not descend to the plaintiffs; 2, that the plaintiffs have not been
granted municipal license under the general law, R. S., Ch. 4, Sect.
96, to build and maintain the weir; 3, that the plaintiffs have aban-
doned all rights and privileges under the grant; and in support of -
their own right, 4, that they have title under the mortgage of
George W. McLellan to Wilson McLellan to the farm and shore,
and that the legislative grant, if not abrogated, passed under the
mortgage as appurtenant to the shore, the thing granted; and if
they have no title by grant, 5, that they have acquired a prescriptive
right by open, notorious, continuous, exclusive and adverse use,
occupation and control of the shore and weir, for a period of more
than twenty years. The plaintiffs in reply say that, claiming under
a special legislative grant, they are not required to obtain a municipal
permit; they deny abandonment and the defendant’s prescriptive
title ; they say that the mortgage under which defendants claim con-
veyed only to the shore, and not the shore itself, that the weir was
not appurtenant to the upland granted, and that if the shore was
granted the weir was not, from its nature, appurtenant to the shore.

We will first inquire as to the plaintiffs’ rights under the legisla-
tive grant. No question is made, or can be made, but that George
W. McLellan, and, unless the grant was abrogated, his heirs or
assigns after him, obtained a right to build and maintain a fish weir
in Herring Cove. We think the grant was not abrogated or annulled
by the general law of 1876, chapter 78, which required persons
intending to build a fish weir to apply to the municipal officers for
a license, and authorizing the municipal officers to grant the same.
This question is res adjudicata in this State. In State v. Cleland,
68 Maine, 258, the court held that the general law did not defeat a
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special legislative license, like the one in this case, although the
licensee had not built his weir when the general statute was passed;
and that the licensee was not required to obtain a municipal license.
The Cleland case, though the opinion was by a divided court, has
stood unquestioned for nearly forty years, and must be regarded as
a correct exposition of the law. The facts in this case are even
stronger for the plaintiff than those in the Cleland case. For here,
the licensee had built his weir several years before the general law
was passed. And the general law in terms applied only to future
erections. It follows, then, that George W. McLellan, when he mort-
gaged the lot in 1878, owned the weir, and had the right of fishery
in the cove, and that his right in the weir and fishery descended to
and is held by his heirs, unless defeated by the mortgage, or in
some other way.

The next question is, Did his mortgage include the fishing rights?
And connected with that is the question, Did it include the shore?
The word “shore,” in conveyances of land by tidal waters, is con-
strued to mean the land between high water mark and low water
mark. Montgomery v. Reed, 69 Maine, 510. By the Colonial Ordi-
nance of 1641-7 it was declared that “in all creeks, coves and other
places, about and upon salt water, where the sea ebbs and flows,
the proprietor of the land adjoining shall have propriety to the low
water mark, when the sea doth not ebb above one hundred rods,
and not more wheresoever it ebbs further.” By force of this ordi-
nance it is held that the owner of upland adjoining tide water prima
facie owns to low water mark, not exceeding one hundred rods;
and does so, in fact, unless the presumption is rebutted by proof to
the contrary. Proctor v. Railroad Co., 96 Maine, 458. A grantor
may separate the flats from the upland. But unless the flats are
excluded by the terms of the grant, properly construed, they pass
by a grant of the upland. Whitmore v. Broun, 100 Maine, 410.

So we must look to the terms of the grant. In construing the
grant we are to give effect, if possible, to the intention of the par-
ties, so far as it can be ascertained in accordance with legal canons
of interpretation. We are to give effect to the expressed, rather
than the surmised, intent. We are to consider all the words of the
grant in the light of the circumstances and conditions attending the
transaction. But we must consider and construe the grant accord-
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ing to settled rules of construction. They are rules of property.
And the security of real estate titles depends upon a strict adherence
to these rules of construction. .

In the mortgage of 1878, the land was bounded and limited by
specified monuments. It was bounded on the north by land of
Charles Balch, on the south by land of one Wellington, and on the
west by land of one Chalorner. These were the limits. On the east,
(the side towards Herring Cove) it was bounded “by the shore.”
The shore itself was made the boundary, and the shore is the whole
area of land between high water mark and low water mark. “By
the shore,” in such case, is ordinarily a phrase of exclusion. The
shore is the monument limiting the grant. It is not a part of the
grant. It is as much outside the terms of the grant as are the lands
of owners on the other three sides.

But what was intended by the use of the word shore may be gath-
ered not only from the word itself, but from other expressions in
the deed, read in the light of existing conditions. For instance, in
Doane v. Willcutt, 5 Gray 328, the land was bounded on one side
“by the sea or beach,” and the word “sea” was held to afford suffi-
cient indication that the intention was to convey to the sea, or
seaward side of the beach. Perhaps the greater number of contro-
versies have arisen where, instead of making the shore itself the
boundary, ex vi termini, the boundary line has been made to begin
at a fixed point, and thence to run by courses or monuments,—and
thence “by the shore.” In such cases, the courts have been asked to
determine which side of the shore the line was intended to follow.
Such a case was Dunton v. Parker, g7 Maine, 461, in which the court
said,—“It does not follow from the mere fact that the shore of land
is made a boundary, or that boundary is ‘by the shore,” that it is by
high water mark. The space between high and low water mark,
properly called the shore, is frequently of many rods in width, it
has an outer or seaward side, and an inner or upland side, and,
nothing else appearing, a boundary by the shore may be as well
intended to mean the one as the other. To determine which side of
the shore was intended as the boundary it is necessary to go further.”
In Doane v. Willcutt, supra, the court said:—“In a conveyance,
when a line of ‘shore’ is used as an abuttal, unexplained by circum-
stances, it may be ambiguous, leaving it doubtful whether the sea
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side or the land side of the shore is intended. In general it will
appear by the context which.” So, in Dunton v. Parker, this court
resolved the ambiguity by reference to the context., 1he other calls
in the deed, and the termini of the call in question made it quite
certain that the line was intended to run by the seaward side of the
shore, or by low water mark. So in Sunow v. Mt. Desert Island
K. E. Co., 84 Maine, 14, the description began “at the sea,” con-
tinued by several calls “to the shore,” thence “to the first bounds
mentioned,” which was at the sea, and the court held that the line
followed the seaward side rather than the land side of the shore.
See Dillingham v. Roberts, 75 Maine, 469. In the mortgage deed
before us the context affords no light whatever. The boundary is
simply “by the shore.”

Sometimes the views of courts based upon a consideration of all
parts of a deed have been strengthened by the consideration that no
motive or reason appeared for a separation. In Swosw v. Mt. Desert
Island R. E. Co., supra, the court said :—“Nothing appears showing
the beach at that date to be of any value apart from the upland, of
any. value to reserve in granting the upland, either by reason of
wharves or weirs thereon, or by any other reason of any other .
opportunity for separate occupation or quasi-cultivation.” But it
is evident that these reasons do not hold in this case. The shore
as a means to the convenient and successful operation of the weir
privilege was of value, separated from the farm. If, as the defend-
ants claim, the fishing privilege was appurtenant to the shore, a
mortgage of the shore would have carried the privilege. The owner
.might well have wished to separate the two, and retain his valuable
fishing privilege, unencumbered by mortgage.

We have been cited to no case, and we know of none, that holds
that, where the shore itself is made the monument, as where the
land granted is bounded “by the shore,” and nothing else appears,
the inner side of the shore or high water mark is not the boundary
line; or that the shore itself is not excluded. In the case of Niles
v. Patch, 13 Gray 254, the call was “bounded westerly by the beach.”
Chief Justice Shaw who had written the opinion in Doane v. Will-
cutt, supra, speaking for the court, said :—“We would not say that
there might not be such terms in the deed, as, connected with the
.term ‘beach’ would indicate an intention to include the beach; and
such intent, if any, manifest in the deed, would govern its con-
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struction and convey the beach. But in this deed there is no such
qualification, and therefore the court are of opinion that the defend-
ant did not acquire by it a title in fee to the beach.” The foregoing
rcasoning applies also to the deed of the Bingham estate to Elizabeth
McFadden, George W. McLellan’s grantor. The description in that
deed was the same as in the later mortgage to Wilson McLellan,
and by the same reasoning excluded the shore. So that, when he
mortgaged, George W. McLellan did not own the shore.

We therefore conclude in this case that the mortgage of 1878 to
Wilson McLellan did not include the shore. The shore being
excluded by the descriptive terms in the mortgage, it did not pass
even as appurtenant to the land granted. Warren v. Blake, 54
Maine, 276; W hitmore v. Brown, 100 Maine, 410. To say nothing
of the fact that the. fishing privilege was separated from the farm
granted by the shore, which is nearly five hundred feet wide at the
head of the cove, there is no such connection in use between the
fishing privilege and the farm as would make the former appur-
tenant to the latter. The fishery was not in any way necessary to
the enjoyment of the farm. Leonard v. White, 7 Mass., 6. It
follows that the weir and the fishery right under the legislative grant
descended to plaintiffs as heirs of their father, unencumbered by
the mortgage. Have they been lost since, either by abandonment
or by prescription?

The plaintiffs live in Massachusetts. And prior to 1913, they
had not been in Trescott for 38 years, except in 1889, when one
came to get the body of their father. After their father’s death,
they neither operated, nor attempted to operate the weir. One of
them testifies that in 1894 he had an intention to operate it that year,
but was prevented by circumstances. Another witness, his son,
testifies that he made arrangements in 19o8 to come down and fish
the weir, under his father and the other heirs, but was prevented,
likewise, by circumstances. There is no other evidence of an inten-
tion to operate. It appears that they did not know even the terms
of the grant.

But the burden is on him who sets up abandonment to prove it.
And the proof must be clear and unequivocal of acts decisive and
conclusive. Adams v. Hodgkins, 109 Maine, 361. Abandonment is
a voluntary, intentional act. There is no abandonment unless so
intended. But the intention may be inferred from circumstances. It
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may be inferred by lapse of time or non-use, accompanied by other
circumstances. 1. Ruling Case Law 5. And among the circum-
stances is the fact that the right in question is being adversely used
by others. Great Falls Co. v. Worster, 15 N. H., 412. But mere
lapse of time, or mere non-use is not sufficient evidence of aban-
donment. Adams v. Hodgkins, supra; Swmith v. Booth Bros. & H. 1.
Granite Co., 112 Maine, 297. Although in this case the lapse of
time and non-use for so long a time, 24 years, considered in con-
nection with their apparent ignorance of the terms of the grant
and the continued adverse use of the privilege for all the time by
others, afford considerable evidence of an intention to abandon, we
prefer to put our decision upon another ground.

Wilson McLellan took possession and control of this weir and
privilege in July, 1889, though his mortgage, as we have seen, did
not cover them. From that time until he sold the farm and the
weir to the defendants and those under whom they claim, in 1896
and 1897, he operated the weir by lessees. Since then it has been
operated each year by them or their grantors. We think there can
be no question but that the occupation has been adverse, and under
a claim of title. Neither Wilson McLellan while he occupied, nor
any grantee since, has interrupted the continuance of the adverse
character of the occupation by any admission of the plaintiff’s title.
It is true that some of the defendants in 1893 made overtures to
the plaintiffs with a view to purchase the weir and privilege. But at
that time they were mere lessees of the weir under Wilson McLellan.
Other than that they had no possessory title or right. And their acts
at that time could not affect Wilson McLellan’s possessory rights,
nor prevent them from afterward occupying adversely in continu-
ance of those rights. So that there has been an uninterrupted
adverse use and occupation for more than twenty years. Cole v.
Bradbury, 8 Maine, 380. The occupation has been open, exclusive
and continuous. Though the weir was not operated at all seasons
of the year, it was operated every year at the proper season, and
that constituted continuity, within the meaning of the word, as an
element in prescriptive titles.

In conclusion we say that all the elements of prescriptive right
appear in the defendants. The plaintiffs have lost their right. And
the certificate must be,

Judgment for defendants.
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Floatable Stream. Flowage. Mill dam. Riparian Owner. Trespass

quare clausum.

The case comes up, on a report of all the evidence. It is an action of tres-

pass to real estate. The defendants are the owners of mills and a mill
dam across Ferguson Stream in Cambridge, Maine. The plaintiff owns a
small lot above the dam, partly covered by the flowage, and bounded on
its easterly side “by the channel of the stream.” She caused a wharfing
or abutment to be made upori her lot extending out to the easterly and
southerly lines thereof, and in height about two feet above the top of
the dam. The abutment was rough and uneven, especially on its easterly
side next to the channel, and the evidence shows that since it was built
logs running against it in floating down the channel have caught on its
uneven sides and been held there by the force of the current until poled
off or otherwise removed by the log driver. May 5, 1914, the defendants
went upon this abutment for a few moments only and removed with pick
poles some of their logs that were caught against it. That is the alleged
trespass. It is admitted that the damage was nominal only.

Held:

1.

The riparian owner’s use and enjoyment of his property adjacent to a
floatable stream is, in a sense, subject to the use of such stream by the
public for the floating of logs, if reasonably exercised. He is bound in
the use of his property not to obstruct the reasonable use of the stream
for such purpose. The log driver also in using such stream for the passage
of his logs is required to exercise reasonable care to prevent doing damage
to the property of the riparian owner.

Where logs in their passage down a floatable stream, without the fault
of the driver, are caught on the edge of the riparian owner’s property, and
the driver casually and from incidental necessity enters upon such property
and releases the logs, doing no appreciable damage, trespass quare clausuim
will not lie.

Assuming, as we do, that the provision in the plaintiff's deed, that her
lot was conveyed subject to be flowed, did not prevent her from using her
lot in any manner that would not unreasonably obstruct the use of the
stream as a public highway for the floating of logs thereon, we think the
evidence plainly shows that the abutment which the plaintiff built on her
lot was an obstruction to the passage of logs down the channel of the



252 CLARK ¥. GILMAN. [114

stream, It materially interfered with the defendants’ right to a reasonable
use of the stream for floating logs to their mill. It was the existence of
that structure placed there by the plaintiff that caused the logs to be
stopped in their otherwise natural passage down the channel, and created
the incidental necessity for the defendants to do the acts complained of.
For that reason also we think this action of trespass does not lie in the
plaintiff’s favor, especially where no appreciable damage has resulted to her.

On report. Judgment for defendants.

An action of trespass quare clausum to recover damages of the
defendant for going upon the dam or abutment and removing some
of their logs that were caught against it. The defendants pled the
general issue and filed a brief statement alleging that they were the
owners, on their own land, of water mills and a dam to raise water
for working said mills below the land of plaintiff described in her
writ.

The case is stated in the opinion.

Hudson & Hudson, for plaintiff.

L. L. Walton, for defendants.

SitTiNG:  Savacg, C. J., Spear, King, Birp, HaLey, Hanson, JJ.

KinNg, J. This case comes up on report of all the evidence. It is
an action of trespass to real estate. The defendants are the owners
of mills and a mill dam across Ferguson stream in the town of
Cambridge, Maine. The mill dam, or one on the same site, has
existed for many years. The water raised by the dam forms a .con-
siderable flowage extending up stream in a southwesterly direction
about three-quarters of a mile above the dam. Just above the dam
the highway road crosses the stream and flowage on a bridge with
two abutments, between which logs from above pass down to the
mill. Above and near the bridge and highway the flowage spreads
out somewhat to the west and then turns more sharply southerly,
forming a small cove. There appears to be a margin of land between
the highway, leading from the west end of the bridge, and the edge
of the flowage along by the cove, that margin being quite narrow at
the end of the bridge. The stream is a floatable one, capable of
being used for the floating of logs, and has been so used for many
years. Logs have been driven down the stream into the flowage
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and thence down the flowage to the mill. And logs to a considerable
extent have been landed on the flowage above the bridge. The
defendant Gilman testified that since he became an owner in the
mill, in 1902, logs had been landed above the bridge every year.

August 5, 1872, Nathan Clark who then owned the mills, dam,
water rights, and the land flowed, at least so far as the plaintiff’s
land is involved, conveyed to one Alva Mitchell a certain lot of land
described as follows: “It being a part of the Mill Lot, so called,
in said town of Cambridge, commencing at a stake on the shore of
the pond near the corner of Cole’s shop and running northerly to
the road line in the direction of the second post in the Bridge at the
west end ; thence easterly on the line of said road to the channel of
the Stream ; thence up the channel of the Stream fifty feet; thence
westerly to the first mentioned bound subject to be flowed.” It is
to be observed that this lot is next westerly of the channel of the
stream and in the corner formed by the channel and the highway
or bridge, and extends up the channel into the flowage fifty feet.
The title to this lot passed, through mesne conveyances, to the plain-
tiff by a deed dated December 19, 1goo, with the same provision,
“subject to be flowed.” There was a building on the front of the lot
next to the road and apparently towards the westerly side, but the
water flowed in under the building.

After the plaintiff purchased the lot she caused a wharfing or
abutment to be made upon the easterly and southerly sides of the
lot, and apparently including the whole lot, to the height of about
~two feet above the top of the dam. It was built of drift logs,
weighted with rocks and then covered with earth. On the easterly
and southerly sides a cedar hedge was planted. :

The photographs introduced show this structure to be very rough
and uneven, especially on its easterly side next to the channel and
at its southeast corner, with the ends of the logs of which it is
built projecting irregularly, and with considerable openings between
them. Its location adjacent to the channel of the stream, and its
rough and irregular construction, seem to render it fit and likely
to obstruct the passage of logs down the channel to the opening in
the bridge; and the evidence clearly shows that since it was built
logs running against it in floating down the channel have caught on
its uneven sides and been held there by the force of the current until
poled off or otherwise removed by the log driver.
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On the 5th of May, 1914, the defendants went upon the abut-
ment for a few moments only, and removed with pick poles some of
their logs that were caught against it. That is the alleged trespass.
It is admitted that the damage was only nominal.

The stream, as we have seen, is floatable, and as such may law-
fully be used as a public highway upon which to float logs. The
riparian owner, too, has the right to the use and enjoyment of his
property. But the rights of the public to use a floatable stream
and those of the riparian owner to use his land are both to be
enjoyed with a proper regard for the existence and preservation of
the other. The riparian owner’s use and enjoyment of his property
adjacent to a floatable stream is in a sense subject to the use of such
stream by the public for the floating of logs, if reasonably exercised.
He is bound in the use of his property not to obstruct the reasonable
use of the stream for such purpose. The log driver also in using
such a stream for the passage of his logs is required to exercise
reasonable care to prevent doing damage to the property of the
riparian owner. If these respective rights are so exercised then no
substantial prejudice or inconvenience will result.

Applying these well settled principles to the facts and circum-
stances disclosed in the case at bar, we think the action is not main-
tainable.

The evidence amply shows that there was no want of reasonable
care on the part of the defendants in their use of this stream in
floating their logs down to their mill. It was not their fault that
some of their logs were pushed by the current against this abutment
and held there by its rough and uneven construction. That was
the natural result arising from the character of the structure and its
location adjacent to the channel of the stream. It could not be
avoided without the use of some artificial means to keep the logs
from going against the abutment in their passage by it. Were the
defendants required to use such means? We think not under the
facts and circumstances disclosed. The logs being driven were com-
paratively few. The defendants had the right to use the whole
stream in floating them down, exercising reasonable care in so doing
not to unnecessarily injure the plaintiff’s property as a riparian
owner. And it does not appear that such logs as were caught on the
abutment did any injury to it. In this respect the case is not unlike
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one where logs floating down a public stream catch upon the shore
doing no injury to the riparian owner. In such case the log-driver
cannot be held to an unreasonable use of the stream because he has
not used means to prevent the logs touching the shores.

Here then is a case, in the most favorable view for the plaintiff,
where a log in its passage down a floatable stream, without fault
of the driver, is caught on the edge of the riparian owner’s property,
and the driver casually and from incidental necessity enters upon
such property and releases the log, doing no appreciable damage.
For such an act does trespass quare clausam lie? We think not. In
Hooper v. Hobson, 57 Maine, 273, 276, this court, speaking by
Barrows, J., said: “It is not, however, to be inferred that every
casual landing upon the bank by those employed in driving a float-
able stream, would be the ground of an action by the proprietor of
the land.” And it is there suggested that the privilege of going
upon adjoining lands to remove timber lodged thereon, after the
tender of compensation for damages, which is conferred by c. 43,
sec. 8, R. S, would seem to imply that where no actual damage is
caused in so doing, no action would lie. The right to use a floatable
stream as a public highway for the transportation of logs and lum-
ber is governed by the same principles as the right to use a public
highway on land. Mr. Justice Holmes, in his work on the Common
Law, at page 118, says: “That if a man be driving cattle through a
town, and one of them goes into another man’s house, and he follows
him, trespass does not lie for this.” Such casual entry upon land
adjoining a public highway is considered an inevitable incident to
the right to use the highway,

But we feel entirely clear in the opinion that this action does not
lie for another reason. Assuming, as we do, that the provision in
the paintiff’s deed that her lot was conveyed subject to be flowed,
did not prevent her from using her lot in any manner that would
not unreasonably obstruct the use of the stream as a public highway
for the floating of logs thereon, we think the evidence plainly shows
that the abutment which the plaintiff built on her lot is so located
and constructed that it is an obstruction to the passage of logs down
the channel of the stream. It materially interfered with the defend-
ants’ right to a reasonable use of the stream for the floating of their
logs to their mill. It was the existence of that structure placed there
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by the plaintiff that caused the logs to be stopped in their otherwise
natural passage down the channel, and created the incidental neces-
sity for the defendants to do the acts complained of. For that rea-
son also we think this action of trespass does not lie in the plaintiff’s
favor, especially where no appreciable damage has resulted to her.
Judgment for defendants.

EMmEeL1IA VEITKUNAS ws. J. M. MORRISON, et als.
Androscoggin. Opinion December 14, 1915.

Contract to labor and to give one week’s notice of intention to quit.
Forfeiture.  Private and Special Laws of 1871, Chapter
636, Section 10. Revised Statutes, Chapter 40,
Section 51.  The test of repeal by
implication.

1. In the construction of statutes, it is the obvious intent, rather than the
literal import, which is to govern.

2. The test of repeal by implication of an earlier statute by a later one is
whether the latter is so directly and positively inconsistent with, and
repugnant to, the former that the two cannot consistently stand together.

3. The provisions of chapter 39, Laws of 1011, relating to weekly payment
of wages, did not repeal or abrogate the provisions of section 51, chapter
40 of the Revised Statutes, whereby an employee, having contracted to
give one week’s notice of intentions to leave, and leaving without notice,
forfeited one week’s wages.

4. The provision in chapter 39, Laws of 1911, requiring that an employze
leaving his employment shall be paid his wages in full on the